R B Monfinery

An Introduction to the Study of

Air Mass and Isentropic Analysis

By JEROME NAMIAS

FIFTH REVISED AND ENLARGED EDITION with CONTRIBUTIONS by TOR BERGERON

BERNHARD HAURWITZ GRAHAM MILLAR ALBERT K. SHOWALTER ROBERT G. STONE AND HURD C. WILLETT

> Edited by ROBERT G. STONE

> > October, 1940

E AMERICAN METEOROLOGICAL SOCIETY, MILTON, MASS.

QC861 N35 1940

Price \$1.25, postpaid

Given in Loving Memory of **Raymond Braislin Montgomery** Scientist, R/V Atlantis maiden voyage 2 July - 26 August, 1931 ****** Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution Physical Oceanographer 1940-1949 Non-Resident Staff 1950-1960 Visiting Committee 1962-1963 Corporation Member 1970-1980 ***** Faculty, New York University 1940-1944 Faculty, Brown University 1949-1954 Faculty, Johns Hopkins University 1954-1961 Professor of Oceanography, Johns Hopkins University 1961-1975

An Introduction to the Study of

Air Mass and Isentropic Analysis

By JEROME NAMIAS

FIFTH REVISED AND ENLARGED EDITION

with

CONTRIBUTIONS

bу

TOR BERGERON BERNHARD HAURWITZ GRAHAM MILLAR ALBERT K. SHOWALTER ROBERT G. STONE AND HURD C. WILLETT

> Edited by ROBERT G. STONE

October, 1940

THE AMERICAN METEOROLOGICAL SOCIETY, MILTON, MASS.

Price \$1.25, postpaid

The Previous Editions of This Work Appeared Under the Title

"AN INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY OF AIR MASS ANALYSIS"

First Edition	•	Sept., 1934-May	1935
Second Edition		. September,	1935
Third Edition		. August,	1936
Fourth Edition		. October,	1938

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.....

Pages

Editor's Preface	v-vi
INTRODUCTION	1
I. CONDITIONS OF ATMOSPHERIC STABILITY: LAPSE RATES	1- 5
II. CONSERVATIVE PROPERTIES OF AIR MASSES	6-12
III. THE ROSSBY DIAGRAM-PLOTTING ROUTINE	12-19
IV. THE ROSSBY DIAGRAM-INTERPRETATION	20-24
V. ELEMENTS OF FRONTAL STRUCTURE-THE WARM FRONT .	24-28
VI. ELEMENTS OF FRONTAL STRUCTURE—THE COLD FRONT	28-31
VII. ELEMENTS OF CYCLONIC STRUCTURE	31-36
THE NORWEGIAN WAVE-THEORY OF CYCLONES, BY B. HAURWITZ	37-45
FRONTAL WAVES, BY T. BERGERON	45
Sources of Energy for Extra-Tropical Cyclones, by T. Bergeron	45-46
A NOTE ON DYNAMIC ANTICYCLONES AND CYCLONES, BY R. G. STONE	46-50
THE ROLE OF THE TROPOPAUSE IN THE DYNAMICS OF EXTRA-TROPICAL DISTURBANCES, BY T. BERGERON	50
VIII. THE TEPHIGRAM	50-55
RADIOMETEOROGRAPH SOUNDINGS IN THE MIDDLE NORTH ATLANTIC (after Durandin)	48-49
A NOTE ON ESTIMATING CONDITIONAL AND CONVECTIVE INSTABILITY FROM THE WET-BULB CURVE, BY R. G. STONE	55-60
IX. Synoptic Aspects of the Thunderstorm	60-68
AIRPLANE SOUNDINGS ILLUSTRATING CONVECTION (after Kochanski)	68-71
THE ICE-NUCLEI THEORY OF RAINFAIL, BY R. G. STONE	72
HAIL FORECASTING (after United Air Lines)	72

0

T UEUJ

H. C. WILLETT	73-108
MAJOR FRONTAL AND AIR MASS ZONES OF THE EARTH, BY T. BERGERON	. 108
FURTHER STUDIES OF AMERICAN AIR MASS PROPERTIES, BY	
A. K. SHOWALTER	109-113
Illustrations:	113-135
DUST STORM (after Parkinson)	114-115
FLOOD RAINS (after Minser; Byers)	116-117
FRONTS AND AIRCRAFT ICING (after Minser)	118-121
Bergeron's Model of the Warm-Front-Type Occlusion .	122-124
Spring Showers (after Botts)	. 125
WINTER CYCLONE WITH DUST STORM (after Parkinson) .	126-127
MAPS AND CROSS SECTIONS OF FRONTS; AIRCRAFT ICING (after Minser)	. 128
A Succession of Polar Air Masses; Weather Maps and Cross Sections for Nov. 30-Dec. 2, 1938 (after George	
and Elliot)	129-131
	1
A Rossby Diagram (after Tu)	. 131
A ROSSBY DIAGRAM (after Tu)	. 131 131-135
A ROSSBY DIAGRAM (after Tu) .	. 131 131-135 136-161
A ROSSBY DIAGRAM (after Tu)	. 131 131-135 136-161 .161-167
A ROSSBY DIAGRAM (after Tu)	. 131 131-135 136-161 .161-167
 A ROSSBY DIAGRAM (after Tu) SYNOPTIC CHARTS SHOWING WINTER CYCLONES (after Pierce; Dorsey) X. ISENTROPIC ANALYSIS ISENTROPIC ANALYSIS OF A THUNDERSTORM SITUATION, JUNE 22-27, 1937 (after J. Namias) ANALYSIS OF THE RAINFALL SITUATION OVER THE WESTERN STATES, MAY 6-7, 1938, BY MEANS OF AIR MASS AND ISENTROPIC CHARTS (after Weightman) 	. 131 131-135 136-161 .161-167 168-171
A ROSSBY DIAGRAM (after Tu)	. 131 131-135 136-161 .161-167 168-171 172-175
A ROSSBY DIAGRAM (after Tu)	. 131 131-135 136-161 .161-167 168-171 172-175 176-226
 A ROSSBY DIAGRAM (after Tu) SYNOPTIC CHARTS SHOWING WINTER CYCLONES (after Pierce; Dorsey) X. ISENTROPIC ANALYSIS SENTROPIC ANALYSIS OF A THUNDERSTORM SITUATION, JUNE 22-27, 1937 (after J. Namias) ANALYSIS OF THE RAINFALL SITUATION OVER THE WESTERN STATES, MAY 6-7, 1938, BY MEANS OF AIR MASS AND ISENTROPIC CHARTS (after Weightman) EXAMPLES OF UPPER-AIR CROSS-SECTIONS SHOWING INTERPRETATIONS OF THE TROPOPAUSE, ETC. A BIBLIOGRAPHY FOR SYNOPTIC METEOROLOGISTS, BY R. G. STONE ADDENDA TO BIBLIOGRAPHY A BIBLIOGRAPHY 	. 131 131-135 136-161 .161-167 168-171 172-175 176-226 227

Corrigenda for "An Introduction to the Study of Air Mass and Isentropic Analysis," by J. Namias and others, 5th ed.

- Page 5, table at bottom of page, lines under "Condition" and "Type of equilibrium", should be deleted and the following should be substituted (the preferred terminology is italicized:--
 - $a < \beta$ (Absolutely) stable
 - $a = \beta$ Neutral for saturated air (equal to wet-adiabatic lapse rate)
 - $\beta < a < \gamma$ (Conditional:) stable for dry air, unstable for saturated air.
 - $a = \gamma$ Neutral for dry air (equal to dry-adiabatic lapse rate)
- $\gamma < a < 3.42$ C° per 100 m (Absolutely) unstable (but not self-starting)
 - $a = 3.42^{\circ}/100 \text{ m}$ Upper limit of mechanical stability
 - [a > 3.42°100 m Mechanical instability, or auto-convective gradient (self starting; hence this is not an equilibrium)]
- Page 6, col. 2, line 8 of footnote, "J.-J. Jang" should read "Jaw."
- Page 14. col. 1, line 11, " $T/P_1^{0,288}$ " should read " $T/p_1^{0.288}$."
- Page 14, col. 1, line 18, "wet-bulb temperature" should read "wet-bulb potential temperature."
- Page 69, line 7, "Su" should read "Sc."
- Page 71, top, line 4, delete "warm."
- Page 150, col. 2, line 4, "stream function" should read "isentropic acceleration potential" (see BULLETIN A. M. S., Jan. 1941, p. 45).
- Page 172, line 18 (in fine print) "frontal at" should read "frontal topography at."
- Page 174, line 9, "15 km" should read "18 km or higher."
- Page 174, line 10, "by 10 mb" should read "by 9 mb."
- Page 175, line 1, "In Fig. 6, shown above is" should read "Fig. 6 above is". . .
- Page 175, line 3, "tions shows" should read "tions. It shows."
- Page 228, 2nd col. line 34, "to dry air" should read "to saturated air;" line 33, after "entire" insert "originally stable".
- Page 229, 2nd col., lines 2 and 3 from bottom, "decreases" should read "increases."
- Page 232, 2nd col., 3rd line from bottom delete "equal".

[Supplement to the June 1941 Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society]

Editor's Preface to 5th Edition

NCEASING demand has again induced the Society to extend this convenient booklet into a 5th revised and enlarged edition. The text of the 4th edition is reprinted with numerous secondary annotations and changes to indicate some of the present attitudes or practices that depart from those stated or implied in the previous editions. The practices in other countries are so diverse that no special note of them could be taken, but extensive citations of foreign literature are given in the Bibliography.

At the time the 4th edition appeared (Oct. 1938) a new technique and point of view, known as isentropic analysis, was under promising experimental development and it was anticipated by the authors and editor that any future edition of this "Introduction" would have to take account of the new method. Already in 1939 isentropic analysis was so generally practiced in U.S.A. that plans were laid to add an introductory chapter on the technique. Mr. Namias was engaged by Prof. Sverre Petterssen to prepare such a chapter for his excellent book "Weather Analysis and Forecasting" recently published. We are able to offer a slightly modified form of this chapter in our 5th edition, through the kind permission of Prof. Petterssen and of the McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., of New York.

The Bibliography in the 4th edition has been so widely appreciated that an effort is made to improve it materially in this new edition. Besides bringing it down to date, a great many more entries are added and the whole arranged conveniently by subjects. Finally, additional illustrations are provided in the appendix.

This opportunity has been seized to

correct a few typographical and other errors which unfortunately passed in the 4th edition; the editor wishes to thank the numerous individuals who have kindly called our attention to errors and offered suggestions for improvement. The basic part of this introduction remains rather elementary. but many more technical annotations are provided for the numerous students who have the background to enter a little deeper into the subject. However, we have not attempted to enlarge the work into a textbook of synoptic meteorology. It is assumed that the reader is familiar with the elements of meteorology and with the general conception of the weather map as given in numerous and readily available textbooks, to which this booklet is only an adjunct of certain newer topics not particularly welltreated outside a few technical and expensive works.

The material available for direct analysis of upper-air conditions has lately reached a new high. There are now 34 regular aerological stations in the U. S., mostly using radiosondes, the largest network of its kind in the world and in history. The *adequate* use of such data in *forecasting* is being tried here for the first time anywhere and will call for an increasingly quantitative and physical approach.

The editor wishes to acknowledge the very generous assistance in reading proof and valuable advice on many points given by Prof. Charles F. Brooks, Secretary of the Society, who has handled the arrangements for publishing this work. Thanks are due Miss Edna Scofield for aid in editing and reading proof.—*Robert G. Stone, Sept. 1940.*

When these sketches were first prepared it was thought that the subject would develop so rapidly that any attempt to simulate a wellrounded and comprehensive treatise, even for beginners, would not be justified nor feasible. Needless to say the continued warm response and wide influence which the work has had has left the authors and editors with a sense of responsibility for which they had not bargained. The authors feel that most of the early principles of air mass analysis still bear a fundamental value for synoptic practice, so that extensive revisions have not been necessary in this new edition, though references are made here and there to some of the points that have been particularly altered or questioned in light of more recent developments.

From the practical point of view, the beginner in America now has much better opportunities to "pick up" experience through his own efforts than when this "Introduction" first appeared over three years ago, when no competently analyzed air-mass weather maps were available outside of a few institutions and special services and none to the public. At present, thanks to the remarkable changes in U.S. Weather Bureau practice since 1934, such maps may be inspected by anyone at a large number of airport and city offices of the Bureau, and many of their personnel can now produce or interpret analyses acceptably, while at the Central Office in Washington competent and fundamental research is being carried on. (The problem of rapidly training a large organization in such a different technique is admittedly difficult).

The present "Introduction", however, should not be regarded as one to the whole field of synoptic meteorology. For such a serious ambition one should study physical meteorology as well, and there are excellent general texts such as Humphreys' "Physics of the Air", Brunt's "Physical and Dynamical Meteorology", Taylor's "Aeronautical Meteorology", "Byers' "Synoptical and Aeronautical Meteorology", [and now (1940) also Petterssen's "Weather Analysis and Forecasting", Sutcliffe's "Meteorology for Aviators", and "The Admiralty Weather Manual",] to lighten the road. But to that large audience which desires only a brief, authoritative, and inexpensive "first reader" in this fascinating concrete way of looking at the weather, this booklet is offered again in the hope that it will continue the instrument for wide dissemination of modern meteorological principles which it has been.-Robert G. Stone, Oct. 1938.

An Introduction to

The Study of Air Mass and Isentropic Analysis

By JEROME NAMIAS

INTRODUCTION TO THE 5TH EDITION

THE SYSTEM of weather analysis developed chiefly by the Norwegian school of meteorologists and referred to as "Air Mass Analysis" in the United States, has received widespread adoption throughout the meteorological services of the world. In addition to the group of professional meteorologists who employ these methods as the foundation of their activities in synoptic meteorology, there has developed a large group of people whose interests are so intimately associated with meteorology that it is necessary for them to possess more than a fragmentary knowledge of the physical processes of the atmosphere. The increasing number of aviation enthusiasts is only one of these groups. Many such people, and indeed, many practicing professionals at present engaged in meteorology, have not had the time nor the opportunity to carry on an organized collegiate program of study in modern synoptic meteorology, and for this reason have felt the need for some simplified presentation of the fundamentals upon which the science rests. It has been the purpose of this series of articles to fulfill this gap in such a manner that these students may be able to obtain a *physical* picture of basic weather processes without first having to possess a mastery of ad-

vanced physics and mathematics. Since weather forecasting is still quite removed from the quantitative stage, and since a qualitative evaluation of the various entering factors constitutes a large share of the forecaster's technique, it is possible to develop a moderate degree of forecasting ability with an understanding of the physical processes as described in these articles.

The actual technique of air mass and isentropic analysis can hardly be imparted adequately by written material. It requires a more personalized guidance by an experienced analyst.

While textbooks in modern synoptic meteorology have been vastly improved since many of these articles were first written, notably by the works of Byers, Taylor and Sutcliffe, there has continued a demand for these articles, and more recently for some similar presentation dealing with the new method of upper-air analysis along the surfaces of constant entropy. Professor S. Petterssen (of M. I. T.) and the McGraw-Hill Company have been so kind as to permit me to publish here, with some small alterations, the chapter on isentropic analysis originally prepared for his textbook on Weather Analysis and Forecasting (McGraw-Hill, N.Y., 1940).

I. CONDITIONS OF ATMOSPHERIC STABILITY: LAPSE RATES

A. VERTICAL DISPLACEMENT OF A PARTICLE

It has long been known that vertical motions in the atmosphere are of great significance in that practically all precipitation may be ascribed to the condensation brought about through expansional cooling of rising air. It can be shown that the amount of precipitation possible through the mixing of currents of air possessing different temperature and moisture characteristics is very small, and that the precipitation resulting from this cause must be negligible in comparison with other causes. Furthermore the theory of fronts and air masses is based upon atmospheric discontinuities, which. are simply zones of rapid transition of the various meteorological elements. It is assumed that these zones of transition are comparatively free from large scale mixing, the individual large scale air currents flowing side by side or above one another without appreciable mutual drag.

Granting the importance of vertical motion in the atmosphere a discussion of the factors which tend to aid or hinder such motion is in order. This leads to the problem of stability. Here the term stability is used in its physical sense; if an air particle tends to remain in, or return to, its former position following a displacement, the condition is termed stable; if displacement results in a tendency to further movement of the particle from its original position, the original condition is designated as unstable; and finally, if the particle neither resists nor assists displacement, the condition is one of neutral equilibrium.

B. TYPES OF EQUILIBRIUM

In the case of the atmosphere there are four principal types of equilibrium to be considered when we are concerned with the vertical displacement of a selected particle through a layer of the atmosphere having known characteristics. These types of equilibrium are:

1. Stable

a. With respect to dry air¹

b. With respect to saturated air 2. Unstable

a. With respect to dry air [1. Mechanical]

b. With respect to saturated air

3. Neutral

a. With respect to dry air

b. With respect to saturated air 4. Conditional

Another case, that of convective equilibrium, will be treated independently in a future article, since it concerns the displacement of layers of the atmosphere rather than the displacement of individual particles of air through a given layer.

It is obvious that if a particle of air is lifted it must expand against the decreasing pressure so that the pressure within and surrounding the particle must be equal; if it sinks it must be compressed. It is assumed that these changes take place without the transfer of heat either from the moving particle to its surroundings or vice versa. Such a thermally insulated process is termed adiabatic. If the particle expands it does work; if it is compressed work is done upon it. Thus there must be a conversion of mechanical energy into realized heat if the particle sinks, while heat must be converted into mechanical energy if the particle rises. By means of thermodynamics it can be shown that the relation between temperature and pressure in an adiabatic displacement of an unsaturated particle is as follows:

$$\frac{T_1}{T_2} = \left(\frac{p_1}{p_2}\right)^{0.289}$$

where T_1 is the original temperature of the particle at the pressure p_1 , and T_2 is the temperature it assumes at the pressure p_2 . This is Poisson's equation.

It is generally more convenient in aerological studies to refer to the adiabatic changes in temperature with respect to changes in elevation. From

¹The term "dry air" in synoptic meteorology simply means unsaturated air.

Poisson's equation and the hydrostatic equation (expressing the relation between pressure, density, and height), it is possible to obtain the rate of cooling of a rising air particle owing to its change in elevation. The result is the convenient rate of 1 C deg. per 100 m. This rate is not strictly constant; it depends upon the amount of moisture within the unsaturated air particle as well as the temperature of the surrounding air through which it is displaced. However, these effects are relatively small and tend to counteract each other. Hence, for all practical purposes, they may be neglected, the adiabatic rate of change of temperature being taken as 1 C deg. per 100 m. change in elevation. This is commonly known as the dry adiabatic lapse rate, or dry adiabat. (Lapse rate is defined as the rate of change in temperature with respect to height. Unless preceded by the qualifying term "adiabatic," lapse rate refers to the *existing* difference of temperature per unit of height within a selected layer of the atmosphere.)

Thus far we have considered the vertical displacement of an unsaturated particle of air. Once the particle becomes saturated the latent heat of condensation must be taken into account, for it supplies heat to the rising mass and therefore lessens the rate of cooling due to expansion. The lessening of the adiabatic cooling effect depends upon the liberated heat of condensation, which in turn depends upon the amount of liquid water condensed. But as the particle



continues to rise, its temperature falls, so that the total quantity of water vapor possible within the volume of rising air becomes less and less. Therefore the rate of cooling of the saturated mass becomes greater and greater, until at high levels, where the moisture content of the rising air is almost negligible, its 'rate of adiabatic cooling is practically the same as that for dry air.

We are now prepared to deal with the types of equilibrium as outlined above.

1. Stable. The rate of cooling for an unsaturated particle of air rising through the surrounding atmosphere is given by the broken line γ in fig. This is a straight line since the 1. rate is 1 C deg. per 100 m. Lines drawn parallel to γ would represent other dry adiabats at different tem-If we assume the obperatures. served vertical temperature distribution (the lapse rate) above 1000 m to be represented by the line a_1 , it is at once clear that a particle of air taken from any position on the line a_1 and brought up or down will immediately find itself of a different temperature and hence different density from its It will consequently surroundings. tend to return to its original position. For example let us take a particle at 1000 m. where the temperature is 20° C. If we bring this particle up to 2000 m., it will follow the line γ and at 2000 m. will assume the temperature 10° C. The surrounding air at 2000 m., however, has the temperature 14° C., or 4 deg. warmer than the rising particle. Under this condition the particle must return to its former position, coming to rest at 1000 m, where its temperature is the same as the surrounding air. In a similar fashion it is easily shown that downward motion of individual particles originally lying along the line as are hindered, the tendency being

always to make the particle return to its original position. It is clear then that the line a_1 represents a stable lapse rate. In other words if the lapse rate is less than the dry adiabat the layer is stable for unsaturated air.

The rate of adiabatic cooling for a rising saturated particle of air is represented in fig. 1 by the line β . Note that β is a curved line, since the rate of cooling is dependent upon the heat of condensation as well as upon the expansion. Also note that the curve β tends to straighten, gradually approaching the slope of γ at upper levels, where the moisture content becomes smaller and smaller. If we now assume a lapse rate of a_2 from 1 to 3 km. it is clear that a rising particle of saturated air will follow the line β , and will at every stage in its ascent be colder than its surroundings. Thus it will tend to remain at its original position and the layer between 1 and 3 km. will, by definition, be termed stable with respect to saturated air. A lapse rate less than the saturated adiabat may be termed absolutely stable since it is stable whether the rising air be dry or saturated.

2. Unstable. Let us assume that the lapse rate between 1 and 2 km. has the form a_3 as in fig. 1. A particle of air displaced upward from any position on the line a3 would follow parallel to the dry adiabat γ and obviously would be warmer than the surrounding air, level for level. Therefore it would continue to rise. The layer possessing the lapse rate a_3 is then unstable with respect to dry air, and since the saturated adiabatic lapse rate is always less than the dry, it is clear that this condition is even more unstable for saturated air. The line a3 has been constructed to represent a special case of instability in which the density remains constant with elevation. The density, of course, is a function of the temperature and pressure, and is slightly affected by the moisture content. In the atmosphere the pressure decrease with elevation is such that it nearly always overbalances the increase in density caused by the usually observed drop in temperature with elevation. If the temperature falls off sufficiently rapidly with elevation, however, a state will be reached wherein the density of the air is constant with height. If the lapse rate exceeds the value 3.42 C deg. per 100 m there must be an increase in density with elevationobviously a very unstable condition. This particular case has been given various names, the best one probably being mechanical instability. as represents a state of mechanical instability. This condition is never observed in the upper atmosphere, since it is such an unstable state. It is, however, frequently observed immediately overlying flat regions which become greatly heated during the summer daytime hours.

In the case of instability with saturated air the lapse rate must be greater than the saturated adiabat. In fig. 1 the line a_1 represents such a lapse rate between 1 and 3 km. It should be noted that the layer above 3 km. is not unstable for saturated air, since the rate of change of the temperature along a_1 above 3 km. is less than that along β .

3. Neutral equilibrium. With dry air this state is reached when the lapse rate is equal to the dry adiabat. Under this condition the rising parti-

Condition $a < \gamma$ $a < \beta$ $\gamma < a < 3.42^{\circ}$ C per 100 m. $a > \beta$ $a = \gamma$ $a = \beta$ $\beta < a < \gamma$ $a = 3.42^{\circ}$ C deg. per 100 m.

 $a > 3.42^{\circ}$ C per 100 m.

cle will possess the temperature of the surrounding air at every stage in its ascent. Thus it will neither assist nor resist displacement. If the rising air is saturated then the condition for neutral equilibrium requires that the lapse rate equal the saturation adiabat.

4. Conditional equilibrium. It was pointed out that the lapse rate given by the line a_1 is stable for rising air, while between 1 and 3 km. it is unstable for saturated air, because the lapse rate a_1 lies between the saturated and the dry adiabat. When this state obtains the layer is said to be in conditional equilibrium. The condition is simply that the layer is unstable if saturated, but stable if unsaturated. This lapse rate is frequently observed in aerological soundings, and has been found to be important in the development of thunderstorms and showers. It should be noted that the conditional instability in the case of fig. 1 extends through the layer between 1 and 3 km., and no higher. Beyond 3 km. the lapse rate a1 does not lie between the dry adiabat and the saturated adiabat for the temperatures at these elevations. The rate of change of temperature along the line β (above 3 km.) is greater than along the line a_1 .

A summary of the above conditions is presented in algebraic form below: where a represents the existing rate of change in temperature with elevation (the lapse rate); γ , the dry adiabatic lapse rate; the β , the saturated adiabatic lapse rate.

Type of equilibrium

Stable for dry air

Stable for both dry and saturated air (absolute stability)

Unstable for dry air (absolute instability) Unstable for saturated air

Unstable for both dry and saturated air

Neutral for dry air

Neutral for saturated air

Conditional

Upper limit of mechanical stability (density remains constant with elevation)

All air is mechanically unstable (density increases with height); "auto-convective gradient".

II. CONSERVATIVE PROPERTIES OF AIR MASSES

An air mass is defined as an extensive body of air which approximates horizontal homogeneity. The properties of the air mass which are considered in this homogeneity are mainly temperature and moisture. Thus over the earth's surface one may observe large currents of air within which the temperature and moisture content remain fairly constant at any given level. These large scale currents of air have their origin at a source region-a large area characterized by sameness of surface conditions and evenly distributed insolation. Thus the northern part of Canada in winter may be considered as a source region in that it is practically snow-covered, and the amount of insolation received is almost evenly distributed over the entire area. A large body of air which remains over a source region a sufficient length of time assumes certain definite properties in the vertical, particularly with respect to temperature and moisture. Once these properties have been attained, equilibrium with respect to the source region is reached, and any further stagnation or movement of the body of air over the source region will not appreciably affect the balanced distribution.* It is clear, however, that any movement of the air mass away from its source region will result in a modification of its properties. For example, if a body of air from northern Canada moves southeastward into the United States. there is bound to be some warming and moistening. Such modifications tend to destroy the homogeneity originally established at the source region. It is obvious that the modification will take place essentially within the lowest layers of the air mass, the upper layers being modified only gradually by means of the indirect processes of mixing with the modified low layers and by radiation chiefly from the surface of the new region over which the air mass is traveling. The theory of air masses as entities is based upon the fact that the variations of any property in the horizontal in an air mass are small compared with the rapid change of properties observed at the boundary between two air masses which come from different source regions. This boundary zone of rapid transition is a *front*.

From the definition of an air mass it is clear that in order to identify sections of a current as belonging to one and the same air mass we must not only know the properties at the source region and the modifications introduced, but we must also deal with observations which are most representative of these properties. The most representative observations are those made by means of upper air soundings; at the surface the most representative observations are those made at elevated and exposed sta-Examples of non-representations. tive observations are those of valley stations, or those greatly affected by the proximity of a lake or perhaps a mountain barrier. In the latter case there might be an appreciable foehn effect.

As an air mass progresses numerous changes take place, brought about by radiation, mixing (turbulent exchange), adiabatic expansion or compression, and condensation or evaporation. Some meteorological elements will remain more constant than others as the air mass moves from point to

^{*}The processes by which air masses reach homogeneous equilibrium in their source regions are not yet well understood; further discussion of this appears in the Appendix by Prof. Willett on the air mass properties; a recent study by Wexler (*Mo. Wea. Rev.*, April, 1936) discusses the origin of Polar contimental air, and J.-J. Jang has studied the formation of tropical marine air in the trade winds (see Bibliog.).—Ed.

point. Furthermore, quantities indirectly obtained by calculation from the observations will vary in constancy. The relative degree of constancy of a meteorological quantity within a moving air mass is defined as its *conservatism*.

We are now in a position to test the meteorological elements and the indirectly calculated quantities with respect to their degree of constancy (conservatism) as the air mass moves.

A. TEMPERATURE.

The temperature of any given particle of air within a moving air mass is influenced by the following factors:

- 1. Conduction and mixing.
- 2. Condensation and evaporation.
- 3. Expansion and compression (adiabatic changes).
- 4. Insolation and radiation.

Temperature, particularly at the surface, is so much changed by these factors that it cannot be regarded as a very representative element by which to identify an air mass after it has moved away from the source region.

The effect of condensation may be eliminated by the use of a quantity called equivalent temperature.* This is defined as the temperature a particle of air would have if it were made to rise adiabatically to the top of the atmosphere in such a manner that all the heat of condensation of the water vapor were added to the air and the sample of dry air were then brought back to its original pressure. Numerically this is not much different from the temperature the mass of air would have if all its moisture were made to condense and the heat given off by condensation were added to the remaining dry air. Any change in the moisture content of the air mass by condensation will not affect the equivalent temperature of a particle, since

the quantity of moisture subtracted by condensation involves a certain loss or gain of heat which is implied in the definition of equivalent temperature.

Evaporation does not greatly change the equivalent temperature; but this is not an important limitation for our practical purpose*.

Changes in the temperature of a particle by means of expansion or compression (adiabatic changes) may be eliminated by the use of the potential temperature. Potential temperature is that temperature a parcel of air would have if it were brought adiabatically to a pressure of 1000 mb. If a dry particle were vertically displaced it would warm or cool at the dry adiabatic rate, and therefore its actual temperature would differ from its potential temperature by about 1 C deg. per 100 meters from the level where the pressure is 1000 mb. This holds only in the event that the air particle remains unsaturated, for as soon as it becomes saturated, latent heat of condensation is realized and the particle no longer follows the dry adiabat, but the saturated adiabat. This was pointed out in the first article of this series. During ascent, therefore, the potential temperature of the saturated particle will increase by virtue of the latent heat of condensation.

The most conservative thermal quantity is the equivalent-potential temperature. This is the temperature the chosen air particle would have if it were brought adiabatically to the top of the atmosphere so that along its route all the moisture were condensed (and precipitated), the latent heat of condensation being given to the air, and then the remaining dry

^{*}Footnote on equivalent-potential temperature on next page also applies to the equivalent temperature.—R. G. S.

sample of air compressed to a pressure of 1000 mb. The equivalent-potential temperature may also be defined as the potential temperature of the equivalent temperature; that is, it can be determined by finding the equivalent temperature, then reducing this adiabatically to a pressure of The equivalent-potential 1000 mb. temperature combines the processes involved in the definition of the potential and the equivalent temperature; hence it is independent of any effects due to expansion or compression as well as condensation*. If we deal with the equivalent-potential temperature of a particle then the only processes which change its value are (1) conduction and mixing, (2)evaporation,* and (4) insolation and (1) and (4) obviously radiation. have their maximum effect in the surface layers, and are probably much less important at higher levels. Therefore the thermal properties of an air mass are far more conservative at upper levels than in the low layers. Consequently it is best to use upper air data rather than surface observations as criteria for the determination and identification of air masses.

B. LAPSE RATE.

The lapse rate associated with an air mass is frequently a good index for identification purposes. As in the case of thermal quantities, the lapse rate is much more conservative at upper levels. In the surface layers the lapse rate will be found to vary appreciably from day to day, and from nighttime to daytime. These effects are mainly the result of radiation and turbulence. For example, in the early morning hours there is apt to be a ground inversion, while during the afternoon an adiabatic lapse rate may extend up to about 800 meters. At higher levels surface effects are comparatively small, but there are times when the lapse rate

aloft changes because of extensive rising or sinking movements. In spite of variations in the lapse rate in the surface layers, the lapse rate is often indicative of the trajectory of the air current, for when moving over a cold surface the low layers of the current tend to become more stable, whereas when constantly moving over a warmer surface the lapse rate becomes steeper. Characteristic types of clouds are commonly associated with certain lapse rates.

C. HUMIDITY

The use of aerological material is becoming increasingly important for the investigation of synoptic meteorological problems, especially when air mass and frontal methods are applied. The correct identification of individual air masses is greatly facilitated by the utilization of certain quanti-

^{*}The equivalent-potential temperature defined by Rossby is not perfectly conservative for an evaporating process, such as when falling precipitation is evaporated into dry air or a fog is dissolved, though the effect does not change the equiv.-pot. temp. greatly. However, as Bleeker has pointed out (Q. Jn. Roy. Met. Soc., Oct. 1939), misleading conclusions as to air-mass identity and movements can be made from the e.-p. temp. if properties which are conservative for evaporation takes place. The thermodynamic properties which are conservative for evaporation are not conservative for all conceivable changes of the air. In Germany Rossby's equivalent potential temperature is also known (Stüve). Another quantity differing from (Stüve). Another quantity differing from the deviation is conservative for evaporation is conservative for evaporation for adiabatic properties. Another quantity differing from (Stüve). Another quantity differing from Sosby's but sometimes referred to as the "pseudo-potentielle Temperatur" (Robitzsch, 1928), is conservative for evaporation but not for adiabatic processes and condensation; it is defined as the temperature that would result by condensing out all the water vapor but al a constant pressure of 1000 ms strictly speaking the Normand-Robitzsch and its an isobaric equivalent-potential temperatures (and low: protective should be distinguished likewise. Normand-Robitzsch and its an isobaric equivalent potential adiabatic enviolent temperature, whereas the Stive-Rossby quantity is a nisobaric equivalent, and pseudo-adiusatically to lower temperature, and pseudo-adiusatically to indicate equivalent potential adiabatic enviolent temperatures, whereas the Stive-Rossby quantity is a dry-potential adiabatic equivalent potential temperature, and pseudo-adius quantities is an isobaric equivalent, and pseudo-adius quantity is a dry-potential adiabatic enviolent temperature, should be distinguished likewise. The there adiabatic equivalent frameerature, is the interature and practice are very l

ties which remain about constant as the air mass moves from point to point. Chief among such conservative quantities is the specific humidity-a term which is seldom defined in the elementary American textbooks on meteorology, and which, prior to the adoption of air-mass analysis, was almost completely ignored by synoptic meteorologists. In consideration of this it will be of interest to review, qualitatively and in brief fashion, the definitions of hygrometric terms and their relative degree of constancy when an unsaturated air particle containing some water vapor is subjected to vertical displacement.

The vertical displacement of an air particle in the atmosphere brings about changes in the pressure, since at any point the pressure within and surrounding the particle must be equal. If it rises work must be done in expanding against the decreasing pressure; if it descends work is done upon it. This work is realized as a change of temperature of the vertically moving particle. If no heat is added to or substracted from the moving element, in other words if the particle remans thermally insulated, the process is termed adiabatic. The rate of temperature change with altitude of an unsaturated air particle due to these adiabatic changes is very nearly constant (about 1° C. per 100 m.), although there are small variations in this constant due to the water vapor content and the temperature of the surrounding air in which the particle is moving. The first of these corrections, that for the presence of water vapor, becomes manifest when one considers the difference in the specific heats of dry air and of water The correction, however, is *vapor. very small, since the percentage of water vapor within a unit mass of air rarely exceeds a few percent of the total. The correction for the temperature of the surrounding air is also relatively small. Accordingly the dry air is the governing factor in the adiabatic rate of cooling of unsaturated air. Practically this amounts to saying that the volume occupied by the vapor and its temperature at any stage are essentially the same as that of the dry air mass with which the vapor is associated.

This facilitates a discussion of the variations of hygrometric quantities in the case of ascending and descending motion.

1. Vapor pressure (e). This term represents the partial pressure exerted by the water vapor molecules in the atmosphere. As an unsaturated particle of air is brought upward it expands. This expansion is effected by a change in pressure and a change in temperature which it has been shown is due to the pressure change. The adiabatic temperature change acts volumetrically in the opposite sense to the pressure change, since decreasing temperature causes a contraction of volume. The net effect of these two opposing factors is an increase of volume, so that the original amount of water vapor present within the sample of air must fill a larger space. Hence the vapor pressure (e) decreases with adiabatic expansion.

2. Relative humidity (f). This term is defined as the ratio of the actual vapor pressure (e) and the maximum vapor pressure (e_m) possible at the same temperature. It should be noted that this maximum vapor pressure, e_m , is a function of temperature only and has nothing to do with atmospheric pressure. An unsaturated air particle rising rapidly through the atmosphere must cool nearly adiabatically and therefore the maximum possible water vapor pressure, e_m , must become smaller and smaller. Since the vapor pressure within the air particle (e) is also decreasing, the variation in the relative humidity (e/e_m) really depends upon the rate of change of both these quantities. It so happens that the rate of decrease in the denominator, that is, the falling off of em due to adiabatic cooling, is much greater than the rate of decrease in the vapor pressure, the numerator. Thus the percentual value of the fraction, defined as the relative humidity, must increase as the particle rises.†

3. Absolute humidity. This quantity is defined as the mass of water vapor present in a given volume, or in other words the density of the water vapor. Again subjecting the air particle to adiabatic lifting it is obvious that the volume of air is increasing as the particle rises. Yet the number of water vapor molecules within the sample of air remains constant, so that the density of the vapor, or the absolute humidity, must decrease with adiabatic expansion.

4. Specific humidity (q). This quantity is defined as the mass of water vapor present in a unit mass of air. The unit mass of air is considered as being made up of the usual gas mixture plus the water vapor. The amount of water vapor, however, is negligibly small when compared with the mass of dry air with which it is associated. Hence the mixing ratio, defined as the mass of water vapor in a unit mass of dry air, and convenient for certain theoretical calculations is very nearly numerically equivalent to the specific humidity. Indeed errors in hygrometry in aerological soundings are generally much greater than the difference between the two quantities.

As the unsaturated air particle ascends adiabatically, both the mass of water vapor and the total mass of air remain constant. Hence the specific humidity, which depends on these two masses, also remains unchanged. Thus the air particle has the same specific humidity in spite of its rise.

The significance of this constancy becomes apparent when one considers the active overrunning of warm air over a cold wedge (a warm front), forced vertical displacement by an advancing wedge of cold air, or the sinking of air layers within a cold air mass or in a stagnating anticyclone. In all these cases vertical movements bring about changes in vapor pressure, relative humidity, and absolute humidity of the vertically moving particle. The specific humidity, however, does not change, providing no moisture is added to or subtracted from the air through precipitation, evaporation, or turbulent exchange.

At the surface of the earth the moisture content depends upon the synoptic air mass present and the modification which it has undergone during its history. Since the modification is generally greatest in the lowest layers of the atmosphere it follows that the meteorological elements within these layers are less conservative than at higher levels. Nevertheless, the proximity of our American air-mass source regions, and the marked difference in our air-mass properties* bring about considerable contrast in the elements even within the surface layers. The specific hu-

 $[\]dagger Note$: In U. S. the dew-point temperature is reported in the airways hourly observations,

is reported in the airways hourly observations, and also in the six-hourly reports from first-order stations, for the humidity element; it is not strictly conservative when changes or differences of pressure are involved, but is use-ful for local comparisons and for fog fore-casting.—R. G. S. "For a thorough treatment of these proper-ties see "American Air Mass Properties" by H. C. Willett, Papers in Physical Oceano-graphy and Meteorology, Mass. Inst. of Tech. and Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution. Vol. 2, No. 2, 1933 now out of print but largely reprinted in back of this booklet. Ar-ticles on air mass properties in other counticles on air mass properties in other coun-tries are listed in the BIBLIOGRAPHY.

midity at the surface offers a worthwhile aid to the identification of individual air masses as well as in the upper air. In winter the specific humidity at stations on either side of a well marked front may differ by ten grams per kilogram of air. Although it is true that with large specific humidity contrasts at a frontal zone one generally finds good temperature contrasts, there are many cases in which the temperature immediately after a front passage changes but slightly with the wind shift, yet the specific humidity changes considerably. This is particularly true in summer in connection with air masses of continencharacteristics which displace tal maritime air masses. As an example of this type of front a case may be cited in which a Tropical maritime air mass over New England was displaced by an older transitional air mass originally of Polar Pacific origin. At Boston the specific humidity within the tropical air mass averaged about fifteen grams per kilogram. With a shift of wind from south-southwest to southwest the specific humidity fell fairly rapidly to ten grams per kilogram, even though the temperature rose a few degrees Fahrenheit. It cannot be doubted that the addition of the specific humidity to the data on our daily weather maps would facilitate the analysis and might be the deciding factor in the correct placement of a front when other indications are not pronounced.

The numerical value of the specific humidity is readily calculated by use of the approximate formula

$q = 622 \ e/p$

where q represents the specific humidity expressed in grams per kilogram; e, the existent vapor pressure (obtained through the relative humidity and temperature observations); and p, the total atmospheric pressure. The units for e and p may be chosen arbitrarily (providing both are expressed in the same unit) since they constitute a ratio.

D. CONDENSATION FORMS.

The type of cloud formation is largely a result of the vertical distribution of temperature (the lapse rate) and moisture. Since both these quantities are fairly conservative, it follows that certain condensation forms are more or less characteristic of each type of air mass. Care must be exercised in differentiating between clouds formed within an air mass and those formed by the interaction at the front between two different air masses. In addition, local condensation forms, such as ground fogs, must be eliminated.

E. VISIBILITY.

The visibility in the lower layers of the atmosphere is generally an indication of the lapse rate therein. If the lapse rate is stable, then smoke and dust tend to remain close to the surface; if the lapse rate is steep then vertical motion is easily possible and the foreign matter diluted by being mixed throughout a layer of considerable thickness, thereby increasing the visibility in the surface layers. In cold masses which are moving over a much warmer surface a steep lapse rate is soon established and visibilities become good. On the other hand, when a warm current moves over a much colder surface the marked stability keeps the foreign matter concentrated in the lower layers making the visibility poor. As an index of the air mass present, visibility must be used with considerable care. since there are numerous factors other than turbulence affecting visibility.

F. WIND DIRECTION AND VELOCITY.

Wind direction and velocity are in themselves not very conservative elements. Polar air masses are frequently observed with winds having a southerly component, and tropical air masses not infrequently have sections in which the wind may blow from the northwest. This is true particularly in upper levels. In the placement of fronts, however, winds are very important. Some of the fundamental concepts of this phase of the problem will be taken up in a later article in this series.

Of the six elements named above,

III. THE ROSSBY DIAGRAM-PLOTTING ROUTINE

series.

It is of primary importance in synoptic meteorology that air masses be followed as they move from area to area over the earth's surface; the weather at any given locality is, of course, largely dependent upon the type of air mass present and the modification which the body of air has undergone during its history. In the preceding article it was pointed out that the use of representative observations is necessary for the identification of air masses from different source regions. The upper layers of the atmosphere being comparatively free from surface effects, it is best to use data from upper air soundings. It was also shown that the most conservative quantities that can be used for purposes of identification are not the ones directly measurable-temperature and relative humidity-but those indirectly obtained -potential temperature and specific humidity. These two quantities, as will be seen later (Article X), are also used in isentropic analysis.

Realizing the importance of a quantitative method for identifying air masses, Professor C.-G. Rossby, of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, developed the diagram which bears his name. As might be supposed, the diagram makes use of the most conservative quantities—potential temperature and specific humid-

ity. Potential temperature is the ordinate of the diagram, specific humidity the abscissa. Since the equivalent-potential temperature is a function of potential temperature and specific humidity, another set of lines representing constant equivalentpotential temperature may be constructed on this diagram. The significance of these lines as well as the interpretation of various curves on the Rossby diagram will be discussed later. At present we shall concern ourselves with the mechanical procedure of constructing, on these diagrams, curves representing aerological soundings.

the thermal and hygrometric quanti-

ties are the best indices to be used in

following and identifying air masses.

Of these, the equivalent-potential tem-

perature is the most conservative.

combining the conservative qualities

of both the potential temperature and

the specific humidity. The above dis-

cussion, necessarily brief and sketchy,

will enable us to take up the Rossby-

diagram in the next article of this

In the first article of this series it was pointed out that, in an adiabatic process, the relation between temperature and pressure is given by the formula:

$$\frac{T_1}{T_2} = \left(\frac{p_1}{p_2} \right)^{0.288}$$

where T_1 is the temperature at the pressure p_1 , and T_2 is the temperature the particle assumes at the pressure p_2 . If we now specify that the particle, originally at temperature T_1 and pressure p_1 be compressed to 1000 mb pressure we have

$$\frac{T_1}{T_2} = \left(\frac{p_1}{1000}\right)^{0.288}$$

But if the particle is reduced dry

adiabatically to 1000 mb, the temperature, T_2 , which it assumes at this pressure is by definition the potential temperature, which we shall call θ . Thus

$$\frac{T_1}{\theta} = \left(\frac{p_1}{1000}\right)^{0.288}$$

or $\theta = T_1 \left(\frac{1000}{p_1}\right)^{0.288}$

From this formula the potential temperature is readily computed. Tables giving the factor $\left(\frac{1000}{p_1}\right)^{0.288}$

may be constructed to facilitate this computation. In practice, however, it is generally more convenient to obtain the potential temperature by means of the adiabatic chart. It is assumed that the reader has access to such a chart.* For convenience of

reference, fig. 2 will serve to show the essential features of this diagram. The ordinate consists of the pressure. which, in the latest type of adiabatic chart, is plotted to the power 0.288 (i.e., $p^{0.288}$ is the ordinate). The reason for using $p^{0.288}$ is that when plotted in this fashion against a linear scale of temperature, the lines representing dry adiabats become slanting straight lines (though they converge upward slightly). This is seen from Poisson's equation. In the older Stüve adiabatic chart the pressure is plotted on a logarithmic scale, so that there is a slight curvature to the dry adiabats.*

A little manipulation of Poisson's equation explains the other features of

^{*}Various older forms, such as the Hertz, Neuhoff, and early Stüve diagrams, are still found in many physics and meteorology texts. The more convenient form, Stüve's newer psuedo-adiabatic chart, is now used by most meteorologists and weather services.—*Ed.*



the chart. One can derive that $p_1^{0.238}$ $= T_1$ (1000)^{0.288}/ θ and thus $p_1^{0.288}$ varies only as T_1 ; θ and $(1000)^{0.288}$ being constants for any individual θ line starting at 1000 mb. Thus T is linear on the abscissae scale, and $p^{0.255}$ is linear on the ordinate scale. Note also that on any given T line the vertical intervals between unit θ values diminish upward, since θ varies as $T \neq P_1^{0.258}$. The convergence upward of the dry adiabats follows from the relation that $p_1^{0.288}$ varies as T_1/θ , so that as θ increases the slope T_1 / θ decreases along the 1000-mb line towards lower values of $\theta_{\rm o}$

[Wet adiabats (= equivalent-potential or wet-bulb temperature isotherms) are often added to the adiabatic chart making it a *pseudo-adiabatic diagram* on which the behavior of saturated particles can also be studied; but this is of no concern to the present discussion. Saturation specific humidity lines may also be added on the $p^{0.288}$ type of chart. These have the advantage of being straight lines but are curved on the log p diagram.]

If the pressure and temperature of any particle of air be known, then one may find its potential temperature with the aid of the adiabatic chart by moving the original point parallel to the dry 'adiabatic lines until the 1000 mb line is intersected. The temperature at this intersection is the potential temperature. An easier way is to label the slanting lines (the dry adiabats) with the particular potential temperature which remains constant along them. Thus any point on the adiabatic chart which is determined by a pair of values of p and T has one potential temperature, which may be ascertained from the dry adiabats. Potential temperature is practically always expressed in degrees Absolute.

With the help of the adiabatic

chart and definitions which have been given, the student should be able to deduce the following important generalizations:

1. The potential temperature along a dry adiabatic line is constant.

2. A decrease in potential temperature with elevation corresponds to a superadiabatic lapse rate.

3. The greater the rate of increase in the potential temperature with elevation, the greater the stability.

It is essential that the reader be thoroughly familiar with the concept of potential temperature in order to appreciate the Rossby diagram.

It should be mentioned here that, strictly speaking, the potential temperature as here defined is not the quantity used as the ordinate in the Rossby diagram, but a very nearly numerically-equivalent quantity known as the partial potential temperature with respect to dry air. The total pressure exerted by air is made up of the pressure of the dry air (i.e., all the gases with the exception of water vapor) plus the pressure exerted by the water vapor. The partial potential temperature with respect to dry air is then defined as the temperature the particle would have if it were reduced adiabatically from the pressure exerted solely by the dry air to a pressure of 1000 mb. The algebraic representation of this quantity will serve to clarify the definition. If θ_d represents the partial potential temperature with respect to dry air, p the total pressure of the air, T the temperature of the particle, and e the partial pressure exerted by the water vapor, we have:

$$p_a = T \left(\frac{1000}{p - e} \right)^{0.288}$$

This is, of course, similar in form to the formula for the potential temperature, (p-e) replacing the p in the expression for potential temperature. But e is generally very small compared with p, and for this reason θ_{a} and θ do not differ appreciably. It is doubtful if, in practical meteorological work, it is worth while to obtain θ_d rather than θ . However, if numerical accuracy is desired, the partial potential temperature may be obtained by entering as the ordinate of the point on the adiabatic chart. not the actual pressure, but the total pressure minus the pressure due to the vapor. This graphical process is facilitated by locating the actual point of pressure on the adiabatic chart, then displacing this point vertically upward by the number of millibars of pressure exerted by the vapor.

On one side of the adiabatic chart is generally found a set of curves by means of which the specific humidity may be determined. A more convenient method of computing this quantity will be given below. The reader, however, will find it helpful to discover how to use the specific humidity curves on the adiabatic chart.

It has been pointed out that the specific humidity may be computed from the formula:

$$q = 622 \frac{e}{p}$$

where q is the specific humidity expressed in grams per kilogram of air; e, vapor pressure, and p, the pressure of the air. The units for e and pmay be chosen arbitrarily since they constitute a ratio. They are generally expressed in millibars, however, since upper air observations are transmitted in these units. The value of e, the vapor pressure, is readily obtained by multiplying the relative humidity by the saturation vapor pressure at the temperature of the particle. The saturation vapor pressure for different temperatures may be found in most texts on meteorology or physics. Thus if one wishes to find the vapor pressure at the temperature of 10°C and relative humidity of 50%, he finds in the saturation vapor pressure tables the value of 12.28 mb corresponding to 10°C. Since the air is only 50% saturated, the vapor pressure is one-half of 12.28 mb or 6.14 mb. Note that vapor pressure is entirely independent of pressure, being a function of temperature and relative humidity alone. After e has been determined, the specific humidity, q, is calculated by means of the above formula. A slide rule is most convenient for this computation.

It should be also noted that, strictly speaking, the specific humidity is not used as the abscissa of the Rossby diagram, but rather a very nearly equivalent quantity called the mixing ratio. This term is defined as the mass of water vapor per unit mass of perfectly dry (absence of water vapor) air. In algebraic form:

mixing ratio (w) = 622 $\frac{e}{p-e}$

From the above formula it is clear that since e is very small compared with p there will be no appreciable error introduced by the use of q instead of w. In fact, with the present inaccurate method of measuring the relative humidity in the upper atmosphere with the hair hygrograph, it is ridiculous to try to obtain such an accuracy as the difference between the formulae for q and w indicate. The use of the partial potential temperature and mixing ratio rather than potential temperature and specific humidity as coördinates of the Rossby diagram, was made necessary by the construction of the lines of



FIG. 3. ROSSBY DIAGRAM IN OUTLINE

equivalent-potential temperature. In practice it is most convenient to use the potential temperature and the specific humidity; hereafter when the coördinates of the Rossby diagram are mentioned, they will be referred to simply as potential temperature and specific humidity, or in symbols as θ and q, with the understanding that the reader is aware of the small differences between them and the partial potential temperature and mixing ratio.

The abscissa of the Rossby diagram, the specific humidity, is a linear scale (see fig. 3); the ordinate, potential temperature, is logarithmic. This construction facilitated the computation of the lines of constant equivalent-potential temperature in the The position of original drawing. any point on the diagram is thus obtained by its values of q and θ . Thus if one wishes to plot an airplane sounding on the Rossby diagram there is a routine involved in computing q and θ . The reports of soundings transmitted over the teletype system or by short-wave radio, contain the altitude in meters (z), the pressure in mb (p), the temperature in Centigrade (T), and the relative humidity in percent (f). The following working table is suggested:

Station and date of sounding

z	p	f	e	q	θ	Remarks

After q and θ are obtained the diagram is easily plotted.

Abbreviations for the names of the stations and the dates of the soundings may be attached to the ends of the curves, and several curves may be drawn on one diagram, providing they do not interfere too much with one another. Dotted lines, broken lines, and the like help to simplify the differentiation among curves.

The lines of constant equivalentpotential temperature, which are determined by means of the θ and qscales, are those curves sloping downward from left to right.

The interpretation of the various types of curves that appear from plotting soundings on the Rossby diagram will be treated in the next article in the series.

Too much emphasis cannot be placed on the importance of the practical experience with the methods discussed in these articles. It is mainly by experience that the student learns to understand clearly and really make use of them.

Use of The Rossby-Diagram as a Nomogram for finding θ and q

Professor Rossby has also suggested another method of obtaining the potential temperature and moisture content directly from the equivalent-potential temperature diagram which is presented at the rear of Rossby's original paper.² This particular diagram differs from that described above (see fig. 3) in that it contains, in addition to the θ , w, and $\theta_{\rm E}$ (equivalent-potential temperature) lines, the isobars and isotherms for the condensation level. With this particular diagram (and with one operation in multiplication, which also may be done graphically) θ and w may be readily evaluated from the values of p, T, and f obtained in an airplane sounding. Dr. Byers' description of this method appears below. It is undoubtedly a time saving process, although one may find some difficulty in working with a chart which has five sets of intersecting lines. Anyone inexperienced with the Rossby diagram will find it better to practice first the basic methods presented above until he has a good understanding of the fundamental quantities and operations .----J. N.

[The Rossby diagram or equivalentpotential temperature chart is available in a form which gives the pressures and temperatures at the condensation point of the air after an adiabatic expansion from the observed conditions of potential temperature and moisture content. A determination in a reverse manner makes it possible to evaluate the potential temperature and moisture content from the ordinary observed pressure, temperature and relative humidity data (See Plate I, in reference cited in footnote 2, p. 16).

The assumption is made at first that the air has just reached saturation. The point of intersection of the actual temperature line (under the assumption this is also the temperature of the condensation point) with the line for the given pressure coincides with the point of intersection of the lines of actual potential temperature and saturation moisture content. Multiplying the latter by the relative humidity gives the existing moisture content. Since the notential temperature in an adjabatic expansion is constant until saturation is reached, no correction is needed for this quantity.

The graphical method suggested by Prof. Rossby is as follows: With the observed temperature expressed in absolute degrees, enter the diagram along the corresponding red temperature line until the observed pressure line is intersected. Read the potential temperature at the point of intersection from the black lines which run horizontally across the diagram and the saturation moisture content from the black vertical lines. Multiply the latter value by the relative humidity. For this operation, a graph can be made consisting of saturation moisture content and actual moisture content as coördinates, with relative humidity lines crossing diagonally.

Example: Pressure 860 mb. Temp. 3°C., or 276°A. Rel. Hum. 80%.

Follow red line of 276° to 860 mb, where potential temperature of 288.1 and moisture content at saturation of 5.5 g/kg are indicated. Taking 80%of this latter value, we find the actual moisture content, which is 4.4 g/kg. —H. R. Byers].

Millar of the Canadian Meteorological Service has designed another

²C.-G. Rossby, Thermodynamics applied to air mass analysis, Mass. Inst. of Tech., Meteorological Papers, vol. 1, no. 3. 41 pp., 1932.

nomogram for q and θ , which is shown in Fig. 4.—*R*. *G*. *S*.

Note .- Beginning in the summer of 1938 the U.S. Weather Bureau ceased regularly transmitting over its telegraph and teletype circuits the potential temperature (A) for each significant level of the daily aerological soundings. It became necessary therefore to compute all the derived values needed for plotting various energy and thermodynamic diagrams or An lapse-rates, etc. However, the Bureau at the same time published for its offices a new type of adjabatic chart base ("Upper Air Map C") which contains, besides the fundamental grid of ordinary temperature vs pressure, only the slanting curves of the wet (saturation) adiabats: but on the margins are numbered marks to indicate where the lines of potential temperature (straight), of saturation specific humidity (also straight) and of kilometers of elevation above the sea, would intersect. By using a ruler, or better still, a celluloid or glass transparent plate with sets of lines for potential temperature and saturation specific-humidity drawn to scale on it, one can quickly evaluate these figures from the base chart once the sounding is plotted thereon in the ordinary terms of T, p, and q. Thus the new chart serves as a convenient nomogram. It supplants the temperatures vs height aerological plotting chart which has heretofore been used for years in the Weather Bureau forecast offices and elsewhere. Owing to the small size of this chart it is not suitable for accurate work and will be supplanted by a new and larger design. The large standard Stüve adiabatic chart has long been available but used chiefly at aerological stations; it is too large for ready comparison of many soundings at once, as the forecaster must do in some countries,-Editor.

MODIFIED ROSSBY-DIAGRAMS

A number of variations have been proposed and some are in use. They have some advantages in convenience but little if any fundamental ones. Any diagram with two conservative elements among its coordinates would essentially still be a Rossby diagram. For βp Brunt (Phys. and Dyn. Met., 2nd ed., p. 92) has suggested substituting the (saturated) potential wet-bulb temperature and Hewson has analyzed situations in that manner (see Bibliography). However, Bleeker points out that this quantity is not conservative if any evaporation (of falling rain, or by subsidence) takes place, when it may lead to erroncous conclusions as to movement and identity of air masses. Rossby's equivalentpotential temperature is somewhat less conservative for an evaporation process than the adiabatic wet-bulb potential temperature. However, there is no single index which is conservative for both adiabatic processes and evaporation, and since evaporation does not often seriously invalidate the usual interpretation of the Rossby diagram the adiabatic wet-bulb and equivalent-potential temperatures are both ecoually the best conservative elements available.

Clark of California Institute of Technology revised the Rossby-diagram by arranging the $\partial \varepsilon$ isotherms vertically and $\partial \sigma$ lines horizontally and plotting curved lines of constant mixing ratio and isobars of the condensation level upon the chart. The characteristic curves will vary in slope through wider angles than on the original diagram, so that different stability conditions are more easily recognized at a glance (described in Taylor's Aeronautical Meteorology, p. 60.).

Arakawa has published in Japan a new form of the Rossby-diagram having for ordinates the potential temperature on a linear scale instead of partial potential temperature on a logarithmic scale, and having equivalent-potential temperature lines which are calculated on the basis of convection in saturated air with the heat of fusion taken into account; also the diagram is extended to over 20 g/kg mixing ratio so that it can be used for extremely humid tropical conditions. The advantage of these coordinates is that the effect of mixing of two air masses can also be determined, since the potential temperature of a mixture is equal to the mean of the potential temperatures of the original air masses (Bull. Amer. Met. Soc., March 1940, p. 111).

Finally, the Refsdal "Acrogram" should be mentioned here since it combines the properties of the adiabatic chart and the Rossby diagram and the tephigram in one, though it is rather too complicated for the elementary student (see:-Geofysiske Publik., Vol. XI, No. 13; Meteorol. Zeit., Jan. 1935, p. 1; Bull. Amer. Met. Soc., Jan. 1940, p. 1).

(See also "A Note on Estimating Conditional and Convective Instability from the Wet-bulb Curve", at the end of Article VIII in this booklet.)



MAIN DIVISIONS ONLY.

DIRECTIONS: To obtain w, lay a ruler across the p and r scales, setting the edge on the pressure p, and the percent relative humidity r. Then, holding the ruler rigid, hold a 90° set square against the ruler, and slide the square along until the edge is set at the temperature on the T scale. The corresponding value of w will then be read against the square on the w scale. To obtain θ , proceed in the same way, but setting on the p, w', and T' scales. For w', use the value of w previously obtained. (For further details see *Bull. Amer. Met. Soc.*, Oct. 1935, p. 229; or June-July, 1936, p. 18).

IV. THE ROSSBY DIAGRAM-INTERPRETATION

In the preceding article the mechanics of plotting the Rossby diagram were discussed, and it may be said here that the curve joining the individual points is called the characteristic curve for the air column. The present article deals with the significance of various curves on the diagram and the changes in appearance of these curves as the more common atmospheric processes, such as vertical displacement, occur. At this point it is only fair to remind the reader that the following discussion is, from the standpoint of a quantitative analysis, rather unsatisfactory in that it is an attempt to describe processes which are better expressed in more exact mathematical Yet it is hoped that the terms. following will serve as an outline for those who have a limited knowledge of mathematics and physics.

In the Rossby diagram the characteristic curve for an unsaturated particle of air, A (see fig. 5) having a given potential temperature (θ) and specific humidity (q) and being displaced vertically, is represented as

a noint. Owing to the fact that its potential temperature must remain constant, the point A cannot be displaced from the horizontal line representing its potential temperature. Furthermore, the specific humidity remains constant during the adiabatic process with unsaturated air, and thus the point A cannot be displaced from the vertical line representing constant specific humidity. It is evident, then, that the characteristic curve of a dry particle of air which is undergoing adiabatic transformation reduces to a point on the diagram. For a given element of air this point will be represented by the same coördinates (θ and q) until the level of condensation has been reached. From this level on it is assumed that the water produced by condensation drops out immediately-in other words, the process is considered pseudoadiabatic (pseudo, since there is a small amount of heat removed from the air by the falling water). From the definition of equivalent-potential temperature $(\theta_{\rm F})$ it is clear that the characteristic curve of the saturated mass of rising



FIG. 5. CHARACTERISTIC CURVES ON THE ROSSBY DIAGRAM.

air is a line of constant equivalentpotential temperature. This amounts to saying that the lines of constant $\theta_{\rm E}$ are also the saturation adiabats. In a rough fashion it is evident that the $\theta_{\rm E}$ lines must slope as they do; the potential temperature increasing in the saturated air particle because of the realized (latent) heat of condensation, and the specific humidity falling because of the condensation and removal of the liquid water.

The fact that an adiabatic process with unsaturated air is represented by a point makes the Rossby diagram particularly adaptable to modern synoptic analysis. A thin layer of air having a uniform distribution of temperature and moisture may be represented on the diagram as a straight line. Let this line be CD in fig. 5. If the entire layer CD be raised or lowered the temperature and relative humidity of each particle of air within the laver will be changed because of the adiabatic expansion or compression. But the potential temperature and specific humidity of each particle of air will remain unchanged, so long as condensation or evaporation do not take place, and for this reason the layer, compressed or expanded, will be represented on the diagram by the same line CD. It is important to note that what has been said refers to one stratum of air, no new strata being introduced or removed during the process. The line element CD may then be considered as the characteristic curve for the given layer. If an entire aërological sounding is plotted on the Rossby diagram, it may be considered as the characteristic curve of the air column through which the sounding has been made.

In the definition of an air mass, horizontal homogeneity was stressed.

Soundings, then, made at different places within a source region and remaining within the same air mass should exhibit nearly identical characteristics: the characteristic curves should be similar. Frequently the air masses, even at the source regions particularly after travelling and some distance, are subjected to forces which lead to appreciable vertical displacements. When this occurs unequally in different sections of the air mass the homogeneity with respect to level tends to be destroyed. The surfaces of constant potential temperature and constant specific humidity become curved instead of horizontal, and plots of temperature or moisture against elevation appear markedly dissimilar. It follows that it is difficult to identify and follow air masses by means of these diagrams. The characteristic curves on the Rossby diagram, on the other hand, will have overlapping parts for the same column of air regardless of the extent of the expansion or compression, providing no condensation, evaporation, or introduction of a new air mass has taken place. The reader may refer to papers published by the Meteorology Course of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and to Harvard Meteorological Studies, No. 2, for examples of this characteristic quality for various air masses on the Rossby diagram.

Fig. 5 illustrates characteristic winter curves for two air masses: one having its source over Northern Canada (Pc—Polar Canadian) the other from the Gulf of Mexico (TG —Tropical Gulf).* The numbers, beside points on the curve, represent elevations in kilometers above sea level. The PC curve exhibits the pronounced coldness, dryness, and stab-

^{*}For description of these air masses see the article by Prof. Willett in the back of this booklet.

ility of the Polar Canadian air. The TG curve shows the warm and moist character of the tropical maritime air.

The Rossby diagram is helpful in the treatment of stability. Thermodynamic diagrams, for the most part, deal with the stability or instability of a particle of air with respect to its surroundings. This is of importance in penetrative convection, such as in cumulus cloud and thunderstorm formation. However, in the more important types of convection, that is, in the case when a laver of warm air of large horizontal extent is forced over an underlying cold air wedge or a mountain range, the classical energy diagrams fail to give a measure of the potential energy available in the layer. It is here that the Rossby diagram is invaluable. It is true, however, that in regard to particle stability the classical diagrams are more useful than the Rossby diagram, but even in this type of stability it is not difficult to apply the equivalent-potential temperature diagram of Rossby. This may be done with the aid of the lines of equal potential temperature (the horizontal lines) and the elevations of the points which may be conveniently indicated by figures beside the individual points of the sounding. Thus if there is no increase in potential temperature through a layer, the lapse rate is equal to the dry adiabat, or 1 C deg. per 100 m. If there is an increase in potential temperature of 10 deg. in 1000 m the lapse rate is isothermal. In general, the greater the increase in potential temperature with elevation the greater the stability. If the potential temperature decreases with elevation, the lapse rate is superadiabatic.

The second type of stability, that within a layer which is being displaced vertically, is best treated by the Rossby diagram. From the slope of the characteristic curve relative to the slope of the lines of constant $\theta_{\rm F}$, one can determine whether the layer in question is convectively unstable (sometimes called potentially unstable). This condition is defined as one in which the equivalent-potential temperature decreases with elevation, and is indicated on the Rossby diagram by a line which possesses a slope between those of the lines of constant $\theta_{\rm E}$ and constant θ . In other words the line representing convective instability is one which lies between the potential and the equivalent-potential isotherms. The importance of this particular distribution of temperature and moisture lies in the fact that lifting of the entire laver brings about a more unstable condition in fact, if the layer is lifted sufficiently it will eventually become unstable with respect to dry (unsaturated) The following illustration will air. serve to show this increasing in-Suppose we have the layer stability. CD, which is by definition convectively unstable, having the equivalent-potential temperature 320°A at the base of the layer and 315°A at the top. If the laver is now lifted pseudoadiabatically to the top of the atmosphere, the base of the layer will have an equivalent-potential temperature greater than that at the top of the layer by 5 C deg., the additional heat being supplied to the bottom of the layer by the extra heat of condensation given to it by the greater amount of water vapor at the base compared with the top of the layer. This decrease of potential temperature, of course, denotes instability with respect to dry air. If the temperatures at the top and base of the layer were taken at successive intervals in the ascent of the stratum the difference

in temperature would be seen to become greater and greater. Thus any layer of air which was originally convectively unstable, when subjected to lifting, will acquire a steeper lapse rate, eventually reaching a state of instability with respect to dry air.

Inspection of fig. 5 will reveal that a decrease in $\theta_{\rm E}$ with elevation may be brought about in different ways. For example, it may be due to a rapid drop in temperature with elevation (that is, a small change in potential temperature), a rapid decrease in the moisture content with elevation. or of course a combination of both. Reference to the relative humidity distribution and lapse rate is sufficient to indicate to the synoptic meteorologist whether the convective instability is due to the moisture or to the temperature distribution. In this connection it is well to note that convective instability may or may not carry with it conditional instability. Similarly, conditional instability is not necessarily accompanied by convective instability.

The idea of convective instability may perhaps be made clearer by dealing with a special case in which the base of a stratum is nearly saturated, while the top is very dry. Lifting of this layer will lead to saturation of the base long before the upper layer. Thus the lower part of the layer cools at the rate for saturated air at those temperatures, while the upper part of the layer cools at the adiabatic rate for dry air. It is obvious that the base of the layer is becoming warmer and warmer relative to the top of the layer, thereby increasing the lapse rate. Furthermore, even after the entire layer becomes saturated, the base of the layer is receiving more heat of condensation than the top of the layer.

The mere existence of some layer

or layers of convective instability within an atmospheric sounding does not mean that the energy stored therein will be released in the form of convection. The meteorologist must consider whether vertical forces brought about by thermal or mechanical convection will come into play sufficient to lift the laver enough to convert the potential energy of the laver into kinetic energy. In this connection reference must be made to the synoptic chart.

If the equivalent-potential temperature increases with elevation the state is one of stability with respect to dry or saturated air, and no adiabatic process performed upon the layer can render it unstable.

Another important use of the Rossby diagram is in distinguishing between temperature inversions which have developed within the same air mass and those which are the result of a warm current overrunning a cold wedge. In the latter case the warm current generally has, level for level, a much higher moisture content than the cold current. For example, let us suppose that we are dealing with a wedge of cold air which had source over northern its Canada while a current of warm moist air from the Gulf of Mexico is overrunning it. A sounding made through the cold wedge of air into the warm current would then show a rapid increase of moisture and potential temperature. The rapid increase is shown in the Rossby diagram (curve EF, fig. 5) where the wedge-like curve shows a maximum specific humidity aloft. In one and the same air mass the specific humidity generally falls off gradually. This would be expected in view of the fact that all atmospheric water vapor originates at the earth's surface. On the hand, soundings obtained other

within one and the same current of air show no pronounced wedge-like curve, but instead a continued decrease in the moisture content.

The method of making use of the Rossby diagram in practical meteorological work is best grasped by studying synoptic discussions in which the diagrams are used, and if possible, making daily use of them in conjunction with the analyzed weather maps.*

Note on present use of the Rosshu and other diagrams.-The Rossby diagram is no longer so extensively used in daily routine weather analysis in the United States as some years ago. (The use of tephigrams and emagrams likewise seems to have decreased). The reason for this appears to be in part the lack of time available for plotting additional charts, but more importantly the increasing experience of the analysts which permits them to recognize the air masses and stability conditions from an inspection of the surface map and of the aerological soundings plotted on adiabatic charts or against height. Time available to forecasters is so limited that the introduction of additional charts is resisted by them except where some very indispensable

some such diagram as Rossby's should be a familiar tool and that it is invaluable for teaching principles to students and for research. The diagram still finds much use as a nomogram for finding A, $A_{\rm E}$, etc., and other thermodynamic computations. For identifying convective instability it is only necessary to have a table of the $A_{\rm E}$ lapse rates for the sounding. In the note on wet-bulk temperature appended to Article VIII is indicated how all types of stability and energy distribution can be recognized on the tenhigram or emagram alone, thus obviating the necessity of plotting two or three charts. Even the Stüve pseudo-adiabatic chart, which is usually plotted anyway in all weather services. can be adapted in a crude way for all the purposes attributed to other charts and since time is at a premium there is a tendency for American forecasters to depend on it almost exclusively. In a tropical country the tephigram is probably the most convenient allpurpose chart (see Article VIII). The Refsdal "Aerogram" is designed to combine features of all other diagrams and is being used in some services. Its inconveniently small scale and the complications of many overlapping coordinate grid-lines do not commend it for students, nor for speed and simplicity .--R. G. S.

advantage can be readily demonstrated. Ali

synoptic meteorologists agree, however, that

V. ELEMENTS OF FRONTAL STRUCTURE-THE WARM FRONT

Anyone who has worked with a close network of surface observations clearly recognizes the existence of zones in which the rate of change of the commonly observed meteorological elements, e.g., temperature, is comparatively large. These zones of rapid transition of the elements are the "fronts" of the Norwegian system of weather analysis. In the general treatment of air masses it was pointed out that large-scale air currents, in spite of a long trajectory, tend to retain their original properties, this being particularly true at upper levels. It follows, then, that as two air masses, one from polar regions and the other from tropical regions, converge, there must be a zone of

separation between the two currents. The methods of air mass and frontal analysis are primarily based upon the postulate that the zone of separation between currents of air possessing different properties may be treated as a surface of discontinuity. Atmospheric discontinuities, to be sure, are not absolute mathematically abrupt transitions, but rather are zones in which the change in the elements is far more rapid than within the air masses on either side of the front.

These discontinuities are not purely surface phenomena; they are surfaces which generally slope backward (or forward) over the cold air. If an ideal case is assumed in which a warm current of air flows side by side but in opposite direction to a cold current the following formula

^{*}See synoptic papers by Willett, Emmons, Namias, and Byers, 1932-1936, in Bibliography. --Ed.

(1)
$$\tan \beta = \frac{l}{g} \frac{(T_2v_1-I_1v_2)}{(T_2-T_1)}$$

where $\tan \beta$ is the slope of the front,
 l the deflective force due to the
earth's rotation, g the acceleration of
gravity, T_1 and T_2 the temperatures
of the two currents, and v_1 and v_2
the corresponding velocities. From
this formula we see that, other fac-
tors remaining the same, the slope
of this ideal stationary front becomes
greater as the difference in tempera-
ture between the two air masses (in-
volving T_2-T_1 in the denominator)
becomes smaller. Also, an increas-
ing difference in the velocities on
either side of the front, other things
being the same, requires an increas-
ing slope.

In the development of the above expression, several assumptions are made which, though probably never rigorously attained in Nature, are frequently approximated, e.g., the air flow on both sides of the front is assumed to possess no curvature. Slow moving fronts often approach this linear character.

The conditions necessary for equilibrium of two air currents which are flowing side by side are, then, that the cold air must underlie the warm air in the form of a wedge and must flow, in the northern hemisphere, to the right of an observer looking from the colder into the warmer air mass.

If, in the atmosphere, these surfaces of discontinuity remained stationary under the conditions of equilibrium outlined above, there would be little or no change in the weather, for weather changes are primarily the result of frontal movements and air mass interactions. Complete equilibrium within the earth's atmosphere is never reached. In other words, frontal surfaces are continually undergoing some modification; perhaps they are becoming steeper, perhaps accelerating, or perhaps undergoing various transformations simul-The reasons for these taneously. deviations from ideal stationary conditions are beyond the scope of this series of articles. It can be seen, however, that if a wedge of cold air is too steep, that is, if it exceeds the equilibrium value of slope given by (1), it will tend to flatten out. the colder air spreading out underneath the warmer. This leads to vertically upward components in the warm air ahead of the front which. in turn, may lead to adiabatic cooling sufficient to form cloud. Likewise, a slope which is not steep enough will become steeper. In this case a downward component is established within the overlving warm air. Once the stationary equilibrium of a front is disturbed so that, e.g., there is convergence of wind flow, the warm air is forced to ride over the underlving cold wedge. Then most of the upward component is more likely a result of this convergent flow rather than of any change in slope of the front.

Perhaps the most convenient classification of discontinuity surfaces is one based upon the active or passive nature of the vertical component in the warm air above the cold wedge. In the active case the vertical component is a result of processes which are independent of the cold air; in the passive case, the moving cold air brings about forced vertical movements in the overlying warm air.

In this article we shall deal solely with the class of discontinuities in which the warm air possesses an upward component of motion due to convergence into and ascent over an underlying cold wedge of air. These discontinuities are termed warm

Ci. THE HALLE High Inversion scontinuitu Surface Warm Stor St-1 nIn EMENIE///E///E///E///E///E///E///E///E/// =001=001200120

FIG. 6. IDEALIZED VERTICAL CROSS-SECTION OF A WARM FRONT (After Bjerknes). (Reproduced from fig. 90, Bull. Nat. Res. Council. No. 79.)

fronts. Cold fronts, aggressive wedges of cold air which force warm air upward, will be taken up in the next article. Discontinuities characterized by a downward component of warm air flow along a surface of cold air are given the name surfaces of subsidence. They also will be treated later.

In the case of a warm front the cold air acts as a barrier to the warm flow, the resulting vertical displacement leading to the formation of clouds and perhaps precipitation. Figure 6 shows the characteristic circulation, cloud forms, and precipitation area generally associated with a well-defined warm front. In the eastern part of the United States the over-running warm air is most likely to have come from the Gulf of Mexico or the tropical portion of the Atlantic Ocean, while the underlying cold air is most frequently an air mass of Polar Canadian origin. This combination of air masses represents extremes of warmth and moisture on the one hand and of coldness and drvness on the other. The interactions of these two currents are responsible for most of the winter precipitation of the eastern part of the country.

Actually there are many modifications which are introduced into the ideal scheme shown in Figure 6. Modifications may be induced by the earth's surface features over which the front is traveling, and the vertical structure of the warm and cold air. The effect of surface friction in a retreating cold wedge (a warm front) tends to flatten the wedge in its lower sections. Thus, for some distance ahead of the warm front it is sometimes observed that the slope is almost horizontal. When this is true, a point well ahead of the front will generally be found at which the slope of the discontinuity increases comparatively rapidly. On the synoptic surface chart such a distribution may appear as another front, particularly in the precipitation field, for the steep slope causes considerable ascent of the warm air.

The vertical structure of the warm air with respect to temperature and moisture distribution is important for types of cloud and precipitation. For example, if the warm current be stable and dry, as is frequently the case with currents of Tropical Pacific air, after crossing the Rocky mountains, condensation forms may be lacking, and considerable entirely ascent of the warm air will be necessary to produce condensation. On the other hand, if the warm current is conditionally unstable, the ascent over the cold wedge may become vigorous enough to form thunderstorms. If the current be convectively unstable the lifting of layers,
if carried far enough, will eventually lead to voluntary convection of the warm air, and hence shower type precipitation. In our Tropical Gulf air masses this is normally the case. One does not always find a continuous cloud laver above the warm front surface as indicated in figure 5. Rather, one often finds two or more lavers of clouds separated by comparatively clear spaces. This does not invalidate the frontal idea, but merely indicates that the air is ascending the front in lavers. Since the warm current is generally observed to be stratified in its temperature and moisture distribution. It is probable that, as the successive layers ascend, condensation appears at some levels sooner than at others. The cloud layer, in the event of the release of marked instability, is apt to be thick.

The structure and trajectory of the underlying cold air current. while not particularly important for the production of precipitation, is nevertheless significant for the types of clouds which are observed. Where the cold current has passed over a water surface, there will generally be found a layer of Stcu cloud, which obscures from view the upper layer of clouds associated with the warm front. The elevation of these lower clouds is rarely over 500 m. their thickness seldom appreciable, and the precipitation from them, if any, is only mist, or at most, drizzle. Occasionally, at intermediate levels within the cold air, there is found a layer of Acu clouds. These seem to be associated with surfaces of subsidence, to be discussed in a later article. In the cold air through which rain is falling, conditions are becoming increasingly favorable for the formation of clouds, for, in the first place, the moisture content is increased by

evaporating rain and secondly, in the cold air adjacent to the surface of discontinuity, the lapse rate tends to steepen.

In the lowest layers of the cold air, perhaps 100 m above the surface of the earth, Frst clouds (scud) may be formed by turbulence in this almost saturated lowest layer of air.

The identification of warm fronts on the surface weather map is frequently very difficult. The wind discontinuity may not be pronouncedand to complicate matters further the transition of temperature may often appear relatively gradual. This diffuse distribution of surface elements across a warm front is explained by the small angle of slope of the discontinuity surface. At high levels it is probable that there is little mixing of the warm and cold air, but in the turbulent layer lying within about 600 m of the surface, if the discontinuity surface is not far from the ground, there must be some considerable intermingling of the warm air with the lower cold air. Thus. the temperature and moisture content of the air some distance ahead of the warm front gradually increase. A good rule to remember in this connection is that the gradual changes which occur in the transition zone are entirely within the cold air. Thus in the warm air current the meteorological elements, particularly temperature and moisture, should remain comparatively constant.

Upper air soundings offer the best aid to the identification of warm fronts. As pointed out in Article IV of this series, a sounding through a warm front appears on the Rossby diagram as a wedge-shaped curve with a maximum water vapor content in mid-air (fig. 5, in Article IV). The base of the warm current is generally considered as the point of the wedge on the Rossby diagram. If other soundings have been obtained within the warm air their characteristic curves should be compared with

Cold fronts belong to the class of discontinuities in which the warm air lying above the cold wedge is forced to rise, the energy being supplied mainly by the moving wedge of cold air. The most pronounced cold fronts are easily recognizable on the surface weather map as marked wind discontinuities, the well known wind-shift lines. On the other hand, there are many cold fronts not characterized by abrupt changes, and thus not so easily identified. The slope of the cold front surfaces of discontinuity is characteristically greater than that of the warm fronts, the values being of the order of about 1/50 in the case of the cold front compared with perhaps 1/200 for the warm front. These are merely rough averages; in any individual case the slope may be appreciably different.

The importance of fronts in weather analysis lies in the fact that they lead to the formation of vertical atmospheric motions, which in turn bring about regions of cloudiness and precipitation. It must be borne in mind, however, that no vertical motion will be present at a front which obeys the conditions of equilibrium one another. This not only helps in identification, but indicates the modification which has been taking place within the air current.

VI. ELEMENTS OF FRONTAL STRUCTURE—THE COLD FRONT

outlined in Article V of this series. This is equivalent to saving that in order for vertical motions to arise there must be a zone of convergence. The convergence may be interpreted as the attempt of the adjacent sir masses to bring about an equilibrium of frontal slope.

The typical cold front* is usually portraved in vertical cross-section as is shown in Fig. 7. In this diagram the vertical scale is of course greatly exaggerated with respect to the horizontal. The wedge assumes the form of a squall head in its foremost section owing to the fact that the cold air is retarded by friction at the surface of the earth, while at some distance aloft, where frictional effects are small, the cold air runs ahead. The elevation of this foremost part

*According to Bergeron the cold front is of two main types: The first kind of cold front is an "anafront" in which there is general upsliding motion of the warm air along the front surface and formation of a rather broad post-frontal Ast-Nbst system—this type will front. In the "katafront", the second kind of cold front, the warmer air ascends only in the lower layers, the warm air above 1-4 km generally moving forwards faster than the cold wedge, inking and thus turning the cloud system into a mainly prefrontal one of Acu-char-acter; this kind of cold front is by far the commonest type .- Bull. Amer. Met. Soc., Sept., 1937, p. 266.)—Ed.



FIG. 7. IDEALIZED SCHEME OF A COLD FRONT (After Bjerknes). (Reproduced from Fig. 91, Bull. 79, Nat. Research Council)

of the cold tongue is generally about 500 meters above the surface. 'The form of the advanced portion of the cold wedge depends upon the roughness of the surface over which the front is traveling, the surface cold air being the more retarded the rougher the terrain. In hilly or mountainous sections changes from the warm to the cold air are frequentiv less abrupt than over flat country. As the cold air tongue moves in at some upper level there is certain to be some mixing with the underlying warmer air. The existence of a cold current aloft implies a steep lapse rate, which facilitates convective stirring, and even possibly, for a brief interval of time, a superadiabatic lapse rate. It also seems logical that the cold air aloft may at times break off from the main body, much the same as the crest of a water wave. It is difficult to determine how far the cold air may run ahead of the surface boundary of the front. Perhaps twenty-five miles is an average. one hundred miles a maximum value.

The rain which occurs before the arrival of the cold air at the surface (prefrontal rain) is mainly the result of vertical lifting of the warm sir by the mechanical action of the advancing wedge. The cloudiness and character of the precipitation depend upon the vertical structure of the warm air which is being displaced. If the warm current is fairly dry and stable, e.g., a current of old Polar Pacific air. the cold front may arrive accompanied only by a broken cloud deck and no precipitation. On the other hand, if the warm air is Tropical Gulf air, moisture-laden and conditionally unstable, the clouds are apt to be of the Cunb type with the characteristic frontal thunderstorms. It is evident, then, that an upper air sounding within the warm air is of

importance to the forecaster.

The ceilings in advance of a welldefined cold front decrease compar-The foremost poratively ranidly. tion of the frontal cloud deck in the warm air may be a Ci or Cist type which rapidly lowers to Acu and Ast. and finally to Nbst. This transition may take place in a period of two At times rain may be seen hours. falling from the clouds and evaporating before it reaches the earth. The frequently observed temperature fall in advance of the cold front is sometimes associated with evaporation of rain from the clouds, the cooling extending down to the surface through turbulent mixing. When this is the case the specific humidity at the surface increases as the temperature falls. This phenomenon immediately precedes the rain.

There are times when the precipitation is entirely confined to the region ahead of the front. Here the structure of the warm air is usually of a conditionally unstable character at intermediate levels (say, 1000 to 3600 m), and the initial upward impulse some distance ahead of the surface cold front is sufficient to release and transform the potential energy into convective showers. Behind the cold front the vertical forces may be insufficient, or the structure of the warm air at higher elevations unfavorable for precipitation.

In other cases the rain zone is concentrated behind the front, i.e., within the cold air. In this case the component of wind flow normal to the front is appreciably greater in the cold air than that in the warm air. Sometimes a cold front becomes almost stationary; precipitation and cloudiness begin to spread far behind it. Pilot balloon observations well behind the front then show the warm current flowing in opposite direction to the cold air. The cold front soon retrogrades, and thus, by definition, becomes a warm front.

Normally, clearing takes place rapidly behind the cold front. The continuous cloud deck associated with the front passage soon appears to break up into Cu or Steu clouds. Actually, however, these lower clouds are not a result of the discontinuity surface, but rather are associated with the cold air mass which is displacing the warm. The formation of these clouds is somewhat as follows. The cold air mass has come from a cold source region: therefore, it is colder than the surface over which it is traveling. Since the lower layers are continually being heated the lapse rate becomes steeper until the dry adiabat is reached. The lower particles of air then rise and cool. This process, carried far enough, leads to the formation of the Cu or Stcu clouds, and if vigorous, results in showers or snow flurries (instability showers). Soon after the front passage one may observe. through the breaks in the lower clouds, the layer of continuous cloud which lies along the discontinuity surface of the cold front. The elevation of the base of the Steu or Cu clouds formed within the cold air remains fairly constant, but their height is somewhat less nearer the front. This is explained by the fact that the cold air near the front is more moist than the air farther back, owing to the precipitation which has fallen through the cold air and to the evaporation from the moist ground.

In traveling over different regions there are many modifications which the cold front undergoes. While there is no substitute for practical experience in interpreting the phenomena in any locality, a few more general principles can be given which may be of value.

As a cold front moves into more southerly latitudes its slope decreases in accordance with formula (1) in Article V. Thus, in the southern section of the country, it is common to find the warm air not far above the surface, even though the position of the surface boundary of the air masses is distant. The cloud deck accompanying such a front is in general horizontally extensive. Lakewise, its base has a very small angle of inclination. In fact, in the southern section of the country the cloud deck associated with a slow-moving front of polar air frequently touches the ground, producing widespread An airplane sounding shows a fog. very thin layer of cold air, above which there is a large temperature inversion, the warm and moist Gulf air being aloft. The extensive fog is probably in large part due to saturation by falling rain or the mixing of the saturated, or nearly saturated Gulf air, with the cold Polar air composing the thin wedge. Precipitation falling from the warm Gulf air is, in the South, almost always in the form of rain. The cold air below the inversion, however, may possess temperatures well below freezing. In this event the rain is subcooled in its fall through the cold air, and readily freezes on striking objects. Then again it may freeze in mid-air and fall as sleet.

If the cold air passes over a warmer water surface, e.g., the Great Lakes, the rapid warming and addition of moisture generally leads to the formation of snow flurries. Conditions are most favorable for these instability flurries when the contrast between the temperature of the water and the Polar air is most pronounced, i.e., in late fall and early winter.

The flurries begin shortly after the cold air arrives and continue as long as the temperature difference obtains. and the upper wind flow carries the clouds over the particular location. It is sometimes observed that snow flurries of this sort occur when the wind at the surface is blowing off the land. In this case observations reveal the wind at levels slightly above the surface, say 500 to 1000 m, coming from a direction off the water. Evidently convection has taken place in the off-land air, which is colder than the water surface, and the resultant clouds and flurries are carried back over the land by the upper component of the circulation.

In mountainous country orographic effects upon the cold air often lead to cloudiness and precipitation. There are several factors which enter into the problem: only a brief outline can be given here. Forced vertical convection, brought about by the roughness of the surface features, troduces clouds, if the lifting is sufficient. But the vertical temperature and moisture distribution in the cold air may oppose the ascent of the air. That is to say, the cold current may be dry and stable; the air will then tend to flow around obstructions rather than over them. Since vertical motion depends on the lapse rate it is logical to suppose there should be a diurnal variation in the cloudiness resulting from the above During the day time, when cause. the lowest layers are warmest, the lapse rate is steepest; on this account less force is required to produce the vertical displacement necessary

to form snow flurries. At night the snow flurries either disappear or diminish in intensity.

To the lee of a mountain range the air is forced to descend, which opposes the formation of lower clouds. In these regions, therefore, rapid clearing takes place after a cold-front passage. The temperature, owing to the foehn effect, is also higher than that normally prevailing at the same level in the cold air mass.

Sometimes a cold front may degenerate into two discontinuities. In this case each discontinuity acts as a distinct front, the passage being accompanied by fairly definite changes in the meteorological elements. These secondary fronts are developed when the cold front is accelerating, for it can be shown that the velocity field of air flow is such that there must be a descending current of air some distance behind the main front. The descending air leads to the formation of a new discontinuity between the sinking cold air adiabatically warmed. and the fresh polar air which is not descending. The transition zone of descending air frequently appears in upper air soundings as a dry and stable laver.

While cold fronts and warm fronts have been treated independently thus far, they must not be considered as separate and disconnected phenomena. Both are necessary parts of the irregular circulation of the midlatitudes. Both are complementary parts of the cyclone, the structure of which will be treated in the next article.

VII. ELEMENTS OF CYCLONIC STRUCTURE

In the preceding two articles of this series warm and cold fronts were discussed as independent entities. At the close of the last article it was pointed out that both are complementary parts of the cyclone of the surface weather map. The problem of the formation and maintenance of these disturbances, which are called extratropical cyclones, is exceedingly complicated and is as vet unsolved. To account for these depressions of mid-latitudes the Norwegian the school of meteorologists, under the leadership of Professors V. and J. Bierknes, have formulated what is now generally known as the Polar Front Theory. Since the inception of this theory (during the World War) secondary modifications have been added by the Norwegians themselves and by meteorologists of other coun-In fact, at present data are tries. being collected and studied which. within the next few years, may lead to extremely important modifications of the fundamental ideas underlying the Polar Front Theory.*

In the following article Dr. Haurwitz, an authority on the mathematical part of the Theory, interprets it for the general reader. But quite apart from their validity for a theory of the origin of cyclones (still not widely accepted), the basic conceptions of the Norwegian school have been looked upon as extremely valuable tools in the analysis of weather conditions. No impartial observer can doubt that the use of frontal ideas as a method of interpretation of meteorological phenomena has served to objectify and clarify for the synoptic meteorologist the description of atmospheric movements. Weather forecasting should be considered as an attempt to give first a physical interpretation to what has taken place, then, using this as a foundation, to extrapolate conditions and, what is of more importance, estimate the modifications which may occur. The method of fronts and air masses is particularly well adapted to both extrapolation and determination of modification. It thereby supplies a more quantitative basis for prognostication.

The convergence of two air masses of different properties leads to a surface of discontinuity. There are, cn the earth's surface, regions where large-scale air currents of appreciably different properties generally con-Bergeron has called these verge. regions of frontogenesis. Regions of divergence, where fronts are not readily formed, and where they are generally destroyed, are called regions of frontolysis. For example, the region south of the Aleutian Islands may be considered as a breeding ground of fronts, because the Aleutian Low, a vast center of action formed and maintained chiefly by thermal differences between the relatively warm waters of the North Pacific and the cold snow-covered areas of Alaska and Siberia, serves to draw cold Polar Continental air into its western side and warm tropical air to its eastern side. The juxtaposition of these two air masses results in the Polar Front.

If the front formed in the Aleutian region always remained stationary under the equilibrium outlined in Article V, it would have no dynamic significance. That is to say, it would simply represent the boundary zone between the cold polar and the warm tropical air, and, since there is a balance of forces, there could be no vertical motions—hence no precipitation. It may be shown, however, that this equilibrium cannot exist, for there must be an exchange of

^{*}Prof. Rossby has recently seriously questioned the Polar Front Theory in so far as it concerns the general circulation of the atmosphere, the flow patterns in the upper air, and the significance of fronts and air masses. That many cyclones do form from waves on a Polar Front in the lower portion of the troposphere is not denied, however. See: Bull. Am. Met. Soc., 1937, pp. 201-209; Trans. Arm. Geophys. Un., 1937, Pt. I, pp. 130-136; and On the Rôle of Isentropic Mixing in the General Circulation of the Atmosphere, Crambridge, Mass., 1938, pp. 373-8.—Ed.



(g)

(h)

FIG. 8. FORMATION AND OCCLUSION OF A CYCLONE.

air from the polar to the tropical regions to compensate for the poleward flow which must be present in the upper levels of the atmosphere. This conclusion is based upon observations which, in the mean, show a definite poleward pressure gradient aloft. Furthermore, it can be shown that the interchange of polar and tropical air must take place sporadically and irregularly, the polar air breaking out in vast tongues and displacing the warmer air in its path. When this occurs the original low, or the primary cyclone as it is called. moves off with the system to the southeast, becoming a migratory cyclone of the mid-latitudes.

The Polar Front, which has now been pushed to the south, may extend in a general NE-SW direction, and usually slows up in its more southerly portion. We now have a slow moving discontinuity between the polar and the tropical air. This front, because it marks the boundary surface between two currents of different density and is almost stationary, is particularly favorable to the formation of wave disturbances on the front—bulges in the line of the discontinuity. The origin of these waves is to be sought in the factors which, acting together, determine the equilibrium of the frontal surface. An upset of this equilibrium at some section of the front may readily develop into a wave.*

In Fig. 8 (a) the Polar Front is shown before the beginning of a wave disturbance. Arrows represent the air flow; (b) shows the formation of a bulge in the front which is the start of a wave. The stippled area indicates where precipitation is falling. In this case it is the result of the vertical displacement of the tropical air over the cold underlying wedge. In the final analysis this is due to the disturbance of equilibrium. There are now two possibilities: the wave may travel along the front and remain a wave disturbance, later flattening out and dying; or, as it moves, it may increase in amplitude to such an extent that one side of it overtakes the other. This question of the stability of the wave cannot be treated in any detail here. Most of the disturbances which remain as waves along a front are those of small amplitude and short length. Longer waves of relatively large amplitude tend to close up-the cold air completely displacing the warm air from the surface.

The movement of these waves, according to V. Bjerknes, is the vector resultant of two components (Fig. 12): (1) the dynamic component of the velocity due to the displacement of the wave motion along the boundary surface and (2) the movement of the medium itself (the air in the vicinity of the front). Thus the forecasting of the motion of these waves is based upon an estimate of the mean resultant velocity of the air currents in the frontal region and an estimate of the translational velocity of the wave itself (i.e., the velocity it would have in the event the mean resultant velocity were zero). In this connection it is well to note that the component of translation due to the wave motion in the medium obeys the general physical laws of wave motion. i.e., flat, long waves travel rapidly compared to waves of large amplitude. It may also be shown that, in the northern hemisphere, the component of velocity due to the wave motion itself must be so directed that the wave moves to the right of an observer looking from the warm into the cold air. If the mean velocity of the interacting air currents also possesses this direction. it is clear that the wave will travel rapidly. On the other hand, if the resultant velocity of the air currents is directed opposite to the component due to the wave motion, the wave will move slowly, or it may even be fairly stationary. In the United States the wave component of the velocity is of more importance, for here the fronts frequently have a NE-SW direction and the cold NE current generally falls off rapidly with elevation. In the United States, then, the normal movement of wave disturbances is in a general easterly or northeasterly direction. (See Fig. 12.)

If the wave continually increases in amplitude its successive stages are represented in fig. 8 by (c), (d), (e), and (f). In these diagrams the solid heavy lines represent cold fronts; the double light lines, warm fronts; the broken heavy lines, occluded fronts (defined below); and the light solid lines, isobars. Stippled areas show where precipitation is falling. The right-hand section of the wave be-

^{*}The theory of this is explained in the article by Haurwitz following this chapter.

comes a warm front, for here the warm tropical air is forced to override the cold wedge of air underlying it. The left-hand portion of the wave then becomes the cold front of the system—a wedge of cold air which is displacing the warm air. In normal cases the field of flow is such that the cold front travels faster so that it soon begins to overtake the warm front, as is illustrated at the point 0 in (e). When this occurs the process of "occlusion" is said to be taking place. Stage (d) represents the start of the occlusion. As the cold front meets the warm front the warm air lving between them is completely cut off from the surface of the earth and exists only as an entrapped body of air at upper levels. Hence it is "occluded" (closed off) from the surface. The front between the two cold air masses is called an occluded front. On surface charts it is represented as a line, e.g., the heavy broken line in (e) and (f).

Owing to the fact that the air currents on both sides of the cyclone have had different trajectories, the temperatures, and thus densities, of the two cold currents are not the same. As the cold front meets the warm front a new discontinuity is formed which has a shape like a wedge whose point rests on the ground, and which slopes backward or forward depending upon which current is cooler, and known as a coldfront occlusion and a warm-front occlusion respectively.

In the United States the air behind the cold front is generally colder than that ahead of the warm front, having had a shorter trajectory over relatively warm land areas. The occluded front in this case will then assume the form of a cold front in its lower portion. If, as it sometimes happens, the air ahead of the warm front is colder than the air behind the cold front, the occlusion will assume the form of another warm front in the lower layers. This latter case is illustrated in (h) which may be considered as a vertical cross-section through the line AB of (f). The intersection of the sloping front with the earth, in Fig. 8 (h), is drawn on the weather map as the "occluded front:" also, the position of the intersection of the cold and warm fronts aloft is projected on the weather map and drawn as a dashed line (in U. S. A.) known as an "upper (cold) front" (see Bergeron's model, p. 122-4). The type of weather associated with an occluded front passage will, then, depend largely upon the vertical structure. If the temperatures of the two adjacent cold currents are fairly alike, the entrapped warm air will determine the effects observed: if the warm air is still being lifted appreciably precipitation may be abundant. It is clear that the temperature and moisture distribution within the entrapped warm air is also to be considered in forecasting what is to The general laws of stabhappen. ility are applicable. It frequently happens that an occluded front develops into a well-marked cold front. This may be explained by the fact that the occluded front represents a trough of low pressure into which there is convergence. On one side of the front, say the eastern side, the air being drawn in is becoming warmer and warmer while the air behind the front, drawn from the northwest and north, becomes colder and colder. In this manner the discontinuity at the front is intensified so that the upper trough of warm air, which was originally responsible for the front, becomes insignificant compared with the new front which has been generated in the lower

lavers. When this phenomenon occurs the occluded front may rightfully be called a cold front. (f) illustrates the formation of this type of discontinuity, where the occlusion has been bent south in the rear of the cyclone (in agreement with the general air flow). The section of the front from C to D gradually assumes the characteristics of a cold front, while the section from D to E becomes a warm front. When the occluded front bends around as in (f) it is called a "loopback" or a "bent-back" occlusion. The forecaster must be on the lookout for the development of these fronts: for a time they may appear quite harmless, but later on may become important. In summer they may be the deciding factor (the "trigger action") in the formation of thunderstorms.

(g) represents a vertical crosssection through the line of AB in (d).

The following outline gives the general behavior of the meteorological elements at the surface with the passage of the different fronts. These are, of course, average conditions which are frequently observed over the *eastern* section of the United States. Individual cases may show quite different characteristics.

TABLE I

AVERAGE BEHAVIOR OF THE COMMONLY OBSERVED METEOROLOGICAL ELEMENTS WITH FRONT PASSAGES OVER THE EASTERN UNITED STATES IN WINTER.

Element (at surface)	Type of Front Passage: Warm Front Cold Front (Cold) Occluded Front		
Pressure	Falling, then steady or falling less rapidly	Falling then slightly rising, then abrupt rapid rise	Falling slowly, then rising slowly
Temperature	Steady, then rising at an increasing rate, then steady	Rising slowly, then falling slightly, then dropping abruptly at a rapid rate	Not much change, falling slightly after front
Relative Humidity	Fairly constant, then increasing to nearly saturation, then fail- ing	Increasing gradually to almost saturation, then falling	Gradually increas- ing to almost satu- ration, then falling off
Specific Humidity	Steady, then increasing at an increasing rate, then constant	Fairly constant, slightly increasing, then falling abrupt- ly and rapidly	Slight increase then general decrease
Clouds	Ci to Cist to Ast to Nbst to Frst	Cist rapidly chang- ing to Cunb, then to Frcu	Ast to Nbst to Cu
Precipitation	None, then gradual steady rain, then ra- pidly falling off to none	None, then heavy but brief shower, perhaps thunder- shower, clearing rapidly	Gradual, fairly steady, but not long lasting
Visibility	Fair, becoming poor, and remaining poor	Poor, then rapidly becoming good to very good	Decreasing to poor, then increasing to fair or good
Wind	SE or S to SW	S or SW to NW	W to NW

The physical interpretation of these changes in terms of what has been said about fronts and air masses is left to the reader.

The Norwegian Wave-Theory of Cyclones¹

B. HAURWITZ*

Meteorological Services of Canada, Toronto

IN RECENT YEARS air mass analysis has been widely accepted by meteorologists on this continent as a basis for the study and forecasting of the weather. One of the fundamental assumptions of this method is the theory that cyclones form as waves at surfaces of discontinuity between air masses of different origin and history which, consequently, have different physical properties, e. g., temperature and humidity.

The practical side of air mass analysis is well represented in this booklet by Mr. Namias and Prof. Willett. The theoretical questions, whether waves actually can occur at such surfaces of discontinuity and whether these waves have any resemblance to the nascent cyclones observed in the atmosphere, have only been touched slightly in their articles. They are, naturally, of secondary interest to the practical meteorologist.

THE PROBLEM

Perhaps it might be argued that a mathematical study of the possibility of cyclonic waves is just a fruitless pastime without any practical value. Are not cyclones in their earliest wave-like stages found on almost every weather map? However, before the Norwegian school of meteorology conceived their idea of the origin of cyclones as waves at frontal surfaces. no such phenomena were noticed. If something appeared on the map which today would be interpreted as a frontal wave it certainly was formerly never recognized as such. And even now the wave theory of cyclones is not generally accepted. Thus there can be no doubt that the theory of

the origin of cyclones as frontal waves can be strengthened and accepted only if it is proved that such atmospheric oscillations are actually possible and do occur more or less generally in the atmosphere.

Furthermore, the quantitative relations between length and velocity of the cyclonic wave and temperature and wind discontinuity at frontal surfaces can only be obtained by the mathematical theory. The verification of such formulae by observations would represent the real check on the theory. Quantitative relations are further necessary since there exists sometimes a tendency to interpret weather situations without regard to the obvious numerical impossibility of the proposed explanation.

Thus the wave theory of cyclones presents a definite hydrodynamical problem to the theoretical meteorologist. He has to show that at frontal surfaces such as we observe in the atmosphere. waves can originate which have the characteristic qualities of the cyclonic frontal waves which are found on the maps; they must possess a similar wave-length and velocity of propagation, and the motion of the air particles in the computed wave must agree with the air motion in the observed nascent Another very important cvclones. point is that these waves must be unstable, i. e., their amplitude, at first very small, must increase with time until the cyclone loses its wave character and becomes a vortex. The later vortical stages of the life his-

¹This article first appeared in the BULLETIN A.M.S., June-July, 1937.

^{*}Research Associate, Blue Hill Observatory.

tory of a cyclone (when the warm sector occludes) have not vet been attacked theoretically owing to the extreme difficulty of the mathematical treatment. But the nascent waveform has already been dealt with very thoroughly from a mathematical viewpoint. While it must be admitted that much still remains to be done on the mathematical analysis of the voung cyclone, as will become apparent later, it has been proved. mainly by H. Solberg²), that waves postulated in the Norwegian (wave) theory of cyclone formation can and must exist in our atmosphere.

In the following the results of the mathematical theory will be represented in a descriptive form. Readers who desire to study the complete theory are referred to "Physikalische Hydrodynamik" by V. Bierknes and his collaborators²). Here the various types of waves will be described which originate in a liquid or a gas due to different causes, and it will he shown how these different causes act together in the atmosphere to In give origin to the cyclonic waves. this way we follow somewhat the same line of attack as used by the theoretical meteorologists. Owing to the complexity of the problem it has been necessary first to disregard some of the influences acting upon the waves in order to study somewhat simpler conditions.

GRAVITY WAVES

A well known type are the waves at a water surface, or, to be more accurate, the waves at the boundary between water and air. For wave motions of this type, the *gravity* of the earth is the controlling force

(disregarding the small ripples which are subjected to capillary forces). To understand better the physical process in a gravitational wave consider a mass of water which is lifted upwards from the original position equilibrium by a disturbance. of This quantity of water has thus acquired a certain potential energy. While falling back to its original place its potential energy is transformed into kinetic energy of motion. The velocity increases until the water passes through the equilibrium posi-However, it does not come to tion. rest but owing to the acquired velocity continues to move downwards until the kinetic energy is transformed again into potential energy. Then the mass element reverses its direction of motion and ascends. In this way a wave motion is set up which is damped out gradually only by friction. This description applies to standing waves since it takes only For vertical motion into account. progressive waves it would have to be modified slightly. Moreover, it is not quite satisfactory to single out one mass element and neglect the motion of the surrounding water masses. These defects not withstanding, it shows that there is always a transformation from kinetic to potential energy and back in a gravitational wave, analogous to the oscillations of a pendulum.

Similarly, the internal waves at the boundary between two fluid layers of different density are gravitational waves. Waves of the gravitational type are stable as long as the original density distribution is stable. Unstable stratification is rarely found in the earth's atmosphere except near the ground, for obvious reasons. Therefore, gravity tends to generate only stable waves.

²Bjerknes, V., Bjerknes, J., Solberg, H., and Bergeron, T.: Physikalische Hydrodynamik Berlin, 1933, pp. 565-621; Hydrodynamique Physique. Paris, 1934, 3 vols., Chapt. 14, (vol. 2).

COMPRESSIBILITY

The compressibility of water is comparatively small so that it can be neglected in most cases. Atmospheric air, on the other hand, has a high degree of compressibility. Under the influence of compressibility alone sound waves are obtained. The influence of compressibility on atmospheric wave motions does not give rise to unstable waves as long as the lapse rate of temperature is below the adiabatic, or for saturated air the moist adiabatic. The considerations which lead to this conclusion are well known, and were given elsewhere in this booklet³).

SHEARING WAVES

If a wind discontinuity is present in an otherwise homogeneous fluid, waves are possible at this surface. These waves are always unstable in contrast to the wave types we have mentioned so far, which were only unstable if the stratification of the fluid or the gas was unstable to begin with. The computation shows that the amplitude increases more rapidly with time, or in other words, the wave is more unstable the smaller the wave length. Since the existence of this type of wave is due to the wind discontinuity or to the shear of the wind, it will be called a shearing wave here, and we shall speak of shearing instability. In the atmosphere, hardly ever do we observe a shearing discontinuity which is not associated with a temperature inversion and therefore a density discontinuity.* When this is the case, waves at the surface of discontinuity must be of a mixed type, since the stabilizing gravitational effect and the unstabilizing shearing effect act at the same time. For small waves the unstabilizing effect of the wind shear overcompensates the stabilizing effect of stratification and the waves are unstable. As we pass on to longer waves we come into a region where the stable stratification is more effectual than the shearing instability. So now we are in the region of wave lengths for stable The limit between shorter waves unstable waves and longer stable waves lies at a wave length of at the most a few km under atmospheric conditions. It varies of course with the order of the wind and temperature discontinuity. It will be seen from this discussion that the unstable waves of about 1000 km length required by the cyclone theory are not obtained when only the influence of compressibility and wind gravity. shear are considered.

INERTIA WAVES

In order to find waves which resemble the nascent cyclones of the weather map the effect of the earth's rotation has to be taken into account. To understand fully the importance of the earth's rotation upon atmospheric wave motions we start out with a simple problem which at first seems quite devoid of any meteorological application. Owing to its fundamental significance it will be necessary to deal with this case somewhat in detail.⁴) If a hollow cylinder is partly filled with water and completely closed, then set in rotation around a central vertical axis, the surface of the fluid which at rest was horizontal will become parabolic. When the rotation is sufficiently fast, pressed completely the water is against the cylinder walls so that the liquid has a practically cylindri-

^{*}Even if no temperature inversion is present there is still a certain degree of stability as long as the vertical temperature gradient is less than the adiabatic.

³Namias, this booklet, pp. 4-8. ⁴Bjerknes, V. and Solberg, H.: Zellulare Trägheitswellen und Turbulenz, Avh. Norske Via. Akad., Bd. I, Math-Nat. Kl., no. 7, 1929, pp. 1.16.

cal shape. The gravitational force is so much smaller than the centrifugal one that its effect is unnoticeable when the rotation is sufficiently fast. Instead of the horizontal surfaces of liquids as ordinarily observed in nature under the vertical action of gravitation, the fluid in the rapidly rotating cylinder has a practically vertical surface due to the horizontal action of the centrifugal force. Tf this vertical surface is subjected to a small disturbance a wave motion will originate. This is quite analogous to the case of gravitational waves on a horizontal surface of water, but in that case the energy of the wave motion was gravitational. In the present case of a rotating cylinder the centrifugal force replaces the gravitational force. Since the centrifugal force is due to the inertia of the mass these are called inertia waves by V. Bjerknes and H. Solberg.4)

The existence of inertia waves in a rotating fluid can also be demonstrated by an elementary computation. If a homogeneous incompressible fluid like water is enclosed between two rigid walls which are infinite in horizontal direction it can easily be shown that no wave motion is possible as long as the fluid system does not rotate. As soon as the rotation is taken into account, as is necessary for the large scale atmospheric motions on the rotating earth. it is found that now a wave motion is possible with a period longer than half a pendulum day. (A pendulum day is equal to 24 sidereal hours divided by the sine of the geographic latitude, this being the time required for the swinging plane of a pendulum on the rotating earth to return to its initial position.) Only the angular velocity of the earth's rotation and not the acceleration of gravity appears in the relation between velocity and length of this type of waves, indicating that they are inertia waves.

Some remarks on stability and instability of inertia waves are necessary in order to see their significance for the wave theory of cyclones. To choose the simplest case, which shows the principle clearly enough, it may be assumed that a fluid mass rotates around a vertical axis with an angular velocity q which is constant for the whole fluid. If the fluid is enclosed between rigid horizontal boundaries and situated at either pole of the earth we have just the case considered in the previous paragraph. The constant angular velocity of the fluid is equal to the angular velocity of the earth's rotation. An observer on the earth does not observe this "absolute" velocity since he takes part in the rotation of the earth.

The "absolute" velocity v at the distance r from the center is

$$v = q.r$$

From the principles of mechanics it is known that the angular momentum $vr = q.r^2$ of an individual particle remains constant. Thus, if a particle is pushed away from the axis, say irom the distance r to r + s, then the constancy of the angular momentum requires that this particle in its new position must have a smaller angular velocity q' which is given by

$$qr^2 = q' (r+s)^2$$

while the angular velocity of the surrounding fluid masses at the distance r + s is q as before.

The centrifugal force acting on the displaced particle is

$$q'^{2}(r+s) = q^{2} \frac{r^{4}}{(r+s)^{3}} = q^{2}r (1-3\frac{s}{r})$$

approximately,

while the centrifugal force in the surrounding fluid at the same distance is greater, namely,

$$q^2(r+s)$$

Thus the displaced particle has a deficit of centrifugal force which drives it back to its original position where it is in equilibrium with its surroundings. Similarly when a particle is displaced towards the axis it obtains a surplus of centrifugal force as compared to the surrounding fluid and will again move towards its initial position. Thus the origin of inertia waves is easily understood. Ifa particle is displaced outwards from its equilibrium position it is driven back to this position. But while moving back to the equilibrium position it acquires kinetic energy so that it approaches the axis of rotation more closely than before the disturbance until the surplus of centrifugal force which the particle gains in approaching the axis overcomes the kinetic energy and reverses the direction of motion again. The process is completely analogous to the wave motion in the atmosphere in stable equilibrium, except that there the deficit or surplus in weight as compared to the surrounding air plays the rôle of the centrifugal force.

EARTH'S ROTATION

It is obvious from the previous considerations that inertia waves in a fluid rotating with constant angular velocity are stable. If our atmosphere were at rest with respect to the surface of the earth, it would appear to an extra-terrestrial observer to rotate with constant angular velocity around the earth's axis. In reality, owing to the different winds in the atmosphere, or, in other words, to atmospheric motions relative to the earth, the atmosphere does not have strictly speaking a constant angular velocity. However, closer inspection shows that the wind distribution in the atmosphere is such that inertia waves of the dimensions of cyclonic waves are always stable.

With Bjerknes and Godske⁵) we may call this the "dynamic stability" due to the earth's rotation, while the stability of the gravitational waves in the earth's atmosphere might be termed "static stability".

Another important effect of the earth's rotation is the following. In purely gravitational waves the motion of the fluid particles takes place in a vertical plane, for the direction of the gravitational force is vertical. The deflecting force of the earth's rotation, on the other hand, acts perpendicular to the earth's axis. Thus it acts purely vertically only at the equator. At the pole it is directed horizontally, but at all other latitudes it is inclined to the horizon, so that we can speak of a horizontal and a vertical component. The vertical component generally can be neglected in meteorology since its direction coincides with the far greater acceleration of gravity. The horizontal component of the deflecting force of the earth's rotation causes an inclination of the plane of motion with respect to the vertical. The inclination is larger the greater the motion: thus in the long cyclonic waves the motion is predominantly horizontal, while in the small billow clouds it is vertical.

CYCLONIC WAVES

Now that the different factors which cause and influence wave motion have been considered separately it can more easily be understood how they act together to produce the cyclonic waves.

It was stated that according to the Norwegian wave theory we have frontal surfaces between air masses of different density (temperature, moisture content). Due to the different densities on opposite sides of the

⁵Bjerknes, J.; and Godske, C. L.: On the theory of cyclone formation at extra-tropical fronts, Astrophysica Norvegica, Vol. I. no. 6, 1936, pp. 218-219.

frontal surface the pressure gradients and consequently the winds are likewise different: these are observed facts The observations also indicate strongly that the cyclones originate from unstable waves on such frontal surfaces. The possibility of unstable waves with the characteristic dimensions and motions found in nascent cyclones, however, has to be proved. The theory shows that very small waves are unstable up to a length of a few 100m, or, if the vertical stratification is not very stable, a few km. Exact figures can not, of course, be given as long as the density and wind distribution are unknown. The limit between stable and unstable waves depends on the lapse rates of temperature in both air masses, and on the temperature and wind discontinuities at the frontal surface. But it can be stated that for sufficiently small waves the shearing instability (wind discontinuity) is more effective than the gravitational stability. In other words, very short waves are unstable and have more the character of shearing waves than of gravitational waves. For the theory of the cyclone these waves are evidently far too short. When the waves are longer the stabilizing influence of gravitation becomes more pronounced so that beyond a certain critical wave length the waves will be stable, because the effect of shearing, which tends to produce instability, decreases with increasing wave length and is over-compensated by the stabilizing effect of gravitation. The gravitational-wave character is now predominant. Billow clouds are waves of this type.

The wave length of billow clouds is the greater, the smaller the temperature discontinuity. From this it has been concluded that the wave theory of cyclones breaks down since wave lengths of the order of 1000 km could only exist for infinitely small temperature discontinuities and impossibly large wind discontinuities, according to the formula for billow clouds. The fallacy of this objection can now be seen immediately. In the investigation of the billow waves the influence of the earth's rotation is neglected and can be neglected owing to the small dimensions. But waves of cyclonic dimensions are greatly modified by the rotation of the earth around its axis.

Thus, the wave motion becomes with increasing wave length more and more inclined to the vertical under the influence of the deflecting force of the earth's rotation. This leads to the formation of unstable waves in the following way. The stable character of gravitational waves in the earth's atmosphere depends on the difference between the weight of the oscillating particle and that of its surroundings and thus on the vertical component of the oscillation. Consequently, as the waves become longer and the wave motion more horizontal the stabilizing effect decreases, since the vertical component of motion decreases. The computation shows that waves whose length is of the order of 1000 km are unstable. At such wave-lengths the shearing instability is greater than the gravitational stability (which is small) owing to the almost horizontal motion of the particles. But with still longer waves the shearing instability becomes smaller than the dynamic stability caused by the earth's rotation and, therefore, such waves become stable again.

It is obvious that the only waves which may be regarded as cyclonic are the unstable ones whose length is of the order of 1000 km. They are of a mixed type because, in addition to shearing instability, gravitation and inertia act upon them.

The mathematical analysis also shows that these waves have velocities of the order of magnitude observed in nascent cyclones, that the velocities are generally directed eastwards, and that the motion of the air is of the type found on the weather chart. Therefore, we can say that the theory shows that the formation of a cyclone from waves not only is possible but must occur in the atmosphere because the waves are frequently unstable and therefore form spontaneously. Of course. stable waves also occur; if they are much shorter than cyclonic waves they are observed as billow clouds. ceiling fluctuations, and microbarometric oscillations, and if longer than cyclonic waves (and thus stable again owing to the stabilizing influence of inertia) they appear as flat frontal waves like young cyclones, but never develop into mature cyclones. (See Fig. 9.)

The theoretical investigation of cyclonic waves shows further that the velocity of propagation consists of two terms. Their physical significance is understood most easily by considering a wave on the surface of a river. The propagation of such a wave is partly due to the bodily transport of the oscillating water masses by the flow of the river, the "convective" term, and partly due to the motion of the wave relative to the water, the "dynamic" term. Similarly, the first term in the expression for the wave velocity at a surface of discontinuity is due to the mean motion of both air masses. It simply indicates the fact that the wave is transported passively due to the undisturbed motion of both layers. This part of the total velocity of propagation is therefore called the "convective" term. The second term, which is due to the dynamical processes of the wave motion, is referred to as the dynamic term.

REMAINING PROBLEMS

While the wave theory is sufficiently far advanced for one to say with certainty that cyclonic waves occur in the atmosphere, much remains to be done vet. The investigations so far have been dealing with wave motions at the boundary between isothermal air masses, because isothermy gives equations which are easier to handle than equations which take the usual linear temperature gradient into account. But isothermal lapse rate implies, obviously, a larger stability of atmospheric stratification than is ordinarily found, so the numerical results will have to be modified. Notable advances in this direction have recently been mode by H. Solberg.⁶) Furthermore, note that a sharp discontinuity of wind and temperature is assumed in the theory while in reality a narrow transitional zone exists in which the elements change rapidly but continuously. It has been shown, however, that the wave is practically the same whether there is a sharp discontinuity or a transitional zone, provided that the thickness of the transitional zone is small compared with the wave length⁷). This condition is always fulfilled for cyclonic waves.

A certain deficiency of the wave theory of cyclones in its present state, which we tactfully have not mentioned so far, is the assumption that the lower cold layer and the upper

^eH. Solberg: Schwingungen und Wellenbewegungen in einer Atmosphäre mit nach oben abnehmender Temperatur, Astrophysica Norvegica, vol. 2, no. 2, 1936, pp. 123-172.

³ Jian Viller, J. S. C. J. 1986, pp. 123-172. ³ Haurwitz, B.: Zur Theorie der Wellenbewegungen in Luft und Wasser, Veröffentl. d. Geophysikal. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Spezialarb., Ser. 2, Vol. V, no. 1, 1931, pp. 52-53, 73-74.



Fig. 3

FIG. 1. (9) VERTICAL CROSS SECTION THROUGH A SYSTEM OF TWO AIR MASSES WITH PARALLEL BOUNDARIES SEPARATED BY A SURFACE OF DISCON-TINUITY, AS CONSIDERED BY THE THE BOUNDARIES AND THE THEORY. SURFACE OF DISCONTINUITY ARE IN-CLINED AGAINST THE SURFACE OF THE EARTH.

FIG. 2. (10) VERTICAL CROSS SECTION THROUGH THE ACTUAL POSITION OF WARM AND COLD AIR MASSES RELATIVE TO THE SURFACE OF THE EARTH.

FIG. 3. (11) SAME AS FIG. 1 WITH A STREAM SURFACE WHICH RUNS PARTLY HORIZONTAL OVER THIS APPROXIM-ATELY HORIZONTAL AREA (INDICATED BY THE RECTANGLE) THE STREAM SUR-FACE MAY BE REGARDED AS THE SUR-FACE OF THE EARTH.

warm layer have boundaries parallel to the frontal surface (Fig. 9). In reality, the frontal surface intersects the surface of the earth so that the cold mass has the form of a wedge

(Fig. 10). Solberg^s) has given some preliminary results but the problem is so extremely difficult that until now a somewhat round about approach has been used. Waves of the cyclonic type in the layers parallel to the frontal surface and therefore inclined to the horizontal according to Margules' formula⁹), have been studied. It was found that some of the "stream surfaces" along which the motion of the air particles takes place are practically horizontal planes for extent of about 2000 km or an more (Fig. 11). Now a stream surface can be assumed to be rigid, since according to the definition of a stream surface the motion is parallel to it. If we let the stream surface in Fig. 11 become solid and regard it as the surface of the earth a very close analogy to the atmosphere is obtained in the region near the intersection between stream surface and surface of discontinuity. The cold air lies like a wedge under the warm air and the wave motion near the surface is almost parallel to the solid horizontal stream surface, which may be identified with the surface of the earth. Farther away from the frontal surface the agreement with reality is of course less satisfactory, since the curvature of the solidified stream surface will be stronger. But the intensity of the wave decreases with the distance from the surface of discontinuity. The field of motion is dynamically most important at the front, and loses its significance comparatively rapidly in lateral and vertical directions. Therefore the method of assuming solidification of a horizontal stream surface is more satisfactory than might appear at first.

Solberg, H.: Integrationen der atmosphärischen Storungsgleichungen (I), Geofys. Publ., vol. V, no. 9, 1928, pp. 104-120. ⁹Namias, this booklet, p. 25.

Nevertheless it will be necessary to solve directly the problem of a wave motion at a frontal surface inclined to the surface of the earth, especially in order to obtain reliable quantitative criteria to decide whether an observed wave is stable or unstable.

Finally, cyclonic waves have thus far been investigated only on a rotating plane. Considering their dimension, however, it is to be expected that the curvature of the earth has a certain influence. In this respect also much remains yet to be done. But the possibility of cyclonic waves in our atmosphere can be regarded as proven in spite of these gaps in the theory, and it can safely be said that objections to the wave theory of cyclones result from insufficient knowledge of the theoretical investigations.



FIG. 12. FOUR TYPES OF FRONTAL WAVES.—It follows from the wave-theory (see article by Haurwitz, above) that the propagation of a frontal wave can be divided into a dynamical part, which always is directed eastward with a normal temperature distribution (colder to the north) and westward with a reversed one, and an advective part, being approximately equal to the mean of the velocities of the two air masses surrounding the front. Hence one gets 4 types of frontal waves: (1) rapid waves, forming in a Wly current with colder air polewards (Ia), or in a general Ely current with an inverted temperature distribution (Ib); and (2) quasi-stationary waves, forming in a general Ely current with normal temperature distribution (IIa), or in a general Wly current with inverted temperature distribution (IIb). These are all frequently observed on synoptic maps.—From: Bergeron, "Physics of Fronts," Bull. Amer. Met. Soc., Sept., 1937, pp. 269-70.

Sources of Energy for Extratropical Cyclones

Dr. Bergeron of the "Norwegian School" recently stated.... "that the process of cyclogenesis derives its energy mainly from three sources:

- energy mainly from three sources:
 (1) The kinetic energy of the preexisting air currents on both sides of the cyclogenetic front ("current energy") — insufficient, however, alone to explain the display of energy in intense cyclones.
- (2) The potential energy of the hozizontal distribution of mass ("frontal energy"). which is transformed into kinetic energy according to the Margules' principles of energy probably the main source of energy.
- (3) The potential energy of a moist-labile [i.e., unstable for saturated air] stratification,

"Labilitätsenergie" in the terminology of Refsdal.[†] It is shown that the lability en-

ergyt though smaller than the current and frontal energy, probably plays a great role in cyclogenesis, because it may get stored up a long time beforehand over a rather great area, and only released at the most favourable moment and in the very center of the cyclogenesis, without much frictional loss of energy.

The author has tried to form a more concrete idea of the mechanism of cyclogenesis, i.e., of the fall of pressure around the "warm tongue" of a frontal wave of increasing amplitude.

This mechanism should consist in a sinking of the centre of gravity of the whole system under consideration, conditioned by that ascent and convergence of warm air at the "warm tongue" of a frontal wave of

increasing amplitude. This convergence implies in its turn an increase of cyclonic circulation within this area, which again involves a fall of pressure in the middle of it, compensated by a slighter general rise of pressure in the outskirts of the disturbance." (Bull. Amer. Met. Soc., Sept. 1937, p. 269.)

†According to REFSDAL ("Der feuchtlabile Niederschlag", Geofy. Publ., Vol. 5, No. 12, 1930, p. 9) the "lability energy" of an air 1930, p. 9) the "lability energy" of an air mass is defined as the maximum amount of energy which could be set free by an over-turning or an upward motion of this air mass. The "lability energy per unit mass" between two heights is the algebraic sum of the work produced when a particle of unit mass is raised from the lower to the higher level (the raised from the lower to the higher level (the compensating downward motion of the sur-rounding air being spread out over an in-finitely great area). This is conditional in-stability, including the instability realizable by condensation of water vapor. Compare with discussion of energy in Articles on the Tephi-gram and Thunderstorm.

A Note on Dynamic Anticyclones and Cyclones

In the discussion of American air masses it is pointed out that cold PC air is characteristically shallow. In fact the majority of moving anticyclones on American weather maps are of the shallow so-called cold (or polar) type, having warmer PM or TM air (with often even low pressure and cyclonic winds) aloft.* Wexlert has shown why the radiational cooling in the polar regions does not succeed in building up a very deep layer of PC air before it is released to lower latitudes; the upper warm layers that may move south bodily with the PC are thus PM or TM air still unmodified to Pc. Subsidence‡ usually greatly accentuates the upper warmness of these cold-type highs as they move southward. Figs 3-6 herewith, from Haurwitz and Noble, show a case of a cold surface high replaced by low pressure aloft. Note, however, that this is in part due to the backward slope in the free air of the axes of the lows, since the lowest pressure is always at the cold front at any level and the front itself slopes backward.

However, there are also so-called warm anticyclones which in most cases seem to have developed from cold ones after the latter have slowed down and suffered heating from below in middle latitudes. Since these highs are warmer than cyclones from the surface up to high levels (8 km or more) the maintainance of their anticyclonic winds and the high surface pressure cannot be explained thermally. It must be due either to some dynamic process which piles up air in the upper or middle troposphere or to a northward advection of cold (tropical) air in the stratosphere over the anticyclone, sufficient to overcompensate the lowering of pressure from warming in the troposphere. The warm highs are common in western Europe, where the cold-stratosphere advection theory for their maintenance has been generally advocated in recent years. Indeed, some European cases** have been studied (from soundings) where apparently a tremendous rise in stratospheric pressure caused a marked day to day rise in the surface pressure of a cold anticyclone while it was becoming warm (a common phenomenon); but it has not yet been proven that this was more than a coincidence rather than some necessary consequence of the effect of tropospheric pressure changes in inducing stratospheric advection or vice versa. In an American case studied by

^{*}Haurwitz and Noble, Bull. Amer. Met. Soc., March, 1938, pp. 107-111.—A good exam-ple; J. Namias, Structure of a Wedge of Continental Polar Air. M. I. T. Met. Course, Prof. Notes No. 6, 1934.

[†]H. Wexler, Mon. Wea. Rev., April 1936, p. 122-135, and June 1937, pp. 229-286. [‡]J. Namias, Subsidence in the Atmosphere Harvard Mct. Studies No. 2, 1934.

^{**} H. Thomas, Sitzber. Preuss, Akad. Wiss., Phys. Math. Kl. vol. 17, 1934; Khanewsky. Met. Zeit., 1929, p. 81; Runge, Met. Zeit., 1932, p. 181; Schmiedel, Veröff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, vol. 9, no. 1.

DYNAMIC ANTICYCLONES







 PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION AT SEA LEVEL (mb), FEBRUARY 3, 1937, 8 A.M.
 PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION AT 5,000 FEET, FEBRUARY 3, 1937, 8 A.M. FIG. 3. FIG.

Simmers* using isentropic analysis, a warm upper-level anticyclone over Texas and a cold one moving down from Canada amalgamated. The warm anticyclone built up from middle to high levels through a process of isentropic mixing which transferred air across isobars ("banking effect" described by Namias in his chapter on Isentropic Analysis). The resulting convergence caused the surface pressure to continue to rise, although the cold anticyclone was being dissipated by surface heating. This was in May and there was no evidence the warm anticyclone grew from the cold one, but



- FIG. 4. PRESSURE DECREASE IN FIRST 5,000 FEET,
- FEBRUARY 3, 1937, S A.M.
 FPERUARY 3, 1937, S A.M. (The dotted circles show the position of the surface FIG. Highs)

rather their paths just happened to intersect. Probably there are various possible types of anticyclogenesis.

Cyclones also occur in warm and cold types. The usual open warm-sector or freshly-occluded low contains a warm core, but frequently an occlusion develops into a deep slowly-moving vortex without fronts but cloudy and with precipitation; soundings will show the core to be colder than the surroundings up to high levels, even to the stratosphere, which may be sucked down and warmed, thus helping to maintain the surface low. These cold cyclones occur particularly in the regions where cyclones usually have reached the occluded stage, in the higher latitudes of the

^{*}R. G. Simmers, in: Fluid Mechanics Ap-plied to the Study of Atmospheric Circulation, Part I, Papers in Phys. Oceanogr. and Met., vol. 8. 1938.





RADIOMETEOROGRAPH SOUNDINGS

Atlantic and Pacific for example; they are notable in spring in eastern U. S., too.

The existence of "dynamic" lows and highs does not refute any principles of frontal or air mass *analysis*, however uncertain the theoretical explanations, but such phenomena must be recognized as additional processes to be given due consideration in forecasting.

It might be added that the semi-permanent

sub-tropical anticyclones (e.g., Azores High) are also warm and dynamic in character; the moving anticyclones of middle latitudes often finally merge into them. However, the Aleutian and Icelandic semi-permanent Lows are more statistical than dynamic, due to frequent frontal cyclogeneses, though deep dynamic lows often stick there for days at a time.— R. G. Stone.

The rôle of the tropopause in the dynamics of extra-tropical disturbances

"J. Bjerknes has especially studied the interaction between waves in the Polar Front surface and waves of the tropopause, showing that the latter cannot be the primary ones. According to J. Bjerknes these induced tropopause waves mainly consist in a horizontal meridional oscillation of the air at the oblique tropopause.

É. Palmén adds to the above effect also the pumping effect of cyclones and anticyclones to which the stratosphere is subjected, using aerological data to show that the tropopause is often lower, the stratosphere temperature higher, in deep cyclones of our latitudes than in Arctic regions in winter. Such a state could not be attained merely by advection of the low and comparatively warm Arctic stratosphere, but the stratosphere must also be sucked down by the cyclonic vortex (and by analogy pushed up in anticyclones).

The author then proposes the following solution, which takes account of both effects and also satisfies the well-known statistical data from the upper air of Dines and Schedler. The suction effect of Palmén ought to predominate during and shortly after the most intense processes of cyclogenesis or anticyclogenesis ("Verwirbelung"=the transformation of a frontal wave into a vortex), when the suction effect of the "circular vortex" (according to V. Bjerknes, 1921, sinking in cyclones, lifting in anticyclones) will be most pronounced and a "new tropopause" has not yet had time to form at the normal height.— The advective effect of J. Bjerknes, on the other hand, will most likely predominate not only during the initial wave-like stage of Polar Front disturbances but also during their final stage, when the violent pumping effect of the "Verwirbelung" may have developed a kind of free oscillations of the tropopause, which liberate themselves from the tropospheric vortex and are propagated in the ordinary way eastwards.—These initial and final stages are of much longer duration and are also predominant in intensity as compared with the stage of "Verwirbelung" in those rather low latitudes from which the statistical data of Dines and Schedler were collected. This may explain why the statistics quoted speak in favour of the advective effect, whereas the intense high latitude cyclogeneses studied by Palmén show all the characteristics of the suction effect."—T. Bergerom.

VIII. THE TEPHIGRAM*

In order to forecast local showers and thunderstorms successfully it is necessary to interpret aerological data in the light of a reliable analysis of the synoptic chart. An individual sounding made in the lower troposphere is more immediately significant in summer than it is during the winter months. That is, in the warm months upper-air conditions immediately above a station are relatively important in determining the weather for the particular day, whereas in winter the rapid advection of air masses may so completely change the upper-air conditions over any given point that an attempt to forecast solely from the data in one sounding would be fruitless. Because of this control of the weather by local upperair conditions, forecasters now consider upper-air soundings almost indispensable in summer work. In order to portray most effectively the state of the upper atmosphere, particularly from the standpoint of energy transformations, several diagrams have been suggested.

Hertz developed a diagram (later modified by Neuhoff) on which an aero-

^{*}The procedures with the tephigram described herein may be readily applied to other thermodynamic diagrams such as the modified pseudo-adiabatic charts of the U. S. Weather Bureau (Upper Air Map C and forms 1147 and 1126 Aero.) described in Article III, p. 18, to the Refsdal emagram and "Aerogram", and to the Neuhoff diagram.

logical sounding might be plotted so that one could trace the path of any chosen particle of air as it ascended or descended through the surrounding medium, in this manner making it possible to see if work is being done by the rising air particle or if it is necessary to supply mechanical energy in order to make it rise. This diagram, which has long since found a niche in classical meteorology. forms the basis of modern attack on problems of the upper air through energy diagrams. The emagram and aerogram of Refsdal² and the tephigram of Shaw^{3 4} have superseded the Neuhoff diagram because of greater simplicity in usage and adaptation.

Whatever the type of energy diagram used it is important to note at the start that in all of them it is assumed that one and only one element of air rises in some manner through the stationary environment. Thus the indications expressed in the diagram will depend in no small manner on the properties of the particular chosen particle. Actually the integrated effect of the large number of particles making up the air column should be considered. There is some doubt as to whether it is justifiable to neglect several other factors which may conceivably enter into the process. The ascent may be in the nature of lifting of an entire laver rather than the rising of a "bubble" of air, small compared with an air mass. Then there are the non-adiabatic effects of radiation. In spite of the complete neglect of such complicating factors, energy diagrams, based on the assumption that one relatively small mass of air rises through a more or less steady environment, have been used successfully. This fact per se indicates that the fundamental assumption is in the main justified. Furthermore. anyone who has had the opportunity to witness gliding activities can hardly doubt the existence of relatively small, rapidly rising up-currents, called by the gliding enthusiasts "thermals".

The tephigram, with which we shall here be concerned, acquires its name from the thermodynamic quantities that are its coördinates: temperature (T) and entropy (ϕ) . The term entropy I shall not attempt to define here, for it is a concept which defies descriptive definition, and is a sort of mathematical adaptation. Its derivation may be found in any textbook on thermodynamics. Generally, the synoptic meteorologist regards entropy as something which is proportional to potential temperature, for it may easily be shown that:

$$\phi = C_n \log \theta + \text{constant}$$
(1)

where ϕ is the specific entropy of dry air, C_m the specific heat of air at con-

stant pressure, and θ the potential temperature. The choice of a value for the constant is entirely arbitrary, for, as with energy, it is not the absolute value of entropy that matters, but rather the changes.

Entropy is used as the ordinate of the tephigram. Because of the relation (1) and the ease of obtaining θ , the logarithm of the latter is often used as an ordinate in addition to entropy. The abscissa of the tephigram is temperature, usually expressed in degrees C. In the diagram shown in Fig. 13 the temperature increases from right to left; in some types of the diagram this scale is reversed (Fig. 15). The solid lines

²A. Refsdal: Der feuchtlabile Niederschlag, Geofysiske Publikasjoner, Vol. 5, No. 12, 1930; Das Aerogram, Met. Zeit., Jan. 1935, pp. 1-5; Geofys. Publ., vol. 11, No. 13.

³Sir Napier Shaw: Manual of Meteorology, Vol. III, The Physical Processes of Weather, Chapt. 7, Cambridge, 1930. Cf. Woolard et al: Graphical Thermodynamics of the Free Air, Mo. Wea. Rev., Nov., 1926, pp. 454-457.

⁴C. M. Alvord and R. H. Smith: The Tephigram, M. I. T. Met. Course, *Prof. Notes* No. 1, 1929 (out of print). Repr. Mo. Wea. Rev., Sept., 1929, pp. 361-369.

sloping downward from the left to right are lines of equal pressure. From Poisson's equation it is readily seen that these isobars are defined by the rectangular coördinates: potential temperature and temperature. In the diagram reproduced here (Fig. 13) the isobars are expressed in millimeters of mercury: more frequently the unit used is the millibar. Broken lines sloping slightly to the right of the vertical are lines of equal specific humidity (on some diagrams the mixing ratio is used instead), the values being the saturated mass of water vapor in grams per kilogram of moist air which can exist under the appropriate temperatures and pressures. The solid curved lines sloping upward from the left to right are pseudoadiabats - lines which represent the path of a rising saturated particle of air precipitating its moisture as soon as it is condensed. Note how the slope of these curves approaches the horizontal lines of equal potential temperature (the dry adiahats) at low temperatures, because of the decreasing saturation humidity content as absolute zero temperature is approached.

There are several ways to plot a tephigram, the most convenient depending upon the quantities one has at hand. For example, it is possible to use the rectangular coördinates, potential temperature and temperature; then again one may plot temperature against pressure by using for coördinates the slanting isobars and vertical isotherms. In Fig. 13 is plotted the sounding for Oklahoma City on June 20, 1935; this is the solid line, the significant points of which are small circles, A to H. In conjunction with the tephigram it is also helpful to construct what is known as a depegram-a curve showing the variation of dew-point, and hence of moisture, with elevation. This is constructed by plotting specific humidities at the significant levels against the corresponding pressures. which is more convenient than computing dew points and gives precisely the same result. The depegram for the Oklahoma ascent is represented in Fig. 13 by the dotted lines connecting crosses. From the tephigram one may easily determine the stability of any given stratum, for the horizontal lines, being lines of constant potential temperature, are dry adiabats: the vertical lines, isotherms: and the curves sloping upward from left to right are saturated adiabats. Thus the layer EF possesses a dry adiabatic lapse-rate. AD contains a temperature inversion (probably a ground radiation inversion), and the layer DE is in conditional equilibrium as the lapse-rate lies between the dry and the saturated adiabats. The depegram enables one to get a picture of the relative dryness of the various For example, the surface lavers. laver at A is almost saturated, for here the dew-point is nearly equal to the temperature. Above the point E' the air is very dry, a fact shown by the comparatively large distance between the temperatures at E, F, and above, and the dew-points at these levels shown at E', F', etc.

The most important use of the tephigram lies in indicating the amount of potential energy, in the overlying air column, which may be converted into the kinetic energy of a thunderstorm. For this purpose it is necessary to choose some individual particle of air and follow by means of the diagram the path it would take if subjected to vertical displacement up through the entire air column. It is assumed that the surrounding air remains at rest while this displacement of a unit element of air is taking place. It might be assumed, for example, that the point A is carried upward. In this event the particle of air represented by the point



FIGURE 13. TEPHIGRAM FOR OKLAHOMA CITY, JUNE 20, 1935-EARLY A.M.

A would at first cool along the dry adiabat; that is, it would trace on the tephigram a horizontal line. But this could go on only until saturation occurred, for beyond this point the sample of rising air would no longer cool at the dry adiabatic rate but at the rate of expansional cooling for saturated air given by the pseudo-With the help adiabats. of the diagram this point of saturation is readily determined. As the particle ascends the mass of water vapor per unit mass of air (the specific humidity) remains constant until condensation begins. When saturation is reached the specific humidity of the rising particle is the maximum amount of moisture possible at that temperature and pressure. These lines of maximum (or saturation) specific humidity are given in the tephigram by the dashed lines which

slope upward slightly to the right of the vertical. Consequently in order to find the point of saturation one has merely to trace a line horizontally from the originally chosen point on the tephigram until it intercepts the line of saturation specific humidity passing through the corresponding point of the depegram (that is, through the specific humidity of the original particle). Thus the horizontal line from A would continue to the right until it meets a line drawn through A' parallel to the 15 g/kg line of saturation specific humidity. Beyond this point the rising particle follows the curved pseudoadiabats. This process will be clarified by selecting some other point from which a parcel of air would logically be more apt to rise through the air column.

The ascent plotted in Fig. 13 was made in the early morning; thus the

large inversion in the surface lavers is for the most part a radiation inversion. Under the effect of insolation as the day progresses the air near the ground may be expected to warm up considerably. Therefore the point A will be transferred to higher and higher temperatures while the pressure remains essentially the same. Thus A moves along the 720 mm isobar until the maximum temperature is reached. It is for the forecaster to decide what this value is most likely to be. In this case let us say that the temperature will rise to 35°C (95°F). A is thereby shifted along its isobar to J. Let us consider that there is no addition or subtraction of moisture so that the specific humidity remains constant at about 14 g/kg. Then as J rises its path is given by the dashed line; it follows the dry adiabat until its temperature falls to the value where the specific humidity (14 g/kg) is the saturation quantity. Thus J is moved horizontally until it intercepts the 14 g/kg moisture line at L. Beyond L the path of a rising particle is given by the pseudoadiabat LN.

The lapse-rate in the surface layer has been materially changed since the morning hours, and in view of convective mixing it is safe to assume that a dry adiabatic lapse-rate has been established up to the point K. Along JK there is neutral equilibrium with respect to dry air. That is, a particle of air along JK that is vertically displaced is neither assisted nor resisted by the density distribution. But while this adiabatic lapserate is built up, the structure of the air aloft, barring any change of airmass properties, remains essentially unchanged. Thus above K, the point of intersection of the isentropic line and the original sounding, it is assumed that there are no major

changes in air-mass properties. Consequently there still remains in the layer KD a portion of the original ground inversion. Now if a particle at J is forced to rise, following the path KL, its temperature at each level (defined by a particular isobar) would be lower than that of its surroundings. In fact, even after saturation at L the rising particle would remain colder than its environment until the point M when the temperatures of the rising air and its surroundings would become just equal. Throughout the layer from K to M work is required to lift a particle forced upward from K. The amount of energy required for this purpose may be shown to be equal to the vertically hatched area KLMEDK. On the original scale of the diagram from which Fig. 13 is reproduced, 1 square cm is equivalent to 2 x 105 ergs per gram; in Fig. 13, 1 square cm is equivalent to 3.3 x 10⁴ ergs per gram.

Beyond M, a rising particle, following the pseudoadiabat MN at every stage in its ascent, would be warmer than the surrounding air. In this manner, after reaching M, it will rise of its own accord, so to speak, for it is now less dense than the air composing its environment. From energy considerations it may be shown that the energy liberated by a unit element of air rising from M to N is given by the horizontally hatched area MFGHNM.

(In practice it is customary to color in red the horizontally hatched area and in ⁽ blue the vertically hatched area.)

To generalize:

Where the path of a rising particle lies above the tephigram of the sounding, energy is available for producing overturning, which may result in thundershowers, and the amount of this energy is given by the area (in this case called positive area) enclosed between the path of the rising particle and the tephigram.

When the path of a rising particle lies below the tephigram of the sounding, stability is indicated, and the area (called negative area) enclosed between the path of the rising particle and the tephigram represents the amount of energy which must be overcome if the particle is to penctrate the layer.

From these considerations it is clear that large positive areas and small negative areas are most favorahle for the development of a thunderstorm. While there is no subtitute for experience in working with the tenhigram, it is possible to make some statements of a general nature which should assist the beginner in Such a his use of the tephigram. discussion, consisting of the indications and limitations of the tephigram, particularly when used in conjunction with a reliable weather map analysis, is taken up in the article on Thunderstorms, below.

A Note on Estimating Conditional and Convective Instability From the Wet-bulb Curve

Normand* has called attention to the fact that the usual method of indicating humidity by a depegram shows only the variation of humidity in a sounding, and that it cannot be used directly for visualizing the amount of energy available in a particle of air which rises from some particular laver. He pointed out further that in order to make reasonably correct deductions about the stability of such a particle of rising air, it is desirable to have a thermodynamic representation of humidity on the tephigram as well as one for temperature. In order to obtain such a representation he has advocated that the saturation (in practice, the wet-bulb) temperatures of a sounding be plotted on their appropriate isobars. This method is a natural sequence of the use of wet-bulb temperatures of the free air first advocated by him in 1921. He argued that the "saturation temperature" curve (S.-T. gram; or of a sounding estegram) should be used because the tephigram and depegram alone do not consider the actual state of humidity, and because it is desirable to have a curve which can be compared with the saturation adiabats just as the temperatureheight curve can be compared with the dry adjabats. Drawing conclusions concerning the "liability" to instability from a tephigram alone by comparison of the latter with saturation adiabats is undesirable, for if the air is dry at all heights it is a waste of time to consider it as if it were moist. When that method is used it is the same as assuming that it is possible by a meteorological process to saturate dry air without altering its temperature! But it is well known that dry air which passes over a large lake or the ocean does not become saturated without a simultaneous change in its temperature. It is necessary when estimating the probable effect of an increase in humidity to assume a decrease in drybulb temperature, an increase in the dew-point, and little change in the wet-bulb temperature. This is the most important justification for including a wet-bulb or saturation temperature curve (these two curves are practically equivalent to one another) alongside the tephigram in estimating "liability" to instability.

Normand has found the addition of the wet-bulb temperature curve on the

^{*} Normand, C. W. B.: Graphical indication of humidity in the upper air, *Nature*, 3rd October, 1931, Vol. 128, p. 583.

tephigram permits a more clear-cut classification of tephigrams according to vertical stability. In tropical regions the state of conditional instability generally prevails, and in middle latitudes it occurs rather frequently. Sometimes, however, it is associated with settled weather and sometimes with disturbed: in studies made in India the tephigram alone gives no criterion which allows a correlation with the type of weather. The Indian meteorologists found, however, that the important criterion in that connection is the vertical distribution of water vapor, and that a wet-bulb curve drawn beside a tephigram gives a more definite picture of the amount of energy that is likely to become available as a consequence of convection reaching the condensation level.

The use of estegrams together with tephigrams makes it possible to classify the conditions of particles of air with respect to their environment into three classes of *conditional instability:*-

1) Particles of air which if raised adiabatically will release more energy in the upper unstable portion of their ascent than must be supplied to them in their lower, stable portion, are in a state of *(real)* latent instability.[†]

2) A case in which a particle can be raised with a given supply of energy to a position where it is in an unstable environment and thus some of its energy can be liberated, but the energy so liberated is less than that supplied from below, is termed a state of *pseudo-(latent) instability.*

3) In the third case, when the lowest saturation adiabat tangential to the tephigram does not intersect the estegram, there is neither *latent instability* nor pseudo-instability. In other words, there is no energy realizable at all.

A particle of air has latent instability or pseudo-instability if thesaturated adiabat through it (for example, the initial position of the particle under consideration) on the wet-bulb curve intersects the curve of the tephigram. The latent instability can be realized, however, only when the amount of work which must be done to raise a particle of air to the condensation level (from which it would thereafter rise freely) is less than the energy which will be realized during its further ascent (i.e., only in the case of real latent instability). If the saturated adiabat through the point of the initial wet-bulb temperature of the particle under consideration does not cut across the line of the dry-bulb temperature, then no upward displacement of the particle can bring it to a level where it will be as warm as its environment, so then the atmosphere is stable for all particle displacements-large or small.

In order to release the energy in air which is in a state of latent or pseudoinstability a trigger action is necessary, notably surface heating, and surface evaporation, but also lifting by a cold front, a mountain, or by convergence; release by lifting however, is strictly a case of convective instability in which of course wholesale release of conditional instability is an intermediate process (see below).

The recognition at a glance of the layers in which all particles have pseudo or latent instability is easy when the wet-bulb curve is entered beside the tephigram. For instance, in Figure 14 the layers with latent instability are determined by extending the moist adiabat which is tangential to the portion of the tephigram which approaches the wet-bulb curve most closely down to the surface

[†] Normand first defined the concept of latent instability in an article on tropical storms in *Gerlands Beit. z. Geophys.*, Vol. 34, p. 234, 1931; the principle is examined in detail by him in the *Q. Jn. Roy. Met. Soc.*, 1938, p. 47, ff.



FIG. 14. A SCHEMATIC TEPHIGRAM SHOWING PRESENCE OF LATENT OR PSEUDO INSTABILITY for particles in the layer between E and G, which can be realized somewhere between B and D. The curve ACD is the temperature sounding; the curve EFGH is the wet-bulb temperature curve (estegram). The amounts of energy must be determined for any chosen particle in the usual manner; the shaded areas are not energy areas. EFGI merely marks the layer E-G, in which any chosen rising particle has real or pseudo-latent instability, which can be realized somewhere between B and D.

particle in the usual manner; the shaded areas are not energy areas. EFGI merely marks the layer E-G, in which any chosen rising particle has real or pseudo-latent instability, which can be realized somewhere between B and D. The paths of a rising particle from A and from F are dotted lightly. It is evident that the particle at F has much more latent instability than that at A, while a particle between F and G has only pseudo instability. Mixing and heating in the lowest layers would probably increase the dry and wet bulbs at A and E, so that in a forerasting problem one would draw the probable curves that would result from these effects and then consider the instability situation (see Fig 15).

level. Then all particles in the layer EG (i.e., where the wet-bulb curve curve lies to the left of CGI) have latent instability. Extending the moist adiabat which is tangential to the wet-bulb curve at F, indicates the layer in the environment aloft where any particles of air forced up from the layers between E and G would be able to realize their latent instability. Note, however, that the amount of latent instability (i.e., ratio of positive to negative energy areas) varies greatly for the different particles lying between E and G. One selects the particle which is likely to be heated, usually the surface one or a mean of particles near the surface. and draws the positive and negative areas for it in the manner described

÷

by Mr. Namias. However, the wetbulb curve permits one to judge better how representative any given chosen particle will be for the trigger effects likely to occur (see figure 15).



FIG. 15. LATENT INSTABILITY ON A TEPHI-GRAM FOR A DAY WITH SQUALLS AND A DUST-STORM AT AGRA, INDIA, MAY 22, 1929 .- (A case from the paper by E. N. Sreenivasaiah: A Study of the Duststorms of Agra, Memoirs of the India Met. Dept., Vol. XXVII, Part I, 1939.) On this date, a comparatively weak but rather prolonged duststorm occurred between 16:20 and 18:45 h, I. S. T., with well marked squal's at 16:20, 17:20, and 18:10 h. The synoptic weather charts showed that associated with the passage of a low pressure wave across north India, the seasonal low over northwest India became accentuated by the 21st morning and the pressure gradient over Sind and Baluchistan became marked. Numerous duststorms occurred in northwest India on the 21st : Agra also had one on that evening. The 22nd morning chart shows a marked trough of low pressure extending from Baluchistan to the west United Provinces hills: the low pressure wave apparently passed northeastwards subsequently. The duststorm of Agra on the 22nd was evidently associated with this spell of disturbed weather.

A meteorograph was sent up at Agra at 18:05 h (I. S. T.), i.e., actually during the period of the weak duststorm but after the first two principal squalls of the duststorm had occurred. There was a comparative lull in the phenomenon at the moment of the ascent, but within five minutes thereafter the last of the three squalls occurred. The tephiand estegrams relating to the ascent are drawn. These show real latent instability for layers of air between the surface and about 460-mb level, the environment of latent instability (where it can be realized) lying above 690 mb. The tephigram shows the existence of a superadiabatic gradient of temperature between surface and 1-gkm level. The actual magnitude of this lapse rate is 13.5F°/gkm, whereas, according to the criterion

of Brunt (Phys. Dyn. Met., p. 45), a lapse rate of 11.3° /gkm between surface and 1 gkm would be enough to cause (absolute) instability in the layer. Even up to 1.5 gkm conditions of lapse rate favorable for instability exist on this day, the actual rate being 10.7° /gkm, whereas the critical (neutral) rate is 10.3° /gkm. In any case, the layers up to 1 km are definitely unstable. These conditions would provide a "trigger" of sufficient magnitude to initiate displacement of the lower layers.

It is seen that a particle from A starting on account of instability in that layer will gain energy in the initial portion of the ascent up to B (794 mb). The gain is AFBMA. After B, the ascent up to D would involve a loss of energy BCDEB. It is only if the particle can reach D (500 mb), that it will come into the environment of latent instability and begin to gain energy; and it can reach D only if BCDEB is less than AFBMA. But actual measurement of these areas shows that BCDEB is slightly greater than AFBMA, being roughly in the ratio 14:11. This is what one would expect, if one remembers that the meteorograph was sent up only 5 minutes before the occurrence of the third squall, there being a comparative lull between the second and third squalls. During five minutes the meteorograph could have ascended only about 1 km. So, it is only up to about a km above ground that the tephigram can be considered to be representative of the conditions before the squall; above it, the tephigram shows conditions during the occurrence of the duststorm. As the temperatures rise in the upper levels after a duststorm, the area BCDEB is perhaps greater than it would be before the occurrence of the phenomenon: for the same reason the temperatures along BF may have been lower before the squall, making the area AFB slightly greater.

The possibility of descending cold air from a dust- or thunderstorm which occurred at neighboring stations having travelled to Agra and lifted up the "latently unstable" mass of air is not entirely ruled out, but in the absence of positive evidence to this effect and in view of the fact that the superadiabatic lapse rate existing is itself sufficient to cause the phenomenon, it seems reasonable to attribute the duststorm on this day to the trigger action of insolation leading to a superadiabatic lapse rate. The latent instability in this case is apparently built up by the moisture brought in by the passage of the low-pressure wave referred to above in the description of the synoptic situation of the day.

The fact that dust or thunderstorms do not occur more frequently than they do, although the vertical temperature gradients in the lower levels may be adiabatic or superadiabatic day after day in the summer months over Agra is probably due to the want of the necessary condition, viz., latent instability.

In this sounding all particles up to about 460 mb are latently unstable, an extreme case : the level of greatest latent instability is at about 880 mb, but since the convection is obviously taking place from the heated surface, the proper analysis is to consider the energy areas for a rising surface particle. The decrease of wet bulb below 900 mb indicates that a surface particle has considerably less latent instability than a particle say at 880 mb whose condensation level would be at 750 mb giving a smaller negative area and far larger positive area than for the surface particle. The same would be true for particles up to around 620 mb. Mixing in the lowest 300 mb layers will increase the surface wetbulb, however, and tend to distribute the latent instability more equally among the different levels, in these layers. If this sounding were an early morning one, the latter consideration would certainly deserve some weight in estimating the realizable latent instability for later in the day.

In many cases, however, the wet bulbs are much lower, relative to the dry bulb, at the upper levels than in this sounding, with only a shallow moist layer (but not necessarily a temperature-inversion) near the surface which will often appear to have considerable real latent instability. But here it is well to allow for the effect of convection in lowering the surface wet bulb by mixing with the drier layers aloft, for in this way the amount of latent instability for the surface particles can be rapidly decreased before the convection reaches the condensation level. The method of assuming an average wet bulb for the lowest layers, in the same sense as Mr. Namias suggests using an average specific humidity, is often called for in such situations. On the other hand, evaporation often keeps the surface wet bulb from falling or even increases it in spite of mixing, and then the depth of the moist layer is increased at the expense of the drier upper air-which means the latent instability is increasing. Likewise advection of moist or dry currents aloft will alter the state, as explained in the article on Isentropic Analysis. Isentropic cross-sections and charts are not conveniently compared with estegrams since the former contain only A, and q (or condensation pressures).



FIG. 16. AIRPLANE SOUNDING AT MURFREESBORO, Tenn., plotted on the pseudo-adiabatic chart. The temperature curve is drawn as a full line with specific humidities written in to its right. The wet-bulb curve is drawn as a heavy dashed line with relative humidities entered beside it. This case is of interest because it shows conditional instability in most layers but without Treal-latent or pseudo-latent instability. There is a little convective instability aloft (e.g., just above 785 and 630 mb) where the wet bulb lapse rate is greater than the moist the moist adiabat.

Bodily lifting of the surface layers by 100 mb or more would make some fairly thick Cu clouds whereas considerable solar heating of

Clouds whereas considerable solar heating of the surface layers will produce only Fc or Sc, if any clouds at all, (because the con-densation level will be raised). The sounding is in general rather stable in spite of moderate to high relative humidities and conditional instability in the lower levels; this is because there is no latent instability in the first km or two.—R. G. S.

In a study of some Indian tephigrams, Sohoni and Paranjpe** have applied Normand's suggestions and correlated their findings concerning the presence or absence of latent instability in the soundings with air-mass type and weather. The estegrams cor-

responding to the tephigrams were drawn in each case as follows:-the dry adjabatic (isentropic) is drawn through the point at the surface level. and then the isohygric (constant mixing-ratio line) through the corresponding dew-point is drawn. The saturation adiabatic which runs through their point of intersection meets the isobar at the surface level at a point which has a temperature coordinate of T°A. This is the adiabatic wet-bulb temperature of the air particle at the surface level. The wetbulb temperatures at the other levels are obtained in the same manner, and then the estegram is drawn by joining all of the points so obtained.

Sohoni and Paranipe found that the absence of latent instability is associated with dry, fine weather with occasional high clouds of non-convectional type, and latent instability with convectional types of clouds. Later studies in India confirm this and the wet-bulb curve is now widely used.

It is also practicable to determine the presence of what Rossby calls "convective (or potential) instability" of a layer of air by use of the wet-bulb temperatures on a tephigram (also on the pseudo-adiabatic chart). In any laver of air in which the lapse rate of the wet-bulb temperature exceeds the moist adiabatic rate, the wet-bulb potential temperature, and, therefore, the equivalent-potential temperature decreases upwards. A layer of this type is convectively unstable according to Rossby's definition. If such a layer is raised bodily and adiabatically in the atmosphere without mixing with its environment or distortion and in such a way that the difference of pressure between the top and bottom of the layer remains constant, then it can easily be seen that every layer in which the wet-bulb lapse rate is steeper than the saturated adiabatic must ulti-

^{**} Sohoni, V. V. and Paranjpe, M. M.: Latent instability in the atmosphere revealed by some Indian tephigrams, *Mem. India Met. Dept.*, Vol. XXVI, Part VII, 1937, pp. 131-¥49.

mately become unstable if raised to the condensation level. Since energy is reauired to raise the layer, however, and the amount which must be supplied for this purpose may exceed the energy which can be expected from lifting or heating, the energy of convective instability may be unrealizable. The only important types of convective instability are those in which the energy which has to be supplied in order to lift the layer to the condensation level is less than the amount which will be realized from the resulting instability. Such a gain in energy is most likely to be realized when the layer of air under consideration is originally nearly saturated or when latent instability is present from the start. There may be convective instability with or without conditional instability at the start, of course. The use of the wet-bulb curve serves to classify the convective instability according to whether there is latent-, pseudo-, or no conditional-instability present at the same time, and hence the relative probability of its release by any trigger actions that can be foreseen on the weather map. In tropical regions and in summer in higher latitudes this simple method of estimating all types of instability on one (tephigram, Neuhoff diagram diagram, or emagram) will certainly appeal to practical meteorologists. Even on the Stüve pseudo-adiabatic chart the wet-bulb curve will be qualitatively helpful, in case there is insufficient time to plot an energy diagram.

Bleeker has shown that the adiabatic wet-bulb temperature is not strictly a conservative element for an evaporation process while the isobaric wet-bulb is not conservative for wet or dry adiabatic processes, but for estimating instability this makes no practical difference. Petterssen has lately suggested drawing the wet-bulb temperature curve on the pseudoadiabatic chart to indicate convective (or potential) instability (see Fig. 16). This is a more convenient procedure than plotting a Rossby diagram, but the deviation of the wetbulb curves from the moist adiabats is usually so small that the lavers with convective instability cannot be read off so accurately as on the Rossby diagram, though this is not serious except in borderline cases when the inaccuracy of aerological measurements would probably not permit a definite conclusion anyway. -R, G, S,

IX. SYNOPTIC ASPECTS OF THE THUNDERSTORM;

In the preceding article the plotting of the tephigram and a partial interpretation of an individual sounding was outlined. This article will present briefly the probable causes of thunderstorms, indicating the use of aerological data in their analysis and forecasting.⁺ However, the origin and development of the thunderstorm from the synoptic viewpoint are by no means fully understood as yet, and therefore offer a fertile field for research.

Perhaps the most convenient classi-

fication of thunderstorms is based upon the physical factors which presumably cause them:

- 1. Air-mass thunderstorms:
 - (a) From local convection.
 - (b) In thermodynamically cold air masses.
- 2. Frontal thunderstorms:
 - (a) Associated with a cold front.
 - (b) Associated with a warm front.

[†]Further discussion of thunderstorm forecasting will be found in Article X on Isentropic Analysis.

- (c) Associated with an occluded front.
- 3. Orographic thunderstorms.
- 4. Thunderstorms in horizontally converging air currents.

I. AIR MASS THUNDERSTORMS

A. From local convection. The type of thunderstorm known for a long time as "local." "heat." or "local convective" may be singled out from other types in that it represents a form of penetrative convection due primarily to insolational heating in the lower layers of the atmosphere. No apparent frontal activity is involved, and the original cause appears to be purely thermal in nature. In summer these thunderstorms may be observed in almost every type of air They are, however, by far mass. most frequent in TG air, because the TG air has the most favorable moistand temperature distribution ure with elevation. Steep lapse-rate and high specific humidity are most favorable for the development of Cu clouds into tall Cb. The tephigram under such conditions generally exhibits a large positive area and a comparatively small negative area. As pointed out in the preceding article, it is important to use critical judgment in selecting which particle of air will be assumed to penetrate the upper strata; furthermore, it is necessary to assume the temperature and moisture that particle will probably have before it ascends. Thus if one should choose the surface air particle having the temperature and moisture observed in the early morning hours he would, owing to the stability of the ground inversion, always obtain tremendous negative areas. In forecasting a maximum temperature for the surface particle one should be familiar with the locality for which he is forecasting. It is common prac-

tice to take for the maximum temperature of the day the surface temperature which would be potentially equivalent to that at the top of the ground inversion. The physical reasoning behind this procedure is that as insolation warms the ground the stability of the overlying inversion precludes any appreciable upward transfer of the heat supplied the surface laver. Consequently, the lowest laver warms up rapidly until the ground inversion with its stability is completely wiped out. After this takes place most of the excess heat is carried upward by convection, and the temperature at the surface remains at a fairly constant maximum. In choosing the specific humidity of the particular element which is to rise through the surrounding air mass it is customary to assume that the specific humidity in the surface lavers remains constant. This is logical because, exclusive of evaporation from the surface and mixing with the air above, the mass of water vapor per unit mass of air should remain sensibly constant in one and the same air mass; in a case where the specific humidity decreases rapidly upward from the surface, the mixing by convection and mechanical turbulence will lower the specific humidity of the surface air. In this case it would be erroneous to presume a constancy of moisture content during the day. In practice I have found it helpful in these cases to choose for the probable specific humidity of the rising particle the mean value of the observed specific humidities through the lowest layers up to the condensation level, or to the top of any ground inversion or stable layer having relatively high humidity.

A not uncommon case presents itself when above the moist surface air, presumably TG, there flows a current of warm dry air (Ts): if the TG air is shallow, the construction of a tephigram with the assumption that the surface particle will penetrate the Ts air will often be misleading, for it suggests there are large amounts of available energy (positive area) which actually, however, cannot be realized because of the mixing of this moist stratum with the dry air above. But generally. especially when the TG air is about 1 km deep, the tephigram gives a fairly true picture of the available energy, indicating (after extrapolation of the surface point) positive areas at the surface and aloft separated by a negative area. This stable layer (the negative area) tends to resist convection and must in some manner be penetrated by the rising particle before the Cu clouds can develop into thunderstorm proportions. It is conceivable that in some cases the extra energy needed to overcome stability may be supplied by the kinetic energy of the rising air -this energy causes the cloud to rise beyond the level at which it has the same density as its surroundings. The energy may at times be supplied by the lifting action of an incoming front or by orographic upthrusting.

In a special study of aerological material Willett; found that the TG layer, whether or not a front enters the synoptic field, must be at least some 31/2 km thick for thunderstorms to develop. As he points out, however, his data contained no ascents made during June through September-just the time of the year when convective activity is the greatest. It is probable, then, that this conclusion does not hold for summer situations.* It is also likely that soundings made in or near a Cb cloud are not representative of the properties of the air mass in which the convective

overturning is taking place, because these turbulent ascending bodies may be virtual "fountains" of moist air. Further research is required here.

In making use of the tephigram in forecasting local thundershowers it. is important to consider the chronological changes in the positive and negative areas. Rapidly increasing positive areas and decreasing negative areas are highly indicative of future thunderstorm activity. If a succession of six- to twelve-hourly ascents is not available, it is very helpful to choose for comparison tephigrams of ascents made the preceding few days at other stations in the same air mass, preferably ones lving in the general trajectory of the air mass-that is, in the probable path of the air current before it reached the station for which the meteorologist is forecasting.

The local indications of convective thunderstorms are so commonly known² that we need not dwell upon them here in detail; some may be mentioned: the presence and growth of towering Cu during the day, the warm, muggy and often stagnant atmosphere, and the steep pressure fall by afternoon. The distribution of the Cu is frequently indicative, for it has been shown by Bjerknes⁸ that tall Cu separated by fairly large clear spaces (*Cu. castellatus*) are most

[†]Discussion and Illustration of Problems Suggested by Analysis of Atmospheric Cross-Sections, M. I. T. and W. H. Ocean. Inst., *Papers in Phys., Ocean. and Met.*, Vol. 4, No. 2, 1935. *For further discussion of this see my article

^{*}For further discussion of this see my article in the Jan. 1938, Bulletin Am. Met. Soc., p. 11.

p. 11. ²Cf. C. F. Brooks: The local, or heat, thunderstorm, *Mo. Weather Rev.*, June, 1922, Vol. 50, pp. 281-284. (Includes "Questionnaire [of 16 questions] for predicting local thunderstorms.")

storms.") ³Physikalische Hydrodynamik. Berlin, 1933; Hydrodynamique Physique. Paris, 1934 (3 Vols.). In Q. Jn. Roy. Met. Soc., April 1938, pp. 325 ff, Bjerknes shows that Cu convection does not release sufficient kinetic energy (motion) to cause Cu to develope into Cb unless the spacing—thickness ratio of the Cu towers is below a certain critical value.
favorable while flat Cu (Cu. humilis) covering most of the sky are contraindicative of thunderstorm activity. There is, however, a limit to the narrowness of Cu, for tall narrow clouds are apt to be torn apart and dissipated by turbulence and wind shear. Thus there is an optimum size and space distribution for Cu in order for Cb to develop.

Although the following rule is more or less obvious, it is important enough to italicize: Before attempting to use the indications of a tephigram in forecasting local convective showers make certain that no fronts will enter the field within the period for which you are forecasting. Thus the intelligent use of upper air data goes hand in hand with a reliable analysis of the synoptic chart.

B. Thunderstorms in thermodunamically cold air masses. In this type of thundershower the steep lapse-rate in the surface layers is established chiefly by the transport of a cold (usually Pc air) current over a relatively warm land surface. The Pc air mass is considered cold in a thermodynamic sense, because it remains continually colder than the surface over which it is travelling. Consequently, the lapse-rate in its lowest layer must be steep. The situation is characterized in winter by instability snow flurries, in spring and early summer by instability showers which infrequently develop into thundershowers, and then usually mild, for the necessary ingredients of a well developed thunderstorm, air with high moisture and heat content, are lacking.

In summer time this kind of thunderstorm is not common, its formation apparently being hindered by the gradual transformation of the PC properties as the air mass moves southward over warmer surfaces. In the spring, on the other hand, the Pc air may be transported from its snow-covered source region to the warmer bare-land surface in such a short time that the upper layers have little time to warm, and consequently very steep lapse-rates are established.

Another restraining influence on the formation of this type of thunderstorm is the presence of surfaces of subsidence within the cold air, which act as "lids" that stop the upward growth of the Cu clouds in the cold air: it requires considerable energy for the rising air to penetrate these stable surfaces. The limiting subsidence layers generally lie within the cold air in the shape of a vast, flat dome-the top being near the center of maximum pressure rise (anallobar), the edges becoming lower as the front boundary of the cold air mass is approached. Consequently. for some distance behind a cold front conditions are unfavorable for the type of shower in question, for here the surface of subsidence is lowest. Moreover, near the front the stability of the frontal (vertical) transition zone helps to check the convection in the cold air. (See Figs. 17 and 18.)

It is difficult to apply the tephigram to these situations. One cannot make certain of the extent of the warming or humidification of the lowest layers of the air mass, or for that matter, the changes in structure which may go on aloft. A sequence tephigrams constructed from of flights at fairly short intervals is the most helpful. Lacking these, perhaps the best indications are expressed in the history of the cold air mass traced surface through analysis of the charts.

II. FRONTAL THUNDERSTORMS

A. Associated with a cold front. Cold-front thundershowers are the most interesting and generally the most violent of all. In the older terminology they are the "line squall" The predominating thunderstorms. cause appears to be the mechanical upthrusting of the warm air by the advancing cold wedge. The indications for thundershowers with the passage of a cold front are to be found largely in the upper air characteristics of the warm air mass and in the structure and movement of the cold front. The tephigram is well-adapted to these cases. The soundings used should naturally be those in the warm sector. As before, a sequence of soundings at one station is best, but if this is not possible it is advisable to study several tephigrams that show the trend of the change in the characteristics of the warm air mass. Here again, increasing positive areas and decreasing negative areas are most favorable indications for thunderstorms, particularly if the current tephigram shows appreciable positive areas. The most indicative lapse-rates are conditionally unstable. Convective instability is also generally indicated. for it may be that the lifting of entire layers is responsible for the genesis of the showers.

In forecasting cold-front thundershowers it is important to consider the diurnal change in lapse-rate. In the early morning hours there is usually a ground inversion present. while in the afternoon the surface layers are characterized by a superadiabatic lapse-rate (Fig. 19). Then the air mass is in its most favorable state for producing thunderstorms once the "trigger action" of a cold front is supplied. It is for this reason that cold fronts passing during the night are frequently accompanied by no thunderstorms, while the same fronts. passing during the afternoon or early evening, are characterized by thunderstorms all along their length.⁴

The cold air immediately behind the front is cooled by evaporation of the falling rain; in this manner the sharpness of the front is maintained.

The air masses preceding the front on which cold-front thunderstorms may be observed hardly seem to be restricted to any individual types, although they occur with a pronounced maximum frequency in TG currents, and only rarely (if ever) in the dry currents which move from the southwestern U. S. and Mexico.

Cold-front thunderstorms may be further classified as prefrontal. frontal and postfrontal, according as they occur appreciably before, at, or after the front passage. We need spend little time here on the fine points of this classification. Prefrontal types may be due to mechanical uplifting of the warm air some distance ahead of the cold front, or to the entrapping of the warm, moist air below the overrunning squall head. In the latter case it is conceivable that extremely steep lapse-rates and violent storms may be brought about. Those thunderstorms occurring immediately at the front are presumably the normal type due to uplifting. The postfrontal thunderstorm probably belongs, for the most part, to the class discussed "thunderstorms as in thermodynamically cold air masses."

An interesting situation occurs when a cold front slows up in its movement and becomes quasi-stationary. Then thunderstorms may be occurring at various points along the front and persisting for a relatively long time. These are associated with small wave disturbances moving

⁴This is brought out clearly in the statistical frontal study of Thunderstorms in Ohio during 1917, by W. H. Alexander, C. F. Brooks and G. H. Burnham, *Mo. Weather Rev.*, July, 1924, Vol. 52, pp. 343-348.

along the front and supplying the necessary "trigger action" to release the energy in the warm air. The showers apparently form both in advance of and behind the front, but the structure and action of these waves is not fully understood. Excellent examples of these quasi-stationary frontal thunderstorms can be observed in summer over New England.

Thunderstorms associated with R a warm front. Thundershowers associated with a warm front are not nearly so common as those with a cold front, the reason being that the vertical motions brought about by a warm-front surface are not as pronounced as with a cold front. Nevertheless, in favorable circumstances one may observe on the surface weather map the outbreak of a large number of thunderstorms definitely associated with a warm front. T+ appears that this type is almost entirely confined to fronts where TG is concerned, particularly in autumn, winter and spring; there are occasummer cases. where the sional warmer air mass is a transitional polar current whose temperature and moisture content have been increased by stagnation over the southeastern U. S. almost to the characteristic values for tropical air. These warmsector air masses capable of producing warm-front thundershowers are well supplied with potential energy. which is on the verge of being released. The releasing agent or "trigger action" necessary for the transformation this potential of energy into the kinetic energy of a thunderstorm is the upward deflection of the warm air over the cold wedge.†

Another important factor is the horizontal convergence of air in the warm sector; this serves to steepen

the lapse-rate in the warm air, for the surfaces of equal potential temperature are stretched vertically.* This process may be considered the reverse of subsidence, wherein horizontal divergence occurs and the lapse-rate becomes more stable. With horizontal convergence in the warm sector, the air involved is so transformed that the relatively small vertical motions supplied by ascent over the cold wedge are sufficient to develop thunderstorms. It is obvious that this same conditioning process is also important in setting the stage for other types of thundershowers.

The major action in warm-front thundershowers takes place aloft. The storms are usually less violent than other types. Furthermore, the characteristic cloud display may be obscured by the warm-front cloud deck.

The diurnal variation in frequency of these showers is not as pronounced as with the other types, particularly in the non-summer months, when they seem to be about as frequent at night as by day.

Just as with quasi-stationary cold fronts, waves may form on a slowly moving warm front and may at times be responsible for the development of thunderstorms along it. It is not rare to find a comparatively sudden outbreak of violent showers along an east-west front separating TG from Pc air, and usually this can be traced to some wave action which has released large amounts of indicated (on the tephigram) energy in the TG air.

In using the indications of the for forecasting warmtephigram front showers one must locate accu-

[†]In India it has been shown that the cold air descending out from under one thunder-storm often spreads out along the surface as a local cold wedge and acts as a trigger to set off new thunderstorms nearby.—Ed. *This is true only in case the original lapse

rate was stable, otherwise convergence would tend to stabilize the air.—*Ed.*

rately the position of the warm front at the surface, and obtain a fairly good idea of its structure. A sounding made some distance in advance of a warm front, if subjected to the ordinary analysis for local convective showers, will rarely show thunderstorm indications. hecause here the erroneous assumption is made that the surface cold air, in reality belonging to the cold wedge. will rise through the upper strata. The proper procedure in these cases is first to identify the discontinuity surface separating the two air masses aloft, then instead of a surface particle assumed to rise take some element in the warm sector, ascribing to it a probable maximum temperature as in the case of air-mass convective showers, and then plot the ascent of this element on the original tephigram. It is best to choose for the rising particle the air at the base of the warm current.

C Thunderstorms associated with an occluded front. Perhaps the largest number of summer thunderstorms are associated with fronts previously occluded, which, through their action on the field of flow, have regenerated into active cold fronts. It is important in summer for the analyst to follow closely all occluded fronts, for it is the rule rather than the exception for bent-back occlusions, weak as they may appear, to develop into surprisingly active cold fronts. It is largely the activity of these occlusions that makes summer-map They form. analysis so interesting. fronts. as do ordinary cold а pronounced field of convergence, making the front sharper and conditioning the preceding warm air to the point where it becomes rich in convective energy. In general, for purposes of thunderstorm forecasting, these cold-front occlusions may

be treated in the same manner as cold fronts.

The occluded warm front is interesting in that it represents an upper cold front marching into the field aloft, well in advance of the surface warm front: the warm air originally above the warm front surface is thus displaced by a current of colder air. In this way, the lapse-rate above the lowest part of the warm front is made steeper. These warm-front occlusions seem to be characteristic over the southwestern plains, where the TG air is colder than other warm air masses (often NTP) which therefore override it, while NPP air. warmer at the surface than the TG. but colder than the NTP, rapidly overruns the TG and displaces the NTP; the warmest air is then pocketed between the TG wedge and the NPP. wedge.⁵ Thunderstorms are at times associated with this structure, though their exact mode of formation is not as vet definitely known: but it appears that the steep lapse-rates observed aloft in the NPP air mass play an important part once some particular body of air starts to rise. It is possible that insolational heating in the cool wedge (TG) may give the initial impulse, while the stability of the frontal boundary may be insufficient to prevent its penetration into the more unstable air aloft.

In making use of the tephigram in these situations one must consider the possibility of rapid change in structure of the upper air and must be familiar with the characteristics of all the interacting air masses.

III. OROGRAPHIC THUNDERSTORMS

Practically all types of thunderstorms are more frequent over hilly and particularly over mountainous

⁵Cf. H. Wexler: Analysis of a Warm-fronttype Occlusion, *Mo. Wea. Rev.*, July, 1935, pp. 213-221.

country than over flat terrain. Besides there are many situations in which thunderstorms form only in that part of an air mass overlying certain mountain regions. The reason for this seems to be that rough terrain increases vertical turbulence, and slopes force marked ascent of the air. These upward deflections may be enough to set free any large stores of energy available in the air masses (especially the conditionally unstable). Solar radiation on mountains is more intense, and it is also conceivable that the higher angles of incidence of the solar rays on some mountain slopes may favor convective thundershowers

A characteristic of many of these showers in mountainous regions is their tendency to remain almost stationary, presumably because the upward deflection of the air flow over the mountain is operative in only certain localities (windward sides) while dissipating forces are at work in others (leeward).

Another type of orographic thunderstorm is the coastal shower in conditionally unstable maritime air masses, frequent on the Pacific northwest coast of the U.S., where the ascent of fresh PP air up the coastal slope and ranges supplies the "trigger action." Α similar phenomenon occurs in conditionally unstable (or convectively unstable) TG air masses invading the country along the Gulf coast, where the slight elevation of the land and initial heating over land appears to be sufficient to produce showers.

IV. THUNDERSTORMS IN HORIZON-TALLY CONVERGING AIR CURRENTS

It has been pointed out that horizontal convergence of air, through its vertical spreading action, makes the lanse-rate steeper. This process is undoubtedly present in most open warm sectors. There are many cases in which a bent-back occlusion in some manner establishes behind it a strong convergent field, so that the front appears to be elongating itself. In the U.S. this convergent zone is generally accompanied not only by an abrupt wind-shift, but also by typical cold-front characteristics: and there presumably are cases of such zones of convergence in which there is a pronounced wind-shift but no discontinuity in temperature. Such a zone cannot be called a front. The Norwegian meteorologists have found several cases of this kind over Europe.⁶ The characteristics of such a trough of low pressure are similar to a front. Owing to the convergence there is frequently precipitation. As far as I am aware, no one has published an analysis of such a case in the U.S. It seems probable that bent-back occlusions here almost invariably regenerate into cold fronts. because the air masses concerned (usually PC or NPP) seem to undergo modification along their trajectory more rapidly than the air masses over Europe (moist maritime-polar currents) (see Petterssen: Contribution to the theory of Frontogenesis).

Another type of convergence, which might have been discussed under the heading of occlusions, is that forcibly brought about by the rapid occlusion of a cyclone at its center. This occlusion may eventually lead to thunderstorms but only when the cold front rapidly cuts off the warm sector and the warm air is not very stable. This kind of thundershower is often observed over southern New Eng-

⁶J. Bjerknes: Investigations of Selected European Cyclones by Means of Serial Ascents (Case 3: Dec. 30-31, 1930), *Geofysiske Pub*, *ikkasjoner*, Vol. XI, No. 4, 1935 (2:00 Kr.).

land, the winter thunderstorms of that section being almost entirely of this type; rapidly intensifying cyclones (often secondaries) bring a tongue of TM air to their centers where it is rapidly occluded, causing thundershowers along the coast. In the warm months of the year the effect of the colder water tends to retard the warm front, while the cold front proceeds to occlude the warm sector.



FIG. 17. AIRPLANE SOUNDINGS AT DIFFERENT HOURS OF THE DAY, showing development of Cu clouds from insolation in a dry and a moist air mass. These were made at Lemberg (Lwów) Poland on July 11, 1934 (dry) and August 9, 1934 (moist), and are from the remarkable series of illustrations of convection published by Kochanski (Comm. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Lwów, vol. 8, No. 109, 1936). The soundings are plotted on Refsdal's emagram coordinates (similar to Stüve's diagram, i.e., log pressure vs T) and the areas of positive energy are shaded in the same manner as on a tephigram. The dotted lines are the temperature curves for the descent of the plane, which show usually considerable difference from the ascent (times of beginning of ascent and end of descent are given at bottom). The clouds are realistically pictured, and their amounts and character listed at the top, also direction and velocity. On July 11 PM air from the NW has been moving over the station for almost 2 days. The 4:49 a.m. sounding made 1 hr and 28 min after sunrise, shows a nocturnal radiation inversion, and a few shallow Su clouds under a stable layer and haze line at about 1850 meters. At 14:34 h the clouds had thickened to .6 Cu with base at 2 km, the lapse rate averaged dry adiabatic but irregularities in some layers are evident, probably due to descending and rising currents, thermals). At 19:15 h (just 20 min before sunset) the clouds are gone, only the haze line remains, and the nocturnal inversion is already beginning, with a slight stability developed at all levels. That was a relatively dry air mass, like NPP in central United States.

The case of Aug. 9 was in CPW (i.e., returning NPC air of a Russian High) and there was enough moisture for instability to produce showers in the afternoon. At 6:32 a.m. (2 hrs 24 min after sunrise) there are only haze lines at 2 km and 1 km, at the bases of the slightly more stable layers. The descent, however, shows a much steeper lapse rate with the inversion wiped out and a positive energy area already in evidence. By 10:58 h the sky is full of Cu congestus starting at 1200 meters and large amounts of positive energy are present from the surface up to high levels. The descent was even more unstable. At 13.57 h Cb have developed with large cirrus anvils observed, the cloud base is higher, and the positive energy areas reduced by the convection working up to higher levels. At 18:29 h, 25 min before sunset, the clouds have largely evaporated and the remnants spread out into a shallow Fc vesperalis layer. Stability is returning rapidly along with a general subsidence (compare descent with ascent) and a strong radiation inversion has already begun to form. At higher levels and in the distance scattered remnants of Ci and Cb systems are still visible.



FIG. 18. The above diagram of a series of consecutive soundings is also taken from Kochanski's valuable 8:30 h, the air is rather stable and cool with fair weather Cu clouds at 1-2 km, the tops work (ref. in legend to fig. 17) and gives a beautiful illustration of the sequence of events during passage of a summer high messure area described by Mr. Namias on page 63, col. 2. (The legends are the same as on Fig. 17.) . In the sounding on the 2nd day The little inset diagrams by this and other soundings, marked " V_v ", are the vertical velocities in m/sec in the clouds, calculated from the instability energy.) On the 19th three soundings were made. At 8:26 a.m. the Cu cloud base is higher, the air , 1933) July 17-21 + mer high pressure area described by Mr. Namias on page 63, col. showing the diurnal course of events aloft in striking fashion. Maritime polar air invades southern Poland for over 6 days (it has been over Lwów, at flattening out into Stcu.

(Note: white circles on the temp. curves are points above freezing, black dots are those below 0°C.) At 14:59 h the lapse rate is because the upper stable layer has not been pushed up as much as the condensation level, though towering Cunb with anvil protuberances here and there poke through the stable layer (by penetrative convection) to nearly 5 warmer and the clouds thicker (now congestus) than on the 18th. Positive energy reaches to 3 km but the upper superadiabatic to over 1 km, the cloud base much higher than at 8 h, the warm cloud layer somewhat less thick levels are rather stable yet. A small stable layer and haze line marks the top of the cloud level. Showers occurred in the vicinity. km.

By 19:15 h, just a few minutes before sunset, clouds have evaporated and the layers in which the clouds had been have settled down to their morning levels (as shown by dotted curves connecting the 3 soundings). On of the air mass chokes off the cloud tops under (haze lines), in spite of considerable positive energy in the lower layers. the 20th and 21st the increasing subsidence of the upper levels subsidence inversions marked



sure area (14-21 Sept., 1936) over a 1200-m deep mountain valley in the Beskid mountains of Polish Silesia. As anday to day Airplane soundings made once or twice daily (8-10 h and 10-16 h) during passage of a high presdirected to the instability up to 2.7 km on the first 3 days, with Cu clouds capped by inversions (area enclosed by The domed changes in elevation of the isotherms of 0°, 10° and 20° C shown in dotted lines, which indicate the manner of heavy line); and on the remaining days to the pronounced stability aloft, the subsidence inversions (heavy line) alyzed here on emagrams by Kochanski (Comm. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Lwów, vol. 9, no. 115, 1937) attention i descending to lower levels and along with the warming up from below preventing any clouds forming. structure of the subsidence inversion in the high is indicated (17-21st). Note the diurnal and warming up of the air mass. FIG. 19.

The Ice-Nuclei Theory of Rainfall

When a cloud top grows a considerable distance into region above the 0°C level, more and more ice crystals will form, creating a layer of water and ice particles and perhaps still higher one with ice crystals only. Bergeron developed a theory (later elaborated by Findeisen) that largedropped rain will not be precipitated in considerable amounts until the top of the cloud is partly composed of ice crystals, because the difference in vapor pressure over ice and water leads to rapid growth of the ice crystals by evaporation from the drops, the ice crystals then falling out, melting and taking on more water on the way down as rain. Other clouds are more colloidally stable and give only fog or drizzle. This theory seems to agree with observations in middle and

high latitudes, but is not yet accepted as universally true, as there is much evidence from the tropics and subtropics that certainly it is not always applicable there.

If and where the principle holds, however, then the most favorable conditions for the development of thunderstorms would exist when the distance between the lowest level where convective energy would be freed and the ice-crystal level is great and the amount of latent energy is large. Under such conditions the rising particles of air would have sufficient energy to reach well above the ice-crystal level. and at the same time the lower air particles would be accelerated upward for a long time, leading to high velocities and release a maximum of heat from condensation.-R. G. S.

Hail Forecasting

A recent study made by United Air Lines meteorologists indicates that in the central and eastern United States, large hail falls mostly in showers occurring between noon and 9:00 P.M. and especially between 3:00 and 6:00 Over half the hail falls were P.M. due to frontal activity, but insolational heating during the day apparently intensified the frontal "trigger action" to a great extent. The adiabatic charts and Rossby diagrams for hail days were studied but did not give very definite criteria for forecasting these hail storms. This was most likely due to the fact that the airplane soundings analyzed did not reach over 15,000 or 17,000 feet, and at those elevations the positive energy areas were usually either at their maximum width or still wide open, so that the real extent of the energy areas could not be taken into account. With the radiosondes now used this deficiency is eliminated. The following empirical results from the study, however, have a certain forecasting value:—

No falls of large-hail were reported in thunderstorms which occurred when the base of the conditional or convective instability region was above 7,000 feet. (This region began anywhere between 3,000 and 14,000 feet for hailless thunderstorms, but between 3,000 and 7,000 feet for storms with large hail.)

The proportion of thunderstorms producing large hail was one per 400 when the lapse rate (°F per 1,000 ft) was greater than 4.5°F in the convective or conditional instability region as indicated by the nearest sounding. The frequency was only one-third this great (one storm in 1,200) when this lapse rate was smaller than 4.5°F and the base of the instability level still below 7,000 ft. The lapse rate referred to was generally between 3.5° and 4.5°F for non-hail storms, but anything between 3.5° and 5.5° for storms with large hail.

Characteristic Properties of North American Air Masses¹

H. C. WILLETT

U. S. Weather Bureau, Boston, Mass. Associate Professor of Meteorology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Lecturer in Meteorology, Harvard University

I. INTRODUCTION

In this discussion the term air mass is applied to an extensive portion of the earth's atmosphere which approximates horizontal homogeneity. The formation of an air mass in this sense takes place on the earth's surface wherever the atmosphere remains at rest over an extensive area of uniform surface properties for a sufficiently long time so that the properties of the atmosphere (vertical distribution of temperature and moisture) reach approximate equilibrium with respect to the surface beneath. Such a region on the earth's surface is referred to as a source region of air masses. As examples of source regions we might cite the uniformly snow and ice covered northern portion of the continent of North America in winter, or the uniformly warm waters of the Gulf of Mexico and the Caribbean Sea.

The concept of the air mass is of importance not in the source regions alone. Sooner or later a general movement of the air mass from the source region is certain to occur, as one of the large-scale air currents which we find continually moving across the synoptic charts. Because of the great extent of such currents and the conservatism of the air mass properties, it is usually easy to trace the movement of the air mass from day to day, while at the same time any modification of its properties by the new environment can be carefully noted.

Since this modification is not likely to be uniform throughout the entire air mass, it may to a certain degree destroy the horizontal homogeneity

of the mass. However, the horizontal differences produced within an air mass in this manner are small and continuous in comparison to the abrupt and discontinuous transition zones, or fronts, which mark the boundaries between different air Frontal discontinuities are masses. intensified wherever there is found in the atmosphere a convergent movement of air masses of different properties.

Since the air masses from particular sources are found to possess, at any season, certain characteristic properties which undergo rather definite modification, depending upon the trajectory of the air mass after leaving its source region, the investigation of the characteristic properties of the principal air mass types can be of great assistance to the synoptic meteorologist and forecaster. We owe this modern analytical method of attack on the problems of synoptic meteorology and weather forecasting to the Norwegian School of Meteorologists, notably to J. Bierknes and T. Bergeron. The analytical study of the synoptic weather map is based

¹An abstract and revision of American Air Mass Properties, *Papers in Physical Oceanography and Meteorology*, published by Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, Vol. 2, No. 2, 1933 (now out of print). A part appeared in the *Jn. Aeronaut. Sci.*, Vol. 1, No. 2, April, 1934, pp. 78-87. The revisions herein concern chiefly the Tropical air masses; but it should be understood that this discussion of the specific properties of the American air masses was a preliminary and pioneer work and the results have required some modification as further accumulations of aerological data and experience have been studied. A later study by Showalter is abstracted at the end of this article (pp. 109-113). The Bibliography lists many later papers which should be consulted by the serious student, as great advances are being made yearly.—*Ed*.

essentially on the identification and determination of the movement of air masses and fronts rather than of areas of high and low pressure as the entities of prime significance. The justification of this procedure is evident from the fact that the weather which is experienced in a given region does not depend upon the prevalence of high or low barometric pressure. Even in the same locality a high or a low may be accompanied by widely varying meteorological conditions. The weather in a given locality depends upon the properties of the air mass which is present or upon the interaction which is taking place between two air masses along a front in the near vicinity. The fundamental concept is that of the air mass, for upon the properties and movements of the individual air masses appearing on the map depend not only the weather in the area covered by each air mass but also the formation and intensification of fronts and the genesis, development and movement of lows or disturbances on the fronts. But in order that the full advantage of a careful analysis of the weather map may be utilized in weather forecasting, it is absolutely necessary that the thermodynamic properties of the air masses (lapse-rate and vertical moisture dis-

tribution) be approximately known. This is especially true of aviation forecasts, for just the meteorological elements which are of greatest interests to the pilot are those which are dependent upon the air mass properties. For good forecasting of convective turbulence, thunderstorms, horizontal visibility, fog and haze, cloud forms and ceiling, for just such forecasting full knowledge of the air mass properties is essential. Since it rarely happens that the forecaster has available for the current weather man aerological material sufficient for the satisfactory determination of the properties of the air masses present. an investigation of the characteristic properties of the typical American air masses should be of value both for practical weather forecasting and for a better understanding of the physical processes underlying our usual weather sequences. It was with this thought in mind that the paper here under consideration was written. The discussion was definitely restricted to a consideration of the homogeneous air masses individually, the investigation of the whole complicated frontal problem of converging air masses being left for later consideration in the light of more extensive American aerological data (see Bibliography).

II. CLASSIFICATION OF AIR MASSES

The study of synoptic weather maps indicates that air masses are entities having such definite characteristic properties that they may be classified and studied as distinct types. Since the characteristic properties of an air mass at any point depend primarily upon the nature of its source region and secondarily upon the modifications of the source properties which the air mass has undergone en route to the point of observation, any classification of air mass types must be based fundamentally on the air mass source regions, with perhaps a sub-classification based on later modifications of the source properties.

The air mass sources fall naturally into two groups, the tropical or subtropical, and the polar or sub-polar. The large areas on the earth of uniform surface conditions and comparatively light atmospheric movement lie almost entirely at high latitudes or at low latitudes. In middle latitudes, generally speaking, we find the zone of greatest atmospheric circulation or of most intense interaction between the warm and cold currents. i.e., air masses from the tropical and polar regions. Consequently. in middle latitudes the uniformity of conditions and the light air movement which must characterize 9 source region are generally lacking. Rather than the development of horizontally homogeneous air masses, we find here the rapid modification, in varied forms, with changing environment, of the characteristic polar and tropical air mass types. Thus the basis of any comprehensive air mass classification must be the distinction between the polar and the tropical source types, with a further distinction between the modified forms which these principal types acquire in middle latitudes during their later life history.

The air mass classification may be carried further by the sub-division of the polar and the tropical source types into continental and maritime groups, according as the source in each case is a continental or an oceanic region. Since the uniform source regions are always entirely continental or entirely maritime and since this is the essential difference between source regions in the same latitude, this distinction furnishes a satisfactory basis for a general grouping of the air masses from each latitudinal zone. Consequently, for the investigation of the properties of the air masses which may appear in a given locality, the most significant designation of the different individual polar and tropical air mass types is that based on the particular geographical area within which the air mass has its source. It is, of course, necessary to keep in mind the season of the year when considering the characteristics of any particular geographical source region, as these characteristics, especially in the case of the continental areas, change greatly from the cold to the warm season. It is also necessary to consider the modifications of the original source properties of the air mass types. become effects which more pronounced with the increasing movement of the air mass from the source region. Eventually the properties of the air mass become so fundamentally modified from the source properties that the mass must be given a special transitional designation.

Table II gives the complete classification of the principal North American air masses by geographical source regions, together with the principal transitional form for each air mass. The ordinary designation and the symbol entered for each air mass in the last two columns are those which appear on the Massachusetts Institute of Technology weather maps.

It is with the purpose of making this discussion intelligible to meteorologists who are not familiar with our local classification, and of making the American air mass data more directly comparable with the European data, that the general air mass classification outlined by Bergeron is also introduced in this paper.

In the general air mass classification which Bergeron² has suggested for climatological and comparative purposes, and which, at least in its broader features, Moese³ and Schinze⁴

²T. Bergeron: Rechtlinien einer dynamischen Klimatologie, *Met. Zeit*, 1980, pp. 246-62.

<sup>246-62.
&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>O. Moese und G. Schinge: Zur Analyse von Neubildungen, Ann. d. Hyd., March, 1929, pp. 76-81.

¹⁰⁻⁵¹, ⁴G. Schinze: Troposphärischen Luftmassen und vertikaler Temperaturgradient, *Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atmos.*, Bd. 19, 1932, pp. 79-90; see also *Met. Zeit.*, May 1932, pp. 169-79.

	CLA	SSIFICATION BY LOCAL SOURCE REGIO	NS		GENERAL
Sourc ude	e by Nature	Local Source Regions	Air Mass Symbols (M. I. T.)	Season of Frequent Occurrence	CLASSIFICATION, AFTER BERGERON (INTERNATIONAL)
	Continontal	Alaska, Canada, and the Arctic	Pc	Entire year	cP or cPW, winter cPK, summer
	Сопылениа	Modified in southern and central U.S.	NPC	Entire year	cPK
		North Pacific Ocean	P_P	Entire year	mPK, winter mP or mPK, summer
	T	Modified in western and central U. S.	NPP	Entire year	cPW, winter cPK, summer
	MATUME	Colder portions of the North Atlantic Ocean	$\mathbf{P}\mathbf{A}$	Entire year	mPK, winter mPW, spring and summer
		Modified over warmer portions or the North Atlantic Ocean	NPA	Spring and summer	mPK
	Continontal	Southwestern U. S. and northern Mexico	$\mathbf{T}\mathbf{c}$	Warmer half of year	cTK
	0011011011041	(Modified Form not found)	(NTC)	ć	
		Gulf of Mexico and Caribbean Sea	TG	Entire year	mTW, winter mTW or mTK, summer
		Modified in the U. S. or Nover the North Atlantic Ocean	VTM (or NTG)	Entire year	mTW
	;;	Sargasso Sea (Middle Atlantic)	ТА	Entire year	mTW, winter mTW or mTW, summer
	Maritime	Modified in the U.S. or over the North Atlantic Ocean N	VTM (or NTA)	Entire year	mTW
		Middle No. Pacific Ocean	TP	Entire year	mTW,winter mTW or mTK, summer
		Modified in U.S. or over No. Pacific Ocean	NTP OF NTM	Entire year	mTW
oer r	Subsidence	Upper levels of the semi-permanent highs in the southern part of the	Ts or S	Entire year	cTW, winter
crop.)		Westerlies (Lat. 25°, winter; 40°, summer)	Ts or S	Entire year	cTK, summer

76

TABLE II-CLASSIFICATION OF AMERICAN AIR MASSES

CLASSIFICATION OF AIR MASSES

follow in their discussions of European air masses, the essential distinction is still that between the tropical or the polar source of each air mass. However, Bergeron carries this zonal distinction one step further, distinguishing between real Arctic (A) and sub-Arctic, or Polar (P) air mass sources in the north, and between sub-Tropical (T) and real Equatorial (E) or Trade wind zone air mass sources in the south. Bergeron points out, however, that in northwestern Europe the Equatorial air masses play a negligible rôle, appearing only at high levels in the atmosphere, if at all. In the case of the North American air masses the distinction between Polar and Arctic air masses and that between Tropical and Equatorial air masses are both difficult to make and of little significance.

The principal source air masses in Bergeron's classification are the continental Arctic (CA), maritime Arctic (MA), continental Polar (CP), and so on through the MP, CT, MT, CE and ME groups.* Of course such a designation of air masses, while indicating very definitely the type of each air mass, is of necessity less precise in the information it gives to one thoroughly familiar with the particular sources in question than is the local classification by direct specification of the source of each individual air mass.

Air masses of Tropical and Polar origin are modified during their later history in either of two essentially different ways. If the air mass moves over a surface warmer than its own temperature at the ground, the tendency is then towards a warming of the lower strata of the air mass, i.e., an increasing thermal instability, and towards an increasing moisture content of the lower strata of the air mass, caused by evaporation from the warm surface. If, on the other hand, the air mass moves over a surface colder than its own temperature at the ground, the tendency is towards a cooling of the lower strata of the air mass, i.e., an increasing thermal stability, and towards a decreasing moisture content of the mass, caused by condensation from the cooled air strata. Evidently Polar air masses must normally undergo the first type of change when modified after leaving the source region, and Tropical air masses the second type. However, there may be exceptions in both cases. and any air mass may for a time be subjected first to the one and afterwards to the other type of influence.

In Bergeron's general air mass classification. modification of the source properties of the air mass. which in the local classification is indicated by the N (transitional) group, is indicated by a W (warm) or a K (cold. kalt) distinction according as the recent modification of the air mass has been of the second or the first type mentioned above. The warm (W) designation indicates that the air mass is warm relative to the surface it is moving over, the cold (K) designation indicates that it is cold relative to the surface it is moving over. Thus in the general classification of air masses the source designations cP, MP, cT, and so forth, when applied to air masses which have left their source regions, appear in the modified forms cPW (continental Polar Warm), cPK (continental Polar Cold), MPW (maritime Polar Warm) and so forth, depending upon the type of modification which the air mass has undergone during its recent history. It should be stressed that this warm and cold designation has nothing to do with the evidence by the air mass of

^{*}This manner of designation was introduced into the practice of the U. S. Weather Bureau •in 1939; it has been in extensive use abroad and become understood internationally.—Ed.

a high or a low temperature, but only as to the evidence of a temperature near the ground higher or lower than This that of the surface beneath. warm and cold distinction is not always easy to make, as the passage of the air mass from ocean to continent or the transition from day to night may reverse the sign of the difference of the air temperature from that of the surface beneath. In the present discussion the policy will be to consider only the general tendency in the change of properties from one day to the next in the history of the air mass when determining the warm or cold designation. Continued or increasing surface stability from day to day indicates a warm air mass (W), continued or increasing instability from day to day a cold air mass (K). This thermodynamic classification of air masses into warm and cold groups is essentially differential in nature. depending as it does upon changes produced in the air mass properties by boundary surface-temperature differences. In contrast to the significance of the source classification which depends upon the conservatism of certain of the air mass properties, the significance of the W and K classification lies in the modification of the non-conservative air mass properties.

There are a number of conditions which are more or less frequently met with in the synoptic study of air masses which may locally or temporarily render difficult the proper classification of an air mass. In particular the disturbing effect on the air mass properties of the surface over which the mass is moving and the consequent formation of a ground laver with its own peculiar properties cannot be When this influence is overlooked. regular and continuous. it gradually affects the entire mass until it becomes characteristic for the properties of the mass. On just such influences depend $_{\rm the}$ thermodynamic "warm" and "cold" classification of air masses already mentioned. But mechanical turbulence produced by surface irregularities, and the radiational effects of a single night and insolational heating of a single day often produce ground layers with properties which may be neither permanent nor characteristic of the air mass, and which consequently must be allowed for in the discussion of the air mass properties in particular cases. Especially troublesome are the large radiationalinsolational effects at the surface in dry continental air masses during the warm season. In the central U.S. diurnal surface temperature this change may amount to more than 20C°, may produce an afternoon unstable layer more than 2 km thick, and may change the air mass from the warm to the cold type. Föhn and subsidence effects are also frequently to be noted, but they are usually definitely characteristic of certain air masses under certain conditions, and belong as such to the characteristic air mass properties, not being to any great extent diurnally variable.

III. SIGNIFICANCE OF THE PROPERTIES OF THE PRINCIPAL AIR MASS TYPES IN WINTER

It is impossible in a short review to attempt a full summary of the seasonal properties of all of the air masses listed in Table II. Consequently, this discussion will emphasize the air mass types, PC, PP, and TG, which are dominant in determining our winter weather in the United States. It is during the winter season that the air mass contrasts become most significant. The following discussion will illustrate the applicability of the analytical method to weather forecasting, without pretending to indicate more than a small fraction of the possibilities met with in actual practice.

In Table III we find tabulated for each of the three principal air masses at two different aerological stations the mean values of the temperature, T. the specific humidity, * w. the relative humidity. R.H..and the equivalent-potential temperature, θ_{r} , at the ground and at the successive km levels above sea level. These mean values are simply the averages of a number of ascents chosen as typical of each air mass type at each station. They represented the best observational evaluation which could be made of the so-called characteristic properties of each air mass type at the time this study was undertaken.

[Since then a further analysis by Mr. Showalter of the 1935-36 aerological material has been published (Mon. Wea. Rev., July 1939) which deerves careful study. At the end of this article some excerpts from his paper are reprinted, but the original gives a series of tables and cross-sections of mean values and frequency diagrams for each air mass, which show that there is generally a large variation from case to case of the same air mass type even in the same season, so that mean values must not be accepted too literally. They do not necessarily give a *tupical* picture because so many features which probably never all occur in any one sounding are averaged together. But the average picture is necessary and valuable as an orientation for the student, forecaster, and researcher.-R. G. S.1

An explanation of the full significance of θ_{r} cannot be made here⁵ but it

may be stated in a general way that turbulent mixing of an air stratum tends to effect isothermalcy of θ_{-} , whereas a rapid vertical change in θ indicates marked atmospheric stratification. If θ_{r} increases with elevation, the possibility of thermal convection in the atmosphere is practically excluded, whereas if θ_{-} decreases with elevation, the atmosphere is potentially unstable, an instability which becomes actual with sufficient vertical displacement of the affected stratum. Such is the displacement which may occur at a warm front. The amount of displacement necessary to effect actual instability of the affected stratum is less, the higher its relative humidity.

In Table III the first station included for each air mass type is the one which gives the best indication of the characteristic properties of the air mass as it advances directly, fresh from the source region. The second station is chosen to indicate the most important modified form in which the air mass appears during its later history. Thus for the PC air mass, Ellendale indicates the characteristic cold wave type in the middle west, while Boston indicates the rather fundamentally modified cold wave type in the northeastern United States. For the PP air mass. Seattle indicates the characteristic properties as the air mass approaches the northwest coast of the United States fresh from the source, while Ellendale indicates the importantly modified form which the air mass assumes by the time it

^{*}The quantity w is not quite the specific humidity, defined by q=0.622e/p but the mass ratio of water vapor to dry air, defined approximately by w=0.622e/(p-e) where eand p are water vapor and total atmospheric pressures. (See, Namias, article III.).

⁵See C.-G. Rossby: Thermodynamics Applied to Air Mass Analysis, *M. I. T. Meteorological Papers*, Vol. 1, No. 3; also Articles III and IV of Mr. Namias' series, in this booklet.

Air	Station	Flomont		-Elevation A	vbove Sea L	evel (km) –	
Mass	Diauon	Allallar	Surface	Ħ	67	63	4
	Filendale	$\begin{array}{c} T (^{\circ} C) \\ w (g) \\ H H (g') \end{array}$	-26.1 0.32	-25.3 0.35	-20.1 0.60	-21.5 0.50	-25.4 0.45
ļ		θ_B (°A)	250 250	80 256	272	280	288
5 2	E C	T (°C)	6.3 0.9		18.0 0.5	-23.0 0.3	-29.0 0.2
	DOSIOI		43 267.0	$55 \\ 268.0$	274.3	279.0	283.3
PP	Seattle	$T (°C) \\ w (g) \\ H H (c_{\ell})$	8.3 4.4 75	0.0 2.7 00			$-19.3 \\ 0.4$
		$(0, A) = \theta_{B}$	292	289	288	289	294
(APP)	Fillendale	$\begin{array}{c} T (\circ \mathbf{C}) \\ w (\mathbf{g}) \\ u d d \\ d d d \\ d d d \\ d d $	-1.2 3.0	7.0 3.0	0.8 2.2	6.5 1.5	
		θ_B (°A) θ_B	84 284	40 299	300	301	302
	Groesbeck (includes much	$egin{array}{c} T & (\circ \mathrm{C}) \\ w & (\mathrm{g}) \\ R & H \end{array}$	18.8 12.6 00	14.0 10.4	13.0 4.1	. 7.5 1.2	
Ę	Ts above 1 km)	θ_B (°Å)	327	326 326	318	312	
5	Boston	$egin{array}{c} T & (\ ^\circ \mathrm{C}) \\ w & (\mathrm{g}) \\ R.H. & (\%) \end{array}$	$14.0\\8.8\\82$	$13.7 \\ 6.5 \\ 60$	8.7 6.2 86	$\begin{array}{c} 2.0\\ 4.6\\ 84\end{array}$	3.7 2.9 85
		θ _B (°A)	310	314	319	318	319

TABLE III. PC, PP, AND TG AIR MASSES-WINTER

80

CHARACTERISTIC AIR MASS PROPERTIES

reaches the interior of the continent, the characteristic NPP air mass type. Finally, for the TG air mass, Groesbeck indicates the characteristic properties as the air mass first advances northward from the Gulf of Mexico, while Boston indicates the modified form which the air mass assumes as it moves northeastward, approximating the characteristic NTM (NTG) type.

100

[For a critique indicating some limitations involved in analyzing the properties and movements of air masses solely by comparison of the T, q, and $\theta_{\rm E}$ values at standard elevations in the free air as done here, see the paper by Prof. Rossby in *Bull. Amer. Met. Soc.*, June-July, 1937, pp. 201-9. Isentropic analysis was developed to avoid these limitations (see article X in this booklet).—*Ed.*]

IV. WINTER AIR MASS PROPERTIES

The Pc Air Masses. Let us consider now the significance of the characteristic properties of each of the air mass types tabulated in TABLES III-V, bearing in mind that the entire discussion applies essentially only to the winter months. The PC air masses are those which originate over the snow and ice covered regions extending from the interior of Canada Alaska northwestward over and northward into the Arctic. The passage of an air mass of this type over Ellendale marks the advance of the typical cold wave from the Canadian northwest, the characteristic properties of the air mass observed at Ellendale being practically those acquired in the source region. We note at once from Table III the extreme coldness of this air mass at Ellendale but also the fact that the temperature increases above the ground, reaching a maximum at about the 21/2 km level. Actually we find that in the early stages of the cold air outbreak when the wind is still moderate to fresh northwest or north from the ground up to high levels, the temperature decreases through the first few hundred meters above the ground. This is a result of the mixing affected by

mechanical turbulence. Consequently minimum temperature is often a found just below the 1 km level, with a marked inversion above. In the later stages of the cold air outbreak. as the wind diminishes and becomes very light at the ground, radiational cooling effects a lowering of the air temperature at the ground, while subsidence effects a raising of the temperature at upper levels.* Thus, with the possible exception of a shallow turbulence layer near the ground, the Pc air mass shows very marked stability through the lower 2 km, usually even a rather large temperature inversion, which tends to increase with the aging of the air mass over the Plains states and the Mississippi Vallev, at least as long as the mass remains over a snow or ice-covered surface. Passage of the Pc air mass during its progress southward over bare ground or especially over open water, leads to a rapid heating and moistening of the lower strata. Consequently the typical NPC air mass in more southerly latitudes is likely to be characterized by rapidly diminishing stability, but during the winter

^{*}See J. Namias: Subsidence in the Atmosphere, Harvard Met. Studies No. 2, 1934.

season it never becomes really unstable in the Mississippi Valley before it reaches the Gulf of Mexico.

We notice from Table III that the specific humidity at Ellendale is very low at all levels but with a pronounced maximum at the 2 km level, whereas the relative humidity is uniformly rather high at lower levels. The indication is that the radiational cooling of the surface air strata to very low temperatures has led to condensation and deposit of moisture from these strata. Generally speaking, values of specific humidity less than 1 g and a rapid increase of θ_E with elevation, are characteristic of the PC air masses.

A Rossby diagram for Pc air (cPW) at Ellendale shows the typical extremelv characteristic form of the θ -w curve for this type of air at its source. And this type form is characteristically conservative at least as long as the air mass remains over a snowcovered surface. The curve is nearly vertical, showing a small increase of w at intermediate levels, but with wvalues less than a gram at all levels. The potential and equivalent-potential temperatures increase some 40C° in 4 km: consequently the existence of any mechanically produced turbulence effects rapid transfer of heat downward in the turbulent laver.

The normal flying conditions prevailing in the Pc air mass in winter in the northwestern and central United States may be readily surmised from the air mass properties. The condition will be one of extreme cold at the ground, but the temperature will be much higher at intermediate levels (1 to 2 km above ground). Bumpiness will be markedly absent, flying being unusually smooth, except perhaps for the shallow turbulence layer near the ground when the winds are fresh. Condensa-

,

tion forms are characteristically absent, though at the beginning of a PC outbreak a low stratus or stratocumulus cloud deck may mark the top of the turbulence layer, but is likely to dissolve rapidly. Otherwise the air mass should be cloudless, high clouds indicating the presence of another air mass aloft. Occasionally the radiational cooling of the lower strata of the air mass leads to the local formation of frost smoke or ice crystal fog at very low temperatures. The intensification and lowering of the subsidence inversion and the disappearance of all surface wind in the stagnant and aging PC air mass favors the accumulation of smoke and dust pollution in the lower levels of the atmosphere. Consequently the Pc air mass during its later history. and especially in industrial regions, is likely to be marked by unusually dense smoke haze below the inversion and by sharply marked haze lavers. But the air mass in the central United States is usually too dry for the formation of any extensive dense fog below the subsidence inversion. Fog is likely to appear in the old Pc air mass first upon the approach of a warm front with a lowering warm front cloud deck and precipitation. This is a very dangerous condition for flying, as it favors not only fog formation but also heavy ice formation on the plane. However, this condition pertains essentially to the warm front zone and not to the Pc air mass as such.

In the northeastern United States, and generally along the Atlantic seaboard, the Pc air mass properties vary significantly from the characteristics which they show in the Mississippi Valley and the northwest. This is probably to be attributed to the following facts:

(1) The existence of considerable

•

areas of open water in the Great Lakes in winter. The rapid heating and moistening which this effects in the lower strata of the cold, dry, stable Pc air masses are evidenced by the persistent low cloudiness, convectional snow flurries and relative warmth of the onshore Pc current which has crossed any of the lakes. Presumably this instability becomes rapidly less at upper levels.

(2) The presence of the highlands and numerous ridges of the Appalachians which must be crossed in the eastward advance of the PC current. On the western slopes of the Appalachians the effect of the forced ascent of the PC current which has already been rendered conditionally unstable over the Great Lakes is to cause general cloudiness and more or less continuous snow flurries as long as the cold air flow continues unabated. On the coastal slopes the föhn action causes a partial or total dissipation of the cloud deck and However, the rough snow flurries. terrain maintains a steep lapse-rate through the lower km or more, with low relative humidity and relatively high temperature at the ground.

(3) The increasing depth and strength of the PC outflow in the eastern United States. The rapid intensification and increasing vertical depth characteristic of cyclonic disturbances moving northeastward over the United States causes an acceleration of the Pc outflow over the eastern United States especially at higher levels. This helps to increase the turbulence in this air flow at low levels. while the rapid transport southward of air from Arctic sources at upper levels maintains a good lapse-rate aloft.

These effects are to be seen clearly in the data for Boston in Table III. We note the high surface temperature in contrast to that at Ellendale. and the steep turbulence lapse-rate in the first km and the moderate rate above, such that at the 3 and 4 km levels the characteristic PC temperatures are notably colder at Boston than at Ellendale. We observe also the low surface relative humidity increasing with elevation and the almost constant value of AE in the first km. both of which indicate thorough turbulent mixing. while even at higher levels AE increases much more slowly than in the PC air at Ellendale.

These characteristics of the Pc air mass in the northeastern United States and along the Atlantic coast explain the typical flying conditions which are met with during its prevalence in this region. As long as the cold air flow continues actively, the roughest and gustiest flying conditions which may be experienced in winter are to be expected up to considerable elevations. Along the Atlantic seaboard the skies are likely to be almost clear, with excellent visibility and, normally, only scattered fracto-cumulus or cumulus clouds, though scattered light snow flurries sometimes occur in the afternoon. In the Appalachians and on their western slopes one may expect a rather low broken cloud deck. often continuous over considerable areas, with frequent, extensive and often heavy snow squalls. After the force of the PC outbreak has been spent, so that the air mass becomes relatively stagnant, then subsidence, radiation and the cessation of the turbulent mixing all act to establish quickly in the Pc air mass the low inversion, thermal stability and dense stratified smoke haze so characteristic of this air mass in the middle west. Of course, this change is accompanied by the complete disappearance

of the instability snow flurries, cloudiness, and gustiness.

There is nothing very distinctive about the synoptic situation which leads to the outflow southward of Pc air from the source region in North America. Usually the outbreak is preceded by a gradual building up of high pressure and low temperatures in the source region, often without any very obvious atmospheric movements. Sometimes the cold air outbreak follows quickly on the first appearance of the cold anticyclonic circulation in the north, but often there is an extended delay, during which cold air surges in the north seem on the point of breaking out, only to recede again. Sometimes the final outbreak follows on the passage inland from the Pacific Ocean of a disturbance usually already occluded in the Aleutian Island region. Other times the cold air suddenly advances without any very obvious disturbance to start it moving. Usually, however, when this happens, one or more disturbances are likely to form along the cold front as it advances southward. This is especially likely to happen as the cold air pushes southward to a noint where it begins to come in contact with warm moist air from the south, particularly TM air from the Gulf (TG). The disturbances usually appear first as flat wave formations on the cold front, but are likely to develop rapidly into intense occluding cyclones which greatly accelerate the movement of the Pc air behind them to more southerly latitudes. In such a development the advance of the Pc air mass and cold front is likely to be checked at first by the warm air current. Then very quickly an extensive overrunning of the Pc air by the TG current takes place. The overrunning circulation tends to develop cyclonically or counter clockwise, with heaviest precipitation extending far back of the cold front. As J. Bierknes⁶ has pointed out, this type of overrunning is to be expected only when the warm current is unstable: but as we shall see presently, marked conditional instability is always characteristic of our Tropical air from the Gulf. Refsdal⁷ was the first to call attention to the importance of the rôle which conditional instability in the atmosphere may play in the development of frontal disturbances and in the regeneration of old occluded disturbances. The writer is inclined to the belief that the moist-conditional instability (Feuchtlabilität) of our TG air masses is a very important factor in the control of the interaction between the warm and cold air mass and the stability or the tendency to occlusion shown by wave disturbances on the cold front between such air masses. An excellent instance of the weather sequence with the gradual advance of a cold front followed by an extensive Pc air mass may be found on the weather maps and upper-air data for Jan. 13-16, 1930 in the U.S. Following the first sweep of the cold air southeastward to the Gulf of Mexico, the whole frontal system followed by the Pc outflow advances steadily eastward until the whole eastern and central U.S. is covered by the cold air. On the other hand, it sometimes happens that the cold air outflow from the source region takes place in one sudden abrupt outbreak, without the development of any well-marked disturbance. In this case the cold air sweeps everything before it, apparently too rapidly for any localized disturbance to develop on the cold front. Furthermore, these very fast moving cold air outflows usually occur only on the heels

⁶Exploration de quelques perturbations atmosphériques... *Geofys. Publ.*, Vol. IX, No. 9.

of a preceding outbreak which has as it were paved the way for it by displacing the warm maritime air masses, so that we find the fresh PC mass displacing only moderately cold dry continental Polar air masses (NPC) as it moves southward towards the Gulf. At this point it is necessary to inquire a little further as to what happens to the original PC, or CPW, air-mass properties in the course of the later history of the mass.

Modification of the Winter Source Properties of the Pc Air to Npc Air

Following the first outflow of the Pc mass from the source region, where its properties are essentially those shown by the Ellendale data, there are three principal influences which may be at work to change these properties. Observed changes of the properties are to be explained then in terms of one or more of the following modifying influences:

(1) Supply of heat by contact with and radiation from the surface beneath, and supply of moisture by evaporation from this surface. This influence tends to make the lower strata of the Pc mass increasingly warm and moist, or to change its properties from cPW to cPK.

(2) The effect of subsidence, which tends to intensify the temperature inversion at a low level and to effect a general warming of all the upper strata.*

(3) The effect of turbulence occasioned by a rough undersurface in developing a thoroughly mixed layer in hilly or mountainous regions.

As the cold Pc air mass moves southeastward from the Canadian border west of the Great Lakes across the Plains states and down through the Mississippi Valley towards the Gulf of Mexico, the modifications of its properties depend principally upon the extent of the snow cover, for on this depends the effectiveness of the first and most important of the above three influences. The path of the cold air advance is over flat country all the way to the Gulf of Mexico, so that turbulence effects become no more pronounced than they are at Ellendale.

TABLE IV.

					_			
Pc	Air	WIN	TER (C	PW BE	COMIN	G CF	YK)	
	(S	urfac	e and	first 3	km at)		
ROYAL CENTER, IND. BROKEN ARROW, OKLA.								
T	w	RH	Æ	T	w	RH	AE	
°C	g	%	°A	°C	g	%	°A	
-22.5	0.45	91	251.5	-14.8	0.95	86	260.5	
-19.5	0.48		262.0	8.8	1.15		275.3	
-18.0	0.48		276.0	8.0	1.20		285.7	
-10.0	0.00		200.0		1.05		494.3	

As long as the air mass continues moving over snow cover, there is only a very slight warming and increase of moisture to be observed. The air mass retains the characteristic coldness of the surface stratum, though the cold layer becomes shallower, and the temperature inversion sharper. This is doubtless due to subsidence. i.e., the sinking and spreading of the cold air mass. The PC values of the air-mass properties given in Table IV for Royal Center, Ind., and Broken Arrow. Okla., are averages of ascents for the same period as those at Ellendale, January, 1930, in cases of minimum modification of the original Pc properties, i.e., in cases of the maximum coldness and dryness of the original Pc air. Such cases are those where the trajectory of the air mass the entire distance to the point of observation has been over snow-covered ground. And this will be the case only for the rapid outbreaks of cold air where the freshly outflowing cold air is displacing only slightly less cold air of the same source. Otherwise the modification of the PC properties takes place much more rapidly.

^{*}See J. Namias: Subsidence in the Atmosphere, *Harvard Met. Studies* No. 2, 1934. Also see figs 18, 19, on pp. 70-71 of this booklet.

We notice in passing southward from Ellendale that the surface temperature of the Pc air becomes somewhat warmer, as would be expected. but remains extremely cold. At Royal Center and Broken Arrow the surface relative humidity remains very high. and the temperature inversion increases slightly and becomes lower in elevation w still increases with elevation at all stations. These changes are just what we should expect from a moderate degree of subsidence and a slight increase of heating by terrestrial radiation, and as a result of evanoration from a snow surface which is not here so cold as it is farther north in the source region. Especially during the davtime is the sun much more effective at the lower latitudes in raising the temperature of the snow surface, and doubtless more heat is transmitted from the ground beneath, which is warmer. through a snow cover which is thinner.

The characteristic curves for these stations representing their average Pc properties on the Rossby diagram are strikingly similar. And equally uniform is the clear, dry, cloudless weather attending the passage of the Pc air mass, as long as it retains this characteristic temperature and moisture distribution. In the later stages of the PC outbreak, if the cold air outflow weakens and the conditions become stagnant, the gradually lowering and intensifying subsidence inversion is naturally attended by markedly decreased visibilities below the inversion, particularly in industrial regions where smoke pollution of the atmosphere is pronounced. It is, however, the exception rather than the rule for such stagnation to follow in the case of a strong outbreak of Pc air. The stagnant anticyclonic condition with low subsidence inversion and poor visibility usually occurs in the U.S. in

the southeastern states, and only with mild outbreaks of PC air. And it seldom leads to fog formation, because the cold air, being continental, is usually too dry. In Europe, on the other hand, where the stagnation of the cold air masses is more frequent and prolonged, and where the Polar and Arctic air masses are frequently of maritime origin and comparatively moist, this condition often leads to the widespread formation of fog or low stratus cloud, with practically zero visibility below the temperature inversion Above the inversion visibilities are always excellent. Of course, active overrunning of the Pc mass by a warmer moister air current completely changes the type of weather. Such overrunning by warm Pacific air in the Rocky Mountain region or by warm Gulf air in the Plains states produces the typical blizzard conditions for these respective regions.

As soon as a typical Pc air mass leaves snow-covered territory, the modification of its characteristic properties becomes very rapid. Heating of the lower strata by contact. with and radiation from the ground. and increase of moisture by evaporation from the ground surface, effect a rapid transformation of its properties, most marked near the ground and diminishing aloft. At the same time that the lower strata of the air mass are being rapidly warmed and moistened from the ground, there is doubtless also some direct radiational heating of the upper strata in response to the increased terrestrial radiation from the warmer ground surface. The initial heating of the upper strata does not have to wait on * the establishment of thermal convection. The ground heating of the air mass is especially rapid during the daytime in southerly latitudes, where

the clear skies characteristic of Pc weather favor marked insolational heating of the ground, and in particular when the PC mass is displacing a Tropical maritime air current, in which case the ground will be particularly warm and moist and the cold air mixes with remnants of the warm moist air. In this way under ordinary conditions the southern portion of an advancing PC mass becomes rapidly transformed, as it moves southeastward across the U.S., from the typical source cPW properties of the air mass to a cPK, or unstable air mass, in which the water vapor falls off rapidly with elevation to the low values aloft initially characteristic of the Pc mass. This modified cPK form of the Pc mass is designated as NPC on the M. I. T. maps.

In contrast to the increasing instability of the Pc air mass as it is transformed to NPC, should be noted the increasing stability of the PP air mass as it is transformed to NPP. In the extreme case the NPC mass, or part of it, may be turned northward again. become a return flow over a colder surface, and tend to a reëstablishment of cPW stability. In general, this rapid modification of the properties of the southern portion of the Pc air mass relative to the northern portion means that the initial horizontal homogeneity of the air mass is destroyed. or, in other words, the isentropic surfaces do not remain in their initial horizontal position. This fact has long since been remarked by Bergeron⁸ as characterizing all Polar air masses, and offered as the explanation of the readiness of the Polar air masses to form secondary fronts within themselves. Any wind discontinuity

quickly produces a discontinuity of the other elements under these conditions.

Generally speaking, the transformation over land of the cPW to cPK air mass has little significance for the general weather conditions. Visibility at the ground is improved, and anart from the possibility of the formation of a few cumulus clouds during the day, the skies remain clear. But the effect of open water on the cPW air mass in winter is immediate and pronounced, the mass becomes cPK forthwith. The addition of moisture and heat to the cold dry air mass takes place very rapidly from any water surface. In surprisingly quick time the lower strata of the air mass are rendered convectively unstable, and heat and moisture are carried to successively higher levels by active con-The quantitative effect of vection. this influence on the vertical distribution of temperature and specific humidity will of course depend upon the Pc air mass properties, the warmth of the water surface, and the length of the sojourn of the cold air over the open water. The extreme degree to which such a modification may go is indicated by a comparison of the properties of our PM air masses at Seattle with our PC masses at Ellendale. Originally these two air masses have about the same properties, but the PP is modified during its passage over the ocean. A still more extreme case is that of our PC air which may reach the Gulf of Mexico, under favorable winter conditions, still as a very cold, dry and essentially stable mass. But the winter northers in the Central American countries, which are invariably continuations of our PC outbreaks across the Gulf of Mexico southward into the sub-Tropical circulation, are typically only moderately cool at the surface and attended by

⁸T. Bergeron und G. Swoboda: Wellen und Wirbel an einer quasi-stationärer Grenzflache über Europa, Veröff Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Ser. 2, Bd. III, no. 1, 1924.

extremely heavy convective precipitation. This change which takes place in only 36 to 48 hours over the warm waters of the Gulf amounts often to a warming of the surface stratum of the Pc mass by 25° or even $30C^{\circ}$, and an increase of w from perhaps 1 to about 15 g. Unfortunately few soundings from these regions are available, but they indicate a rapid approach to if not actual convective equilibrium under these conditions.

For the north-central and northeastern U.S. the modification of the Pc air mass properties by the Great Lakes is very important. During the late fall and early winter, while the Lakes are still free of ice, this effect is particularly well marked. On the coldest PC outflows with a northwest wind blowing across Lake Michigan. for example, which is less than a hundred miles wide, the temperature may be 10°C, or even more, higher at Ludington on the east shore than at Green Bay on the west shore. And whereas the sky will be cloudless at Green Bay, at Ludington there will be low ceiling and constant snow flurries. And this difference is characteristic of all the Lake stations: passage of the cold air across the Lakes produces always a low Nbst or Cunb cloud with almost continuous Apparently the insnow flurries. stability layer produced over the Lakes is rather shallow, as evidenced by the characteristic lightness of the precipitation and the amount of the temperature increase in the ground stratum of the air mass. However, it is marked enough so that considerable cloudiness with snow flurries characterizes the Pc current from the Lake region eastward up the moderate slopes to the Appalachian Divide. The surface values of w are found to have increased in passing over the Lakes from a normal value of about 0.5 g to perhaps 2.0 g, and the temperature to have been raised by some 10C°. This modification is a maximum at the ground, disappearing at some 21 km elevation. In fact, the thermal influence of the Great Lakes favors very markedly the formation of slowly moving shallow cold fronts in this region, which are indicated at the ground by a well-marked wind-shift from southwest to northwest and a corresponding trough in the isobars. But observations of winds aloft show always that at as low as 2 km elevation this discontinuity has completely disappeared. the wind at that level being uniformly northwest. This means that from the Lake Region eastward to the Appalachians the tendency is to a continuous overrunning of the somewhat modified Pc air at the ground by colder Pc air aloft coming more directly from the source. This doubtless favors the appearance of the instability snow flurries which characterize the Pc weather in this entire region.

The Pp Air Masses. The PP air masses are those originating in the Arctic or sub-Arctic, which reach the Pacific coast of the United States or Canada after a more or less prolonged sojourn over the waters of the north Pacific ocean. Initially these air masses come from the Arctic source regions with properties which probably approximate those which we have found to be characteristic of Pc air, but prolonged heating and moistening over the warm waters of the north Pacific produce, to an extreme degree, the type of modification which we found to be effected in the Pc air masses in winter by the Great They are changed from a Lakes. cold, dry, extremely stable condition to one of marked conditional instability with a comparatively high moisture content in the lower strata.

The data from Seattle in Table III give the average conditions in the PP air mass as it arrives on the north Pacific coast direct from more northerly latitudes. When these air masses have made a swing southward and reach the Pacific coast from the west west-southwest they are still or warmer and moister than indicated by the data from Seattle in Table III but especially so in the upper strata. Consequently, the convective instability is less pronounced and is displaced upward to the higher strata of the air mass.

If we compare the properties of the PP air mass at Seattle with those of the Pc at Ellendale, we note that, whereas at the ground the former is 34°C warmer than the latter and has a specific humidity nearly 15 times as great, at the 3 and 4 km levels the temperature difference is only 6 or 7°C, while the difference in the specific humidity almost vanishes. Probably 3 km is about the upper limit to which convection has penetrated in the PP air mass. The equivalent-potential temperature at this level is somewhat lower than at the ground but it begins to increase rapidly above.

As would be expected from the conditional instability and high moisture content of the lower strata of the PP air mass on the Pacific coast, flying weather conditions are not favorable in the PP current. Visibility is good in the absence of condensation forms but we find normally a rather low broken cloud deck, which may be solid over large areas, with extensive cumulo-nimbus formations and convective showers which are frequently rather heavy and may follow in guick Winds are likely to be succession. gusty, and flying extremely bumpy. On the western slopes of the coastal mountain ranges the clouds are likely to be low and thick and the precipitation (snow in the mountains) to be heavy and almost continuous. Such conditions will persist as long as the steady onshore flow of the PP air continues.

It happens quite frequently in winter that a westerly flow of air from the Pacific (usually PP air masses) continues for considerable periods of time, so that the weather conditions prevailing over the greater part of the United States may be dominated by these air masses. We have just seen the unfavorable weather conditions which prevail in the PP air current in the Pacific coast region but this air mass is importantly modified in crossing the western mountain ranges to the interior of the country in the following ways:

(1) Much of the moisture contained in the lower strata of the PP air mass is condensed in heavy convective showers and the heat of condensation is supplied to the air mass strata at intermediate levels.

(2) The descent of the eastern slope of the Rockies dissipates the cloud deck and convective showers in the PP current, while the heat of condensation already supplied to the intermediate strata of the air mass and adiabatic compression (föhn effect) cause a marked warming of the air mass at the 1 km level and above.

(3) The warming of the surface strata is checked by radiational and contact cooling over the cold continental surface and perhaps also by mixing with remnants of the cold Pc air.

The effect of these various influences acting on the PP air mass is readily seen by comparing the PP data in Table III from Seattle with those from Ellendale, which may be taken to typify inland conditions in

this air mass. At Ellendale the PP air mass shows a very large temperature inversion and constant value of w in the first km, instead of the instability found at Seattle. The temperature increase over the Seattle values shows a maximum at the 2 km level. Probably, however, the marked increase in T and w found at 1 km and above, in passing from Seattle to Ellendale, is considerably in excess of the change which actually occurs in the air current itself. for the PP current which reaches Ellendale comes from the west or west-southwest. It is not one of the direct northwest currents such as Seattle's data represent but one of the westerly currents which is doubtless appreciably warmer and moister at upper levels than the fresh PP air from the northwest. However, the Ellendale data are absolutely typical for the PP air masses which have crossed the mountains to the interior of the United States. The modification from the typical coastal PP properties is so pronounced that the symbol NPP instead of PP is used for these air masses in the central United States.

The weather conditions which prevail in the NPP air masses east of the Rockies are in general the best which are experienced in winter. Air movement is usually moderate, and convective turbulence is experienced only in the afternoon when the large diurnal temperature range found under these conditions may be sufficient to overcome the normally prevailing surface temperature inversion. Temperatures are notably mild, skies clear except possibly for some scattered high clouds and visibilities generally very good except for the possible occurrence of morning smoke haze in industrial regions.

When, however, an advancing PP

air current comes in contact with a strong outflow of cold PC air on the eastern side of the Rockies, it is likely, as the warmer current, to ascend and advance over the PC current along a typical warm front. Such a development may cause severe blizzard conditions in the Plains states, but this is, of course, a frontal phenomenon and in no sense a characteristic of the PP air mass.

Polar Atlantic Air Masses in Winter

[Owing to the prevailing west-east air movement the North Atlantic is not an important source region for air masses affecting North America. especially in winter when this movement is strongest. The source region for PA air affecting the U.S. is the part of the N. Atlantic adjacent to the continent and north of the warm Gulf Stream, from the Gulf of Maine north, where the waters are abnormally cold the year round; in winter these waters only effect a modification of Pc air masses which move off the continent and which may occasionally retrograde westward as PA air onto the eastern coast, where its properties are distinct from those of other air masses. As it moves off the coast the anticyclonic circulation of a large body of Pc air brings the old Pc, modified into PA, onshore again as a NE wind backing to SW, which return flow may be strengthened by the approach of a disturbance (warm current) from the S or SW; it brings a sudden change of weather but seldom reaches beyond the Appalachians.

The vertical structure of PA on the north Atlantic coast of U. S. (Boston, e.g.,) is characteristically dry and stable aloft, with a fairly shallow, cold and moderately unstable moist layer at the surface; the lower levels are colder, drier and more stable than in PP air (at Seattle, e.g.) because the waters $(0 \circ C)$ are colder and the air has spent much less time thereover. The upper levels show the typical structure of old PC air, much warmed and dried by subsidence, and above 3 km the warm-front inversion (often due to tropical air) of the next approaching disturbance may already be present.

On the coast, therefore, the PA air has a surface temperature near freezing or somewhat below, with a good lanse-rate through the first km, more or less, the relative humidity rather high (w = 2 or 3 g/kg) and increasing to saturation or nearly so at the top of the convective layer, where there is a deck of thickening Stcu: but Cunb and showers are prevented by the marked inversion a short distance above the cloud base. Above the inversion it is dry, and clear unless there are warm-front clouds still higher. At Boston, for example, the PA air arrives rather suddenly following a rapid backing of the wind from NW to NE, with thickening low Stcu clouds scudding in from the E: later light flurries or fine mist begin, making poor the already failing visibility, and the temperature has risen perhaps as much as 10°C; the front of the maritime air works steadily inland, abruptly terminating cold weather, till it nestles in the lee of the eastern ridges of the Appalachians. Farther south this type of onshore flow is much warmer owing to the nearby Gulf Stream, and unstable to higher levels due to its longer maritime history; but here reports are often insufficient to prove Polar origin-it should be called PA or NPA if traced from PC, otherwise TA or NTA. NPA is PA air warmed and unstable beyond typical PA conditions.-R. G. Stone.]

The Tropical Air Masses. The To air masses are those which originate over the warm waters of the Gulf of Mexico and Caribbean Sea, or further southeast in the Tropics. Scarcely to be distinguished from them in characteristic properties are the TA air masses from the Sargasso Sea region, so that this discussion really applies to both. The TP air masses are the Pacific counterparts of TG or TA. The transitional forms of these masses are usually referred to simply as NTM (transitional Tropical maritime). There is no attempt to make the very difficult distinction between NTC and NTA.

The Tropical Pacific Air Masses

The source of the TP air masses is that portion of the Pacific Ocean lving west and southwest of southern California. roughly between latitudes 25° and 35°N. During the cold season this region is one of markedly steady weather conditions, as it is normally the winter seat of the stationary Pacianticyclone. Over the Pacific fic Ocean north of lat. 30°N we find normally in winter a pressure gradient directed northward towards the Gulf of Alaska and the Aleutian Island Region, which is the winter seat of the north Pacific low pressure area, usually referred to as the Aleutian Low. From or around the Aleutian area move most of the winter frontal systems and disturbances which approach the north and central Pacific coast. When these disturbances follow an unusually southerly path, or develop secondary centers which move further south than the usual Pacific depression, or develop in themselves to an unusual intensity, then the Tropical maritime air lying in the northern portion of the Pacific anticyclone is set in motion towards the northeast in response to the intensified pressure

gradient toward the north or northwest. Occasionally an extension of the anticyclone northeastward towards the California coast occurs, causing the establishment of a pressure gradient which brings a general flow of TP air northward along the entire length of the middle Pacific coast even beyond Seattle. Thus in advance of the southern portion of the cold front or the occluded front which marks the southward advance of fresh PP air behind the depression approaching from the northwest, we may find a broad open warm sector of TP air moving northeastward or even northward along the coast with rather high wind velocities. Frequently this warm sector is occluded before the warm air reaches the coast, especially when the coastal region is covered with cold continental air. Under these conditions California gets its heaviest winter rain, caused by condensation both within the TP air aloft, and also within the following unstable PP air as it overruns the cold continental air (warm-front-type occlusion). The occasional winter development of a marked depression inland as far as the Great Basin or the southern Plateau region of Nevada and Utah. accompanied by widespread heavy precipitation, is apparently associated with marked overrunning at high levels by TM (either TP or TG) air from the south. On the other hand, the TP air frequently sweeps northward along the Pacific coast with little or no resistance by colder air masses, consequently without appreciable overrunning at the warm front and with little or no rain before the approach of the cold front. A similar development may take place also along the Gulf or Atlantic coasts, but in general the greater warmth and moisture content of the TG and TA air masses make the occurrence of moderate to heavy convective showers in the warm current much more probable.

The properties of the TP air mass may be anticipated to some extent from the nature of the source region. The ocean surface in this region is rather cool for the latitude, ranging in temperature during the coldest season from about 14°C at latitude 35°N to about 19°C at latitude 25°N. The weather condition is prevailingly anticyclonic, which suggests the probability that more or less subsidence is taking place aloft. Thus we should expect to find that the air masses which come from this region are only moderately warm, or even cool for Tropical maritime air, at least near the ground. We should expect to find these air masses also relatively stable. perhaps with indications of a subsidence inversion which should be marked by an abrupt decrease of the w. w should be moderately high near the ground, but definitely not high for a Tropical maritime air mass. Finally, we should expect to observe an abscence of condensation forms in this air until it has moved some distance northward from its source and has been appreciably cooled from below.

However, the data for San Diego in Table V probably give a fairly good picture of the TP properties in this region. The temperatures we notice are rather high at all levels, though not markedly so considering the proximity of the maritime Tropical source and the southerly latitude. The surface temperature is about 2C° higher than the water temperature off the coast at San Diego, a fact which indicates a moderate recent movement of the air from a warmer region. We notice also the marked stability of the lowest km of the air mass, as well as the large decrease in w, both facts which indicate either a low subsidence

inversion or a low turbulence inversion. The rather surprising frequency of low St or Stcu clouds in the TP air mass at San Diego seems to favor the second possibility. If the air mass was originally characterized by marked stability and a rapid decrease of wwith elevation at low levels, then the decrease of w at an inversion produced by turbulence might be as large as the difference observed at San Diego between the value at the ground and that at I km, otherwise the decrease would not be so large. Above 1 km we note a stable lapse rate, but one which increases somewhat with elevation. The decrease of moisture noted in the first km continues at higher elevations, but especially markedly at the 3 km level.

	_										
 TI	ROPICAL	L PA	CIFIC	Air-	-WIN1	rer (FEBRU	JARY 193	0)		
ELEVATION	5	SAN 1	Diego		S	EATTI	ĿE	ЕL (Т	lend Palo	ALE ft)	
	T	w	RH	θE	T	w	$\theta \mathbf{E}$	T	w	$\theta \mathbf{E}$	
	°C	g	%	°А	°C	g	°A	°C	g	°A	
Surface	18.5	9.1	68	316	13.3	7.4	305	(3.3	2.8	281)	
1	16.5	6.1		315	8.0	5.7	308	(+5.3)	2.8	297)	
2	11.0	5.3		319	1.7	4.3	308	(+1.3)	3.7	305)	
3	4.5	3.7		318	2.3	2.9	309	-4.7	2.8	307	

TABLE V

In case the water surface in the source region is rather cool for the latitude, as is true for the source region of the TP air masses, then the air mass does not become even conditionally unstable. Thus we note that at San Diego in the TP air mass there is a slight increase of AE with elevation, and the same thing is found to be true for this air mass at Seattle. This fact explains why the TP air flow along the Pacific coast gives quantitative precipitation only at an active front. It is too stable for the coast line to be effective in forcing much ascent of the warm current. And even at an active warm front the amount of precipitation from TP air is considerably less than the amount at an active warm front where the more unstable TG or TA air is overrunning.

At Seattle (TABLE V) the general properties of the TP air mass are found to be similar to those observed at San Diego. The air mass has become cooler throughout, but the difference is not very great in view of the 15° difference in the latitude of the

two stations. The surface temperature at Seattle in the TP air is approximately 5C° warmer than the lowest average ocean surface temperature which is found during the winter off the coast from this station. The relative warmth of the TP air indicates the rapidity with which this air mass has moved from the south. At San Diego, where the air mass movement is much more sluggish, the difference was found to be only 2C°. But in spite of the warmth of the TP air at Seattle relative to the ocean surface, a fair lapse rate from the ground up is observed in this air mass. The decrease with elevation both of T and of q is much more uniform than it is at San Diego. In particular has the marked stratification of temperature and moisture, which was noted in the first km of this air mass at San Diego. disappeared at Seattle. This is a change which would scarcely have been expected, considering the increasing relative coolness of the underlying water surface with the progress of the air mass northward. It seems to in-

dicate a large degree of turbulent mixing up to a considerable elevation in the TP current. This marked turbulence probably is a consequence of the high wind velocity which must characterize any winter air current of Tropical origin reaching Seattle. and of the ruggedness of the north Pacific coast. But in its general characteristics the air mass is found to be at Seattle as it was at San Diego. warm, moist, and relatively stable. As at San Diego, we note that AE increases slightly with elevation, a fact which indicates the absolute convective stability of the mass. Consequently as at San Diego the air mass is characterized by stratiform clouds, and by the restriction of any considerable amount of precipitation to the frontal zones. The characteristic curves on the Rossby diagram for TP air at these two stations are closely parallel and their approximate coincidence with the AE isotherms is striking. A comparison of these curves with the characteristic curves of the TG and TA air masses will call to attention at once the comparative instability of the latter air masses, which is indicated by their more nearly horizontal course on the diagram.

The Tg and Ts Air Masses

As would be expected from the uniform warmth of the waters in the TG source region, marked warmth and high moisture content at lower levels is characteristic of these air masses. This is shown strikingly in Table III by the high values of T, wand $\theta_{_{E}}$ at the surface and the 1 km level in the TG air, values which are much higher than are found in any other American air mass in winter. But at Groesbeck we find at the 2 and 3 km levels a surprisingly large decrease in the moisture content of the air mass. This decrease of moisture is best interpreted as due to the

presence of another air mass aloft which is designated as S, or Ts (Trop. superior), air.

This designation is used for that warm, dry air mass which is found to be present a great deal of the time over the southern U.S. at intermediate and upper levels and frequently over the central U.S. at somewhat higher levels, at all seasons of the year. It is the warmest air mass observed, averaging a few degrees warmer than TG at intermediate levels but, owing to the steep lapserate frequently observed in it at higher levels, above about 5 km, it is likely to average slightly colder than TG. It has a relative humidity less than 40%, which is often observed to fall below 20% or even 10% in the upper strata. Normal values (not computed means) of the temperature and specific humidity of this air mass at the 2 km level, at San Antonio, Texas, and Omaha, Nebraska, for January and July, might be given as follows:

	Janu	lary	July			
$\mathrm{Ts}~\mathrm{at}~2~\mathrm{km}$	T	q	T	q		
San Antonio	$10^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	3g	24°C	5g		
Omaha	$5 ^{\circ} \mathrm{C}$	2g	22°C	5g		

At higher levels q frequently falls to half a gram or less, and even in summer to less than a gram.

The hot dry weather which occurs in the western Plains states in summer and in the Southwest even in winter, is always associated with the presence of this air mass at intermediate levels and frequently, especially in summer, even at the ground. It occurs frequently above a shallow stratum of moist Tropical maritime air at the surface, but on summer afternoons this moist stratum is likely to be lost by convective and turbulent mixing into the dry Ts strata above.

It is the first air mass designation

to be used at M. I. T. which obviously does not apply to a mass of surface origin. For this reason it was clearly identified and designated as a separate air mass only after rather much experience in the use of aerological data in preparing atmospheric cross sections. Formerly it was treated simply as a dry upper stratum characteristically present with the Tropical maritime masses, and not as a distinct air mass. However, it has been found to be of much wider distribution than the Tropical maritime masses, occurring above polar as well as Tropical maritime masses, and obviously requiring separate treatment as a distinct air mass.

In winter at least, the Ts air mass seems to be of tropical origin, as indicated by its warmth, and with an extended past history during which it has remained aloft, as indicated by its drvness. Consequently the logical source region to attribute this air mass to is the upper portion of the sub-tropical belt of high pressure.* We know that slow sinking of poleward moving air must be occurring in this region. This sinking is especially concentrated in the great anticyclonic cells in the sub-tropical high pressure belt, and according to the scheme of J. Bjerknes, especially on the northern and eastern sides of anticyclonic cellular units. these Hence we should expect to find this warm dry air predominating where we have prevailing west or westnorthwest winds at intermediate or upper levels in south temperate latitudes. We should expect to find this current at higher levels further north, owing to the increasing prevalence and depth of the polar air masses at

higher altitudes. This condition prevails a great deal of the time in the southern U. S., accounting for the prevalence of the Ts air there. Much of this air probably comes to us from the eastern regions of the Pacific anticyclone, after crossing the Rocky mountains.⁸ Probably föhn effects on the eastern slopes of the Rockies help to bring the Ts air down to the surface, and to give it the particularly high temperatures observed in the Southwest. However, the appearance of this type of air will be by no means restricted to this region, but should be noted throughout the southern temperate latitudes of the continent.

Recent studies in isentropic analysis by Mr. J. Namias show quite definitely how in summer many of the so-called Ts currents are apparently Pc air masses that have swung around anticyclonically from the eastern Canadian source region and subsided. Thus the heated continent and the seasonal shift of the Westerlies bring the Ts source region well north in summer. (See art. X.)

In spite of the marked potential instability of the TG air masses in the south, their thermal stability is such that convective precipitation occurs rarely within the air mass in But from the warm front winter. at which the overrunning warm current is TG air, the precipitation is often convectively irregular and extremely heavy. With the high relative humidity observed in the lowest km of the TG current, comparatively little forced ascent of the warm current is necessary before the potential instability present becomes available for thermal convection. In fact it occasionally happens even in winter

^{*}See my "Disc. and Illustr. of Problems. . . . of Cross-Sections," M. I. T., Papers in Phys. Ocean and Met., Vol. 4, No. 2, 1935; and G. Emmons: Atmospheric Structure over So. U. S. Dec. 30-31, 1927, M. I. T. Met'l Course Prof. Notes, No. 9, 1935 (rev'd Bull. Am. Met. Soc., Aug.-Sept. 1936, pp. 268-271).

⁸The Ts designation has supplanted the Tc (tropical continental) designation on the North American weather maps, for there is no really extensive Tc source region on this continent. The Wea. Bur. uses "S" for Ts.

that sufficient forced ascent of a vigorous TG current is effected by coast line or mountains (southern Appalachians) so that convective showers are initiated, but this occurrence is restricted for the most part to the summer season when insolational heating of the TG air mass may produce widely scattered heavy convectional thunderstorms in the eastern United States.

In the south the prevailing weather conditions in the TG air mass are essentially those of warmth and high There is likely to be a humidity. good deal of cloudiness, especially during the night and early morning. The principal cloud forms are rather low stratus or strato-cumulus, which the sun frequently dissipates during the day. Visibility is likely to be rather poor when low clouds prevail but becomes good with the dissipation of the cloud deck. The cloud base is likely to be at only a few hundred meters elevation, while the upper boundary coincides with the temperature inversion which marks the upper limit of the extremely moist air stratum, usually between 12 and 16 hundred meters elevation. It is seldom that any precipitation is associated with this type of stratus in the south, for the inversion above is usually sufficient to prevent penetrative convection and, in its earlier history near the source region. the lower strata of this air current are not sufficiently cooled to produce the mist and drizzle which are likely to appear as it moves northward. Apart from the possible existence of a turbulent stratum near the ground in cases of strong air movement, flying conditions in the TG air mass should be definitely smooth in the south. Frequent low stratus and rather poor visibility may prove embarrassing, especially in hilly country.

As the TG current moves northward it is continuously cooled in the lowermost strata by contact with the incold creasingly surface heneath. Over dry land this cooling takes place rather slowly but over cold water or a snow and ice surface it becomes very rapid. The natural consequence is to produce very rapidly a supersaturated stratum at the ground in the warm moist air current. If the air movement is light, this leads quickly to the formation of dense fog at the ground (the so-called Tropicalair fog⁹) but since the advance of TG air to high latitudes is normally associated with rather strong air currents, mechanical turbulence usually maintains a thoroughly mixed stratum at the ground, topped by a dense low stratus cloud deck. As the cooling continues, rather dense mist or fine drizzle is likely to fall from this stratus, so that the visibility even with rather strong wind may be reduced almost to that of a dense fog. with a ceiling of not more than one or two hundred meters. This is a condition which makes flying practically impossible, except over a perfectly flat surface. Long before visibility becomes poor at the ground the lowering ceiling in the advancing TG current makes flying in mountainous country difficult. For example, even in the lowest passes in the Appalachians the ceiling quickly closes in, especially on that side of the ranges against which the wind is blowing.

The data in Table III for TG air at Boston show clearly the beginning of the cooling of the TG air mass to the NTM condition, as just described. As compared with Groesbeck we note the marked stability of the first km of

⁹See H. C. Willett: Fog and Haze, Their Causes, Distribution, and Forecasting, Monthly Weather Review, November. 1928.

the air mass at Boston, where obviously the 1 km level is just above the top of the surface turbulence stratum. But equally striking in the comparison of the data at these two stations is the disappearance of the dry Ts strata between 2 and 4 km at Boston. For some reason the moist To air mass averages much deeper at Boston than in the southwest. This seems to be a result of the strong flow of the TG currents in this region and the horizontal convergence which accompanies active cyclogenesis. The dry Ts air mass is usually found here above the 4 km level.

The weather types which we have discussed above in connection with the principal air masses, are the predominant types which we meet with in the United States, in winter, in the ab-

SUMMER AIR MASS PROPERTIES¹ V.

The Pc and Npc Air Masses

During the warm season the source properties of the American Pc air masses are very different from those characteristic of the cold season. The snow cover which is always present over this source region during the colder half of the year completely disappears, and the bare ground surface becomes much warmed during the long summer days. Consequently instead of being cooled from beneath as in winter, the Pc air masses are heated from the ground. Even though the air mass may originate over the cold waters of the Arctic, it quickly loses the coldness and stability of its lower strata over the warm land. It is usually impossible to tell from its properties whether the air mass came initially from the ocean or not. This holds for the Pacific as well as for the Arctic Ocean, for in any case by the time the air mass has crossed the western mountain ranges or moved southward from the Arctic Ocean to sence of marked frontal activity. We have seen how the study of the characteristic air mass properties as indicated by the aerological observations facilitates the understanding and explanation of these weather types and consequently favors especially the forecasting of those elements which are important in aviation. Moreover, recent aerological investigation of frontal activity and of the development of cyclonic disturbances here and abroad show that the air mass properties are also of much importance for the explanation and forecasting of all those phenomena which depend upon interaction at the boundary between air masses of markedly different properties (see article by Haurwitz and notes by Bergeron, elsewhere in this booklet).

the field of observation it has acquired about the same characteristics. These characteristics are typically as follows (Cf. Figs. 16-18 of Art. VIII-IX by Namias) :---

(1) A fairly low moisture content (low compared with that of summertime air masses of more southerly origin). The values of w at the ground usually are near 5 or 6 grams, and decrease steadily with elevation. Relative humidity is also low, especially during the warmer time of day. so that conditions are favorable for the steady supply of moisture by evaporation from the warm ground and its transport upwards by convection. It is probably in this way that the observed moisture distribution has been established. With increasing age and displacement southward of the air mass the w values increase steadily at all levels from the ground up.

(2) A moderately low tempera-

¹Excerpts and abstracts by R. G. Stone from "American Air Mass Properties," 1933.

				S'	TATION	v			
Elevation	Ε	llenda	le	Roya	al Cen	iter	Pens	sacola	(NPC)
Sea Level	T	w	θ_{E}	Т	w	θ_{E}	Т	w	θ_{E}
(km)	$^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	g	°Ă	$^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	g	°A	$^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	g	۴Ā
Surface	19.0	6.3	312	17.0	8.3	314	22.8	13.4	332
1	16.2	5.6	313	12.8	5.8	311	19.5	9.8	330
2	9.8	3 9	312	5.8	4.5	310	12.2	7.2	325
3	4.0	3.1	314	2.0	2.6	311	7.0	5.0	324
4	-2.5	2.9	318	— 1.8	1.4	314			
5				7.2	1.0	318			
6				-15.5	1.3	320			

TABLE VI. THE PC AIR MASSES-SUMMER

The Pc air mass in summer is ture characteristically cool, compared with masses of southern origin, but hardly to be distinguished in temperature from the MP (PP) masses of the Pacific. The dryness of the Pc mass favors a large daily temperature fluctuation in its lower strata near the ground, for this condition is conducive to radiational cooling by night and insolational heating by day. In general, as it proceeds southward, the air mass tends to become increasingly unstable. However, since nearly all the upper air data available are for the early morning hours, this instability is not apparent in the data shown in Table VI. In the middle west a diurnal temperature range at the ground of approximately 15°C is typical for this cool dry air mass. a range which is usually sufficient to establish a dry adiabatic or superadiabatic lapse-rate up to 2 or 21/2 km by early afternoon.

(3) A lack of condensation forms. Due to the dryness of the summer Pc air mass, it is typically cloudless. In spite of the marked daytime instability of the mass, the condensation level is so high that only a few scattered high Cu clouds at most are likely to be observed. In the later portion of its life history, however, the conditions favoring rapid evaporation of moisture from the ground to the Pc air mass may so increase its moisture that eventually even thundershowers may develop locally. This is, however, unusual, occurring only in cases of marked stagnation of the air mass movement.—*Excerpts*.

The Ellendale data show the properties of the air that has come SE over western Canada; there is a moderate lapse-rate with distinct stability near the ground which later in the day (data are early a.m. ascents) will probably approximate the dry adiabatic up to 2 or 21/2 km and often exceeding it in the first km. Up to 3 km w decreases steadily and θ_{r} is constant (but increases above that). At Royal Center the general trend of the vertical distribution of these elements is similar; however, lower levels are distinctly colder and moister here in spite of the fact that the latitude is 6° farther south. At higher levels it is warmer and dryer at Royal Center than at Ellendale. These differences result from the fact that the Pc air at Roval Center has passed over the cold Hudson Bay waters while the Ellendale Pc air has come over the warm northwestern Canadian interior. It is characteristic of summer PC outflows, that instead of showing properties of a discrete mass of cold air rapidly breaking out from some cold air
reservoir in the north as they do in winter, they usually appear more in the nature of almost stationary deep northerly currents (more NW-ly in winter) that may remain in the same longitudinal zone for several days. Thus Royal Center in summer does not, as in winter, get PC air that has passed first over Ellendale, but rather directly out of the north, with the resulting differences mentioned above.

At Pensacola, Fla., the maximum modification (to NPC) of the original PC properties may be seen; note the high w and some decrease in θ_E with elevation, which indicate conditional instability, especially in the afternoon, so near to actual instability that local thundershowers may develop. The surface temperature is not far from the lower limit for Tm air in summer (340°).—R. G. S.]

The Pp Air Masses

Generally speaking, we expect to find in summer all maritime air masses relatively stable, and continental masses relatively unstable. compared with their winter vertical structure, because of the seasonal reversal of the normal temperature differences between land and water surfaces. We have seen that for the Pc air masses this difference is very pronounced, that the condition of extreme stability of the winter continental Polar air is changed in summer to a condition of moderate instability. especially marked during the daytime. But a glance at the summer properties of the PP air mass at Seattle at upper levels (Table VII) shows the presence of a surprisingly good lapserate, especially through the first km. Since all the Seattle ascents were made during the early morning hours, this surface instability cannot be explained as the result of insolational heating during the short interval that

the air has been moving inland from the sea. It must be explained rather as the result of turbulent mixing effected in an air mass initially moderately stable by its passage over the mountainous promontories or along the devious water route to the head of the fiord where Seattle is located. The constancy of w, and the increase of the relative humidity from an average surface value of 62% to an average of 91% at 1 km is further evidence of the correctness of this assumption. Stcu clouds are nearly always present with a base elevation between 8 and 14 hundred meters under these conditions. But the Cunb clouds and showers characteristic of the PP air mass in winter are definitely absent. The reason is obvious when we note a lapse-rate between the 1 and 3 km levels of only four-tenths of the dry adiabatic rate, whereas in winter between these levels we found a lapse-rate of more than seven-tenths of the dry adiabatic rate. The large decrease of wto be noted in the PP air mass in summer between the 1 and 2 km levels is noteworthy as indicating definitely that between these levels must lie the upper limit of the turbulence laver and doubtless therefore of the Stcu cloud laver also.

TABLE	VII.	Sea	TTLE	Pp—S	SUMMER
Elevati	on				
Sea Le	vel	T	w	RH	$\theta_{_{E}}$
(km)		$^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	g	%	°Ä
Surfac 1	ce	$16.5 \\ 8.5$	$7.1 \\ 6.3$	$62 \\ 91$	308 308
2		4.5	$\frac{3.9}{2.3}$	0 1	307 308.5
$3\frac{1}{2}$; -	-2.5	1.7		310

In general, however, in spite of the fact that fresh PP air at Seattle is characterized by greater stability between 1 and 3 km than is summer Pc air at the inland stations, nevertheless, no condition approaching isothermalcy is found at any level in the PP air masses, but rather quite an appreciable lapse-rate at all levels. Furthermore, we find that from 1 km upwards the PP air mass is markedly colder than the Pc mass at any of the inland stations. The temperature found at 3½ km in fresh Pc air at Seattle is the same as that observed at 4 km in Pc air at Ellendale. where this air mass is colder aloft than at any of the other inland stations. Furthermore, the values of w at Seattle are slightly less than those in the Pc air masses at Ellendale and Roval Center. Rather noteworthy is the marked constancy of equivalent-potential temperature in the PP air at Seattle. This constancy of θ_{-} indicates the absence of potential instability at any level of the PP air mass, but on the other hand it definitely does not represent the stable structure of an air mass cooled from below.

The coldness and dryness of the summer PP air masses at Seattle indicate almost conclusively the correctness of the assumption, based on the study of the winter properties of this air mass type, that the source of the air mass is the same as that of the Pc mass, or at least that it is as truly Polar or Arctic in character. In winter we found that although the lower strata of the PP air mass were greatly warmed and moistened by the warm ocean, the upper strata were quite as dry and only a little warmer than the same strata of the Pc air mass at Ellendale. In fact, recent extending to higher observations levels indicate that above 4 km the PP air masses are frequently, and even in winter, colder than the

In summer we find the PP Pc air. air mass cooler than the Pc mass at all levels, and above the first km The relative coolness just as dry. of the maritime Polar air mass in summer depends primarily upon the coolness of the ocean surface relative to the land surface. Not only are the lower strata of the maritime air mass less heated by their contact with the earth's surface than are the same strata of the PC mass, but there is also less terrestrial radiation from the cool water surface to the upper layers of the maritime air mass. The absence of the marked heating by contact which occurs in winter at the warm ocean surface is reflected also in the low elevation to which the dampness of the summer PP air mass extends, i.e., the small vertical extent of the penetration of mechanical or convective turbulence. Nevertheless, the lapse-rate in the summer PP air masses at Seattle is steep enough to indicate that the air flow has been from colder to warmer surfaces. Probably the heating is rather gradual during the progress of the air mass from the cold Polar seas southward. This heating probably becomes effective at upper levels only by means of direct radiation from the surface beneath without mechanical or convective turbulence having played any role above an elevation of about 1 km, which we found to be a normal depth of the turbulence layer at Seattle.

But there is besides the relative coolness of the water surface in summer another fact which should not be overlooked in the explanation of the coolness of the PP air masses at this season. This fact has to do with the change in the normal atmospheric pressure distribution along the north Pacific coast from winter to summer. In summer the pressure is relatively low over the continent, and relatively high over the ocean, especially over the northern area, so that in summer the middle Pacific anticyclone extends far northward into the region normally occupied in winter by the socalled Aleutian Low, which tends to be displaced inland from its winter position with greatly diminished intensity. Consequently in summer there is normally prevalent a wellmarked pressure gradient directed from ocean to continent along the entire Pacific coast from California northward, a condition which favors a steady transport of Polar maritime air southeastward along the entire Pacific coast. This condition is so persistent in summer that warm maritime air from the south seldom if ever reaches the north Pacific coast at the surface directly, as it frequently does in winter. Occasionally there occurs a temporary cessation of the maritime Polar outflow on the north Pacific coast during the passage further north of a disturbance following a more southerly course than is usual in summer. Furthermore, the ocean surface temperature along the California coast is so low in summer, because of the upwelling of cold water, that Tropical maritime air masses must pass a great distance northward from their source region to reach the latitude of Seattle.

It seems very probable that the change at San Diego from the Seattle values of the PP air mass properties would be in the direction of a marked increase in stability, especially at the surface. Probably even in the prevailing air flow from the northwest we would find a pronounced low turbulence inversion (the wind velocities are usually too great to permit of the formation of a surface temperature inversion) with dense St or Steu clouds, which may at times approximate surface fog in their low elevation in the upper portion of the turbulence layer. The extreme local coldness of the ocean surface along the California coast is sufficient to cool the lower strata of even the coolest PP air masses from the northwest.

It is quite impossible in summer to distinguish air of Polar Pacific origin from that of Polar continental origin after the former has reached the aerological stations in the interior of the U.S. In summer most outflows of Polar air over North America first become evident in a strengthening of the normal pressure gradient along the Pacific coast, and consequently in an intensification of the PP air flow This northerly current gradually works inland, with an accompanying general rise of pressure in the coastal region, and a gradual displacement eastward of the zone of strongest north or northwest winds. Consequently the Polar air current becomes increasingly continental in its composition as the Polar source region from which the outflow takes place is displaced continually inland, or eastward. Under these conditions it becomes almost impossible to determine a boundary between the air current of maritime and that of continental origin. In winter this distinction is easier to make, because of the very much greater coldness and dryness of the continental air. But in summer when the initial differences between the Pp and Pc air mass properties are so slight, by the time that the PP mass has crossed the mountains, usually rather slowly, and come probably into radiation equilibrium with the continental surface beneath, all differences between these air masses are so completely obliterated that it is neither possible nor of any advantage to distinguish between them. Consequently the designation Pc can be used indifferently, in summer, for Polar continental air masses or Polar air masses of Pacific origin after they have reached the interior of the U.S. --Excerpts.

The PA Air Masses

The Polar Atlantic air masses are more important in the late spring and early summer than at any other time of the year. At this season the ocean surface in their source region. from Cape Cod northeastward to Newfoundland, is at its maximum of abnormal coldness for the latitude and at its coldest in comparison with the continental region to the west. This relative coldness is a consequence of the slowness of the cold continental ocean current from the north in warming up in the spring, and possibly in part to the drift of ice into this region with the Labrador current. It follows that this ocean region in late spring and early summer becomes a real cold air source. Whenever the normal eastward movement of air over this region ceases, as it frequently does in the spring and summer, the tendency is towards the immediate development of a stationary anticyclone thermally maintained by the cooling of the stagnant air mass present in the region. Such developments frequently manifest surprising persistence over the cold water, and usually lead eventually to an overrunning of the north Atlantic coastal region by the cold PA air of the anticyclonic circulation. Occasionally it happens that a general southward movement of the cold air follows down the entire Atlantic coast as far south as northern Florida, bringing with it a decided drop The difference in in temperature. temperature between this cold maritime air and the hot continental air

may amount to as much as 20° or 25° C. Usually, however, the PA air masses in summer do not make their influence felt south of Cape Hatteras, and the greater part of the time only on the north Atlantic and especially the New England coast.

The term PA, in summer as in winter, is applied to those air masses which were originally PC, but which have remained long enough over the cold waters of the north Atlantic to have become appreciably modified. We have seen that in winter very little time is required to effect such a modification because of the marked initial coldness of the air mass. In late spring and early summer, however, the water surface is colder than the surface strata of the Pc air. so that the modification takes place slowly. On the other hand, the general stagnation of the air movement over this north Atlantic area is frequently so persistent at this time of vear that the air mass may have days in which to reach a condition of equilibrium with respect to the surface beneath. As the stationary maritime anticyclone develops under these conditions, the cold air usually reaches the coastal stations at first as not much more than a sea breeze, but on the following days the cold air mass usually invades the whole coastal area east of the Appalachian Mountains. and occasionally advances far to the south. The properties of the cold air mass are shown best by the New England coast stations, although in the case of a southward displacement of the air mass the characteristic coldness is retained to a surprising degree. The surface air temperature of the mass, as indicated by an outlying station like Nantucket, is probably very close to that of the cold ocean surface from which it is moving. This temperature is likely to be about 5°C

at the beginning of May, about 10°C at the beginning of June and 12° to 15°C later in the summer. There is almost no daily period in these temneratures. In spite of the fact that these temperatures indicate a cooling of the air mass from the temperature which it originally possessed over the continent as Pc air, the PA air mass is found to have just as in winter rather unstable structure up to 2 about 1 km. Since this lapse-rate cannot be explained in this case as caused by heating from below, mechanical turbulence remains as the only obvious explanation of the instability of the lower km of the PA air mass. Stratiform cloud forms indicate a marked inversion at the top of the turbulence layer. It is very probable, in view of the prevailingly stagnant anticyclonic condition associated with this air mass. that the inversion is intensified by continual subsidence of the upper strata of the mass. The wind velocity is usually strong enough in the cool maritime anticyclone to justify the turbulence explanation of the unstable ground layer of the PA air mass, and the long exposure of the mass over the cold water could account for the loss of much heat from this stratum by turbulent transfer downward to the cold surface. Two April ascents at Boston in this type of air mass showed a lapse-rate nearly nine-tenths of the dry adiabatic rate up to 1 km, where there was a thin Stcu cloud layer, with a temperature inversion immediately above of 5°C. We find typically in the PA air mass in summer some St or Stcu or Frst clouds at the top of the instability layer, though they are usually much thinner than in the same mass in winter, seldom covering the entire sky, and frequently appearing as only a few scattered Frcu or completely disappearing. Precipitation never falls from these clouds This follows from the in summer. initial dryness of the Pc air mass. and the very small amount of evaporation which takes place from the cold water in summer. There is very little difference between the specific humidity of the PC and that of the PA air mass at this season. The cooling of the air mass at the cold water surface, an effect which we assume to be carried upward by turbulence. produces usually a thin saturated stratum at the top of the turbulence laver (as indicated by the cloud formations mentioned above), but seldom more than about 70% relative humidity at the surface. Hence the real PA air mass does not become foggy over the water, but is on the contrary usually characterized by excellent horizontal visibility, apart from the occasional thin cloud laver mentioned above. There is, however, occasionally visible over the ocean on a clear afternoon in this air mass a very noticeable whitish haze, even when the relative humidity is appreciably below saturation, and the condition is far from being one of real fog. This may be due to the presence of tiny water droplets on salt nuclei.

It is obvious that the general effect of the underlying cold water surface in the source region of the PA mass in summer is to effect a cooling of the air mass from beneath making it essentially stable, though this is apparently counteracted close to the ground by turbulence. Once the PA air comes over the warmer land it rapidly becomes warmed from below and hence more unstable.

It should be mentioned at this point that warm, moist, continental air in summer, and even more Tropical maritime air masses from the Gulf Stream, which move into the PA source region, are very quickly cooled over the cold water to such an extent that dense fog is immediately formed. Partly because of their greater initial warmth and moisture and perhaps partly also because of less wind and mechanical turbulence. the dense fog appears almost immediately at the surface and grows deeper with prolonged cooling. It is this condition which gives to this region its reputation for spring and summer fogginess. These air masses of Tropical origin, cooled in the PA source region, are designated on the M. I. T. maps as NTM. The symbol NPA may appear on the summer weather maps for PA air which has moved far south over warmer water. or been brought to a considerable distance inland.-Excerpts.

The Tropical Pacific Air Masses

During the warm season the Tropical Pacific air masses play a negligible role on the Pacific coast. It. was remarked in the discussion of the PP air masses in summer that the pressure distribution at this season along the entire middle and north Pacific coast of North America is such that there is found a persistent onshore gradient, and a correspondingly persistent movement of air at least to a considerable elevation from the north and northwest. This pressure gradient may temporarily disappear to such an extent that the air movement for a time is almost stagnant, the winds becoming light variable. At such times the aerological ascents at Seattle indicate the presence of higher temperatures at all levels, and usually of somewhat higher specific humidity at the ground, than occur in the PP current when it is well developed. But at upper levels one usually finds a dryness indicative either of subsidence or of a light

continental outflow of air with some effect from the mountains föhn inland. During the summer of 1930 there was not found a single instance either of marked southerly air movement or of a moisture distribution indicative of TP air at Seattle at the ground. Probably this particular summer was quite typical of the average summer in this respect, so that it may be concluded that real TP air does not appear on the Pacific coast of the U.S. in summer, at least at low levels. This can certainly be said of Seattle. At San Diego the situation is much more uncertain, as the condition there is normally one of comparative stagnation. Probably it would be somewhat warmer and somewhat moister in summer than in winter, corresponding to the higher temperature of the ocean surface in the source region. On the California coast this air mass. if it appears at all, should be definitely cool at low levels and foggy. because of the extreme local coldness of the water along the coast.

It seems quite probable, however, that in the Plateau and Rocky Mountain regions the TM air is of real importance in summer. Temperatures in the Plateau region are rather high at this season, and the pressure normally rather low. Under these conditions rather steady southerly winds frequently are observed in this region for rather prolonged periods, with the result that the moisture thus brought inland establishes a specific humidity high enough so that considerable cloudiness and widespread thundershowers develop throughout the low pressure trough. If the air thus brought into the Plateau region had its source in the comparatively cool and dry PP current prevailing along the coast, an extremely low relative humidity would prevail in the

air in this heated inland Plateau which is normally too dry to furnish much moisture by evaporation. We have found that PP air in summer is characterized by a specific humidity on the order of 7 g at the ground, decreasing to only slightly over 2 g at 3 km elevation. Warm air which reaches Ellendale from the northern Plateau low pressure region is observed to have a specific humidity of from 10 to 12 g at 1 km elevation. a value which definitely suggests that the air is of TM origin. Recent studies, notably by Reed, of the upper winds in summer in the Southwest. indicate that this warm moist air moves frequently at the upper levels from the TG source region via Mexico. It is quite possible that it may come also from the TS source region occasionally, but apparently it is predominantly TG air.

The Tropical Gulf, Tropical Atlantic and Ts Air Masses

For the TG and TA air masses the normal summer conditions are much more favorable than they are for the TP air masses. The combination of the tendency toward the development of low pressure over the interior of North America and the tendency toward the development of a wellmarked center of high pressure over the western Atlantic Ocean (Bermuda High) results much of the time in summer in a pressure distribution which brings MT air northward over most of the eastern U.S. and even into Canada. Consequently the MT air masses in the eastern and central U. S. are present a much greater part of the time and extend over much wider areas in summer than they do in winter. They are responsible for the oppressive heat with high humi-

dity which more than anything else characterizes our summer weather in the eastern and central U.S. The map of July 26, 1930, 8 a.m. represents almost in ideal type form the general condition which leads to the widespread prevalence of MT air in the U.S. in summer. We notice a weak trough of low pressure over the northern Plains states. and a broad extension of the Bermuda High westward over the southeastern U.S. The resulting general air movement consists of a light flow from the West Indies and Caribbean Sea northwestward into the Gulf of Mexico, thence northward over the southeastern and south central U.S., and thence northeastward into the Lake Region and towards New England. In other words, we observe a slow steady flow of Equatorial air which originated in the Trade-wind zone over the entire eastern and central U.S. As this condition is usually very stationary. the stream lines on this map as indicated by the isobars may be taken as typical trajectories of the MT air masses in summer, the air masses to which the following discussion applies.

The general difference between the normal winter and the normal summer condition as regards the distribution and prevalence of the MT air masses may be expressed in another way by saying that the zone of maximum frontal activity between the MT and CP air masses, or the sub-Polar front, is displaced in summer from its normal winter position somewhere over the northern Gulf of Mexico, northward into the U. S. almost to the region of the Great Lakes.

In general the properties of the MT (TG and TA) air masses in summer as they leave their source region are similar to their properties in winter in the same region. The ocean temperatures during surface the warmest season average over the entire Gulf and Caribbean Sea region close to 28° or 29°C. In the Caribhean Sea this is only 3°C warmer than the temperature during the coldest season, a difference which increases probably to nearly 10°C on the immediate Gulf coast. Thus we should expect the mT air mass in summer to leave the source region somewhat warmer and somewhat moister than it does in winter, but quite similar to its winter condition in its general vertical structure. We should also expect to find that as the mT air mass passes inland from the source region the general tendency of the effect of the continent will be towards a raising of the air mass temperature, instead of towards a lowering, as it is in winter.

Pensacola, Fla., doubtless gives the best indication of the source properties of TG air in summer. We note a surface temperature in the TG air which is almost identical with the water surface temperature of the source region. Above the surface we find a moderate lapse-rate, about 0.6 of the dry adiabatic rate, which indicates a condition of thermal stability in the air mass. Afternoon ascents would doubtless indicate a steeper lapse-rate near the ground. The relative humidity is surprisingly high, in view of the warmth of the air mass, so that the specific humidity exceeds slightly the large value of 20 g. Probably this value is as great as would be found as an average in any maritime location in Equatorial regions. Not only is wextremely high at the ground at Pensacola, but the values found up to at least the 3 km level indicate very high relative humidities at the prevailing temperatures. At the same

time the values of w observed at Pensacola at all levels in the TG air are higher than those found at any other station. In spite of the high moisture content found at the 3 km level. the excessive amount of water vapor present in this air mass at low levels gives rise to a condition of marked potential instability. Up to the 3 km level a decrease of 18° in θE is noted, while the high value of w at this level would indicate that the decrease in AE should continue for at least 2 km further. This condition implies that all convective or mechanical turbulence up to at least 5 km elevation must effect an upward transport of latent heat, and the high values of the relative humidity indicate that very little vertical displacement is necessary in order to initiate active convection which should extend well beyond this level. This same marked potential instability which we observe in the TG air masses coming from the Gulf of Mexico and the Caribbean Sea in summer, and which we shall find presently to be characteristic of all maritime Equatorial air masses, is the source of the great amounts of energy consumed in the genesis and maintenance of the Tropical hurricane. When we consider the added effect of insolational heating of the TG air mass near the ground during the daytime as it moves inland from the Gulf coast, it is obvious why Cu clouds which develop during the afternoon into Cunb and heavy local thundershowers are so characteristic of this air mass.—Excerpts.

[In Texas the invasion of summer TG is typically shallow, with dry TS air aloft above 1 or 2 km, even less sometimes, which makes thunderstorms in TG much less likely than farther east; the decrease in θ_E aloft indicates much potential instability but in the absence of much moisture aloft it is not realized except from marked vertical displacements with passage of occasional pronounced warm or cold fronts.^{*}—R, G, S.]

Modification of the Tg and Ta Air to Ntm

As the TG air mass moves northward from the Gulf of Mexico in summer we should not expect as a rule any very great changes in its properties. During the late spring and the summer the North American Continent is insolationally warmed even at rather high latitudes. Only in the region of the Great Lakes and off the north Atlantic coast is there any possibility of a marked cooling of the TG air mass from the surface Apart from these water heneath areas the ground is normally warmer. especially during the daytime, than is the water surface in the source region of the air mass, so that the general tendency must be towards a warming of the air mass from the warmer surface beneath as the TG current moves northward from the Gulf of Mexico.

At greater distances from the source region we would expect to find a small decrease in the moisture content of the TG air mass as the result of the precipitation of some of the excessive moisture in widely scattered thundershowers. Especially in the west and at upper levels we should expect to find the influence of the gradual infiltration and overrunning of dry Ts air from the upper levels of the sub-tropical anticyclones.* But in general, a condition of oppressive warmth and moisture with afternoon thunderstorms should characterize MT air over the entire eastern and central U.S. The temperatures at all levels tend to run a little higher than at

	Ψ	449 39 39
enter	。 %	
al C	8 %	.0.0.0
Roy	2 50	
	T °C	29.0 25.2 18.5 10.8
(1930)	$\theta \mathbf{E}$ \mathbf{A}	$351 \\ 346 \\ 339 \\ 332 \\ 332 \\$
MER dale	RH %	66
—SUM Ellen	ක හා	$16.5 \\ 13.3 \\ 8.7 \\ 5.7$
MASSES	°C T	28.5 27.0 21.8 12.8
F AIR	бЕ °А	$\begin{array}{c} 348\\ 245\\ 2345\\ 2339\\ 2336\\ 2356\\ 2356\end{array}$
GUI Arro	RH %	51
PICAL oken	as 3	15.4 9.9 3.5 3.5
THE TRO Br	° C	29.5 26.5 12.8 1.5 1.5
III.	вE °А	359 350 345 341
ste V teola	RH %	80
TAF Pensa	90 S	20.7 15.6 12.5 9.5
	T ° C	28.5 23.2 17.0 10.8
	Elevation Above Sea Level (km)	Surface 1 2 3 5

the Gulf coast stations. This difference is, perhaps rather surprisingly, a maximum at the 1 and 2 km levels. This is to be explained by the early morning hour of the majority of the ascents, a fact which is indicated by

^{*}See discussion of Ts air in summer on pp. 94-95 of this booklet; and in the article on isentropic analysis by Mr. Namias, as well as in the note Showalter at the end of this section.—Ed.

the stability of the lowest km of the air mass at the inland stations, the consequence of nocturnal radiational cooling. The heating of the upper strata of the air mass takes place during the afternoon thermal convection, but during the night the temperatures near the ground fall.---Excerpts.

[The highest temperatures aloft occur at Ellendale, farthest from the Gulf, and indicate the heating effect of the continent to perhaps 5 km or more. Stations inland all show lower w at all levels and, except in the southeast, where there is direct invasion of TA air, lower w at the ground, than at Pensacola. North from the Texas coast the Ts and TG layers become increasingly mixed by diurnal convection, which lowers wand AE at the surface and increases them aloft. Eastward of the western plains the influence of TS air decreases at the surface as continental heating becomes less marked. As in winter, it is difficult to distinguish TA and TG air masses.

The pure or slightly modified TM summer air in the southeastern United States is so conditionally unstable and humid to well above 5 km that thunderstorm convection is frequent; this becomes, as we have seen, steadily less marked inland to the north and especially westward, where the dry and stable Tropical Superior (Ts and modified TG) air masses with their clear skies, good visi-

bility, and large diurnal temperature range stand in decided contrast to the humid, hazy, showery and cumulus-laden TM air:-R. G. S.1

In summer the modification of the typical TG or TA air mass to the NTM condition by cooling from below occurs only in rather restricted regions, for over the continent proper such cooling does not take place. It occurs only over a cold water surface. On the Canadian side of the Great Lakes this effect is sometimes noticeable, especially in the early summer when the Lakes are still cold. At this season the MT air from the south may arrive on the northern shores of the Great Lakes definitely cooled and even foggy or with low St clouds. But this cooling effect is most important over the cold water off the north Atlantic coast. In only a day or two of slow movement of the warm moist MT air mass over this cold ocean surface, the lower strata are cooled almost to the water surface temperature, and the cooling effect is carried upward, presumably by mechanical turbulence, with surprising swiftness. The resulting condition is one of stable stratification with the rapid formation of dense fog of considerable depth. This is the cause of the high frequency of summer fog on the north Atlantic coast. It is principally in this region that the NTM designation is used on the synoptic charts in summer.—Excerpt.

Major Frontal and Air Mass Zones of the Earth

Bergeron describes nine latitudinal Weather Zones of each hemisphere as a function of the large scale distribution of Air Masses and Fronts^{*}) (see *Met. Zis.*, v. 47, p. 249, figs, 1, 6, and *Ymer*, hf. 2-3, 1937, p. 218, fig. 10):--

1. The Stratus zone of the Stable Polar Air (or Arctic Air*) in its source region.

2. The Shower zone of the moist-labile Polar Air (or Arctic Air*) in somewhat lower latitudes.

3. The Dry zone of diverging Polar Air (or Arctic Air*) underneath the Polar Front surface (or Arctic Front surface*). 4. The area of continuous precipitation from Nimbostratus at the Polar Front (or

Arctic Front*).

5. The Stratus zone (with or without driz-zle) in the Stable Tropical Air at the Polar Front (or in the Polar Air at the Arctic Front*).

6. The first Cumulus zone of the Tropical Air in middle latitudes. 7. The Dry zone of diverging Tropical Air in the high pressure belt of the horse latitudes.

8. The second Cumulus zone of the Tropical Air: the trade-wind zone. 9. The Shower zone of the moist-labile Trop-ical Air in the equatorial region (the Dol-

drums). *When there is also an Arctic Front pole-wards of the Polar Front, five more Weather Zones are arranged along the former front as

along the Polar front.

Further Studies of American Air-Mass Properties

(Excerpts from Mon. Wea. Rev., July, 1939, pp. 204-217)

ALBERT K. SHOWALTER U. S. Weather Bureau, Washington, D. C.

WINTER SEASON

Continental Arctic Air: As shown by Willett and Wexler cA air is probably formerly maritime polar air (MPK) which is cooled by surface radiation forming CAW. A study of this air mass by Wexler has shown that there is a very sharp inversion near the surface, and above, a lapse rate approaching the isothermal. Since the effect of surface cooling rarely extends above 3 km above sea level, the uncooled air above would still be MP and very few observations of cA air are available above that level. Occasionally cA air is mechanically lifted to 4 km at Chevenne and in such a case it will be cooled adiabatically and a temperature very low for that height will result. Unstable Arctic air, CAK, sometimes occurs in the Hudson Bay and the Great Lakes regions but insufficient data are available to include CAK air in this study.

The change in designation from cAw to cPw has been more or less arbitrary but usually one or two days elapse before cAw air is considered cPw. A more definite criterion for the change in notation is the formation of a new Arctic front. Eventually the original polar air may become tropical air, so cPw merely marks the transitional stage.

The striking thing in the movement of cAw - becoming - cPw air into the southern United States is that the steepening of the lapse rate which would be expected from the addition of heat from below does not occur in the mean, except in the lowest few hundred meters. Apparently subsidence proceeds so rapidly at all levels above the shallow turbulent-convective layer that the great stability characteristic of cAw air near its source is still preserved and cAw - becoming - $CP\kappa$ is rare, except behind deepening cyclones. As the polar air feeds into low latitudes it spreads out to occupy several times its original area and thus the compensating subsidence shown by the various mean cross-sections and tables of average properties [see original article] is accounted for.

There seems to be considerable meisture added in the lower levels by surface evaporation but because of the extreme stability of cAw and cPw air it does not seem likely that the effects of surface addition of moisture extend to any appreciable elevation. Consider for example, the mean value of 2.2 g/kg for specific humidity with a potential temperature of 288° A at 2 km at Oklahoma City in cPw air. To establish an adiabatic lapse rate to carry such a quantity of moisture up to 2 km by vertical convection, a potential temperature of 288° A is required at the surface. Since a surface potential temperature of 288° A is found only in air of very nearly tropical properties it is evident that the observed amount of moisture could not have been carried up to that elevation by simple vertical convection. The addition of moisture at higher levels in modified polar air is probably best explained by the principle of horizontal mixing along isentropic surfaces as discussed by Rossby (see following art. on Isentropic Analysis).

Maritime Arctic Air, MA:—When an outbreak of polar air moves over only a very small part of the Pacific Ocean before reaching the United States it is usually designated as MAK. If its trajectory has been far to the south, it usually is sufficiently modified to be called MP.

Strictly speaking, for air masses entering the United States, the notation MAK should be reserved for Arctic air masses which move directly southward along the North Pacific coast and have only a short trajectory over the ocean. The notations MPK and MPW are adequate to differentiate between outbreaks having maritime polar longer trajectories (see figure 1). The unusual instability of MAK air, some flights indicating that vertical convection has obtained to at least 6 km, has two important effects on its interaction with other air masses in the central and eastern part of the United States. First, since often it is colder aloft than the surrounding air masses, sinking from these levels, or subsidence, occurs in MA and MP air. Second, and inversely, this same instability in MA air is apt to cause an increasing tendency for vertical divergence and increasing instability in air masses moving into a region occupied or recently occupied by MA air. In other words, the MA gains in stability while the surrounding masses lose.



FIG. 1. Average $\beta_{\rm E}$ and Slopes of Characteristic Curves for the levels between 1000 and 1500 meters for American air masses, based on U. S. soundings of 1935-6.

During the winter months MA air near the surface is usually warmer than the continent and shortly after passing the coast line it should be labelled as a warm-type air mass according to the Bergeron classification. Over snow covered areas MAK air very rapidly assumes continental characteristics; thus we find the modified form of MA air sometimes colder near the surface than the original.

Maritime Tropical Air. MT (TM): Since MT air is formed out of air which was originally polar, it shows a tendency for vertical stability with some subsiding action in the higher levels. It will be noted that although the partial-potential temperature of the dry air increases fairly rapidly with elevation, the equivalent-potential temperature usually decreases with elevation. This seems to indicate that at higher levels this air mass is relatively drv. Since MT air usually moves inland with anticyclonic motion it may be assumed that the relative drvness aloft in MT air can be explained by horizontal divergence with subsidence in the upper levels of the subtropical anticyclonic cell. There is evidence that some of the water vapor at higher levels must have been carried upward by vertical convection over scattered areas in the Gulf and Caribbean, and was diffused to the surroundings. The evident upward slope of the isentropic surfaces to the northward indicates that the moisture is carried aloft not only by vertical convection but also by isentropic mixing. The upward transport of moist air appears to occur near the edges of the subtropical anticvclones. while the subsiding dry tongues originate nearer to the centers.

Superior or Subsiding Air, S (Ts): The notation Ts (Tropical superior) was originally applied to air supposed to have been derived from the upper subsiding portions of the subtropical anticyclonic cells. However, of recent

date the designation S has been applied to all warm air masses that show relative humidities below 40%, which is taken as an indication of subsidence and horizontal divergence. The study indicates that most of the drvness results from the subsidence of highlevel air from a polar source. Isentropic analyses have shown definitely that in winter a number of dry tongues

SUMMER SEASON

Continental polar air, cA-becoming - cP (Pc - becoming - NPC): The rate of increase of moisture aloft seems slightly in excess of that possible through vertical convection and it is necessary to believe that horizontal mixing plays an important role.

Maritime polar air, MA - becoming -MP (PP - becoming - NPP): The effects of subsidence and outflow from the upper portions of MP air seem to have about the same prominence as the effects of horizontal mixing so the mean values for MP air do not give positive evidence of the increase of moisture aloft by isentropic mixing.

The notation cP or NP should be used in cases of doubtful history of the polar current, or in cases of overlapping layers of maritime and continental air having been thoroughly mixed by vertical convection during the day or in some cases by mechanical turbulence. Since there is so little difference in the properties of MP and cP after 1 day's history over the continent during the summer months, it would be wise to label all polar air masses cP in the summer time, after they have moved east of Spokane and south of the Canadian border.

Modified moist polar air, MP (NPM): The rapidly increasing moisture seems to be a combination of the effects of surface evaporation over water surfaces or areas with abundant plant life, coupled with the effects of horimove out from polar regions.

Modified moist Polar air. MPw (NPM): The mean values for these air masses show a tendency for decreasing stability and increasing moisture content. Although there is evidence that considerable heat and moisture are added by surface effects. there must be an addition of moisture aloft by isentropic mixing.

zontal mixing. It seems possible therefore for a polar air mass with a purely continental history to attain in summer quantities of heat and moisture comparable to those obtained by an air mass moving over the Caribbean Sea.

Maritime tropical air, MT (TM): It appears that in general the potential temperatures are higher in MT air than in continental air masses and that therefore the air would move upward along the isentropic surfaces as it came over the land. Some of the cases studied indicate that at times a given isentropic surface may slope downward from the Gulf to the continent. This means that portions of the MT column may at times move downward in approaching the continent. It will be noted that mean potential-temperature surfaces are approximately horizontal between Miami and Pensacola.

Taking the vertical distance in meters between the 303°A and the 311°A surfaces as an inverse measure of stability, one finds the MT air to be more stable in the mean than MPK air but less stable than cPw air. This agrees with the statement made above to the effect that MP air was likely to cause increasing instability in air masses moving into its territory. The author is of the opinion that the greatest probability of rain occurs when MT air replaces MA or MP, or when MA or MP replace MT air. The latter sequence is more conducive to

precipitation during the colder seasons.

Superior or subsiding air. (S): The assumption that the dryness of this air mass is due to subsidence is not necessarily always correct in summer. because rapid surface heating of relatitvely dry air at that season may produce a deep column of air whose moisture content is far from the saturation values. When such an air mass is cooled during the night by surface radiation some slow sinking may occur in the layers near the surface and those lavers which are not cooled by radiation will show low relative humidities by the time of the airplane observation the next day. Since S air is recognized only on the basis of relative humidities less than 40%, the source of this air can therefore be traced to subsiding polar or tropical air or to rapid daytime heating of either of those air masses.

The range in specific humidity and equivalent potential temperature is considerable at all elevations for the dry type of air called S, so it can be assumed from this evidence also that the source of S air may be either polar or tropical or a stratification of air from both sources with a tendency for horizontal mixing along the isentropic during the night and vertical convection during the day resulting in a dissipation of the concentration of moisture. The orographic effect also plays an important role in the development of S air east of the Rocky Mountains.

AIR MASS CLASSIFICATION

Our study indicates that it is possible to make some reasonable standardization of air mass classification for synoptic purposes but that any classification falls far short of definitely identifying the thermodynamic properties of the different air masses. In other words the mean values of each of the various properties (see figs. 12 to 15 of original article) show definite groupings for the different air masses. and the individual values show definite limits for the properties of fresh tropical and fresh polar outbreaks. However, the modifying influences affecting air masses, especially in the summer months, result in a very wide range of equivalent-potential temperatures as indicated on the frequency distribution charts (figs. 5 and 6 of original article). It can be seen from a study of these charts that the classification is relative for any one day, and no definite limits of equivalentpotential temperature have been in use. This seems regrettable for statistical purposes but in practical synoptic work it can hardly be avoided.

It is usually the practice to label the air masses differently on either side of a front, and since polar air is sometimes modified very rapidly, it happens that modified polar air behind a cold front on one weather map may have a higher equivalent-potential temperature than a modified tropical current behind a warm front on a map a week later. Since all tropical air is polar air modified by surface effects, any classification of air masses must be only a compromise as to number of types. The author is of the opinion that no purpose is served by increasing the number of types.

THE AIR MASS CYCLE

It is possible to identify from the mean seasonal properties for the different air masses, two distinct cycles of transition from polar to tropical air, one a moist cycle with rapid addition of moisture, the other a dry cycle with a marked subsidence and slow isentropic mixing in the early stages.

For the winter season the moist transitional stage (figure 8, original article) from MP as represented at Dayton, to TM at Pensacola and St. Thomas, Virgin Islands, shows continual subsidence and increasing moisture. The persistent stability throughout the transitional process. the difference in potential temperature between 500 m and 5.000 m remaining practically constant from the MA to the TM stage, indicates that the principal addition of moisture must occur by means of mixing along isentropic surfaces, with some probability of convection in the final MT stage.

The dry winter cycle (fig. 9 of original article) shows rapid subsidence with slight increase of moisture by isentropic mixing from the MA to the S stage. When this air mass moves to lower latitudes the subsidence decreases, rapid surface heating develops and the S air begins to mix both vertically and horizontally with MT air. The vertical mixing is probably confined to the lowest layers affected by daytime convection and most of the increase in moisture aloft appears to be due to isentropic mixing.

The identification of the moist and dry cycles is more difficult in the summer season because of the greater tendency for vertical convection during the day, with convection occurring under saturated conditions which cannot be analyzed by charts using potential temperature surfaces. However, the mean values, indicating unsaturated conditions, suggest for the moist cycle conditions similar to those observed in the winter season, namely, subsidence and surface heating with rapid increase of moisture by isentropic mixing. Appreciable quantities of heat and moisture may be added to MT air over the continental United States. Thus the highest value of equivalent potential temperature, 366° A, observed during this study was found at 1,000 m at Dayton on August 22, 1936!

The dry cycle in summer represents rapid modification of the polar air masses with subsidence aloft and slow addition of moisture by isentropic mixing over the continent, then continued heating accompanied by vertical convection and convergence over the Gulf and Caribbean, followed by a slow spreading out and subsidence as the air assumes an anticvclonic trajectory on its return from the lower Caribbean to El Paso. From El Paso to the Mississippi Valley there is apparently a continued addition of heat and moisture and the MT air again becomes convectively unstable over the Mississippi and Ohio Valleys.

In view of recent discoveries of the meteorological significance of isentropic charts it is further recommended that more attention be given to the slope of potential temperature surfaces in situations free from condensation. Allowance should be made for the effects of horizontal mixing along isentropic surfaces and unless the isentropic surfaces in one air mass actually intersect the ground or at least show a sudden increase in slope, the synoptic analyst should label the air masses differently with caution.—(Excerpts.)

Illustrations

The following collection of weather maps and cross sections selected from articles published in the BULLETIN OF THE AMERICAN METEOROLOGICAL SOCIETY is reprinted to offer examples of frontal and air-mass-analyzed weather situations, though the technique of presentation used is not altogether conventional. But they will give those who have no access to other publications nor to MS analyzed maps of a meteorological service or institute, some idea of interpretations of atmospheric structure and movements that can be or are made by experienced map analysts.—Ed.

A Dust Storm

May 9 to 11, 1934, a famous duststorm raced from Montana and North Dakota to the Atlantic Seaboard and out to sea, one of the few such to reach the ocean. The maps for this situation, below, were analyzed and discussed by G. R. Parkinson (BULL., May, 1936, pp. 127-35.) The dust storm generally rages in NPP air, which is unstable (by day at least) and windy in the winter and spring. Note how in this case the dust (stippled areas) was raised in the foreward part of NPP air masses where the pressure gradient was steep and hence the wind fairly high and the lapse-rate unstable, and in passing over regions of barren soil due to drought, plowing and winter; once raised to considerable heights in the air mass, the dust stayed in suspension long enough to be carried still higher and a long ways East.



(A). WEATHER MAP, 8 A. M., MAY 9, 1934.



(B). WEATHER MAP, 8 P. M., MAY 9, 1934.



(C). WEATHER MAP, 8 A. M., MAY 10, 1934.



(D). WEATHER MAP, 8 P. M., MAY 10, 1934.

Flood Rains



LOCATION OF FRONTS AT THE SURFACE AT 7:00 A. M., C.S.T., SEPT. 27, 1936, WITH DIAGRAMS OF THE CHARACTERISTIC PROPERTIES OF THE AIR MASSES ACCORD-ING TO THE AIRPLANE SOUNDINGS OF EARLY THE 27TH, (E.S.T.). (Solid lines are cold fronts, dashed lines warm fronts, dotted lines occluded fronts. The graphs show temperature in °C, $\theta_{\rm E}$, and specific humidity, plotted against height in km above sea level, with air mass types, cloud layers, winds and (cont., next page)

relative humidities written in figures at the sides; winds are for the 6 a.m. C.S.T. pilot-balloon runs. The Montgomery sounding is inserted for reference.) This unconventional diagram by E. J. Minser (Jan. BULL., 1938, p. 34) gives an interesting display of upper-air data, most of the surface data being omitted to avoid confusion. The situation was one in which very heavy rains fell in eastern Texas, Oklahoma and Mo. as the PC and NPC cold fronts slowly squeezed (occluded) the moist TG sector ahead of them.



FIG. 1. MAP OF 8:00 AM, EST, JULY 8, 1935.

FIG. 2. WEATHER MAP OF 8:00 AM, EST, NOVEMBER 4, 1927.

Two great flood producing rainstorms situations are analyzed here in outline by H. R. Byers. Note how in each case the set up was similar: a more or less stalled N-S cold front with moist TA air streaming over it rapidly and giving heavy rain under the front and against the mountains for many hours or days. (Bull., March, 1937, pp. 128-36). The March, 1936, and May 31, 1889 flood situations were similar too.

From SE

Eald front-Retarded in porthern portion.

30to40mg at surface





COLD FRONTS.—This (Fig. 6) and the following cross-sections (Figs. 7-9) through fronts are based on the synoptic experience of analysts working for a large air line (T.W.A.), and are taken from a paper on situations for icing of aircraft by E. J. Minser (BULL., March, 1938, pp. 118-121), with his kind permission. These meteorologists obtain radioed reports from the pilots as they fly along, and thus acquire an unusually detailed knowledge of actual cloud and upper-air structures. Fig. 6 is semi-schematic but vividly illustrates what happens just ahead of an advancing cold front (PC into NPC) in a mountainous region: clouds with snow squalls (this is winter) over each range. Note the freezing-line (dashed), the frontal precipitation (first rain, then snow), and the surface map at left. (Temp. in °F, heights in thousands of feet, in this and following figures.)



FIG. 7 is generalized cross-section from Columbus, O., (CO) to Newark (NK), showing a typical cold front with aircraft icing conditions in its clouds. The dashed-dot lines show how a pilot must fly to avoid the worst ice forming dangers. Snow squalls in the mountains are probably from both the colder and warmer air. (The windward sides of the mountains are more apt to be fogged in with clouds under such conditions than clear as shown here.)

119



FIG. 8 is from actual reports of pilots flying between Albuquerque and Kansas City in the morning of Dec. 8, 1937. A PC cold front is advancing westward and lifting the NPC air over it and over the mountains. Snow squalls (indicated by crosses).



FIG. 9 is the actual section from Kansas City through Chicago to Cleveland based on a pilot's flight at night. There is a cold-front-type occlusion with the warmest air-mass entirely aloft here, causing snow to fall over a wide area.





LEGENDS FOR MODEL OF THE WARM-FRONT-TYPE OCCLUSION



In the high pressure wedges: Limit of Cist Along the fronts: Limit of drizzle

PL = POLAR AIR. TL = TROPICAL AIR

CHARACTERISTIC POINTS OF THE OCCLUSION MODEL INDICATED IN FIG. 4.

Vertical Section A:

- $a_1 = \text{Rear limit of Ast, attached to the recurving Occlusion}$ $a_2 = \text{Rear limit of Nbst, attached to the recurving Occlusion}$ $a_3 = \text{Upper retrograde Cold Front, becoming Warm Front}$ $a_4 = \text{Upper progressive Cold Front}$ $a_5 = \text{Fore limit of Nbst attached to the original Occlusion}$ $a_6 = \text{Fore limit of Ast attached to the original Occlusion}$ $a_7 = \text{Fore limit of Cist attached to the original Occlusion}$

Vertical Section B:

- $b_1 =$ Rear limit of Ast attached to the recurved Warm Front, now Cold Front
- $b_2 = \text{Recurved Warm Front at the ground, now Cold Front}$ $b_3 = \text{Fore limit of Nbst, attached to the recurved Warm Front, now Cold Front}$
- $b_4 = Occluded$ progressive Warm Front at the ground
- b₅ = Fore limit of the new Upslide Cloud System, formed on the occluded Warm Front
- $b_{e} =$ Rear limit of the old Upslide Cloud System, formed on the original Warm Front and modified by the Upper Cold Front
- $b_7 = Upper progressive Cold Front$
- $b_s =$ Fore limit of Nbst formed on the original progressive Warm Front Surface
- $b_{\theta} =$ Fore limit of Ast formed on the original progressive Warm Front Surface
- $b_{10} =$ Fore limit of Cist formed on the original progressive Warm Front Surface

Vertical Section C:

- $c_1 =$ Fore limit of Cist of the next disturbance
- $c_2 = \text{Rear limit of Acu opacus attached to the secondary Cold Front}$
- $c_3 =$ Induced secondary Cold Front
- $c_4 =$ Fore limit of Nbst formed by the secondary Cold Front

(Continued on next page)

 $c_{5} = \text{Rear limit of Acu opacus attached to the primary Cold Front}$

- $c_{\epsilon} = Occlusion Point$
- $c_7 = Fore \ limit of \ Nbst formed on the primary Warm Front Surface <math>c_s = Fore \ limit of \ Ast formed on the primary Warm Front Surface <math>c_s = Fore \ limit of \ Cist \ formed \ on \ the primary \ Warm \ Front \ Surface$

Vertical Section D:

 $d_1 =$ Fore limit of Ast of the next disturbance

- $d_2 = \text{Rear limit of Acu opacus attached to the wave disturbance of the Cold Front}$
- $d_3 = Cold$ Front of the wave disturbance on the primary Cold Front
- $d_4 = Warm$ Front of the wave disturbance on the primary Cold Front
- $d_s =$ Fore limit of Nbst on the Warm Front Surface of the wave disturbance $d_c =$ Rear limit of Nbst formed on the primary Cold Front Surface
- $d_{\tau} = \text{Primary Cold Front}$ $d_s = \text{Limit of drizzle before the primary Cold Front}$
- $d_{s} = \text{Limit}$ of drizzle behind the primary Warm Front
- $d_{10} = Primary$ Warm Front $d_{11} = Limit$ of drizzle (= rear limit of Nbst) before the primary Warm Front $d_{12} = Fore$ limit of Nbst formed on the primary Warm Front Surface $d_{13} = Fore$ limit of Ast formed on the primary Warm Front Surface $d_{14} = Fore$ limit of Cist formed on the primary Warm Front Surface



A THREE-DIMENSIONAL PICTURE OF THE WARM-These Dimensional field be of the warm-FRONT OCCLUSION (L = low pressure center in the warm air aloft; P = the point where the upper cold front pierces the x, z-plane).

Spring Showers



AIR MASS AND WEATHER SEQUENCE PASSING OVER WASHINGTON, D. C., MAY 6-7, 1935.—A time-line cross-section in which the earliest hour is at the right. This unusual diagram was made up from a study of the surface observations and the synoptic cross-sections at the Weather Bureau in Washington for the purpose of summarizing the climate of the whole month in terms of air masses and fronts. However, it incidentally also shows an interesting typical sequence in the upper air. Note the showery rain (stippled bars) from the TG being occluded and lifted between NP and older NP; and the location of Ts, which is characteristic—the rain stops abruptly when it arrives. The pressure and temperature traces at the ground are typical. There was a thundershower at the cold front. The TG sector is of course cloudy, the Ts/NP zone nearly clear. (From: Botts, Sept., 1937, BULL p. 290-297.)



Another of Bott's sections, showing pronounced cold-front rain from a cold-front-type occlusion.



Winter Cyclone with Dust Storm (From: Parkinson, BULLETIN, May, 1936, p. 130-1)

FIG. 1. WEATHER MAP, 8 A.M (75TH MERID. TIME) JANUARY 16, 1935. (Solid lines=cold fronts, dashed lines=warm fronts, dotted lines=occluded fronts, stippling=duststorm areas.)



FIG. 2. WEATHER MAP, 12 NOON, JANUARY 16, 1935.



FIG. 3. WEATHER MAP, 4 P. M., JANUARY 16, 1935.



FIG. 4. WEATHER MAP, 8 P. M., JANUARY 16, 1935.



Maps and Cross Sections of Fronts: Aircraft Icing (From E. J. Minser, BULLETIN, May 1935, p. 132)

AIR MASS ANALYSIS

A Succession of Polar Air Masses: Weather Maps and Cross-Sections for Nov. 30-Dec. 2, 1938

The charts below are from an article by George and Elliot in the Bull. Amer. Met. Soc. for March 1939. The period was featured by an outbreak of PC air over the Great Lakes region, and a series of rapidly moving invasions of NPP air across the western states. NPC is stagnating in the Scutheast, and a tongue of TA begins to move over Texas from the Gulf. The cross-sections from Oakland to Washington show the considerable depth of the PP compared to the Pc air and the tendency for warm-fronttype occlusions and upper cold-fronts to form from PP invasions. (Cold fronts are drawn solid black, warm fronts double lined, occluded fronts dashed, upper fronts dotted; temperature in °F and winds are entered for a few stations).—R. G. S.



FIG. 1. Synoptic Chart, Nov. 30, 1938, 7:10 a.m., E. S. T.



Nov 30, 1938

FIG. 2. Cross-section, Oakland to Washington, 4 a.m., E. S. T., Nov. 30, 1938.







FIG. 5. Synoptic Chart for 7:10 a.m., E. S. T., Dec. 2, 1938.



FIG. 6. Cross-section for 4:00 a.m., E. S. T., Dec. 2, 1938.



A ROSSBY DIAGRAM OF AN AIRPLANE SOUNDING AT NANKING, CHINA, AUG. 23, 1937. There is a shallow layer of TM air at the surface with a sharp front at 706 meters, above which Equatorial marine air exists to the top of the sounding. This sounding was made just after a typhoon passed inland over Nanking, the warmer EM being imported *aloft* by the circulation of the storm. (From a paper by Tu, *Bull. Amer. Met. Soc.*, March, 1939.)

Synoptic Charts Showing Winter Cyclones (Figs. 1, 2, 6-13 from: Dorsey, Bull. Amer. Met. Soc., Oct. 1938.)



FIG. 1. Deep cold air over New England was augmented by fresh Pc the next day. The warm and occluded fronts in the low over Michigan are producing snow (stippled area) over a wide region and caused heavy snow in New England later the same day as it moved eastward.



FIG. 2. The low off the east coast was formed by amalgamation of two weaker lows the day before. This storm caused N W gales and heavy snow on the seaboard. In this and Figs 2-4 the effect of fresh Pc outbreaks in sweeping up old occlusions ahead of them is evident.



Fig. 4 is the same.)

۱



FIG. 4 shows the sudden intensification of the coastal storm and the subsequent movement of the Pc air mass shown in Fig. 3.



FIG. 5 is a W-E cross-section of the air masses over southeastern New England and just north of the cyclone center at 8.00 a.m. the 20th, showing the occlusion of TG air causing heavy snowfall around New Haven due to lifting of the TG, but only light snow at Fall River where the TG is not being lifted much (see Fig. 4).

-



F16. 6. The N-S alignment of the PC cold front results when cold air passes rapidly south to the Gulf while the tropical air is not displaced eastward very far. A wave-dis-turbance has started in the southeast and an older one is occluding over New Brunswick. The western low joined with the southeastern one the next day and then moved NE-ward with the TM air spreading westward aloft over the PC causing very heavy snow and N-ly gales in New England. (Legend for this and Figs 7-18 same as in Fig. 1.)



FIG. 7.



FIG. 8.



FIG. 9. FIGS. 7, 8. and 9. A succession of weak occlusions and young wave disturbances along a quasistationary cold front, the last wave deepening and occluding into an intense cy-clone with heavy snow and gales over the northeast.


FIG. 10. A somewhat complicated situation accompanied by widespread precipitation. The three occluded lows resulted from a series of minor wave disturbances that came in from the Pacific. The southern low deepened further and occluded off Hatteras, causing heavy snow in Boston on the 14th.



F16. 11. A large occluding Pacific low moving eastward along the western PC front eventually drew TG into its circulation causing intensification and a new wave which was occluding the next day over New England. Note the upper cold front (warm-front occlusion) in the west where the PP-PC occluded front (NPC occluded) is moving aloft over the PC. The TG will soon enter into this upper occlusion by rising over the NPC and displacing it.



FIG. 12. The deep occlusion in Canada had been formed by TG intensifying an older occlusion that had advanced from the Pacific along a PC front to near Omaha. The PC spread south behind the low to California and by the 12th was as shown here modified to NPC with a fresh PC outbreak in the NW. A secondary low, in the southeast, formed at the base of the occlusion. It moved NE between rising pressure at Bermuda and the PA current flowing down from the N, occluding off the New England coast where it caused Nly gales and snow. The northern low is one of the spring type that sometimes develop into deep cold vortices without fronts—"dynamic lows".



FIG. 13. This shows a typical situation for PA invasion of the northeastern seaboard, induced by a slow moving high to the north and an occluding wave disturbance from the southeast. As the low moves NE, the PA may continue for days on the seaboard.

X. ISENTROPIC ANALYSIS *

JEROME NAMIAS

INTRODUCTION

TN AIR MASS and frontal analysis use is made of "indirect aerology" -a technique of deducing chiefly from observations of clouds and hvdrometeors the nature and structure of the atmosphere above the ground. This method supplies a good deal of information essential to weather analvsis and forecasting, and is especially valuable where direct observations of the upper air are lacking. Where a fairly dense network of upper-air soundings is available, however, indirect aerology naturally must give way to the consideration of observed conditions. In the United States we are fortunate in being able to make use each day of some thirty radiosonde observations, and it appears that this number will increase from time to time. Indirect aerology is thus being forced more and more into the background: but there arises the problem of how to use effectively these upper-air data in the daily rou-

§ 1. BASIS FOR THE ANALYSIS

In Articles II to IV we discussed the need in synoptic meteorology for conservative elements by means of which parcels of air may be identified from day to day. It was pointed out that two of the most conservative of these elements are potential temperature and mixing ratio or specific humidity, both of which do not change during adiabatic processes as long as the air remains unsaturated, and as long as turbulent redistribution of heat and moisture may be neglected. These two quantities are used as coördinates of the Rossby-diagram $[1]^1$, and if the points of an aerological sounding are plotted on such a diagram we obtain tine of analysis and forecasting. The current practice is all too often to carry out an analysis of surface weather maps, afterwards using the upper-air data merely as a check. This form of treatment, it hardly need be stated, rarely leads to the development of new and directly usable ideas for interpreting the soundings.

Appreciable progress in the use of upper-air data has recently been made by Rossby and his colleagues [3]¹ at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology: their technique, called isentropic analysis, goes further than merely supplementing the surface analysis of air masses and fronts; it brings to light much entirely new knowledge of the physical processes at work in the atmosphere. Isentropic analysis has already become an integral part of the modern forecaster's technique, and is now widely used in the United States.

the "characteristic" curve. This curve is unaltered during any adiabatic process involving the same particles, for in this case the individual points of the curve stay fixed. Thus the characteristic curve may be used to identify vertical air columns as they move over the surface of the earth. Under the assumption made above, each potential temperature in a series of characteristic curves obtained at different stages in the history of a moving air column will then be characterized by a practically unchang-

¹See references at end of this chapter.

^{*}Reproduced, with changes, from the MS of the chapter under the same title which appears in the book "Weather Analysis and Forecasting," by kind permission of Prof. Sverre Peterssen and the McGraw-Hill Book Company.

ing mixing ratio. We may therefore choose some particular surface of potential temperature and use the mixing ratio on this surface as an identifying element by means of which parcels of adiabatically moving air having the chosen potential temperature may be traced from day to day. The equation (see Article VIII)

 $S = C_{\rm p} \log \theta + {\rm constant}$

expresses the fact that a surface of constant potential temperature is also a surface of constant entropy, and hereafter we shall speak of it as an *isentropic surface*. Since the atmosphere is normally stable, the potential temperature increases steadily with elevation. We may then consider the atmosphere as consisting of an infinite number of thin isentropic sheets limited by the surfaces $\theta = \text{constant},$ $\theta + d\theta = \text{constant},$ etc.

The above considerations, in part, led Rossby [2, 3] to suggest that upper-air charts be drawn along isentropic surfaces, rather than along constant levels where the comparison of elements from point to point is at times misleading because of ascending and descending motion of the air through these level surfaces. Sir Napier Shaw [4] had suggested some years ago that weather maps be drawn along isentropic surfaces, and had actually constructed a few such charts containing isotherms. He pointed out that isotherms on an isentropic surface were also lines of constant density and constant pressure. But Shaw did not make use of the mixing ratio (w) as a second identifying element to be used on isentropic charts. For numerous reasons, probably the main one being the lack of aerological data at the time, Shaw's suggestion was not put into practice, and the method of analyzing conditions along isentropic surfaces lay dormant until revived by Rossby several years later. But other considerations, the fruit of later studies, helped to indicate that isentropic surfaces should be used.

In a study of the Gulf Stream, Rossby [5] found much evidence of large-scale cross-current mixing between the Gulf Stream water and its environment, and that this mixing takes place along surfaces of constant density². In the atmosphere, where compressibility must be taken into account, it is readily seen that this type of mixing must operate chiefly along isentropic surfaces. In figure 1, for example, we have a normal atmospheric stratification in which the po-



FIG. 1. FORCES RESISTING DISPLACEMENTS FROM ISENTROPIC SHEETS.

tential temperature increases with elevation. A parcel of air originally resting at A, if displaced to the point B, will be subjected to a downward force F₁, since it finds itself colder than its environment (see Art. II). Similarly, if the parcel is displaced to C a force F₂ resists the displacement. These restoring forces are proportional to the vertical gradient of But if A is potential temperature. displaced to D, that is, along an isentropic surface, there is no resisting force, since at each point the particle has the same temperature and density as its environment. Thus lateral mixing in the atmosphere must take place chiefly along the surfaces of constant potential temperature (isentropes). In saturated air the mixing operates

²Strictly speaking, surfaces of constant potential density.

chiefly along surfaces of constant equivalent-potential temperature. There is also some evidence in support of the view that the intensity of vertical mixing decreases and the intensity of lateral mixing increases as the vertical stability increases. This latter conclusion is known as Parr's principle[6].

The importance of isentropic mixing in the atmosphere lies in the fact that if it is of appreciable magnitude. this mixing must lead to sizable shearing stresses operating across planes normal to the isentropic surfaces. whenever there are variations in wind velocity in a broad current flowing along the isentropic surface. If a westerly current flowing along an isentropic surface is of such character that the velocities are larger to the north and diminish to the south. shearing stresses will tend to speed up the westerlies to the south and retard the eastward flow along the northern edge of the current. In other words, the shearing stresses tend to distribute momentum uniformly over all filaments of the current. As a result of these stresses, frictional volume forces are set up which act in the direction of the axis of the current, retarding in the regions of velocity maxima, accelerating in the regions of velocity minima. Under steady state conditions these axial forces must be balanced by Coriolis forces associated with slight motions normal to the current axes. Thus, as pointed out by Ekman [7], in the Northern Hemisphere an accelerating force F, per unit mass, acting eastward, produces a southward motion whose velocity is

$$p = \frac{F}{2\omega\sin\phi}$$

Fig. 2 shows diagrammatically the accelerating and retarding forces F_a and F_r , respectively, which operate on



FIG. 2.—Accelerating and retarding forces operating on an isentropic current profile in which velocity varies in neighboring filaments.

account of lateral mixing within a broad westerly current whose velocity profile is indicated by the curve. The motions which result from the Coriolis force are given by the arrows marked v.

It will be seen from Fig. 2 that air motions created by shearing stresses may result in regions of convergence and divergence. For example, at P air is being flung to the south, while at O it is being flung to the North, so that between these two filaments divergence must set in. Similarly. convergence must set in in the region between O and Q. At the ground in regions above which convergence of this nature is taking place at all levels the pressure rises, while below regions of divergence the surface pressure falls. Far to the right of the stream the lateral shearing stresses will also produce convergence, for to the extreme south the velocities are hardly accelerated at all. Therefore. it is highly probable that lateral shearing stresses may be important in producing cross-isobar wind components, and thus also pressure variations which are of a purely dynamic rather than thermal-advective nature. There has been accumulated an increasing mass of evidence, both on theoretical and observational grounds. that the magnitude of these lateral shearing stresses is sufficient to account for such pressure variations. Thus by equating isentropic shearing stress within sloping parallel isentropic surfaces which intersect the ground at a normal angle and stress due to ground friction (and assigning reasonable values of lapse rate and wind velocity in temperate latitudes) Rossby [8] obtained a lateral stress of 167 dynes/cm² corresponding to an isentropic shear of 2.5×10^{-5} sec⁻¹ and an isentropic eddy viscosity of 6.7×10^6 grams/cm/sec. These values agree fairly well in order of magnitude with those obtained from a study of the diffusion of water vapor actually observed in isentropic charts (Grimminger [9]); moreover, they lie between those found by Richardson and Proctor for diffusion over small distances and those obtained by Defant by considering cyclones and anticyclones as large-scale turbulent elements in the general circulation. The analysis of isentropic charts has shown that eddies of appreciably smaller size than extra-tropical cyclones and anticyclones occur almost daily in the isentropic flow patterns.

There is being gathered an increasing mass of observational evidence to substantiate the theory summarized above³. In the following pages we shall briefly discuss the practical results of studies of some of this material.

Before proceeding with this discussion it is well to repeat that the isentropic analysis suggests itself as a practical tool in synoptic meteorology for the following two reasons:

1. It provides a method of identifying and following large-scale moist and dry currents and of anticipating their subsequent thermodynamic modifications.

2. It provides a method for taking into consideration lateral shearing stresses and their hydrodynamical effects on the prevailing flow pattern.

§ 2. PLOTTING ROUTINE

The mechanical operation of preparing upper-air data in a form suitable for isentropic analysis is quite simple. We require for the analysis two sets of upper-air charts: isentropic charts, for which an ordinary geographical base map suffices, and atmospheric cross sections which represent vertical planes cutting through the atmosphere along desired lines. The choice of some convenient isentropic surface or surfaces for analysis must then be made. The deciding factor in this regard is the general elevation of the surface, which again depends upon the general temperature distribution. Thus the isentropic surface $\theta = 290^{\circ}$ which has been found useful in the United States during the winter months is far too low during the summer months. In general, the isentropic sheet finally chosen should be high enough to be above the layer influenced by surface friction, and at the same time, low enough to show a large range of specific-humidity values. It is obvious that over a large area of diverse topographical and climatic features these two criteria

³A complete quantitative treatment of the underlying theory is at present in preparation by C.-G. Rossby and his colleagues.

cannot be completely satisfied. However, it is in general possible to find an isentropic surface that satisfies these conditions well enough for a reasonably sound analysis.

In North America suitable values of potential temperature for the individual seasons are:

Season	Potential Temperature
Winter	290°-295° A
Spring	295° - 300° A
Summer	310° - 315° A
Fall	300° - 305° A

The abrupt increase from spring to summer values is due to the normally rapid increase of free air temperatures as summer convection sets in.

During periods of unusual weather it is sometimes necessary to change to a different surface for a few days, and then to return to the normal for the season. It should be pointed out. however, that such changes carry with them a certain loss of continuity-and it cannot be emphasized too strongly that continuity is the primary requirement of isentropic analvsis. For this reason it is most advantageous to follow from day to day the flow patterns in a given isentropic surface, and when an abnormal period suggests change of surface, to construct an additional set of charts for a more representative surface for this particular period.

The elements plotted along the isentropic surface are the mixing ratio, saturation mixing ratio, and atmos-

pressure⁴. The appropriate pheric values for plotting on the isentropic chart are readily extracted from aerological soundings with the help of some convenient thermodynamic diagram (see Article III). The pilot-balloon wind observations are then entered along the isentropic surface for those stations where the height (or pressure) of the isentropic surface is already evaluated. In addition to the above data, it is helpful to indicate the form and motion of clouds as well as hydrometeors observed at the aerological sounding stations together with the levels in which these phenomena are reported.

The atmospheric cross-section diagrams now in use in United States have pressure (on a logarithmic scale, but $p^{0.288}$ scale is being introduced) as ordinate and horizontal distance as abscissa. The values of mixing ratio and potential temperature are plotted at the significant levels for each station. If time permits it is convenient to plot also the relative humidity and the temperature. By constructing lines of constant moisture and constant potential temperature in the cross sections we obtain a picture of the moisture and temperature distribution along the vertical plane represented by the cross section, as well as a view of the moisture pattern in the isen-Pilot-balloon wind tropic surfaces. observations, clouds and hydrometeors are also plotted in the cross sections.

§ 3. TECHNIQUE OF ANALYSIS

In order to enter all available pilot-balloon winds on the isentropic surface it is necessary to sketch a set of lines of constant pressure. We shall refer to these as contour lines. Usually it suffices to draw such lines for each 50th millibar. The number of aerological soundings is in general insufficient for drawing the contour lines in a purely mechanical fashion. Contour lines may be drawn more accurately by taking into consideration the guiding factors mentioned below. It is, indeed, necessary to make use of these aids when one wishes to extend the analysis into regions in which the data are sparse.

⁴Byers [10] has developed the use of condensation pressure instead of mixing ratio, and that method has been adopted in the U. S. Weather Bureau.

The particular isentropic surface or surfaces to be analyzed may be sketched immediately in the cross sections, and the positions of troughs or ridges may thus be determined and indicated on the isentropic map.* In sketching the isentropes on the cross sections, one should bear in mind that in the case of adiabatic lapse rates, (i.e., $d \theta/dz = 0$) the isentropes run vertically. In general, one can determine the lapse rate directly from the isentropes by making use of the following simple derivation. As an approximation we may write:

$$\theta = T + z$$

where T is the temperature and z the height above sea level expressed in hundreds of meters. Differentiating with respect to elevation we obtain:

 $\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial z} = \frac{\partial T}{\partial z} + 1$, or $\frac{\partial T}{\partial z} = \frac{\partial \theta}{\partial z} - 1$.

If one chooses for dz a unit distance, say 1000 m, then $\frac{\partial T}{\partial z}$, is the lapse rate, determined by simply noting the difference of potential temperature in the vertical range; or the distance between two successive isentropes may be estimated, and $\frac{\partial T}{\partial z}$ quickly determined. This method is especially helpful when lapse-rate diagrams are not at hand.

The domes and ridges in the isentropic surfaces are found in regions occupied by cold air masses, and the troughs in the isentropic surfaces are found in the warm air masses. To the extent that the surface pressure changes are due to advection of cold and warm masses, the slope of the isentropic surfaces will be greatest above the isallobaric maxima.

Fronts on the surface weather map also offer a great deal of information

about the structure and pattern of the contour lines. Regions in the vicinity of well marked fronts are characterized by a crowding of the contour lines. Since cold fronts are generally much sharper and steeper than warm fronts, this steep gradient of contour lines on the isentropic chart is usually at its maximum just behind cold fronts. Moreover, as is to be expected, the contour lines usually run parallel to the surface fronts. Experience shows that most well-defined fronts are characterized by constant, or almost constant, potential temperature, so that the frontal surfaces have a marked tendency to coincide with the isentropic surfaces. Moreover, since a frontal surface is characterized by stable stratification,

 $\frac{\partial \theta}{\partial z}$ would have a maximum within

the transition zone. Since lateral mixing occurs mainly along isentropic surfaces, it follows that frontal surfaces which are parallel to isentropic surfaces will not be destroyed by On the other hand, frontal mixing. surfaces which intersect the isentropic surfaces will dissolve on account of lateral mixing, unless the front is situated in a field of motion which is pronouncedly frontogenetical. When the front is associated with large areas of precipitation, the process is no longer isentropic, and lateral mixing does not take place along isentropes, but along surfaces of constant equivalent-potential temperature or surfaces of constant saturated potential wet bulb temperature. In such cases the isentropic surfaces will cross the frontal surfaces. At cold fronts, however, the area of precipitation is normally relatively narrow so that, in most cases, cold fronts lie along isentropic surfaces above the frictional layer. The warmest air is normally found just ahead of the sur-

^{*}Prof. Spilhaus has suggested a more refined technique for drawing the isentropes (Bulletin Amer. Met. Soc., June, 1940).

face cold front. Thus the trough in the contour lines is usually found slightly in advance of the cold front, with a steep upward slope of the isentropic surface in the rear of the cold front.

The parallelism of contour lines with well-marked cold fronts many times enables one to construct height lines in regions where upper-air observations are sparse. The application of this principle to frontal-wave disturbances is apparent, for here there must be a wavelike pattern in the contour lines roughly parallel to the frontal waves in the synoptic surface chart.

Sharp warm fronts show up in the contour-line pattern in much the same manner as do cold fronts, the gradient increasing abruptly at the front while the lines remain fairly parallel to the There are, however, many front. warm fronts on the surface weather maps which are not associated with this simple contour-line pattern above. Moreover, the surface maps frequently indicate an homogeneous air mass in the warm sector, while the isentropic charts show conclusively that the warm air is far from homogeneous aloft, but rather characterized by troughs in the contour lines suggestive of fronts. Some time after their appearance in the contour-line pattern, these troughs may appear on surface charts as regions of frontogenesis, suggesting that such newly formed fronts are a *result* rather than a *cause* of the processes in the upper air. It thus appears that many fronts on the surface weather map are induced by action taking place first in the upper air and later showing up at the ground. This, obviously, means that a frontogenetical wind-field develops aloft and gradually extends downwards.

The above ideas are illustrated in Fig. 3:-The light broken lines labelled z, z + 1, etc., are contour lines of an isentropic surface. H indicates regions where the isentropic surface is high, and L regions where it is low. Fig. 3a represents the normal topography, while Fig. 3b shows a type of topography which is associated with frontogenesis within the warm air mass subsequent to the appearance of the trough in the contour lines. This latter case is presumably associated with frictionally driven anticyclonic eddies which we shall treat in more detail later on.

Finally, we may use the upper-air wind observations as entered directly for the observed heights of the isentropic surface over aerological sounding stations as a guide to the configuration of contour lines. In cases where the pressure distribution aloft is largely determined by the distribution of temperature, the winds blow nearly parallel to the contour lines so that domes or ridges are generally to the left of the current flow.



FIG. 3. RELATION OF CONTOUR LINE PATTERN TO SURFACE FRONTS.

§ 4. ISENTROPIC FLOW PATTERNS

An inspection of the distribution of moisture along an isentropic surface covering a sufficiently large area immediately brings to light the fact that there are regions of high and of low moisture concentration. If the network of aerological stations were sufficiently dense, it would be possible to draw mechanically a series of lines. each denoting a given mixing ratio. In this manner one could locate sources of moisture, or regions of injection of moist tongues, and likewise the regions from which dry air is supplied. Moreover, these currents could be followed in a continuous fashion from day to day as they travel along the isentropic surfaces. Unfortunately the distribution of aerological stations in any part of the world is much too sparse to permit such a mechanical delineation of moist and dry currents, and for this reason it becomes necessary to develop models and indirect clues by means of which characteristic "flow patterns" may be drawn which approach the real solution.

The topic of the source of our moist and dry currents is reserved for a later section of this chapter. For the present we shall treat the fundamental flow patterns which thus far have established themselves in the daily isentropic analysis. Once these models are recognized on the daily isentropic chart, the analysis of the moisture lines becomes appreciably simplified.

The patterns of the large-scale motions in the atmosphere appear to be controlled in large part by the rotation of the earth. If we consider a fluid chain of particles located in and moving with an isentropic surface, it follows from Bjerknes' circulation theorem that the total *absolute* circulation of this chain remains constant as it moves from latitude to latitude. The absolute circulation (C_a) is equal to the sum of the circulation of the fluid chain relative to the earth (C_r) and the absolute circulation obtained by the chain if it momentarily were fixed to the earth (C_{ω}) , or:

$$C_{\rm a} = C_{\rm r} + C_{\omega}$$

Positive values of C_a and C_r indicate circulation with cyclonic sense, negative values anticyclonic sense. It can be shown that C_{ω} is given by

$$C \omega = 2 \omega \Sigma$$

where Σ is the area enclosed by the projection of the fluid chain on the equatorial plane. Thus, if an originally stationary isentropic fluid chain moves northwards without change of the horizontal area it encloses, its equatorial projection increases, and since $(C_r + 2 \omega \Sigma)$ shall remain constant, C_r must decrease: hence. the chain will gain an increasing amount of anticyclonic circulation which adds to the circulation originally possessed by the chain. Similarly, a southward moving system tends to develop a cyclonic circulation. Cyclonic circulation normally expresses itself as a cyclonic curvature of flow, anticyclonic circulation as an anticyclonic curvature of flow. Thus the polar currents of cold dry air coming out of the north are generally cyclonically curved, while the warm, moist flows from a southerly direction have anticyclonic curvatures. These large-scale flows are the fast-moving streams and generally dominate the flow patterns observed on the daily isentropic charts. The axes of such streams may be delineated on the isentropic charts as curved lines along which the wind velocities are a maximum. Once these current axes are determined, they serve as a framework for isentropic flow patterns.

Once an air mass is set in motion, certain adjustments of the pressure field within and surrounding the current must take place more or less as they do in the case of the wake stream, investigated by Tollmien [11]. Thus if momentum is injected into a region where no horizontal pressure gradients previously exist. Rossby [12] has shown that there will be a banking of the current so that pressure rises along the right edge of the stream and falls along the left edge. This effect is due to the action of an initially unbalanced Coriolis force which attempts to create a new pressure distribution in order to balance the motion. There is thus a tendency for a mutual adjustment of pressure and velocity distributions. These adjustments are affected whenever atmospheric flow becomes out of balance with its pressure gradient.

The results of Rossby's theory which are of immediate practical value in isentropic analysis are:

1. Fast-moving streams tend to suffer a "banking" process so that a ridge of pressure tends to build up to the right (in the Northern Hemisphere) and a trough to the left of the stream.

2. The action of lateral shearing stresses operating on a current in which the velocity varies (as in Fig. 2) produces super-gradient winds along the boundaries, and thereby causes air to be flung across the isobars from lower to higher pressure, and this tends to build up higher pressure along the right edge of the stream.

3. The shear zones on either side of fast-moving currents are dynamically unstable (as shown by Pekeris [13]) and tend to break the current into eddies having the vorticity of the original current profile. Thus, anticyclonic eddies are formed to the right of fast-moving streams, cyclonic eddies to the left.

The development of an eddy affects the moisture distribution and creates a distinct pattern of moisture lines along an isentropic surface. In fig. 4a, for example, we have a zonal distribution of moisture in an isentropic surface in middle latitudes. The isen-



FIG. 4.—SUCCESSIVE STAGES, (a), (b), (c), (d), IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF AN ANTICYCLONIC EDDY AS REVEALED RY THE MOISTURE LINES.

tropic surface itself is higher to the north and tilts southward, so that it may be 5000 m above sea level in the north and only 2000 m high in the south. Let us now superimpose upon this zonal state a velocity field as indicated by the lower half of fig. 2. Then air to the south is accelerated through lateral shear, air is piled up to the right of the accelerated stream, and the motion takes on a circulatory pattern indicated by the broken ar-Since the moisture is carried row. along by the air and the motion is adiabatic, successive patterns of moisture lines indicated in figs. 4b to d are soon developed.

Once the moist tongue of an eddy is sketched in on an isentropic chart it is possible, with the help of the cross sections, to apply tests for the existence of the tongue in the specific area chosen. The basis for this test lies in the empirical fact that signifi-

sions of moisture above the chosen isentropic surface at either of the stations in the cross section, and if a moist tongue is assumed to lie between stations, the tongue must be drawn as a narrow vertical filament of moist air-a highly improbable condition, and certainly one that is rarely observed. This test is perhaps more clearly illustrated by imagining an isentropic chart (say for $A = 310^{\circ}$) where a moist tongue has been entered between two stations: in the axis of this moist tongue a mixing ratio of 7 g/kg has been indicated. Applying the cross section test we see that if the section is of the type shown in the fig. 5a, the moist tongue is real, while in fig. 5b it would be highly improbable, because here the moisture lines are quite arbitrarily drawn.

If the eddies remained stationary and developed in a regular fashion,



FIG. 5. ILLUSTRATING THE CROSS SECTION TEST FOR MOIST TONGUES. (a) MOIST TONGUE PROBABLE; (b) MOIST TONGUE HIGH IMPROBABLE AND SOLUTION TO BE ABANDONED IN FAVOR OF ANOTHER MORE LOGICAL ONE.

cant moist tongues spread out aloft and if a moist tongue is present on an isentropic surface *between* aerological stations which are not more than 400 to 600 kilometers apart, it generally shows up in the cross section as an inversion of mixing ratio (or at least a minimum in the vertical gradient of moisture) at one or both of the stations. If there are no inverit would be simple to follow the moist and dry tongues around them. Their life history, however, varies from eddy to eddy, and is closely allied with the energy of the current or currents originally responsible for their development. Once the source of energy of the mother current diminishes, the convergence necessary to maintain the eddy fails and the circulation weakens, finally dissipating or merging into some other circulation. Thus the stability of any particular eddy may, to some extent, be deduced from the distribution of velocity around its center, as shown by Namias [14]. Stable eddies will have well developed circulations with wind velocities increasing radially outward from the center in a nearly symmetrical fashion. Such eddies will tend to rotate as solids. Once the mother current weakens, the symmetry of the velocity profile tends to vanish and the eddy gradually dissipates. Also, for this reason the moisture lines may sometime indicate an eddy pattern which is the result of some already decayed circulation.

By assuming that the smaller anticyclonic eddies are frictionally driven, it is possible to deduce from the distribution of velocity around their centers the general direction of migration. Suppose we have an eddy with a velocity distribution as indicated in fig. 6. This eddy obviously derives its a direction normal to the isobars. In the southeastern quadrant of the eddy there is a region of sub-gradient winds which thus appears as a region of wind divergence. The converging air in the other quadrants (supergradient winds) piling up into the center of the eddy will naturally follow into the divergent region, and the eddy will follow a path indicated in fig. 6. Applying this rule in the general case, we may say that frictionally driven anticyclonic eddies tend to move into the region in which the tangential winds about them are lightest. This direction is normally in the direction of the mother current. It should be emphasized, however, that this rule applies chiefly in the developing stages of the eddy and when it is characterized by a symmetry in the velocity distribution. The use of the above rules for determining the movement and stability of anticyclonic eddies on the isentropic chart will do much to assist in the analysis of the flow patterns and in making forecasts of



FIG. 6. RELATION OF DIRECTION OF MOVEMENT OF ANTICYCLONIC EDDIES TO DISTRIBUTION OF WIND VELOCITY.

energy from the westerly and northwesterly current, and it may be assumed that the air motion, being nongradient, has a small component in the movement of moist and dry tongues.

To the left of fast-moving streams a zone of cyclonic wind shear exists, which tends to develop cyclonic eddies. When cyclonic eddies are sharply defined they are generally associated with occluding or occluded cyclones. The dominating current in such cases is not the warm moist air coming from the south, but rather the cold dry air streaming into the eddy cyclonically from the north. The structure of the cyclonic flow pattern normally observed in occluding cyclones is shown diagrammatically in fig. 7. cyclonic eddy observed in tropical currents moving northward. Where the polar air intrudes into the system from the north it develops cyclonic vorticity in order to counterbalance the decreasing cyclonic vorticity of the earth's rotation. Each current attempts to impart the vorticity to its surroundings, and this is accomplished through isentropic shearing stresses. Thus a branch of the moist flow is diverted from the mother cur-



FIG. 7. FRONTS INDICATED AT THE SURFACE AND SCHEMATIC FLOW PATTERN AROUND AN OCCLUDED CYCLONE AS SHOWN BY THE MOISTURE LINES IN AN ISENTROPIC SUR-FACE IN MID-AIR.

The flow pattern is indicated by the moisture lines, and the arrows represent the instantaneous flow of dry (D) and moist (M) currents relative to the movement of the cyclone. In the model it is observed that two systems are struggling for supremacy: an anticyclonic moist current, M, to the right, and a cyclonic dry current, D, to the left. The moist current, having come up from the south, tends to acquire anticyclonic curvature indicated by the directional flow arrow to the upper right. This part of the pattern may thus be considered as the normal type of antirent into the cyclonic flow. Thus at some point there is branching of the moist flow, and this point appears to be situated in the vicinity of the occlusion point on the surface weather map.

If this branching is due chiefly to lateral shearing stresses, we may arrive at some valuable rules by assuming that in the region of branching *real horizontal divergence* as well as divergence of the stream lines is occurring (Namias [15]). Thus, if the flow pattern prevails through a fairly deep layer of the atmosphere, the surface pressure falls in the region below the branching. This effect is, of course, superimposed upon the pressure changes due to density advection. If the region of divergence is situated some distance from the center of the surface cyclone, a secondary cyclone may form near the peak of the warm sector at the ground.

The effects of the branching upon the pressure distribution at the sur-

§ 5. THE DISPLACEMENT OF FLOW PATTERNS WITH HEIGHT

Thus far we have concerned ourselves with flow patterns observed in one isentropic surface. Experience has shown (Simmers [16]) that there is a relatively small difference in the flow pattern from one isentropic sheet to another. This, however, does not hold true if we choose an isentropic surface which is so low that it comes under the influence of the surface friction. The slight displacement of flow pattern with elevation, which occurs above the friction layer, conforms usually with the displacement with elevation of cyclonic and anticyclonic centers. It should be noted, however, that there are exceptions and that these are frequently associated with radical changes in (Namias [17]). weather situation The most important exception, perhaps, is the case when an anticyclonic

face may be roughly estimated by the strength of the interacting currents. Thus a weak anticyclonic eddy will generally yield to an invading strong cyclonic flow of polar air, and in this case no secondary will result, while two strong currents of different vorticity will invariably cause large pressure falls and lead to deepening and possibly cyclogenesis.

eddy is present below a cyclonic eddy. This case is represented schematically in fig. 8, where the solid lines represent the flow pattern at some isentropic surface, while the broken lines. show the flow pattern along an isentropic surface ten degrees higher in potential temperature. The domes of the isentropic surfaces are indicated by H and the troughs by L. With such a vertical distribution of flow patterns it is clear that while the lower layers over a region are becoming progressively warmer and moister, the higher layers are becoming colder The advection thus leads and drier. to two processes in which the potential energy of the air column is increased: (a) where the lower layers are becoming warmer and the upper lavers are becoming colder, the lapse rate is made steeper; (b) since the



FIG. 8. FLOW PATTERNS AT DIFFERENT ISENTROPIC SURFACES WHICH LEAD TO INCREASING INSTABILITY.

lower layers are becoming richer in moisture while the upper layers are becoming drier, the energy due to convective instability is increasing. This combination of effects makes it easier for frontal activity to produce precipitation, and in general adds to the supply of energy available for cyclogenesis. It also facilitates the outbreak of local showers due to diurnal heating if the moist layer is thick.

A quick test for the conservatism of any particular isentropic flow pattern with height is afforded by the cross sections. Thus in fig. 9A we have the conservative case where it makes little difference in the flow pattern whatever isentropic surface is chosen for analysis, while fig. 9B shows the case in which the flow pattern at a surface $\theta = 305^{\circ}$ would differ appreciably from that on the surface $\theta = 295^{\circ}$. In the latter case it is necessary to construct isentropic charts for both these surfaces to obtain a more complete picture of the atmospheric flow patterns.



FIG. 9A. A conservative cross-section indicating that choice of isentropic surface will not materially affect location of major flow patterns. F16. 9B.—Cross section indicating that flow patterns change appreciably from one isentropic surface to another.

§ 6. THE REPRESENTATION OF GRADIENT FLOW IN ISENTROPIC SURFACES

The principal reason for the use of isentropic charts is that they afford a means of determining atmospheric motion independent of assumptions regarding the existence of gradient flow. Nevertheless it is frequently desirable to know the gradient flow, and it appears that the mutual adjustment of velocity and pressure distribution takes place in such a fashion that most of the time crossisobar components of the wind are small compared with the gradient flow.

A highly satisfactory method of representing gradient flow in isentropic surfaces has been suggested by Montgomery [18]. His development leads to the expression for the stream function of the gradient wind in an isentropic surface:

$\psi = C_p T + \Phi$

where $C_{\rm p}$ is the specific heat of air at constant pressure, T is the absolute air temperature at the isentropic surface, and Φ the geopotential. Using meter-ton-second units Φ is expressed in dynamic decimeters, and the value of the constant $C_{\rm p}$ is approximately 1000.

If lines for equal values of his function ψ are drawn on an isentropic chart, they form streamlines and serve a purpose similar to isobars on

a constant level chart.* In regions where pilot balloon wind data are lacking these isentropic stream lines are quite helpful. Moreover, by comparing the patterns of stream lines from day to day, and noting the changes of the ψ values, it is possible to get a better idea as to the future

8.7 THE RELATION OF ISENTROPIC FLOW TO PRECIPITATION

Since one of the necessary conditions for the formation of precipitation is the presence of sufficient moisture content, it is not surprising that there is generally found some relation between moist tongues and precipitation areas. In winter, when the stratification is relatively stable over the continents, most of the precipitation over continental areas is caused by frontal action. The isentropic chart frequently indicates regions of ascent or descent of air through the relative configurations of the moisture lines.[†] A frequent type of flow pattern is shown in fig. 10, where a moist tongue ascends the isentropic surface.





It should be mentioned that the configuration of moisture and contour lines shown in fig. 10 does not always indicate upslope motion, because the shape of these lines is the result of a lengthy development, and the up-

trajectory of dry and moist tongues of the isentropic chart.⁺ There is also considerable advantage in constructing the stream function chart before completing the isentropic flow pattern.

*Values of ψ are now being transmitted daily over the airway and Weather Bureau teletype circuits in the United States.

slope motion may have ceased by the time when the synoptic picture was obtained.

Another indication of upslope motion along the isentropic surface is obtained from the wind observations. If there are sizeable wind components normal to the contour lines, and if the contour patterns are uniquely defined. by observations from a dense network of soundings, then it is probable that the air is ascending or descending the isentropic slope in the direction of However, when the conthe wind. tour lines themselves are displaced with the same speed as the wind component normal to them, the wind components normal to the contour lines are not indicative of up- or downslope motion. If there is any doubt as to whether there is upslope or downslope motion the observed mixing ratios should be compared with the saturation mixing ratios (or the pressure should be compared with the condensation pressure) in order to find out how much lifting is necessary in order to make the air saturated. In addition, consecutive maps should be compared in order to determine whether the air is approaching saturation or not. A study of the closed systems and areas of precipitation will give additional information to this end.

In regions where the heaviest fron-

[†]See in this connection the interesting suggestions of Starr to show such changes by means of a "relative-motion isentropic chart". (V. Starr, Bulletin Amer. Met. Soc., June, 1940).

tal precipitation occurs the gradient of contour lines is steep and a source of moist air is not far removed. The precipitation band is normally orientated to the left of moist tongues so that there is probably considerable upslope motion of the moist air in this region.

In the warmer seasons much of the precipitation in continental areas is non-frontal in character. This precipitation is chiefly of the convective type, and occurs as local showers and and thundershowers. In Articles VIII and IX we discussed the detailed use of energy diagrams for forecasting these showers. However, the use of energy diagrams becomes even more effective when one takes into consideration not only the state represented by the energy diagram at the time of the sounding but also the probable changes with time caused by the advection of moist and dry tongues at various levels. The isentropic analysis offers by far the most satisfactory method of doing this.

We shall first discuss a few of the characteristic vertical distributions of temperature and moisture normally observed over continental United States in summer. The first type (shown in fig. 11) has an extensive dry layer overlying a relatively moist stratum of about 2 km thickness. The transition zone between the lower moist and the overlying dry air is normally a very stable layer, often a marked temperature inversion. The second type has no discontinuities in temperature and moisture content. Furthermore, the air column is not far from saturation. Type 3 represents a transition between the types 1 and 2, and here there is a 2-km laver of moist air next to the surface. with dry air sandwiched in between this stratum and another laver of high moisture content aloft. As in type 1 there is a stable layer between the dry and moist air, although less stable, and as in type 2 the lapse rate aloft is fairly uniform and normally slightly steeper than the saturated adiabat, while in type 1 it is almost equal to the dry adiabat.

cient to overcome the negative area below and positive areas above for convective impulses from below. Normally such impulses (even at the time of maximum temperature) are insufficient to frustrate the negative area and cause overturning of the whole air column. Type 2 normally gives large amounts of available energy for upward impulses that occur at the



FIG. 11. CHARACTERISTIC VERTICAL DISTRIBUTIONS OF TEMPERATURE AND MOISTURE OBSERVED OVER CONTINENTAL UNITED STATES IN SUMMER. NUMER-ALS PLOTTED ALONG THE ASCENT CURVES INDICATE RELATIVE HUMIDITY. (Plotted on pseudo-adiabatic charts, $p^{0.288}$ vs *T*, with the dry adiabats (isentropes) of $\theta = 290^{\circ}$, 300°A, only.)

time of maximum temperature. This type represents conditional instability of a sort which may easily become realized during the warmer part of the day. Type 3 is very stable for convective impulses near the surface, and normally only negative areas will be observed.

From the above remarks it might be supposed that showers and convective thunderstorms rarely occur with types 1 and 3, while they are common with type 2. While this simple rule would have considerable success in its application to forecasting, it would fail in certain cases. Before we discuss these cases, it is possible to comment further on such vertical distributions of temperature and moisture as are represented in fig. 11. In summer the normal temperature distribution over a large part of the United States is almost barotropic, and the main concentration of solenoids appears to be found along the northern border of the continent*. Consequently, strong westerlies are observed over this portion, and we may look upon the zonal distribution of velocity as being similar to that pictured in the lower half of fig. 2. South of such a westerly current anticyclonic eddies form which create distinct patterns of moisture. This phenomenon occurs so frequently over certain areas of the United States that mean isentropic charts constructed for a month, season, group of the same seasons of or different years, reveal the eddies through the moisture lines (cf. fig. 14, e.g.). The normal flow pattern shows that dry air from the north curls anticyclonically southward while moist air from the south converges in a spiral fashion with this dry air into the anticyclonic eddy. The axis of the dry tongue normally runs through the Mississippi Valley, while the moist tongue generally makes its appearance over northern Mexico and then curves eastward.

*See para. 9 infra for a more detailed picture of the normal state.



FIG. 12. DESTRUCTION OF DRY-TYPE STABLE ZONES (SHOWN BY ARROWS) AFTER THE ADVECTION OF A MOIST TONGUE ALOFT. These soundings were made from June 23rd to 28th, 1937. Numbers to the right of the soundings are the relative and (in parentheses) specific humidities. Clouds are indicated by international symbols.

Comparing this pattern with the normal pressure field observed at the surface it will be seen that while the flow of air in the surface layers over eastern United States is uniformly from the south and southwest, there are regions where the current system is reversed aloft. Thus, although the lowest layers of air are generally characterized by considerable homogeneity, there are sections where this moist and warm air, normally of Tropical Maritime origin, is overrun by drver air coming from the north. Moving southward, the dry air subsides, so that by the time it reaches the core of the anticyclonic eddy it has become warmer and drier than air anywhere in its vicinity. This type of air mass (Ts, or S) is discussed in Prof. Willett's chapter on air mass properties and in the appendix thereto by Mr. Showalter.

Soundings of type 1 may generally be explained on the above basis. The stable transition zones between the moist and overlying dry air are maintained in part by continued subsi-These stable zones exist for dence. long stretches of time during the summer season, and, when they are especially tenacious, periods of drought result. They are frequently destroyed, however, after the advection of a moist air current aloft. Fig. 12 shows some typical examples when dry stable lavers (marked by arrows) were destroyed through advection of moist air aloft. Experience shows that soundings of type 1 will be transformed into type 3 through advection of moist tongues aloft. Through turbulent redistribution of heat and moisture, and through radiative exchange of heat, soundings of type 3 may be transformed into type 2.

Summer showers and thundershowers occur frequently with type 3, while they are rarely observed with

type 1. Part of the reason for this is that the stable layer of type 1 effectively damps out any impulses from below, while the same impulses have a better chance of penetrating the less stable transition zone of type 3. But if we consider isentropic mixing and Parr's principle (that this kind of mixing is more pronounced the greater the stability), it becomes clear that in type 1 ascending currents of moist air from below are quickly robbed of their moisture as they enter the stable zone, while in type 3 this effect is not so pronounced. In the case of type 2 the lateral mixing is less pronounced than in 1 or 3 and, moreover. the mixing in this case does not deplete the moisture of the rising current appreciably. Therefore, the condensation levels of type 1 are raised to high levels, and latent heat of condensation is not made available for the growth of Cu clouds and showers. Moreover, the increased lateral mixing with type 1 reduces the total upward momentum of impulses. Cumulus growth is, however, more likely in type 3 and most likely in type 2. The few thunderstorms observed in connection with soundings of type 1 are likely to be high-level thundershowers. and the precipitation from them rarely reaches the ground in appreciable amounts, since it is evaporated into dry air below the cloud base.

In connection with type 3 it has been pointed out that frequently the lapse rate is so stable in the lower layers, even at the time of maximum temperature, that upward impulses are soon damped out. Convective thundershowers which occur with such stratifications normally occur at night-time, especially in the early The thunderstorms morning hours. observed over midwestern United States in summer appear to be mostly of this type. for the diurnal frequency distribution of thunderstorms here shows a night-time maximum at this season. The more probable conclusion is that the impulses generating these storms originate not in the lower layers where the stability is so marked, but in the upper layers. One factor which readily suggests itself as an important one is radiational cooling of the moist air aloft. At the top of these moist currents is normally found another stable zone, frequently an inversion. Cooling of moist air aloft becomes intensified when clouds form at the boundary surface, for clouds act as black bodies. The process thus envisioned demands that convective stirring occurs in the laver cooled from above, just as it must occur in a layer heated from be-However, the processes of relow. moving heat aloft and supplying it from below probably lead to convection of a somewhat different nature. Heating from below, when associated with steep lapse rates, may result in rapid upward motions of small elements, while cooling from above is probably slower acting and is transferred slowly downward.

For a thunderstorm to become energetic and produce sizable amounts of precipitation it must have available an ample supply of moisture. Since in summer the maximum concentration of moisture is generally in the surface layers, it follows that whatever the origin of the convection, overturning must eventually take place throughout these lowest lavers if the storm is to become of appreciable intensity. Thus if convection aloft is caused, let us say, by radiational cooling of a cloud layer, we must draw upon some supply of energy to carry this convection into the moisture-rich surface layers. This energy sometimes appears in layers which are conditionally unstable and moist.

The problem of forecasting summer showers therefore depends not only upon the stratification existing aloft in the early morning when soundings are made, nor entirely upon the changes brought about by diurnal heating (see Arts, II, VIII), but also upon the advection of moist and dry tongues aloft. The best method of estimating these advective changes lies in the isentropic analysis. In this manner we are able to detect in advance the likelihood of soundings of any of the above types being transformed into other types through advection.

When reliable isentropic charts are at hand, together with the corresponding cross sections, it is possible to obtain information of forecasting value which is not easily obtained from other charts. The problem of shower and thunderstorm forecasting. therefore, revolves chiefly about the determination of the lapse rate and the source and availability of moisture. Tongues of dry and moist air, as shown by the isentropic charts. may be identified from day to day by means of these charts. In summer it is found almost invariably that thunderstorm activity and showers are associated with the moist tongues, while the dry tongues are free of convective precipitation. Furthermore, by making use of cross sections one is able to form an idea of the representativeness of the chosen isentropic chart. Sources of moisture indicated within the frictional layer may be found to be shallow and not representative of conditions in higher isentropic surfaces. The presence or invasion of dry air aloft would then counteract the possibility of showers and thunderstorms. Thus, though an energy diagram may offer indications of possibilities for shower activity, one should use the isentropic chart to

ISENTROPIC ANALYSIS

take into account any likely changes. Suppose, for example, that an energy diagram indicates large positive areas and that moist air extends to high levels-both indications of thunderstorm activity during the day. If a tongue of dry air is displacing the moist air at upper levels, the probability of thunderstorms is greatly lessened. Then again, the horizontal extent of the source of moisture must be considered. A narrow jet of moist air will suffer lateral mixing with the dry air flanking it on both sides. and this dessicating process will act against thunderstorm formation. The showers, if they occur at all, will then be restricted to the very central portion of the moist tongue (along its horizontal axis), where the moisture is least affected by the admixture of dry air. On the other hand, extensive regions or broad tongues of moisture may remain comparatively unaltered by lateral mixing, and thereby provide ideal conditions for continued thunderstorm activity.

Thunderstorms caused, at least in part, by radiation from upper levels are best forecast by the use of energy diagrams in conjunction with the isentropic chart. The first step is to decide what changes in the temperature and moisture distribution are likely to take place. The changes in the flow pattern of moisture are brought about mainly through advection and lateral mixing. Wind direc-

§ 8. THE PROCESSES WHICH TEND TO DISRUPT THE CONTINUITY OF ISENTROPIC ANALYSIS

From the standpoint of following the same sheet of air from day to day the ideal method of representation would be one in which non-adiabatic as well as adiabatic influences were taken into consideration. With such a method one could construct charts along substantial sheets*-that is. sheets which contain the same air

tions and velocities on the isentropic chart provide the chief indices of the magnitude of both these factors For example, lateral mixing is most favored in regions where the horizontal wind shear is greatest. After considering modifying factors, it is necessary to determine the layer from which the principal radiational loss of energy will take place. This laver is not difficult to place: it is usually the most pronounced dry inversion of the sounding. If it appears at low levels, in general below about 2 km. it will be of little significance in helping large-scale convective activity, as was explained in the discussion of the lateral mixing in the dry-inver-But the radiational emission sion. laver, when at higher levels, becomes increasingly important, for the heat lost to space at the boundary helps set off convection through a thick laver of atmosphere. The rate of cooling at cloud tops is appreciably greater than from unsaturated air under the same conditions, and therefore the nearness to saturation of the moist laver must be considered.

If the lower layers of the atmosphere are too cold, the tephigram will indicate that convective energy aloft will be dissipated before it can receive supplies of moisture from the lower layers. In this case, even though the chief emission layer is at high levels, thunderstorms are not likely to occur.

particles from day to day. By following these identical sheets and describing the motion of elements with respect to such sheets, one would be using the Lagrangian method of

^{*}Other writers have used the expression "equi-substantial sheet" instead of "substan-tial", when referring to a fluid sheet rather than to a surface of a solid; but it does not seem necessary to make this fine and cumbersome distinction .- Ed.

describing the changes in the atmosphere. While at present it is not possible to chart exactly substantial surfaces, there is much evidence to indicate that isentropic surfaces do not depart appreciably from substan-Thus, the isentropic tial surfaces. method of analysis is essentially a Lagrangian method. In a study of subsidence Namias [20] has shown that the potential temperatures at the bases and at the tops of subsidence inversions remain fairly constant from day to day. Thus, if, in such cases, isentropic surfaces are used, it is reasonably certain that we are dealing with the same sheet of air particles from day to day. Moreover, it is frequently observed that sandwiched layers of dry and moist air remain within the same isentropic sheets for several days. From these observations it appears that, as a first approximation, we may consider isentropic surfaces as substantial surfaces.

Nevertheless, there are always at work non-adiabatic processes which tend to destroy the conservatism of isentropic surfaces and to raise or lower the isentropes relative to the



FIG. 13.—Illustrating the influence of nonadiabatic cooling on the elevation of an isentropic surface.

substantial surfaces and also tend to transport moisture across the isentropic surfaces. These non-adiabatic processes are mainly due to: (a) radiation, (b) evaporation and condensation, and (c) convection. While the influences of these processes may be appreciable over lengthy intervals of time, they are usually insufficient for disrupting the fundamental isentropic flow patterns from one day to the next.

The influence of radiative cooling is illustrated in fig. 13. As cooling proceeds, the temperature distribution changes from A to B to C. The substantial surfaces do not change elevation but since the temperature decreases, the height of any given isentropic surface increases from day to day. Since the normal moisture distribution is one in which mixing ratio decreases with elevation, the mixing ratio observed in a given isentropic surface decreases with time. Since the rate of radiational cooling in the free atmosphere is usually small compared with the adiabatic cooling, it does not destroy the essential character of the flow pattern. This slow rate of free-air cooling is indicated by the cooling curves computed by Möller [21], which suggest that the mean temperature change resulting from the radiative unbalance in the atmosphere hardly exceeds 1.5C° per day,* which with normal lapse rate corresponds to a vertical displacement

^{*}Elsasser (Unpublished MS) has recomputed such cooling curves on the basis of newer data on the water vapor absorption spectrum. In general his values do not differ excessively from Möller's. However, both Möller's and Elsasser's curves are based on monthly means of upper-air conditions. On individual days the cooling must be much greater sometimes, perhaps as much as 10° or 15° C per day from a saturated warm stratum with a deep dry inversion above it. The figure 1.5° C quoted is for mid-latitudes; Elsasser's (*Bull. Amer. Met. Soc.*, May 1940) mean values for Florida soundings even in winter show over 2.0° C per day cooling at moderate elevations. Elsasser has published a radiation chart with which radiation in individual soundings can be computed (Calif. Inst. Techn. 1939).—R. G. Stone.

of the isentropic surface of about 300 m in one day. Nevertheless, it is at times necessary to introduce this factor to explain changes in moisture content or height of the isentropic surface which cannot satisfactorily be explained by advection or other causes. Where the isentropic surface is not far from snow-covered mountains, cooling by radiation and eddy transfer of heat must frequently be considered.

Opposite effects are observed when there is non-adiabatic heating. Then a substantial surface has its potential temperature raised so that the isentropic surface is lowered, and since the specific humidity normally decreases with elevation, there appears to be an increase in moisture within the affected area of the isentropic chart. This type of non-adiabatic modification is significant when the isentropic surface is near the ground. The influence is greatest in continental areas during the summer season. It is also important in mountainous country during all seasons.

Let us consider next the non-adiabatic effects produced by evaporation and condensation. Since condensation liberates and evaporation consumes heat, it becomes important to know whether these processes occur above, within or below the isentropic sheet under discussion.

If the chosen isentropic surface lies above the region where condensation occurs, its characteristics will not be materially affected. An example is afforded by the instability snow showers of polar continental air masses of winter. These flurries are generally formed in a shallow layer of air next to the earth's surface—a layer which is far below the representative isentropic surfaces which are chosen so as not to intersect the ground even in tropical air. In this case isentropic surfaces remain practically substantial surfaces.

If condensation and precipitation set in within the chosen isentropic sheet, latent heat is liberated and the potential temperature of the substantial surface is raised. The isentropic surface is then found at lower levels, and, since the specific humidity normally increases downward, the specific humidity in the isentropic surface increases. This increase might erroneously be interpreted as being due to advection from a neighboring source of moisture.

When precipitation falls through an isentropic sheet which is not saturated with moisture, evaporation will cool the air while the specific humidity increases. This lowers the potential temperature of the substantial surface, and raises the isentropic surface. If the moisture content decreases with elevation the mixing ratio at the chosen isentropic surface decreases in proportion to the humidity gradient. On the other hand, if the moisture content increases with elevation (as it often does along well defined frontal surfaces) the mixing ratio will increase. The increase in moisture with elevation is usually so slight that, though the isentropic surface rises, little change in the pattern of moisture results.

Probably the most significant process at work in causing isentropic surfaces to depart from substantial surfaces is convection, because vertical currents are highly effective in transporting moisture to higher levels. If it were not for the replenishment of moisture by convective currents, the moist tongues which are not associated with upslide motion along frontal surfaces would soon be dissipated through lateral mixing with the dry air flanking them.

In the discussion of the influence of convection on the moisture patterns on the isentropic chart it is convenient to distinguish between widespread convection within unstable air masses and convection associated with fronts. Convection that occurs along fronts (notably cold fronts) is usually restricted to a narrow zone which coincides with a moist tongue on the isentropic chart. While the vertical currents transport moisture to higher levels, water is also precipitated from the frontal cloud system. The convection which occurs along such fronts merely replenishes the moisture content of the moist tongue, and it does not disrupt the continuity of the isentropic analysis. The same also applies to purely local convection ("pinpoint convection"). The matter may, however, be different in cases of wide-

spread convection. The convective transfer of moisture may then at the beginning of this process radically change the moisture pattern aloft. This is particularly the case in Polar continental air when it moves over an ocean, because the convective currents will then transport much moisture to high levels. The convection that occurs in unstable Polar continental air moving over land in winter does not usually reach up to the representative isentropic surface: it therefore does not appreciably influence the moisture pattern aloft.

From the above it follows that the occurrence of convective as well as frontal precipitation is closely related to the moist tongues, and that the isentropic charts afford the best means for analyzing the processes in the free atmosphere.



FIG. 14. THE NORMAL FLOW PATTERN OVER UNITED STATES IN SUMMER. This chart is based upon aerological data for summer months from July, 1934, through August, 1939. It was constructed by averaging values interpolated at 5 degree intersections of longitude and latitude from analyzed monthly mean isentropic charts. The winds are normal resultant upper-air winds.

§ 9. THE MEAN STATE OF THE ATMOSPHERE AS REVEALED BY ISENTROPIC CHARTS

If the daily aerological soundings during a given month are averaged for various stations, we may construct isentropic charts and cross sections representing the mean state of the atmosphere for that month. The mean air flow may be obtained by computing the resultant winds from pilothalloon observations. (See the mean charts published monthly in the Mo. Wea Rev.). Similarly, it is possible to construct mean seasonal isentropic charts, and, if data were available, normal charts. An example is shown in fig. 14.

The outstanding feature of the normal summer pattern is the existence of two well-defined anticyclonic cells — one centered over western Texas, the other somewhere off the southeastern coastal states. Some light on the question of the formation of these eddies is furnished by northsouth atmospheric cross sections, a typical one for the summer season being reproduced in fig. 15. This sec-

the United States is south of this front and is within what appears as a thermally homogeneous air mass. In spite of the zonal homogeneity of temperature, and the consequent lack of solenoids to generate kinetic energy, there is observed a prevailing eastward flow of the tropical air. According to Rossby [22] the eastward current in the homogeneous air is maintained by frictional stresses from the much stronger westerly current to the north, and this energy is continually being dissipated in the form of eddies further to the south. If such eddies are maintained in more or less fixed locations over a sufficiently long period of time, the mean chart will display an eddy pattern in the moisture lines and in upper-air winds. The mean isentropic charts for individual summer months invariably reveal such eddies, and most of the time there are observed two anticyclonic cells placed about as they are in fig. 14.



for August, 1936, showing the distribution o potential temperature (broken lines) an specific humidity (full lines).

tion brings out the well-known fact that over North America the principal summertime Polar front is generally found in the vicinity of the Canadian border. Most of the time In all the mean summer isentropic charts studied there has been a moist tongue projecting from northern Mexico recurving towards the northeast and east. The region covered by this tongue has a maximum of precipitation in summer. It has been suggested by Wexler [23] that this preferred site for the anticyclonic eddy is largely due to topography and results from the field of solenoids to the north as well as from the field of solenoids established between the warm Rocky Mountain region and the colder Pacific region.

The point of injection of the moist tongue of the eastern eddy is normally over Florida, in which region there is a summer maximum of rainfall and a high frequency of thunderstorms.

While there is a similarity of mean monthly isentropic charts for different summer months and from year to year, it should not be inferred that the moisture patterns are always the same. Considerable deviations from the mean state are always associated with considerable anomalies in rainfall and temperature (Wexler and Namias [24]). Thus during the month of August, 1936, when one of the most severe droughts and heat waves occurred in the mid-west, the mean monthly pattern showed only one very extensive anticyclonic eddy covering the entire country rather than the normal double cellular pattern.

In winter, when the mid-latitude solenoid field is situated farther to the south, the mean isentropic charts do not generally display any outstanding eddies. Simultaneously, the daily charts show pronounced eddies with moist and dry tongues. The individual eddies then move rapidly. without preferring any particular site. While the above refers to the conditions over the North American continent, there can be little doubt that the principles outlined here apply in a general way throughout the world.

§ 10. REFERENCES

- [1] Rossby, C.-G., Thermodynamics Applied to Air Mass Analysis. Massachusetts Institute of Technology Meteorological Papers, Vol. I, No. 3, 1932.
- [2] Rossby, C.-G., and Collaborators, Aerological Evidence of Large-Scale Mixing in the Atmosphere. Transactions of the American Geophysical Union. 18th Annual Meeting, Pt. I, pp. 130-136, 1937.
- [3] Rossby, C.-G. and Collaborators, Isentropic Analysis. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, June-July, Vol. 18, pp. 201-209, 1937.
- [4] Shaw, Sir Napier: Manual of Meteorology. Vol. 3, The Physical Processes of Weather. Cambridge University Press, 1933, pp. 259-266.
- [5] Rossby, C.-G., Dynamics of Steady Ocean Currents in the Light of Experimental Fluid Mechanics. Papers in Physical Oceanography and Meteorology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, Vol. V, No. 1, 1936.
- [6] Parr, A. E., On the Probable Relationship Between the Vertical Stability and Lateral Mixing Processes. Journal du Conseil, Vol. XI, No. 3, 1936.
- [7] Ekman, V. W., Studien zur Dynamik der Meeresströmungen, Gerlands Beitr. Gcophysik, Vol. 36, p. 385, 1932.
- [8] Rossby, C.-G., Note on Shearing Stresses Caused by Large-Scale Lateral Mixing, Proceedings of the Fifth International Congress of Applied Mechanics, 1938. N. Y., 1939, pp. 379-381.

- [9] Grimminger., G., The Intensity of Lateral Mixing in the Atmosphere as Determined from Isentropic Charts. Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, Nineteenth Annual Meeting, 1938, Pt. I, p. 163.
- [10] Byers, H. R., On the Thermodynamic Interpretation of Isentropic Charts. Monthly Weather Review, Vol. 66, No. 3, 1938.
- [11] Tollmien, W., Berechnung turbulenter Ausbreitungsvorgänge, Zeitschrift für Angewandte Mathematik and Mechanik, Vol. 6, p. 468, 1926.
- [12] Rossby, C.-G., On the Mutual Adjustment of Pressure and Velocity Distributions in Certain Simple Current Systems. I and II. Sears Foundation: Journal of Marine Research, Vol. I. Nos. 1 and 3, 1937 and 1938.
- [13] Pekeris, C. L., Wave-Distribution in a Homogeneous Current. Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, Nineteenth Annual Meeting, 1938, Pt. I, pp. 163-164.
- [14] Namias, J., Forecasting Significance of Anticyclonic Eddies on Isentropic Surfaces. Transactions of the American Geophysical Union, Nineteenth Annual Meeting, 1938, Pt. I, pp. 174-176.
- [15] Namias, J., The Use of Isentropic Analysis in Short Term Forecasting. Journal of the Aeronautical Sciences, Vol. 6, No. 7, 1939.

- [16] Simmers, R. G., Isentropic Analysis of a Case of Anticyclogenesis. Part I C of Fluid Mechanics Applied to the Study of Atmospheric Circulations, Papers in Physical Oceanography and Meteorology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, Vol. VII, No. 1, 1938.
- tion, Vol. VII, No. 1, 1935.
 [17] Namias, J., Two Important Factors Controlling Winter-time Precipitation in the Southeastern United States. *Transactions* of the American Geophysical Union, 1939, Pt. III, pp. 341-347.
- [180] Montgomery, R. B., A Suggested Method for Representing Gradient Flow in Isentropic Surfaces, Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, Vol. 18, No. 6-7, June-July, 1937.
- [19] Namias, J., Thunderstorm Forecasting with the Aid of Isentropic Charts. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, Vol. 19, No. 1, Jan. 1988.
- [20] Namias, J., Subsidence within the Atmosphere, Harvard Meteorological Studies, No. 2, 1934. Namias, J., Structure and Maintenance

of Dry-type Moisture Discontinuities not Developed by Subsidence, Monthly Weather Review, Vol. 64, No. 11, 1936.

- [21] Möller, F., Die Wärmequellen in der freien Atmosphäre, Meteorologische Zeitschrift, Vol. 52, p. 408, 1935.
- [22] Rossby, C.-G., On the Maintenance of the Westerlies South of the Polar Front, Part 1A of Fluid Mechanics Applied to the Study of Atmospheric Circulations, Papers in Physical Oceanography and Meteorology, Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, Vol. VII, No. 1, 1938.
- [23] Wexler, H., Observed Transverse Circulations in the Atmosphere and their Climatological Implications. Thesis for Doctor's degree at Massachusetts Institute of Technology, (as yet unpublished), 1939.
- [24] Wexler, H. and Namias, J., Mean Monthly Isentropic Charts and their Relation to Departures of Summer Rainfall. *Transactions of the American Geophysical* Uniom, Nineteenth Annual Meeting, 1938, Pt. 1, pp. 164-170.

Isentropic Analysis of a Thunderstorm Situation, June 22-27, 1937

The following series of charts was used by Mr. Namias to illustrate his epoch-making paper on thunderstorm forecasting with the aid of isentropic analysis (*Bull. Amer. Met. Soc.*, Jan. 1938).

The tephigram in Figure 1 failed to give evidence of liability to showers since there was a large negative area, but this was in the warm sector (Fig. 3) and thunderstorms actually occurred in the vicinity that afternoon. Figure 2 gave every indication for showers but none occurred anywhere near the station that day. Therefore the assumption that any one particle or mass of air rises adiabatically through a resting medium and that airplane soundings taken in the early morning are representative of upper air conditions for the rest of the day are clearly invalid in some cases such as these. A study of these cases with the isentropic charts and cross-sections shown in Figures 4-7 permits these exceptions to be foreseen. The isentropic charts (Figs. 4 and 6) show a large moist tongue advancing over Detroit on the 23rd-24th which rapidly increases the specific humidity by many grams (see Fig. 9, also Fig. 12 of Mr.

Namias' chapter on Isentropic Analysis) so that showers could occur.

The advection of this moist air at intermediate levels destroys the preexisting dry-type inversions (see Fig. 9. below) and results in less stable lapse rates in these layers. Consequently parcels of air rising from the surface into this region will (by Parr's principle) undergo less lateral (isentropic) mixing with the environment. Moreover, since the convection now takes place in a generally moist stratum, the condensation levels of rising surface particles are low enough for upward pulses to reach, thus making available for convection the heat of condensation. In this way the advance of a moist tongue aloft may be accompanied by a train of showers; this interpretation is given in Fig. 8 for the period under discussion. The forecasted showers at San Antonio on the 27th failed to occur (Cf. Fig. 12, Namias' Article X) because the center of the moist tongue passed somewhat to the north and the Gulf influence kept the lower levels too cool and stable (showers did occur farther west, however).—R. G. S.



FIG. 1. TEPHIGRAM OF THE AIRPLANE SOUNDING AT DETROIT, MICHIGAN, JUNE 24, 1937, BEGUN AT 4:00 a.m., E. S. T. (Specific humidities entered beside the solid line of the sounding. The dotted line is the path of a particle rising from the surface after it attained the maximum temperature of that day. The broken line AB is a pseudo-adiabat, the significance of which is explained in the text. Areas horizontally shaded represent positive energy while those shaded vertically indicate negative energy, which opposes convection.)



FIG. 2. TEPHIGRAM OF THE AIRPLANE SOUNDING AT SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS, JUNE 27, 1937, 2.00 a.m. E. S. T. (For explanation see legend to Fig. 1.)



FIG. 3. SYNOPTIC CHART OF SURFACE WEATHER OVER UNITED STATES AT 7:30 a.m., E. S. T., JUNE 24, 1937. (Cold fronts are indicated by heavy solid lines, warm fronts by dotted lines, and occluded fronts by alternately dashed and dotted lines. The hatching indicates areas where precipitation is falling at the time of observation. Air-mass symbols are those customarily in use in the United States and introduced at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Surface observations at or near aerological stations [circles] are entered in the customary manner. To the right of the circles from top to bottom: temperature and dew point (°F), pressure, and precipitation. Winds are indicated by arrows, the numbers of halfbarbs corresponding to Beaufort numbers of force. To the left of the station are the clouds in international symbols, and the pressure characteristic and change in the preceding three hours.)







FIG. 5. VERTICAL CROSS-SECTION THROUGH THE ATMOSPHERE FROM ST. STE MARIE, MICHIGAN, TO PENSACOLA, FLORIDA, ON JUNE 23, 1937, EARLY A.M. (The explanation of the symbols is given after Fig. 7.)

164

ISENTROPIC ANALYSIS

165



FIG. 6. ISENTROPIC CHART CONSTRUCTED FROM AEROLOGICAL OBSERVATIONS OF THE EARLY MORNING OF JUNE 24, 1937. (For explanation of construction and symbols after Fig. 7.)



FIG. 7. VERTICAL CROSS-SECTION THROUGH THE ATMOSPHERE FROM ST. STE. MARIE, MICHIGAN, TO PENSACOLA, FLORIDA, ON JUNE 24, 1937. (The explanation of symbols is given below.)

EXPLANATORY LEGENDS FOR FIGURES 4, 5, 6 AND 7

FIGURES 4 AND 6 are charts constructed upon a surface of constant entropy (constant potential-temperature). For these cases the particular value of potential temperature chosen was 310° . Solid lines are lines of specific humidity while dotted lines are lines of elevation (in meters) of the chosen surface above sea level. "M" signifies the center of a moist tongue, "D" the center of a dry tongue. "H" and "L" are entered at the crests and troughs of the isentropic sheet. The numbers to the right of the aerological stations are, in the order listed, the specific humidity, the elevation, and the relative humidity at the given isentropic sheet. To the left of the station is entered the pressure, in millibars, of the layer bounded by the 305° and 310° surfaces of potential temperature. The change from day to day in these values offers indications of convergence and divergence. Winds at the isentropic surface are shown by arrows, the number of half-barbs being roughly equivalent to Beaufort numbers of the scale of wind force. Clouds are indicated by the international cloud symbols. Subscripts give the amount of cloud and arrows the direction of movement. If the letter "b" appears following the symbol the clouds are below the isentropic sheet, if elevations are given the clouds penetrate the sheet, and if nothing is appended they are above it. An asterisk (*) indicates that the clouds are within the range of the sounding, yet no height was recorded. Heavy arrows represent the probable path of the tongues with respect to the isentropic surface (that is, choosing a coördinate system fixed to the isentropic surface).

FIGURES 5 AND 7 are vertical cross-sections extending north-south from Sault Ste. Marie, Michigan, to Pensacola, Florida. The evenly spaced horizontal lines represent full kilometers of height. Solid lines are drawn for specific humidity, dashed lines for potential temperature. The humidities in the individual soundings are entered to the left and the potential temperatures to the right of the vertical. Winds are drawn so that north is to the left of the cross-section. For example, at 3 km over Dayton on the 23rd (fig. 5) there is a N wind of force six. Clouds are indicated, as in figures 4 and 6, by the international system; those above the soundings are either above the top of the ascent, or, if accompanied by an asterisk, within the levels penetrated by the sounding but not placed specifically. Here again "M" stands for moist, "D" for dry.



FIG. 8. TRAJECTORY OF THE CENTER OF MAXIMUM THUNDERSTORM ACTIVITY FOLLOWING THE INVASION OF A TONGUE OF MOIST AIR ALOFT; AND POSI-TIONS OF AIRPLANE SOUNDING STATIONS USED IN THIS ANALYSIS (circles). (The black squares mark the successive positions of the center of thunderstorm activity for the twelve-hour periods preceding the dates entered beside them; these were fixed with the aid of thunderstorm reports and 12-hourly amounts of precipitation.)



FIG. 9. LAPSE-RATE DIAGRAMS OF SOUNDINGS DISCUSSED IN THIS REPORT. (The scales are such that a 45° line sloping upwards from right to left would represent the dry adiabat. Numbers to the right of these soundings are the relative and (in parentheses) specific humidities. Clouds are indicated by the International symbols of 1932. Arrows mark off dry-type moisture discontinuities.)

Analysis of the Rainfall Situation over the Western States May 6-7, 1938, by Means of Air Mass and Isentropic Charts

The surface maps and isentropic chart below are from the article by Mr. R. H. Weightman in the *Bull. Amer. Met. Soc.*, April 1939, and were analyzed at the U. S. Weather Bureau, Washington. The isentropic chart illustrates the use of condensation pressures practiced by the Bureau. The relation of the surface fronts and of the isentropic flow and moisture distribution to the rainfall patterns can be readily interpreted in light of the principles outlined by Mr. Namias. The rain along the Gulf coast is accredited to prefrontal instability due to convergence ahead of the cold front over Texas; the rain over the Missouri and Mississippi valleys is definitely frontal; the northern Rocky Mountain rain area is due to instability in a moist tongue ascending from the south (in the northwest the 303° -surface was above the tops of the soundings on May 7); the Colorado-New Mexico rain belt is related both to the surface fronts and to the ascent of the moist tongue. The eastward advance of the moist tongue brings rain over Iowa on the a.m. of the 7th.—R. G. S.



FIG. 1. SURFACE MAP FOR 7.30 A.M. (E. S. T.) MAY 6, 1938 (shaded area = rain falling at time of observation).



FIG. 3. 12-HOUR RAINFALL PATTERNS, MAY 6-7, 1938



FIG. 4. SURFACE MAP FOR 7.30 P.M. (E. S. T.) MAY 6, 1938.


FIG. 5. SURFACE MAP FOR 7.30 A.M. (E. S. T.) MAY 7, 1938



Examples of Upper-Air Cross-Sections Showing Interpretations of the Tropopause, etc.

FIG. 1. Vertical cross-section from Madrid to Moscow, A.M. of Feb. 17, 1935. Isotherms in °C, fronts and tropopauses heavy black lines; dashed lines for subsidence inversions (troposphere) and for indefinite tropopauses (being formed or dissolved). The overlapping of the multiple tropopauses is called for by the theory of Palmén, that the adiabatic cooling or heating from the pumping effect of passing disturbances and highs in the troposphere causes the tropopause to be destroyed at one level and reform at higher or lower levels as the case may be. Only a few soundings (vertical ordinates) were available for this analysis by Bjerknes and Palmén (Geofys. Publ., v. 12, no. 2, 1937, p. 52) but experience from other cases analyzed permits the interpolations. The fronts are drawn double-lined, indicating top and bottom of the frontal zone of inversion or relative stability which is typical of soundings through fronts.

The stratosphere is low and warm over the surface cold-air dome ("high") but high and cold over the surface low pressure. Note that the warm front connects with the tropopause in this case, but the cold air is shallow. The surface weather chart and streamlines of the tropical air flow in the warm sector above the friction layer and at the slopes of the fronts is shown in Fig. 2. Fig. 3 shows the tropopause and frontal at the same synoptic hour.



FIG. 2. Fronts and warm-air streamlines, Feb. 17, 1935, 07h. The tropical air has been far to the north over the Atlantic and is returning into the cyclone as a NW wind descending over the cold front.



FIG. 3. The surface fronts, topography of the frontal surfaces (dashed lines) and of the main tropopause (solid lines), Feb. 17, 1935, 07h. Elevation contours for each dyn. km. The tropopause is lowest (7.5 km) just behind and south of the center of the surface low - a typical occurrence. The contours are not all open to the north so this low tropopause could not be explained as due solely to advection from the north.

due solely to advection from the north. The variation in the altitude of each 100 mb surface aloft as this cyclone passed over Uccle, Belgium, on 16-17 Feb., is shown in Fig. 4 (from Van Mieghem, *Ciel et Terre*, 1940, no. 1).



FIG. 5. Schematic streamlines in (a) a young wave-cyclone and (b) an occluded vortex cyclone, on the 500 and 1000 mb surfaces (it is customary in German weather services to draw charts of the topography of these surfaces). The shaded area is the region of frontal clouds and rain. PL = polar air; TL = tropical air; dashed lines are the fronts.



many of the frontal-wave cyclones and wedges or "calottes" of cold air, such as we frequently see in the daily cross-sections in United States and Europe, are rather shallow. The upper-air conditions in these are in important contrast to the deep vortex. Fig. 5 (from Bjerknes, Mildner, Palmén and Weickmann, *Ver. Geo-phys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig*, v. 12, no. 1, 1939, p. 61) indicates schematically this difference, as represented by streamlines drawn for the 500 and 1000 ¹ b surfaces. to cause the surface pressure to fall by 10 mb in spite of the 3° to 10°C fall in temperature of the layers (a long trough) had passed earlier the 12th and the cold air is 3 km deep already. The change in pressure from the 12 to 13th at each level, as drawn at the right, amounts to a maximum decrease of 13 mb at 6 km and a maximum increase of 3 mb at 12 to 16 km! The rise of temperature between 7 and 15 km was enough at each level contributed to the fall in pressure at the surface in such a case. Van Mieghem (Fig. 4, right) has ings of 13 hours apart (12th and 13th) show a marked change, with the typical lowering of tropopause (by This was of course a rapidly deepening and occluding vortex reaching to high levels. However, turbation is very pronounced to over 15 km. It is of interest to inquire how much the temperature changes 4 km) and warming of stratosphere (by 19°C) when cold troposphere is replacing a warm one. The cold front FIG. 4 (left). The lowest pressure arrived later at higher levels, as usual in cyclones; but note that the perdone this for another storm, Oct. 12-13, 1932, which illustrates the principle. At Sealand, England, the sound below 7 km.

Bergeron's model (see p. 122) incorporates most of the features shown in these examples. There are, however, many occasions when both cold and warm fronts of a system apparently reach to the tropopause, though presumably this occurs less commonly in the lower middle latitudes (southern United States) than farther north (Europe) where the tropopause is normally lower. The rarity of fronts above 5 km or so is widely remarked, moreover.



IN FIG. 6, shown above is a cross-section by Van Mieghem based on a series of consecutive soundings at Uccle. Belgium, and a few nearby stations, shows a very shallow cold air tongue and an open warm sector, with the accompanying clouds, surface and stratosphere weather changes. The typical multiple tropopauses and stratosphere changes are present but not nearly so pronounced as over a deep cyclone. The surface weather follows a very ideal course according to the original Bjerknes scheme of 1919. [Dotted lines are inversions of subsidence (in the troposphere) and diffuse tropopauses (at high levels); temp. in degrees Abs.; clouds stippled.] (From: Mem. Inst. Roy. Met. Belg., v. 12, 1939.)

A BIBLIOGRAPHY FOR SYNOPTIC METEOROLOGISTS

BY ROBERT G. STONE

This is by no means exhaustive but it includes most of the more important and recent papers. We give some leads to literature of the many phases of meteorology which impinge on the theory or practice of analysis and forecasting in all parts of the world. "Synoptic papers" become out of date so rapidly that only the recent literature is useful to any great extent; the earlier ones listed are either classics still of great intrinsic worth or else notable historical milestones. For English speaking countries, however, and particularly the United States, many papers of local interest are added. American synoptic meteorology emphasizes the use of upper air soundings, i.e., direct aerology, for which it is supplied with the greatest radiosonde network in the world; whereas over most of the remainder of the globe only an "indirect aerology" can be practiced. We have included representative literature in that art.

It will be understood that the authors of the various articles in this booklet do not agree with all the views one can find in these references. Furthermore, most synoptic meteorologists modify their views and practices considerably from to time in the light of new data and experience, a fact which the student should keep in mind when reading all but the latest papers.

The unorthodox classification of the literature used here is based solely on cognate fields of special interest to practical and research workers in synoptic meteorology in English speaking countries; there is no cross referencing and each title appears only once, that being under the subject for which it now appears to have the most intrinsic value, regardless of the claims of the title or intention of its author. Many theoretical papers bearing on analysis are included; popular work is omitted. Selection has been exercised to exclude most ephemeral matters in rapidly changing subjects, but some old or superficial analyses contain valuable illustrative data for the student.

Before using the bibliography study the annotated headings below.

A. GENERAL WORKS: TEXTBOOKS; HANDBOOKS; TREATISES

1. General Meteorology (Physical and Synoptic)

- 2. Synoptic Meteorology
- 3. Dynamic Meteorology; Hydrodynamics
- 4. Special Fields of Meteorological Physics
- 5. Revolving Storms of Special Types

Some of the more important books and papers on small vortices, waterspouts, tornadoes, whirlwind, dust devils, tropical hurricanes, typhoons, etc., from the dynamic and synoptic point of view; some papers on "dust storms" included though they are not usually vortical (see also under Section G.).

B. METEOROLOGICAL PHYSICS (RADIATION; OZONE; ICING)

Only a few of the summary and more valuable references, in which further bibliography will be found; some purely synoptic papers on aircraft icing, glaze, etc., appear under Sect. G.

C. STATICS, DYNAMICS, AND FLUID MECHANICS APPLIED TO THE ATMOSPHERE; THEORIES OF CYCLONES AND ANTICYCLONES

Theoretical papers which have either been of great influence in synoptic meteorology, or contain useful analysis of meteorological data, or which give the background for certain practical methods now current. The literature of this sort is rather thoroughly covered between the standard works by Shaw, Ertel, Bjerknes, Koschmieder, Exner, Brunt and Hann-Süring, but a selection is given here of the more important and later papers on pressure changes, perturbations, the general circulation, turbulence and energy exchange, flow patterns, particularly from the leading schools of thought now influential. More on turbulence and radiation will be found under Sections B and H. Some model experiments are cited (see also D 2, H, and J).

THE STATISTICAL AND SCHEMATIC BACKGROUND FOR D. SYNOPTIC PRACTICE:

Mean (General) Circulation 1. a. Surface Data h Aerological Data

In this group are chiefly statistical materials to which some interpretation is given; mere tabular results are not listed except for some remote regions where they are scarce and of special value to synoptic workers. The work by Wagner (1930) and Shaw's "Manual", vol. 2, give adequate bibliographies and summaries of the published aerological data for the world. The distinction between surface and aerological data is often arbitrary, but under (b) are found only discussions of direct upper-air observations, while under (2) appear both climat-ological (surface) data and indirect deductions on the upper air. Discussions of the statistics according to moving pressure systems are under D 2, but such often contain material for the general circulation, hence is is well to refer to that Section also; likewise see D 3. Also some papers under C contain incidental material for this category Ceilings, mean lapse rates, wind roses and resultants, upper mean-pressure maps, mean humidity aloft, and mean circu-lation patterns aloft. In this group are chiefly statistical materials to which some interpretation is given; mere lation patterns aloft.

Average Structure and Movement of Cyclones and Anticyclones; 2. Models

papers devoted primarily to statistical average conditions at the surface or aloft in cyclones and anticyclones, to the average or most frequent tracks of same (whether direct or indirect observations) are included here, while incidental information of this kind appears in many selected or advocated as typical of pressure systems in general or for a given region; all schematic or model structures (some papers on typical isobaric maps appear under E), and correlations of pressure, temperature and winds aloft, find their place here. Also: structure of fronts and inversions, vorticity and solenoid distribution, symmetry points, microbaric waves, isallobaric fields, gradient winds, etc. The distinction between this and Sections C, G and D 1 is sometimes arbitrary; however, papers devoted primarily to statistical average conditions at the surface or aloft in cyclones

Air Mass Properties and Correlations

Statistics of air-mass properties by air-mass types, or by wind directions (see also D 1 and D 2), their frequencies, geographical ranges, sequences, effects on climate, and correlations with other geophysical phenomena and the weather type; air mass and frontal Wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal Wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and the sector type are mass and frontal wardthead and type are mass and the sector type are mass and type are mass and the sector type are mass and type are mass and type are mass and type are mass and type are mass are mass and type are mass are mass are mass are mass and type are mass are climatology.

SPECIAL AIDS TO ANALYSIS AND FORECASTING Ε.

Charts, Rules, Techniques, Thermodynamics, Formulae, 1.

Nomograms, Tables.

Kinematic Methods 2.

This is a potpourri to call the attention of the student and practicing synoptic meteorolo-gists to various aids and methods of analysis of proven or probable practical value, including diagrams, nomograms, rules for forecasting, etc. However, much ephemeral material of this sort is omitted, such as codes, obsolete principles, futile "tricks", etc. Some of the better examples of empirical statistical forecasting, indirect aerology over the oceans, and aviation problems are included; For the technique of aerological measurements and their reduction and evaluation, see the instruction handbooks of the national weather services or Linke's "Mete-orologisches Taschenbuch". orologisches Taschenbuch"

HISTORICAL FORERUNNERS OF FRONTAL ANALYSIS F.

DETAILED ANALYSIS OF SYNOPTIC SITUATIONS G.

- North and Central America 1.
- North Atlantic and Caribbean 2.
- 3. North Pacific
- Southern Hemisphere 4.
- 5. Europe
- Asia and Asia Minor 6.
- Africa (North of the Equator) 7.

The regional and chronological divisions are for convenience primarily:--1928 marks the appearance of Bergeron's "Dreidimensional Wetteranalyse", 1937 the transition to isentropic analysis (U. S.), and 1935 to the use of divergence principles (Germany), as well as to the introduction of radiosondes, with a resulting general modification of purely Bergeronian synoptics (indirect aerology) towards direct methods. For tropical regions the papers on the general circulation (Sect. D 1) and on revolving storms (Sect. A 5) should be considered as part of the present category as well. (For mere descriptions of weather phenomena see works on general meteorology). For U. S., Germany, and Russia, where aerological data are regularly available, mostly only the studies based on more or less upper-air analysis are included.

(Outline continued, next page)

H.—METEOROLOGY OF THE FRICTION LAYER

- 1. Turbulence
- 2. Surface Temperature Influences
- 3. Mountain Meteorology
- 4. Micro-Aerological Analysis and Microclimatology

Except for some purely theoretical items in Sect. C and A3, all the papers selected dealing with the thermal and frictional influences of the earth's surface are grouped here for convenience of the many meteorologists who are specially interested in them. Otherwise these would belong to sections B, C, D, G, or I. The distinctions between "turbulence", "mountain meteorology", and "micro-aerology" cannot be made generally except from some particular point of view, which here is essentially a practical rather than a physical one. "Turbulence", covers wind structure, eddy viscosity, Austausch, evaporation, etc., over level surface or small obstructions, both in theory and in measurements to check theory or for aviation, etc. Many more references will be found in Lettau's "Atmospharische Turbulenz" and in works on Aerodynamics and Hydrodynamics (Sect. A3). "Mountain Meteorology" covers large-scale turbulence and special winds due to hills and mountains, as well as the departures of mountain observations from free-air conditions and the adaptation of mountain observations in synoptic or dynamic meteorology. "Micro-aerology" includes the actual observations of air structure (synoptic and average) in layers close to the ground to show surface influences, radiation, etc. Turbulence measurements are chiefly listed under that heading, however. "Micro-climatology" provides data on representativeness of surface weather reports and the mean circulation in the lowest layers; it is a valuable link in the application of synoptic meteoroogy to many practical ploblems.

I. PRECIPITATION AND CONDENSATION; CONVECTION; CLOUDS; STRATUS AND FOG

No attempt has been made to separate these topics as they intergrade and the number of citations is not inconveniently great. Only recent and summary papers on condensation and precipitation theory are cited (see also Sect. B., and A 4). "Convection" is here restricted to vertical convection from surface heating, and convergence, lifting, etc., resulting in instability and clouds, with applications to gliding, aviation, weather analysis and forecasting. The theory of lapse rates and of the kinetic energy of thermal stratifications is partly covered in Sections A, C, and E. Of the large literature on clouds some of the best aerological studies and synoptic applications have been selected; much further valuable material of this sort will be found incidentally in Sections B, D, E, G, and notably Süring's book gives further bibliography, especially on other aspects of clouds.

J. INSTRUMENTAL PROBLEMS AND DEVICES

Improvements in aerological instruments come so rapidly that only late work is of much practical value except to specialists in instruments. The instruction handbooks issued by the weather services of each country should be consulted for the national and official practices, which vary greatly. See also Sect. E 1, B, and C.

Abbreviations

The following condensed abbreviations are used. Other abbreviations are more complete and will probably be recognized at sight.

Annalen der Hydrographie und maritimen Meteorologie, Berlin.
Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, Milton, Mass.
Beiträge zur Physik der freien Atmosphäre, Leipzig.
Geografiska Annaler, Stockholm.
Geofysiske Publikasjoner, Norske Videnskaps Akademie, Oslo.
Gerlands Beiträge zur Geophysik, Leipzig.
Meteorological Magazine, London.
Monthly Weather Review, Washington.
Meteorologische Zeitschrift, Braunschweig.
Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society, London.
Union Géodésique et Géophysique Internationale.

GENERAL WORKS; TEXTBOOKS, HANDBOOKS, TREATISES Α.

General Meteorology (Physical and Synoptic) 1.

- ANGOT, A., Traité de météorologie, (4th ed. rev. by Brazier), Paris, 1928.
- BEZOLD, A. von, Gesammelte Abhandlungen aus den Gebieten der Meteorologie und Erd-magnetismus, Braunschweig, 1906, 448 pp.
- BRUNT, D., Physical and dynamical meteororology, London, MacMillan Co. 1939, 2nd ed.
- BYERS, H. R., Synoptic and aeronautical me-teorology, McGraw-Hill, N. Y., 1937, 279 pp. Review in B. A. M. S., June, 1938. (Good general text.)
- CLAYTON, H. H., World Weather, New York, 1923, 393 p.
- 1923, 393 p. CONRAD, V., Die klimatologischen Elemente und ihre Abhängigkeit von terrestrischen Einflüssen, Handbuch der Klimatologie, Band I, Teil B, 556 pp. Berlin, Gebrüder Borntra-eger, 1936. [Standard handbook on varia-tion of climatic and weather elements with time, elevation, latitude, etc.—an indispens-able reference and valuable bibliographic cid] aid.]
- COYECQUE, M., Notions de météorologie gé-nérale et nautique, 2nd ed., Paris, 1931.
- DINES, W. H., Collected scientific papers, London, Roy. Met. Soc., 1931.
- FERRAZ, J. de Samp., Meteorologia Brasileira, Bibliotheca Pedagogica Brasileira, Brasiliana, Serie 5, vol. 33, 588 pp., 1934. (General Meteorology.)
- FICKER, H. von, Meteorologie, in Müller-Pouil-lets' Lehrbuch der Physik, 11th Ed., Bd. 5, 1st Hf., Physik der Erde, Braunschweig, 1928, pp. 1-170.

2. Synoptic Meteorology

- BAKALOW, D., Grundzüge der Synoptischen Wettervorhersage (in Bulgarian), Sofia, 1938.
- BERGERON, T., Hur vädret blir till och hur det förutsäges, Ymer, H. 2-3, 1937, pp. 191-231.
- BERGERON, T., Lektsii ob Oblakakh i Prak-ticheskom Analize Karty (Lectures on clouds and on the practical analysis of the map), Moscow, 1934. 154 pp., (read in 1932 at the Central Weather Bureau, USSR, translated from the German manuscrift under the editorship of S. P. Chromov).
- BERGERON, T., The Physics of Fronts (English abstract of Pt. II of "über die dreidimensional Verkn. Wetteranalyse," 1928), planographed, the author, 1936 full paper to appear later in Geophys, Publ.] Re-printed in BAMS, v. 18, pp. 265-75, 1937, and in Das Wetter, Dec. 1936.
- BERGERON, T., Trechermo svjasnij sinopti-cheskij analis-11 [Part 2 of the "Dreidi-mensional verknupfende Wetteranalyse", not published in full yet in any other language, but in abstract as "The Physics of Fronts".], but in abstract as "The Physics of Fronts".], 192 pp; Central Off., Hydro.-Met. Serv., USSR, Moscow, 1934.
- BERGERON, T., Uber die dreidimensional verknupfende Wetteranalyse. Teil I. Geofys. Publ., V. 5, No. 6, Oslo, 1928, [The chief original work on Norwegian methods.]
- CHROMOW, S. P., Einführung in die Wetter-analyse, Moscow, Central Office of the Hy-dro-meteorological Service, 2nd, ed., rev. and enl., 510 pp., 1937.

- HABERMEHL, R., (editor), Handbuch der Fliegerwetterkunde. Berlin, 1938-40. 4 vols. [Various authors; deals with instruments, principles and methods used in the German weather service.]
- HANN-SÜRING, Lehrbuch der Meteorologie, 5th edition, v. 1, Leipzig, 1937-39; v. 2 in progress. [The leading reference handbook, very comprehensive and authoritative.]
- Verif Comprehensive and autofraction autofraction
 LINKE, F., Meteorologisches Taschenbuch, Ausgabe 1-4, Leipzig, Akademische Verlags-gesellschaft M. B. H. Ausgabe 1 (316 p.)
 1931; Ausg. 2 (336 p.) 1933; Ausg. 3 (268 p.)
 1939; Ausg. 4 (266 p.) 1939; Ausg. 5,
 1939. [Ausg. 3-5, are a new edition of Ausg. 1-2]
- OYAL Meteorological Society, Some prob-lems of modern meteorology, London, Royal Met. Soc., 1934, 170 p. ROYAL
- SHAW, S., The Air and its ways, University Press, Cambridge, 237 pp., 1923.
- SHAW, W. N., Manual of Meteorology, London, MacMillan Co. 4 Vols. (see esp. Vol. II, 1936, Vol. III, 1930, Vol. IV, 1931.)
 SPRUNG, A., Lehrbuch der Meteorologie, Hamburg, 1885, 407 p.
- SÜRING, R., Leitfaden der Meteorologie, Leipzig, 1927.
- U. S. Dept. of Agric., 1941 Yearbook of Agri-culture: Climate and man, Part 1, Section 7, The scientific approach to climate and weather, 80 pp.; Part 1, Section 9, Weather forecasting, 40 pp.
- ZOCH, R. T., A brief list of works on meteor-ology, MWR., 68, pp. 1-3, 1940.

CHROMOV, S. P., úvod do Synoptického Roz-boru Pocosí, Praha, 1937. 492 p. [Chechslo-vakian transl. of Chromov's Introd. to Synoptic Analysis, 2nd ed.]

- DÉDÉBANT, C., and A. VIAUT, Manuel de météorologie du pilote, Paris, 1936, 194 P. [French practice, with emphasis on indirect aerology.]
- DEFANT, A., Wetter und Wettervorhersage, Leipzig und Wien, Franz Deuticke, 1918. 290 p.
- EREDIA. REDIA, F., Aerologia e Caserta, Italy, 322 pp., 1935. Meteorologia.
- GEORGII, W., Flugmeteorologie, Leipzig, 1927, 237 pp.
- w., GEORGII. Wettervorhersage, Dresden, 1924, 114 pp.
- OLD, E., Fronts and Occlusions, QJRMS., V. 61, 1935, pp. 107-158. [A history and summary of the subject.] GOLD
- GREAT BRITAIN, Hydrographic Dept., Admiralty weather manual, London, 1938.
- GREGG, W. R., et al, Aeronautical Meteor-ology, 2nd ed. N. Y., 1930, 405 pp. JORDANOFF, A., Through the overcast: the weather and the art of instrument flying, Funk and Wagnalls, N. Y., 356 pp., 1938. [Popular, but vivid illustr.]
- MéZIN, M., Cours de frontologie, Paris, Off. Nat. Mét., 2 vols., 1936.
- MIEGHEM, J. VAN, Prévision du temps par l'analyse des cartes météorologiques. Inst. Belge de Recherches Radioscientifiques, v. 6, Paris, 1936, 138 pp.

- NOTH, H., Wetterkunde fur Flieger um Freude der Luftfahrt, 2nd ed., Berlin, 1934. und
- PETTERSSEN, S., Weather Analysis and Forecasting. McGraw-Hill Co., N. Y., 1940, 502 pp.
- REICHELDERFER, F. W., Report on Norwegian Methods of Weather Analysis, U. S. Navy Dep't., Bur. of Aeronautics, 1932, (Corrections, 1935) mimeog., 45 pp.
 SCHINZE, G., Die praktische Wetteranalyse, Aus dem Archiv der Deutschen Seewarte, Pd. 52 Nr. L. 62 pp. 102
- Bd. 52, Nr. I, 72 pp. 1932.
- CHINZE, G., Untersuchungen zur aerologis-chen Synoptik, Breslau- Krietern, 1931, and Hamburg, 1932. SCHINZE, G.,
- SCHMAUSS, A., Das Probleme der Wettervor-hersage, 2nd ed., Leipzig, 1937. 102 p. [Philosophical rather than practical.]
- SHAW, N., Forecasting weather. London, Constable and Co., 1911, 3rd ed., 1940, 644

3. Dynamic Meteorology; Hydrodynamics

- C., The mechanics of the earth's at-here. A collection of translations. 2nd Washington, Smithson. Inst., 1891; ABBE. mosphere. coll., Washington, Smithson, Inst., 1891; 3rd coll., Washington, Smithson, Inst., 1910, 617 P. [Contains the classic papers of Helm-holtz and Margules, etc., translated into English.]
- ANSEL, A., Beiträge zur Dynamik und Ther-modynamik der Atmosphäre. Dissertation Göttingen, 1913, 67 p.
- ARAKAWA, H., [Dynamical Meteorology], in Japanese, Tokyo, 1940, 132 p.
- BJERKNES, V., and others, Dynamic mete-orology and hydrography. Washington, Car-negie Inst., 1910. Vol. I, Statics; Vol. II, Kinematics; Vol. III, Dynamics, is yet to appear. Vols I and II pub'd. in German, Braunschweig, 1912-13.
- BJERKNES, V. and others, *Physikalische Hy-drodynamik mit anwendung auf die dyna-mische Meteorologie*, Berlin, J. Springer, 1933. 797 pp. (Great work; includes, pp. 672-779, a treatment of dynamic meteorology with applications to the general circulation, as developed by the Bergen School) (French transl. see next.) transl., see next.)
- BJERKNES, V., J. Bjerknes, H. Solberg, and T. Bergeron, Hydrodynamique Physique, 3 vols., Paris, 1934, (French transl. of Physikalische Hydrodynamik).
- DEFANT, A., Statik und Dynamik der At-mosphäre, in Handb. d. Exp.-Physik heraus-geg. von W. Wien und F. Harms, Leipzig, 1928, Bd. 25, 1. Teil, 71 pp.
- ERTEL, H., Methoden und Probleme der dy-namischen Meteorologie, Berlin, 1938, 122 pp. [Mathematical emphasis.]

4. Special Fields of Meteorological Physics

- FARADAY Society, Disperse systems in gases; dust, smoke and fogs a general discussion, 1300 pp., 1936.
- FLEMING, J. A., and others, Terrestrial magnetism and electricity. (V. 8 of "Physics of the Earth", Nat. Res. Council.) N. Y., 1939. [Comprehensive and authoritative.]
- HAURWITZ, B., The physical state of the upper atmosphere. (Reprint of arts. from Jn. Roy. Astron. Soc. Canada) Toronto, 1937. [bibliog.] 96 pp.
- HUMPHREYS, W. J., Physics of the air, 2nd ed., N. Y., McGraw-Hill, 1929, 645 pp., 3rd. ed. 1940. [On physics applied to certain

pp. (with suppl. note by R. G. K. Lempbert: Sixteen years progress in forecasting Sixteen years progress weather).

- SUTCLIFFE, R. C., Meteorology for aviators, London, Met. Off., 1939.
- SWOBODA, G., Flugmeteorologie und Flugwet-terdienst, Prag, 1938 [In Checkoslovakian].
- TAYLOR, G. F., Aeronautical Meteorology, N. Y. Pitman Publ. Co., 1938, 429 pp.
- . S. ARMY, AIR CORPS, Primary Flying School, Randolph Field, Texas, Department of ground instruction, Weather Manual for Pilots, 2nd ed., March 1940, 69 p. U.
- . S. ARMY, Office of the Chief of the Air Corps, *Training Guides Meteorology*. 2 Vols. Rev. ed. 1938, 267 pp.
- WEIGHTMAN, R. H., Forecasting from syn-optic weather charts, U. S. Dept, Agric. Misc. Publ. 236, 2nd edition, 1940.

- XNER, F., Dynamische Meteorologie, 2nd ed., Vienna, 1925 [Standard work.] EXNER.
- OFFICE NATIONAL METEORO-FRANCE LOGIQUE, Cours de météorologie dynami-que—Les noyaux de variation de pression, Paris, 1936.
- GOLDSTEIN, S., (ed.), Modern developments in fluid dynamics, Oxford, 1938. 2 vols. 686 pp.
- OSCHMIEDER, H., Dyna gie, Leipzig, 1933, 376 pp. Dynamische Meteorolo-KOSCHMIEDER,
- LAMB, Horace, Hydrodynamics. 6th. ed., Cam-bridge, Univ. Press, 1932. 738 p.
- LETTAU, H., Atmosphärisches Turbulenz, Leipzig, 1939. [Very comprehensive treatise, with bibliography.]
- PRANDTL, L., and Tietjens, Hydro- und Aero-mechanik, Berlin. Bd. I, 1929, 238 p. Bd. II, 1931, 299 p.
- PRANDTL, L., The mechanics of viscous fluids. In W. F. Durand, Aerodynamic The-ory, Berlin, 1935, v. 3, Dw. G., pp. 34-207.
- STÜVE, G., Thermodynamik der Atmosphäre; Dynamik der Atmosphäre; Die atmosphärische Zirkulationen, 420 pp. Berlin, 1937.
 (Handbuch der Geophys; Bd. IX, Lief. 2)
- WEGENER, A., Thermodynamik der Atmos-phäre, Leipzig, 1911. [Classic work, still valuable; 1911 ed. is better than 2nd ed., 1936.1
- WILLETT, H. C., Dynamic Meteorology, Na-tional Res. Council, B. 79, pp. 133-233, 1931.

meteorological problems.]

- LANDSBERG. H., Atmospheric condensation nuclei, (Band 3, Ergebnisse der kosmischen Physik, Leipzig, 1938, pp. 155-252.)
- MIDDLETON, W. E. K., Visibility in mete-orology, Toronto, 1935, 104 pp.
- PLANCK, M., Treatise on thermodynamics, 3rd ed., London, 1927.
- SCHMAUSS, A., und A. Wigand, Das A mosphäre als Colloid, Braunschweig, 1929. At-
- SCHONLAND, B., Atmospheric electricity, London, 1932, 100 pp.

Revolving Storms of Special Types 5.

- ALGUÉ, J., Cyclones of the Far East, Manila, 1904 [Still a great and valuable work.]
 CLINE, I. M., Tropical cyclones, N. Y., Mac-millan, 1926, 301 pp.
- COMBIER, R. P. CH., P. Gaubert, L. Petit-jean, Vents de sable et pluies de boue, France, Office Nat. Met., Mémorial, no. 27, 135 pp., 1937.
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., Some characteristics of Philippine typhoons, Philippine Wea. Bur., Manila, 1939. (abstr., BAMS v. 20, pp. 303-307, 1939.)
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., Some comments on Father Gherzi's "Constitution of typhoons", BAMS, v. 19, pp.369-375, 1938.
- DURST, C. S., and R. C. Sutcliffe, The importance of vertical motion in the development of tropical revolving storms, OJRMS, v. 64, no. 273, pp. 75-84, 1938. (Add. note, id., p. 240; comment by Jeffreys, id., p. 336-8.)
- EREDIA, F., La sabbia dell'atmosfera, Rivista di meteorologia aeronautica, An. 2, pp. 83-99. 1938.
- EXNER, F. M., Über die Bildung von Wind-hosen und Zyklonen S.-B., Akad. Wiss., Wien, IIa, v. 139, 1923.
- EXTERNBRINK, H., Zur Entstehung westin-discher Orkane, MZ, v. 55, Sept. 1938, 317-320, 1938.
- FLOWER, W. D., Sand devils, London, Met. office, Prof. Notes, no. 71 (v. 5), pp. 3-16, 1936.
- FUJIWHARA, S., On the growth and decay of vortical systems, QJRMS, v. 49, pp. 75of vortical system 118, Apr. 1923.
- GAIGEROV, S. S., Synoptic conditions accom-panying tornadoes in the United States during 1884, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 229-236, 1940.
- GHERZI, E., On the Constitution of Typhoons, BAMS v. 19, pp. 59-66, 1938.
- HANKIN, E. H., On dust-raising winds and descending currents, India Met. Dept., descending currents, India Met. D Memoirs v. 22, no. 6, pp. 565-573, 1913. Dept.,
- HARMANTAS, L., Extracts from notes de-rived from synoptic mars and flights in the Manila-Guam Sector, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 301-303, 1939.
- HORIGUTI, Y., Note on the distribution and the motion of the clouds in the area of typhoon, Kobe, Imp. Marine Obsy., Memoirs, v. 5, 1982-1935, pp. 25 40.
- HORIGUTI, Y., On the Typhoon of the Far East. Part 4. The Distribution of the atmospheric pressure in the typhoon area. The movement of the typhoon. Kobe, Japan, Imp. Marine Obs. Memoirs, v. 3, no. 3, pp. 127-148, 1928.
- HUBERT, H., Sur la distribution des filets d'air dans les cyclones tropicaux, Annal. de Phys. du Globe, No. 4, pp. 97-104, 1934, (Indo China).
- HURD, W. E., Waterspouts, M. W. R., v. 56, pp. 207-11, 1928.

METEOROLOGICAL PHYSICS B.

- ASHBURN, E. V., Radiation transfer in atmospheric temperature inversions, BAMS, v. 21. no. 5, pp. 205-206, 1940.
- ANGSTRÖM, Anders, Messungen der nächt-lichen Ausstrahlung im Ballon, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 14, pp. 8-20, 1928.
- ANGSTRÖM, A., A study of the radiation of the atmosphere based upon observations of the nocturnal radiation during expeditions

- JEFFRIES, C. W. and G. S. P. Heywood, The law of storms in the China Sea, Append. 3, to Hong Kong Met. Results, 1937, 26 pp.
- KOSCHMIEDER, Staubsturme und Staubwan-dem, Die Naturwiss., v. 27, pp. 113-22, 1939. (bibliog).
- KOSCHMIEDER, H., Über Tornadoes und Tromben, Zusamm. Bericht., Die Naturwis-senschaften, v. 25, pp. 657-664, 1937, [Bibliog.]
- LETZMANN, J., Experimentelle Untersuchun-gen an Luftwirbeln, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. 130-172, 1931.
- LETZMANN, J., Richtlinien zur Erforschung von Tromben, Tornados, Wasserhosen und Kleintromben, in: Publ. No. 38 Secret. de l'Organ. Met. Intern., Leyden, 1939, pp. 91-110 (crit. by Kincer, pp. 89-90.) NEWNHAM, E. V., Mrs., Hurricanes and tropical revolving storms, London, Met. Office, Geophys. Memoirs, vol. 2, no. 19, pp. 229.338, 1922
- 229-333, 1922.
- NORMAND, C. W. B., On dust-raising winds, India Met. Dept. Memoirs, v. 22, no. 7, pp. 575-581, 1913.
- ORMAND, C. W. B., Recent investigations on structure and movement of tropical storms in Indian seas, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. 233-243, 1931. NORMAND, C. W.
- RAMANATHAN, K. R., Soundings of tem-perature and humidity in the field of a tropical cyclone and a discussion of its structure, India Met. Dept., Memoirs, v. 26, pt. 5, pp. 79-92, 1936.
- RODEWALD, M., On tropical vs. extratrop-ical cyclonic structure, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 339-341, 1938.
- SCHUBART, L., Praktische Orkankunde, Berlin. 1934.
- SUTTON, L UTTON, L. J., *Hoboob* 239, pp. 143-162, 1931. Hoboobs, QJRMS, v. 57, no.
- 250, pp. 100102, 1001 SHAW. N., Travel of circular depressions and tornadoes, and relations of pressure to winds for circular isobars. Geophysical Mem-oirs, no. 12, M. O., no. 220b; abstr. QJRMS, Oct., 1918, pp. 290-294; rev'd. Met. Mag., 1918, pp. 61-64.
- TAKAHASI, K., Distribution of various ele-ments in a typhoon, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 18, no. 4, 1940, p. (13).
 TANNEHILL, I. R., Hurricanes, their nature and history, Princeton, Univ. Press, 1938, 077
- 257 pp.
- VASQUEZ, E., Nueva Orientacion en los Es-tudios Ciclonicos, Naturaleza de las Rachas Ciclonicas, Havana, Obs. de Colegio de Montserrat, 1940, 65 pp.
- VERYARD, R., D 69, p. 268, 1934. Dust devils, Met. Mag., vol.
- T., On the mechanism of torna-WALKER. G.
- Alarini, A., V. 56, pp. 59-66, 1930.
 WEGENER, A., Wind und Wasserhosen in Europa, Braunschweig, 1917.

(RADIATION; OZONE; ICING)

to Algeria and to California, Smithsonian Inst., Washington, pp. 77-86; Appendix 1 by W. R. Blair; and W. R. Gregg, Free-air data in southern California. July and Au-gust, 1913, pp. 107-147, 1915.

BALLARD. J. C., Some outgoing-radiation and surface-temperature measurements at Fargo, No. Dat., Trans. Amer. Geophys. Un., 1937, Pt. I, pp. 127-30.

- BROOKS, F. A., C. Lorenzen, Jr., and L. M. K. Boelter. Observations of nocturnal win-ter atmospheric radiation in California, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 433-439, Dec. 1939.
- BRUNT, D., Some phenomena connected with the transfer of heat by radiation and turbu-lence in the lower atmosphere, Roy. Soc., Proc., A, v. 130, pp. 98-104, 1930.
- BRUNT, D., Notes on Radiation in the at-mosphere, QJRMS, v. 58, 1932, p. 389-417 (See also his "Physical and Dynamical Me-(See also hi teorology.")
- BRUNT, D., Radiation in the atmosphere, QJRMS, v. 66, Supplement, pp. 34-40, 1940.
- BÜTTNER, K., Strahlungsversuche im Flug-zeug, Beit. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 16, H. 2, pp. 156-162, 1929. BYERS, H. R,
- YERS, H. R, Meteorological Aspects of thunderstorm electricity, BAMS, v. 20, 1939, p. 181-6.
- CHIPLONKAR, M. W., Measurements of at-mospheric ozone at Bombay, Indian Acad. Sci., Proc., v. 10, no. 3, pp. 105-120, 1939.
 COBLENTZ, W. W., Circulation of ozone in the upper atmosphere, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 6205 March 1020
- 92-95, March, 1939.
- CONFERENCE on atmospheric ozone held at Oxford, Sept. 9-11, 1936. Papers read at the Conference, QJRMS, Suppl. to v. 62, 76 pp., 1936.
- ELSASSER, W. M., An atmospheric radiation chart and its use, QJRMS, v. 66, Supple-ment, pp. 41-56, 1940.
- ELSASSER, W. M., Is radiative cloud cooling a significant phenomenon in the ophere? BAMS, v. 21, pp. 202-205, 1940. atmos-
- ELSASSER, W. M., A new graphical method for the determination of radiative heat transfer in the atmosphere, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 402.404, 1939.
- FREY, A., Zur Enstetung des Hagels, Ge Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 50, pp. 216-222, 1937. Gerl.
- ISH, O. H., and K. L. Sherman, Meteor-ological features indicated by air-conduct-ivity measurements made on flight of Ex-plorer II, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1936, pt. 1, pp. 152-156. GISH.
- GOLDSCHMIDT, H., Strahlungsmessungen auf Freiballonfahrten, MZ, Bd. 52, pp. 125-129, 1935.
- HALLANGER, N. L., Study of aircraft icing, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 377-381, 1938.
- HAND, I. F., Review of solar radiation in-vestigations of the U. S. Weather Bureau, MWR, v. 64, 1937, p. 415-41, (bibliog).
- HAURWITZ, B., Atmospheric ozone as a con-stituent of the atmosphere, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 417-424, 1938.

- HRUDLICKA, B., Zur Nebelfrostfrage, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 51, pp. 335-342, 1937. [Bibliog.]
- LANGE, Karl O., Vereisungsmessungen mit der Harvard-Radiosonde. Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 25, pp. 241-250, 1939. In English in J. Aero. Sci., v. 6, Dec. 1938, pp. 59-63.
- LEJAY, P., Ozone measurements and cur-rents in the stratosphere BAMS, v. 20, pp. 298-301, 1939.
- MCNEAL, D., [Aircraft] Ice formation in the atmosphere, J. Aero. Sci., Jan. 1937, pp. 117-123.
- INSER, E. J., Meteorological conditions associated with aircraft lightning discharges and atmospherics, J. Aero. Sci. Dec. 1939, pp. 51-55; BAMS v. 21, 1940, pp. 200-202. MINSER.
- Diller, F., and R. MüGGE, Gesante und zonale nächtliche Gegenstrahlung als Mittel zur Gewinnung aerologischer Aufschlüsse, Beitr. z. Phys. d. f. Atm., Bd. 20, pp. 220-233, 1933.
- MöLLER, F., Die Wärmequellen in der freien Atmosphäre, MZ, Bd. 52, pp. 408-412, 1935.
- NOTH, H., Die Vereisungsgefahr bei Flug-zeugen, Lindenberg, Preuss. Aeron. Obs., Arbeiten. wiss. Abhand., Bd. 16, 1930, pp. G1-G12.
- PEKERIS, C. L., Atmospheric ozone as a possible meteorological factor, BAMS, v. 20, no. 1, pp. 1-10, Jan., 1939.
- PEKERIS, C. L., The development and pres-ent status of the theory of the heat balance in the atmosphere, Mass. Inst. Tech., Met. Course, Prof. Notes, no. 5, 1932, 80 p. [Excellent review; bibliog.]
- REINBOLD, O., Beiträge zum Vereisungs-problem der Luftfahrt, MZ, Bd. 52, pp. 49-54, 1935.
- SIMPSON, G. C., Ice accretion on aircraft, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes, no. 82 (v. 6), pp. 3-14, 1937. Partly repr. BAMS, v. 19, pp. 326-329, 1938.
- STICKLEY, A. R., Some remarks on the physical aspects of the aircraft icing prob-lem. J. Aero. Sci., Sept. 1938, pp. 442-446.
- TANCK, H.-J., Die tägliche Erwärmung der Atmosphäre infolge der Absorption der direkten Sonnenstrahlung durch den at-mosprärischen Wasserdampf, Ann. der Hy-drog., Ed. 68, h. 2, pp. 47-64, 1940.
- VASSY, A., et M. E. Vassy, étude de l'ozone dans ses rapports avec la circulation atmos-phérique, La Météorologie, jan.-fév., 1939, pp. 3-16.
- VIAUT, A., Étude sur le givrage, La logie, mai-juin, 1939, pp. 158-186. La Météoro-
- WINTER, Heinrich, Untersuchungen über Glat-teisbildung, MZ, Bd. 53, pp. 63-68, 1936.

STATICS, DYNAMICS, AND FLUID MECHANICS APPLIED TO THE ATMOSPHERE; THEORIES OF CYCLONES AND ANTICYCLONES

- AHLBORN, Die drei grossen Zirkulationen HILDORT, Die Weitr z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 11, H. 3, pp. 117-153, 1924. Zyklonen und Antizyklonen im mechanismus der At-mosphäre, id., v. 12, 1925, pp. 63-92.
- ARAKAWA, H., A further investigation on the diffusion of vorticity, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 4, no. 2, pp. 113-116, 1931.
- ARAKAWA, H., On the development of gradi-ent winds, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 7, pp. ent winds, Ge 165-169, 1933.
- ARAKAWA, H., Theory of convection thundershowers, convection cyclones and anti-

- cyclones, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 10, no. 1, pp. 43-66, 1936.
- BANERJI, S. K., On discontinuous fluid mo-tion under different thermal conditions, In-dian J. Phys., v. 7, pt. 3, 1932.
- BAUR, F. und Philipps, H., Die Bedeutung der Konvergenzen und Divergenzen des Geschwindigkeitsfeldes für die Druckän-derungen, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 24, pp. 1-17, 1938.
- BECKER, R., Zur Dynamik anisobarer Bewe gungen an Gleitflachen, Gerl. Beitr., v. 21, h. 1, 1929 (cont. Beitr. Phys. fr. At., v. 16, h. 1 p. 169.)

- BECKER, R., Zur Frage der Thermozyklo-genese durch aufgeprägte stratosphärische Druckänderungen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 32, pp. 260-267, 1931.
- BERSON, F. A., über die Beziehung der age-ostrophischen Komponente der Windgesch-windigkeit zum Isallobarenfeld, M. Z., Bd. 56, H. 9, pp. 329-333, 1939.
- BJERKNES, J., La circulation atmosphérique dans les latitudes soustropicales, Scientia, Feb. 1935, 20 pp.
- BJERKNES, J., The deepening of extra-trop-ical cyclones, QJRMS, v. 66, Supplement, pp. 57-59, 1940.
- BJERKNES, J., Theorie der aussentropischen Zyklonenbildung, MZ, Dec. 1937, pp. 462-66. Engl. transl., mimeogr., U. S. Wea. Bur., 1939.)
- BJERKNES, J., The upper perturbations, Un. Geod. et Geophys. Intern. 6ième Ass. Gén., Edimbourgh, Sept., 1936, Procès verbaux de l'Assoc. de Mét., part 2, Mém. et Disc., pp. 100 110 106-119.
- BJERKNES, J., and C. L. Godske, On the theory of cyclone formation at extra-tropical Fronts, Astrophysica Norvegica, Vol. 1, No. 6, pp. 200-235, 1936.
- b) 100-125, 1936.
 BJERKNES, J., et H. Solberg, L'évolution des cyclones et la circulation atmosphérique d'après la théorie du front polaire, France, Office, Nat. Met., Memorial, no. 6, pp. 83-102, 1923. (Transl. of The life-cycle of cyclones..., Geofys. Publ. v. 3, no. 1.)
 BJERKNES, V., über einen hydrodynamischen Fundamentalsatz und seine Anwendung, besonders auf die Mechanik der Atmosphäre und des Weltmeers, Kongl. Sv. Vet. Akak. Handlingar, Ed. 31, No. 4, 1898. (See later papers. MZ, 1900, pp. 532-535.) New proofs: Iswekow, J. Geophys. and Met. (Mos. cow), v. 1, p. 195; and Lombardini, Atti Acad. Lincei, Rend., v. 15, 1932, p. 459; Ertel, Sityb. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., 1933 p. 444. 447.
- BJERKNES, V., De l'application des théorè-mes de circulation à la discussion des phéno-mènes atmosphériques, Union Geod. et Geo-phys. Intern., 6ième Assemblée Gen., Sept., 1936, Procès verbaux de l'Ass. de Mét. Part 2, Mém. et Disc., pp. 7-47.
- 2, Ment. et Disc., pp. 74. BJERKNES, V., Application of line integral theorems to the hydrodynamics of terres-trial and cosmic vortices, Astrophysica Nor-vegica, Vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 263-339, 1937.
- BJERKNES, V., Die Atmosphäre als zirkula-rer Wirbel. Wellentheorie der Zyklonen und Antizyklonen. Ergeb. aerol. Tag. 1921, Son-derh. Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atmos., 1922, pp. 5-37.
- BJERKNES, V., Die atmosphärischen Störungs BJERKNES, V., Die atmospharischen Storungs-gleichungen, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 13, pp. 1-14, 1926; also Z. angew. Math. Mech., Bd. 7, pp. 17-26, 1927.
 BJERKNES, V., On the dynamics of the cir-cular vortex, Geoph. Publ., Vol. 2, No. 4, 1921
- 1921
- BJERKNES, V., Le problème des cyclones, J. de Phys. et le Radium, v. 6, pp. 321-330, 1924.
- BJERKNES, V., Über die hydrodynamischen Gleichungen in Lagrangescher und Eulers-cher Form und ihre Linearisierung für das Studium kleiner Störungen, Geofys. Pub., Bd. 5, Nr. 11.
- BJERKNES, V., and H. Solberg, Zellulare Tragheitswellen und Turbulenz, Oslo, Viden-skapakad, Avhandl., v. 1, no. 7, 1929.

- BOYDEN, C. J., The mechanics of the de-pressions: Some criticisms and a contribu-tion, QJRMS, v. 64, no. 273, pp. 85-94, Jan., 1938. (Comments, id., p. 629-30.)
- BROOKS, C. E. P., Some problems of modern meteorology, No. 9: The origin of anticy-clones, QJRMS, v. 58, no. 247, pp. 379-388, 1932
- RUNT, D., The dynamics of Cyclones and anticyclones regarded as atmospheric vorti-ces, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A. v. 105, 1924, pp. 70-80 (cont. from: id., v. 99, p. 397, BRUNT, 1918).
- BRUNT, D., Some problems of modern mete-orology: 1. The present position of theories of the origin of cyclonic depressions, QJRMS, July, 1930, pp. 345-350; Repr. in MWR, v. 58, no. 10, 1930, pp. 419-422.
- CALDER, K. L., A note on the constancy of horizontal turbulent shearing stress in the lower layers of the atmosphere, QJRMS, v. 65, pp. 537-541, 1939.
- DEFANT, A., Ein Beitrag zur Theorie der Polarfront, M. Z., Bd. 41, pp. 1-8, 1924.
- DEFANT, A., Primäre und sekundärc--freie und orzwungene Druckwellen in der Atm phäre, Oest. Zentralanstalt f. Met. Geodyn., Festschr., 1926, pp. 83-103. Atmos-
- EFANT, A., Schwingungen einer zweifach geschichteten Atmosphäre und ihr Verhält-nis zu den Wellen im Luftmeer, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., Bd. 12, 1925, H. 2, pp. 112-137. DEFANT.
- DOBSON, G. M. B., Winds and temperature gradients in the stratosphere, QJRMS, v. 46, pp. 54-64, 1920.
- DÜBÜCK, A. F., To the theory of high winds distribution in the front region, Met. i Hy-drol., v. 1937, no. 4-5, pp. 17-27.
- DURST, C. S., Convergence and divergence in the atmosphere, QJRMS., v. 66, 1940, p. 171-80.
- DURST, C. S., The Intrusion of air into anti-cyclones, QJRMS, v. 59, no. 250, pp. 231-237, July, 1933.
- Juiy, 1933.
 EKMAN, V. W., Eddy-viscosity and skin-friction in the dynamics of winds and ocean-currents, Mem. Roy. Met. Soc., v. 2, no. 20, pp. 161-172, 1928. (See also: Gerl, Beitr. Geophys., v. 36, 1932, pp. 385 ff.). Crit. by Thorade, Ann. d. Hyd., 1929, pp. 113-115.
 ERTEL, H., Allgemeine Theorie der Turbulenzreibung und des Austausches, Sitz.-Berich. preuss, Akad. Wiss., 1932, pp. 436-445.
- 445.
- ERTEL, H., Die Artender Unstetigkeiten des Windfeldes an der Tropopause, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 450-455, 1936.
- ERTEL, H., Der Einfluss der Stratosphäre auf die Dynamik des Wetters, M. Z., Bd. 48, 1931, pp. 461-503 [bibliog.].
- ERTEL, H., Die Geschwindigkeitsverteilung Milli, M., Du Gestrahlaukeusserteinang im stationären gestrophisch-antiriptischen Windfeld und im stationären Triftstrom bei variablem Turbulenzkoeffizienten als Eigen-wertproblem, Ann. d. Hydrog., Bd. 62, pp. 35-36, 1934.
- ERTEL, H., Die Krümmung der Diskontinui-tätsflächen in der Atmosphäre und im Ozean, Preuss. Met. Inst., Bericht über die Tätigkeit, 1980, pp. 147-153.

- ERTEL, H., Singuläre Advektion, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 280-284, 1936.
- ERTEL, H., Stromfelddivergenz und Luftdruckänderung, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 16-17, 1936.
- ERTEL, H., Tensorielle Theorie der Turbulenz, Ann. d. Hydro., Bd. 65, pp. 193-205, 1937.
- ERTEL, H., Thermodynamische Begründung des Richardsonschen Turbulenzkriteriums, MZ, Bd. 56, pp. 109-111, 1939.
- ERTEL, H., über die ernergetische Beeinflussung der Troposphäre durch stratosphere Druchschwasskungen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 37, pp. 7-15, 1932.
- ERTEL, H., Wärmeleitung und quasistatische Zustandsänderungen in der Atmosphäre, Preuss. Met. Inst., Bericht über die Tätigkeit, 1928, pp. 121-129.
- ERTEL, H., Zusammenhang von Druckänderungen und Beschleunigungen an Diskontinuitäten, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 394-395, 1936.
- ERTEL, H., Zusammenhang von Luftdruckänderungen und Singularitäten des Impulsdichtefeldes, Sitz.-Ber. d. Preuss. Akad. d. Wiss., Berlin, Phys.-Math. Kl., 1936, pp. 257-266.
- ERTEL, H., and S. Li, Der Advektionsmechanismus der atmosphärischen Druckschwankungen, Zeit. f. Phys., Bd. 94, pp. 662-673, 1928.
- ERTEL, H., and S. Li, Die Berechnung der Advektion, M. Z., Bd. 51, pp. 356-357, 1935.
- EVJEN, S., Über Stauung von Luft in der freien Atmosphäre und Bewegung einer Massenpartikel im Luftdruckfelde, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 4, pp. 145-154.
- EXNER, F. M., Sind die Zyklonen Wellen in der Polarfront oder Durchbrüche derselben?, M. Z., Bd. 38, pp. 21-23, 1921. (see also Wegener, id., p. 300-302.)
- EXNER, F. M., Gravitationswellen in der Atmosphäre, Vienna, Akad. Wiss., Sitzb., Bd. 138, II a. pp. 223-244, 1929.
- 138, II a. pp. 220-244, 1021 EXNER, F., Grundzuege einer Theorie der synoptischen Luftdruckveraenderungen, Sitzber. Wien. Akad. Wiss. 2a, v. 115, 1906, p. 1171; v. 116, 1907, p. 995; v. 119, 1910, p. 697; MZ, 1908, p. 57.
- EXNER, F. M., Die thermische und die dynamische Auffassung der Luftbewegungen, M. Z., Bd. 39, pp. 73-79, 1922.
- EXNER, F. M., Über die Energieleistung von Zirkulationen und Sandströms Gleitwirbel, MZ, Bd. 40, pp. 14-19, 1923.
- EXNER, F. M., Ueber die Temperaturverteilung in vertikalen Zirkulationen, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., Bd. 11, 1924, p. 101.
- EXNER, F. M., Zur Dynamik der Bewegungsformen auf der Erdoberfläche, Ergebn. d. kosm. Physik, Bd. I, Leipzig, 1931, pp. 373-445.
- FICKER, H. von, Zur Frage der "Steuerung" in der Atmosphäre, M. Z., Bd. 55, pp. 8-12, 1938.
- FUJIWHARA, S.. Remarks on the transverse eddy viscosity in the atmosphere near the earth's surface. Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 3, no. 3, pp. 127-129, 1930.
- FUTI, H., On the non-stationary atmospheric currents, J. Met. Soc., Japan, v. 15, pp. 45-47, 1937.
- GODSKE. C. L. Review of the theory of extra-tropical cuclone formation. Un. Geod. et Geophys. Intern., 6ième Ass. Gen., Sept., 1936, Procès verbaux de l'Ass. de Mét., Part 2, Mém. et Disc., pp. 48-60.

- GODSKE, C. L., A simplified treatment of some fluid oscillations, Astrophysica Norvegica, v. 1., no. 5, pp. 169-197, May, 1935.
- GODSKE, C. L., Die Störungen des zirkularen Wirbels einer homogen-inkompressiblen Flüssigkeit, Publ. Oslo Univ. Obs., Bd. 1, Nr. 11, 1934.
- GODSKE, C. L., über Bildung und Vernichtung der Zirkulationsbewegungen einer Flüssigkeit. Astrophysica Norvegica, v. 1, no. 2, pp. 11-86, Nov., 1934.
- GODSKE, C. L., Zur Theorie der Bildung aussertropischer Zyklonen, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 445-449, 1936.
- GOLD, E., Change of potential energy of a layer of air with change of lapse rate, QJRMS, v. 62, pp. 129-131, 1936.
- GOLDIE, A. H. R., Discontinuities in the atmosphere, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinbg., v. 45, no. 2, pp. 213-229, 1925.
- GOLDIE, A. H. R., Waves at an approximately horizontal surface of discontinuity in the atmosphere, QJRMS, v. 51, July, 1925, pp. 239-246. (See also Johnson, id., v. 55, 1929, p. 19-30.)
- GRIMES, A., The movement of air across the equator, Malayan Meteorological Service, Memoirs, No. 2, 14 pp., 1937.
- HALES, A. L., Thermal stability of the lower atmosphere, London, Roval Soc., Proc., v. 151, A., pp. 624-640, 1935. (See also Sakuraba, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., 1936, p. 116 (12).)
- HAURWITZ, B., Einfluss von Massenänderungen in grossen Höhen auf die vertikale Temperaturverteilung, MZ, Bd. 44, pp. 253-260, 1927.
- HAURWITZ, B., The height of tropical cyclones and the "eye" of the storm, MWR, v. 63, 1935, p. 45-49.
- HAURWITZ, B., The oscillations of the atmosphere, Gerl. Beitr. Geophysik, v. 51, pp. 195-233, 1937.
- HAURWITZ, B., On the change of wind with elevation under the influence of viscosity in curved air currents, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 45, pp. 243-267, 1935.
- HAURWITZ, B., On the vertical wind distribution in anticyclones, extratropical and tropical cyclones under the influence of eddy viscosity, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 47, pp. 206-214, 1936.
- HAURWITZ, B., über die Anderung des Temperaturgradienten in Luftsüulen von endlicher Höhe bei vertikaler Verschiebung, Ann. der Hydrog., Bd. 59, pp. 22-25, 1931.
- HAURWITZ, B., Zur Theorie der Wellenbewegungen in luft und Wasser. Veröff. geophys. Inst. Leipzig, 2. Ser., Bd. 5, Heft 1, 1931.
- HAURWITZ, B., The interaction between the polar front and the tropopause, Roy. Soc. Canada, Trans., Sect. 3, v. 33, pp. 83-105, 1939.
- HAURWITZ,B., The motion of atmospheric disturbances. Jn. Marine Res., v. 3, no. 1, 1940. pp. 35.50.
- HELMHOLTZ, H. von, The energy of the billows and the wind, in: Cleveland Abbe, Mechanics of the earth's atmosphere, 2nd collection, Washington, Smithsonian Inst., 1891, no. 7, pp. 112-129.
- HELMHOLTZ, H. von, Influence of viscosity on the general circulation of the atmosphere. in: Cleveland Abbe, Mechanics of the earth's

atmosphere, 2nd collection, Washington, Smithsonian Inst., 1891, no. 5, pp. 78-93.

- HELMHOLTZ, H. von, On the theory of winds and waves, in: Cleveland Abbe, Mechanics of the earth's atmosphere, 2nd collection, Washington, Smithsonian Inst., 1881, no. 7, pp. 112-129.
- HERGESELL, H., Hydrodynamische Grund-gleichungen-allgemeine Betrachtungen, Arb. d. preuss. aeronaut. Obs. Lindenderg, 15, 1926, pp. 155-162. Bd.
- HESSELBERG, Th., über Reibung und Dis-sipation in der Atmosphäre, Geofys, Publ., Bd. 3, Nr. 5, 1926.
- HESSELBERG, Th., Untersuchungen über die Gesetze der ausgeglichenen Bewegungen in der Atmosphäre, Geofys. Publ., Bd. 5, Nr. 4; Beitr. z. Phys. fr. Atm., Bd. 12, pp. 141-160, 1926.
- ISIMARU, Y., On the dissipation of the en-ergy due to internal friction in the atmos-phere, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 2, pp. 133-138, 1930.
- JAUMOTTE, J., Le potentiel des vitesses dans l'atmosphère, Brussels, Acad. roy. de Bell'atmosphère, Bruss gique, 1932, 36, pp.
- JAUMOTTE, J., Sur la dynamique des fronts chauds, Com. belge de l'année polaire 1932-33, Mémoires, Brussels, Fasc. 1, pp. 9-32, 1932
- JAUMOTTE, J., Sur la variation du vent en altitude. Acad. royal de Belgique, Cl. des Sci., 5e Série, v. 22, no. 7, pp. 820-834, 1936.
- JEFFREYS, H., Cyclones and the general cir-culation, Q. J. R. M. S., v. 53, Oct., pp. 401-406, 1927.
- JEFFREYS, H., The function of cyclones in the general circulation. UGGI, Ass. Mét., Proc. Verb., Lisbon, 1933, II, 1935, pp. 219-229.
- JEFFREYS, H., On fluid motions produced by differences of temperature and humidity, QJRMS, v. 51, Oct., 1925, pp. 347-356 (diag.). Also: The cause of cyclones, id., v. 50, p. 61, 1924.
- JEFFREYS, H., On the dynamics of geostro-phic winds, OJRMS, v. 52, no. 217, pp. 85-103, 1926. (Crit. by Whinple, p. 332; disc. by Douglas, id, 1931, p. 423.)
- JEFFREYS, H., On the dynamics of wind, QJRMS, v. 48, pp. 29-47, 1922.
 KARMÁN, T. von, Turbulence and skin fric-tion, Jn. Inst. Aeron. Sciences, v. 1, pp. 1-20, 1924. 1934.
- ÁRMÁN, T. von and L. Howarth, On the statistical theory of isentropic turbulence, Proc. Roy. Soc., Lond. v. 164 A, p. 192, 1938. KÁRMÁN.
- KOBAYASHI, T., and others, Theoretical and experimental studies of convectional cir-culation and its relation to land and sea breezes, Rep. Aero. Res. Inst., Tokyo, v. 12, no. 1, 1938, 67 pp.
- KOTSCHIN. N., über die Beschleunigung der discontinuitätsflächen in der Atmosphäre, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 19, pp. 7-16, 1932.
- KOTSCHIN N., Über die Stabilität von Mar-gulesschen Diskontinuitätsflächen, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 18, pp. 129-164, 1935.
- LINKE, F., über die Entstehung von stratosphärischen Luftdruckwellen infolge Änder-ung des Diffusionszus'undes der Atmosphäre, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 13, pp. 123 ff., 1922.
- LUDLOFF. H., Stabilität der Zyklonenwellen, Ann. d. Physik, v. 8, pp. 615, ff., 1931.

- MARGULES, Max., The mechanical equivalent of any given distribution of atmospheric pressure, and the maintenance of a given difference in pressure, in: C. Abbe, The mechanics of the earth's atmosphere, 3rd collection, Washington, Smithsonian Inst., 1910 r. 22 m. 501 522 collection, Washington, S 1910, no. 23, pp. 501-532.
- 1910, no. 23, pp. 501-552.
 MARGULES, Max., On the energy of storms, in: C. Abbe, The mechanics of the earth's atmosphere, 3rd collection, Washington Smithsonian Inst., 1910, no. 24, pp. 533-595.
 (See also add. by: Emden, MZ, 1917, p. 393; Schmauss, MZ, 1917, p. 95, 1919, p. 15; Sandstrom, Arkiv f. Mat. Astr. Fys., v. 7, no. 30, 1912.); by Margules, MZ, 1906, p. 481. Cf., V. Bjerknes, MZ, 1917, p. 166.
- MARGULES, M., Über Temperaturschichtung in stationärbewegter und in ruhender Luft, MZ, 1906, pp. 243-254.
- MARGULES, M., über die Änderungen des vertikalen Temperaturgefälles durch Zusammendruckung odcr Ausbreitung einer I masses, M. Z., Bd. 23,, p. 241-244, 1906. Luft-
- MIEGHEM, J. Van, L'Equation aux variations locales de la pression, Belgium, Institut Royal Météorologique, Mémoirs, v. 8, 24 p., 1938.
- MIEGHEM, J. van, Relation fondamentale entre les variations bariques et thermiques dans l'atmosphère, Acad. roy. de Belgique, Cl. des Sci., Bull, Séance du 6 fev., 1937, no. 2, pp. 149-158.
- MöLLER, F., Austausch und Wind, MZ, Bd. 48, pp. 69-80, 1931.
- MöLLER, F., und P. Sieber, über die Abwei-chungen zwischen Wind und geostrophischen Wind in der freien Atmosphäre, Ann. d. Hydro., 1937, pp. 312-322.
- MOLLWO, H., Energieumwandlung in einer abgeschlossenen Luitmasse, Frankfurt, Wet-terdienststelle, Synoptische Bearbeitungen, Linke Sonderheft, pp. 17-19, 1933.
- MOLLWO, H., Zur Wirkungsweise der Rei-bung in der freien Atmosphäre. Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 22, pp. 25-45, 1935.
- MIEGHEM, J. Van, Sur les variations dyna-miques de la pression atmosphérique: Sur les champs de déformation dans les cyclones et les anticyclones, Belg., Acad. Roy., Bull. de la Cl. de Sci., 5th ser., t. 25, pp. 243-255, for for 1920. 598-609, 1939.
- MöLLER, F., Druckfeld und Wind, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 284-292, 1936.
- MONTGOMERY, R. B., The present evidence on the importance of lateral mixing pro-cesses in the ocean, B. A. M. S., v. 31, 3, pp. 87-94, 1930.
- MüGGE, R., Betrachtungen zur Zyklogenese, M. Z., Bd. 55, pp. 1-8, 1938.
- Encrgetik des Wetters, M. Z., Bd. MÜGGE, R., 52, pp. 168-176, 1935.
- MüGGE, R., über das Wesen der Steuerung, M. Z., Bd. 55, pp. 197-205, 1938.
- MÜGGE, R., und P. Sieber, Über wetterwirk-same Druckänderungen, M. Z., Bd. 52, pp. 413-418, 1935.
- NORMAND, C. W. B., Sources of energy of storms. 25th Indian Sci. Congr., Calcutta 1938, Proc., 19 pp. [See also his papers in QJRMS, 1937-8, on latent instability, etc.]
- OOMA, S., The fundamental equations of mo-tion in anisotropic turbulent flow, J. Met. Soc., Japan, s. 2, v. 15, pp. 226-234, 1937.
- PALMÉN, E., Über die Gleichgewichtsbedin-gungen beim dritten Sandströmschen Win-tertynus, Beit, Phys. fr. At., Bd. 16, H. 1, pp. 26-28, 1929.

- PALMÉN, E., über die Horizontalstromungen in der Umgebung von beweglichen atmos-phärischen Fronten, Mitt. Met. Inst. Univ. Helsingfors, no. 8, 1928, 21 pp.; from Soc. Scient. Fenn, Comm. Phys. Math., v. 4, 1928, no. 20.
- PALMÉN, E., Über die Natur der Luftdruck-schwankungen in höheren Schichten, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 14, pp. 147-153, 1928.
- PALMÉN E., Über die Temperaturverteilung in der Stratosphäre und ihren Einfluss auf die Dynamik des Wetters, M. Z., Bd. 51, pp. 17-23, 1934.
- PARR, A. E., On the probable relationship between the vertical stability and lateral mixing processes, J. du Conseil, Vol. XI, No. 3, 1936. [Rev'd, BAMS, No. 6-7, 1937, p. 210, No. 9, p. 306].
- PEKERIS, C. L., Wave-distribution in a ho-mogeneous current, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1938, pt. 1, p. 163-164.
- PHILLIPPS, H., Die Abweichung vom geos-trophischen Wind, M. Z., Bd. 56, pp. 460-466, 1939.
- HILLIFPS, H., Die Störungen des zonalen atmosphärischen Grundzustande durch strat-osphärische Druckwellen, Wissenschaft. Ab-handl, Reichsamt f. Wetterdienst, Berlin, Bd. 2, No. 3, 1936, 52 p. PHILLIPPS.
- PRANDTL, L., Beiträge zur Mechanik der Atmosphäre, Un Geod. et Geophys. Intern. 6ième Ass. Gén., Edimbourgh, Sept., 1936, Procès verbaux de l'Ass. de Mét., part 2, Mém. et Disc., pp. 171-202.
- PRANDTL, L., Meteorologische Anwendung der Strömungslehre, Beitr. z. Phys. d. f. Atm., Bd. 19, pp. 188-202, 1932. Anwendung
- RAETHJEN, P., Advektive und konvektive, stationäre und gegenläufige Druckänderun-gen, M. Z., Bd. 56, pp. 133-142, 1939.
- RAETHJEN, P., Die Aufgleitfront, ihr Gleich-gewicht und ihre Umlagerung, M. Z., Bd. 51, h. 161-172, 1934.
- RAETHJEN, P., Die Böenfront als fortschrei-tende Umlagerungswelle, M. Z., Bd. 51, pp.
- 17, 53-62, 1934.
 RAETHJEN, P., Das Gegenläufigkeitsgesetz der Temperaturen in Stratosphäre und Tro-posphäre, M. Z., Bd. 52, pp. 418-424, 1935.
- RAETHJEN, P., Gleichgewichtstheorie der Zyklonen, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 401-408, 1936.
 RAETHJEN, P., Hydrodynamische Betrach-tungen zur Mechanik der Böcn, MZ, Bd. 47, pp. 431-437, 1930.
- RAETHJEN, P., AETHJEN, P., Konvektionstheorie der Au gleitfronten, MZ, Bd. 56, pp. 95-104, 1939. Auf-
- RAETHJEN, P., Schrumpfung und Dehnung, Front und Frontalzone, Ann. d. Hydr., 1938, H. 8, pp. 383-388.
- RAETHJEN, P., Stabilitätstheorie der Zyklo-nen, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 456-466, 1936.
- RAETHJEN, P., Stationäre Strömung unter dem Einfluss der Schwere in stabil geschich-teten Flüssigkeiten und Gasen, insbesondere in der Atmosphäre, MZ, Bd. 48, pp. 288-306, 1931.
- RAETHJEN, P., Theorie der Fronten und Zyklonen. Ausblick und Ubersicht, M. Z., Bd. 50, pp. 450-454, 1933.
- RAETHJEN, P., Zur Thermo-Hydrodynamik der Böen, MZ, Bd. 48, pp. 11-22, 1931.
- REFSDAL, A., Zur Theorie der Zyklonen, M. Z., Bd. 47, pp. 294-305, 1930.
- RICHARDSON, L. F., and R. E. Munday, The single-layer problem in the atmosphere and the height-integral of pressure, Roy. Met. Soc., Memoirs, v. 1, no. 2, pp. 17-34, 1926.

- RICHARDSON, L. F., and others, The var-iance of upper wind and the accumulation of mass, Mem. Roy. Met. Soc., v. 1, no. 4, pp. 59-78, 1930.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., Convection in the free atmos-phere and over a heated surface, MWR, v. 55, pp. 1-5, 1927.
- bb, pp. 1-9, 1927. ROSSEY, C.-G., Dynamics of steady ocean currents in the light of experimental fluid mechanics, Papers in Physical Oceanog-raphy and Meteorology, Massachusetts Insti-tute of Technology and Woods Hole Ocean-ographic Institution, Vol. V, No. 1, 1936. (Rev'd., Defant, Ann. d. Hyd., 1937, pp. 58.67) 58-67.)
- ROSSBY, C.-G., Note on shearing stresses caused by large scale lateral mixing, Proc. 5th Cong. Applied Mech., 1938, pp. 379-382.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., On temperature changes in the stratosphere resulting from shrinking and stretching, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 24, 1937, pp. 53-60.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., On the mutual adjustment of pressure and velocity distributions in cer-tain simple current systems, J. of Marine Research, V. 1, no. 1, 1937-8, pp. 15-28.
- ROSSEY, C.-G., On the origin of travelling discontinuities in the atmosphere, Geog. Ann., vol. 2, no. 2, 1924, pp. 180-189.
- ROSSEY, C.-G., On the role of isentropic mix-ing in the general circulation of the at-mosphere, Proc. 5th Cong. Applied Mech., 1938, pp. 373-379.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., Solenoidal circulations re-sulting from lateral mixing, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1938, pt. 1, pp. 159-162.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., Theory of atmospheric turbu-lence—a historical resumé and outlook, lence—a historical resu MWR, v. 55, 6-10, 1927.
- OSSBY, C.-G., Zustansünderungen in at-mosphärischen Luftsäulen, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atmos., Bd. 13, pp. 164-174, 1927. Further, id., v. 14, 1928, p. 65 ff. ROSSBY,
- ROSSBY, C.-G., and Collaborators, Aerological evidence of large scale mixing in the atmos-phere, Trans. of the Amer. Geophys. Union, 1937, Pt. I, pp. 130-136.
- RYD. V. H., Travelling cyclones, Danske Met. Inst., Medd., no. 5, 1923, 124 pp.; The energy of the winds, id., no. 7, 1927, 96 pp.
- SAKAKIBARA, S., Further investigations on the transverse eddy resistance acting on moving air in the lower atmosphere, Geo-phys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 2, no. 3, pp. 139-156, 1929.
- AKURABA, S., The general circulation of the atmosphere in the light of the theory of turbulent motion (Grossaustausch), Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 15, no. 8, 1937, p. (30). SAKURABA,
- SAKURABA, S., Maintenance of pressure an-omaly due to the horizontal stability of the atmosphere, J. Met. Soc., Japan, v. 18, pp. 273-274, 1940.
- SAKURABA, S., On the maintenance of the subtropical anticyclones, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 16, no. 7, 1938, p. (24).
- SAKURABA, S., Some quantitative studies on the general circulation of the atmosphere, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 16, no. 1, 1938, p. (1).
- SAKURABA, S., Turbulent friction in the atmosphere, Geoph. Mag., Tokyo, v. 8, pp. 125-151, 1934; v. 9, pp. 11-21, 1935.
 SANDSTRÖM, Über das Entstehen und Verschwinden der Diskontinuitäten in der Atmosphäre, M. Z., Bd. 40, pp. 37-39, 1923.
- SANDSTROM, J. W., über die Temperaturver-teilung in den allerhochsten Luftschichtung, Arkiv f. Math. Astr. och Fysik, v. 3, 1907.

- SANDSTROM, J. W., On the relation between atmospheric pressure and wind, Bull. Mt. Wea. Obsy., v. 3, 1911, p. 275-303; On mo-tions of fluids, Ann. d. Hyd., June 1909, with disc. by Dietzius, Beitr. Phys. fr. At-mos., v. 8, 1918, p. 29-52. Wenger, MZ, 1920, p. 241, Ann. d. Hyd., 1920, p. 112.
- SANDSTRÖM, J. W., Untersuchungen über die Polarfront, M. Z., Bd. 40, pp. 262-264, 1923; Bd. 41, pp. 33-36, 1924.
- SANDSTRÖM, J. W., über die Beziehung zwis-ANDSTROM, J. W., Uber die Beziehung zwis-chen Temperatur und Luftbewegung in der Atmosphäre unter stationären Verhältnissen, MZ, 1902, pp. 161-170; further: öfversigt af Kongl. Vetenskaps-Akad. Förhandl; v. 58, 1901 (Stockholm), pp. 759-774, v. 59, 1902, (cont.); and Anwendung von Prof. Bjerknes' Theorie, Svensk Vet. Akad. Handl., v. 33, 1902. 1902.
- Isol.
 SANDSTRöM, J. W., Meteorologische Studien im Schwedischen Hochgebirge, Kgl. Veten-skaps- och Vitterhets-Samhälles, Handlingar, 4th Ser., 17, 1916, 48 p. Also see Bull. Mt. Wea. Obsy., v. 5, 1912, p. 83-113. Crit. by V. Bjerknes, Uber Thermodynamischen Mas-chinen . . . , Abhand. Math. Phys. Kl. sächs. Gesell. d. Wiss., Leipzig, 1916. Crit. by Wenger, Phys. Zeit., 1916. p. 547. by Wenger, Phys. Zeit., 1916, p. 547.
- SCHERHAG, R., Warum okkludieren die Zyk-lonen?, Ann. der Hydrogr., May, 1938, pp. 229-237.
- CHMIDT, W., Atmospheric waves of short period, QJRMS, v. 37, 1911, p. 73-9. SCHMIDT
- SCHMAUSS, A., Ursache und Wirkung in der Meteorologie, M. Z., Bd. 38, pp. 8-11, 1921.
- SCHMIDT, W., Schrumpfen und Strecken in der freizn Atmosphäre, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 7, pp. 103-149, 1916. SCHWABL, W., Experimentelle Untersuchun-gen zur allegengen Ziebalation der Atmos
- gen zur allgemeinen Zirkulation der Atmosphäre, MZ, Bd. 50, pp. 208-212, 1933.
- SEKERA, Z., Zur Wellengewegung in Flüssig-keitsschichten mit vertikal veränderlicher Geschwindigkeit, Astrophysica Norvegica, v. 3, no. 1, pp. 1-69, Jan., 1938.
- SHAW, Napier, The birth and death of cy-clones, London. Met. Office, Geophys. Mem-oirs, no. 19, pp. 213-227, 1922.
- orrs, no. 19, pp. 213-221, 1922.
 SHOULEJKIN, W., The physical picture of the heat currents going from the sea to the continent (principles of the monsoon theory), Bull. Acad. Sci. URSS, Cl. Sci. Math. Nat., Ser. Geogr-Geophys., vol. 1937, no. 3, p. 305-6. Further, by Goussev, id., vol. 1938, no. 4, p. 344.
- SIEBER, P., über den Einfluss von Druckän-derungen auf das Wetter, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 23, H. 4, pp. 249-274, 1936.
- SOLBERG. H., Integrationen der atmosphä-rischen störungsgleichungen: I-Wellenbe-wegungen in rotierenden inkompressiblen Flüssigkeitsschichten, Geofys. Pub., v. 5, no. 9, pp. 3-120, 1928.
- 5, pp. 5-105, 1025.
 SOLBERG, H., Le mouvement d'inertie de l'atmosphère stable et son rôle dans la théorie des cyclones, Un. Geod. et Geophys. Intern., 6ième Ass. Gen., Edinbourgh, Sept., 1936, Procès verbaux de l'Ass. de Mét., part 2, Mém. et Disc., pp. 67-82.
- SollBERG, H., Schwingungen und Wellenbe-wegungen in einer Atmosphäre mit nach oben abnehmender Temperatur, Astrophysica Norvegica, Vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 124-172, 1936.
- SOLBERG, H., Sur le frottement dans les couches basses de l'atmosphère. Forhandl. 1 Skand. Naturforskarmöte, Goteborg, 1923 17de
- SOLBERG, H., Über die freien Schwingungen einer homogenen Flüssigkeitsschicht auf der

rotierenden Erde, I. Astrophysica Norvegica, V. 1, no. 7, pp. 237-340, Feb., 1936.

- SOLBERG, H, Das zyklonen Problem, Intern. Kong. f. techn. Mechanik, Stockholm, Verh. 3, 1930.
- SPILHAUS, A. F., Note on the flow of streams in a rotating system, J. of Marine Res., Vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 29-33, 1939.
- STÜVE, G., Der Mechanismus der atmos-phärischen Steuerung, Frankfurt, Wetter-dienststelle, Synoptische Bearbeitungen, Linke Sonderheft, pp. 8-17, 1933.
- STARR, V. P., The readjustment of certain unstable atmospheric systems under con-servation of vorticity, MWR., v. 67, pp. 125-133, 1939.
- STÜVE, G., und R. Mügge, Energetik des Wetters, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 22, pp. 206-248, 1935
- pp. 206-248, 1935
 SUTCLIFFE, R. C., Cyclonic and Anticyclonic Development, QJRMS, v. 64, 1938, p. 500 ff, v. 65, 1939, pp. 518-24; crit., id., 1939, p. 236. Disc., id., v. 66, 1940, p. 77.
 SUTTON, O. G., Wind structure and evapora-tion in a turbulent atmosphere, Proc. of the Roy. Soc. London, Ser. A., v. 146, pp. 701 ff., 1934. (Cf. check by Lettau, Ann. der Hyd., v. 56, pp. 155-60.)
 SUZUKI, S. and H. Ommori, On atmospheric.
- SUZUKI, S., and H. Oomori, On atmospheric Waves, Gerland's Beitr. Geophys., v. 49, pp. 301-318, 1937.
- SVERDRUP, H. U., Austausch und Stabilität in der untersten Luftschicht, MZ, 10-15, 1936. See further: QJRMS, v. 62, p. 124, p. 461, v. 63, p. 105; v. 65, p. 57; Geofys. Publ., v. 11, no. 7; Jn. Mar. Res., v. 1, p. 3-14; Ann. d Hyd., v. 64, 1936, p. 41-7.
- SVERDRUP, H. U., On the influence of stab-ility and instability on the wind profile and the eddy conductivity near the ground, Proc. of the Fifth International Congr. for Ap-plied Mechanics, J. Wiley and Sons, N. Y., pp. 369-372, 1938.
- SVERDRUP, H. U. and J. Holtsmark, über die Beziehung swischen Beschleunigungen und Gradientenänderungen und ihre prognostische Verwendung, Leipzig, Univ., Geoph. Inst., Veröff, Bd. 2, H. 3, pp. 143-172, 1917.
- SVERDRUP, H. U., und J. Holtsmark, über die Reibung an der Erdoberläche und die direkte Vorausberechnung des Windes mit Hilfe der hydrodynamischen Bewegungs-gleichungen, Leipzig, Univ., Geophys. Inst., Veröffe, 2. Serie, Bd. 2, Heft 2, pp. 97-141, 1917.
- TAYLOR, G. I., Statistical theory of turbu-lence: Part 4—Diffusion in a turbulent air stream, Roy. Soc. Lond., Proc., A, v. 151, pp. 421-478, Sept., 1935. (See also Jn. Aero. Sci., v. 4, no. 8, pp. 311-15.)
- TOLLMIEN, W., Berechnung turbulenter Aus-breitungs-vorgange, Zeit. f. angew. Math. u. Phys. v. 6, 1926, p. 468.
- TRABERT, W., Der Zusammenhang zwischen Luftdruck- und Temperaturverhaeltnissen, MZ, 1910, pp. 301-307.
- WAGNER, A., Über die vertikale Machtigheit einer thermischen Zirkulations und die vertikale Temperaturschichtung in dersel-ben, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys. Bd. 51, pp. 410-421, 1937.
- WALKER, G. T., The dynamics of cyclone formation, Beitr. Phys. d. Fr. Atmos., Bd.
- permation, Beitr. Phys. d. Fr. Atmos., Bd. 15, 1929, pp. 83-86.
 WALKER, G. T., Note on Bjerknes's contribution of 1921 to the mechanics of the general circulations, QJRMS, v. 51, p. 337-345, 1925, Corr., v. 54, p. 26, 1928.

- WATANABE, S., The equation of motion of a viscous fluid accompanied by "microgyrostatic field", Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 5, pp. 173-181, 1932.
- WENK, F., Änderung der Stabilität atmosphärischer Schichtungen bei adiabatischer Hebung, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 16, H. 4, pp. 298-304, 1929.
- WEXLER, H., Formation of polar anticycyclones, M. W. R., v. 7, pp. 229-236, 1937.

(Comments by Sakuraba, J. Met. Soc., Jap., 1938, p. 381 (33).)

- WÜNSCHE, W., Über die Existenz langsamer Luftdruckschwingungen auf der rotierenden Erde, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 11, No. 3, pp. 157-199, 1938.
- WHIPPLE, F. J. W., The laws of approach to the geostrophic wind. QJRMS, v. 46, pp. 39-53, 1920.

D. THE STATISTICAL AND SCHEMATIC BACKGROUND FOR SYNOPTIC PRACTICE:

1. Mean (General) Circulation

a. Surface Data

- ALLEN, R. A., Statistical studies of certain characteristics of the general circulation of the northern hemisphere, QJRMS, v. 66, Supplement, pp. 88-101, 1940.
- ARAKAWA, H., The formation of hurricanes in the South Pacific and the outbreaks of cold air from the North Polar region, J. Met. Soc., Japan, v. 18, pp. 1-6 [Abstr. in Eng. p. (1)], 1940.
- ASKNAZY, A. I., Of the subject of the summer air circulation on the European territory of the USSR. J. Geophys., v. 4, no. 4, pp. 439-448, 1934. (Also later papers in Met. i. Hyd., 1936-38.)
- BARKOW, E., Die Ergebnisse der meteorologischen Beobachtungen der Deutschen Antarktischen Expedition, 1911-1912. Berlin, Preuss. Met. Inst., Abhandlungen, Bd. 7, nr. 6, pp. 1-166.
- BAUER, G., Luftzirkulation und Niederschlagsverhaltnisse in Vorderasien, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 45, pp. 381-548, 1935.
- BERGERON, T., Richtlinien einer dynamischen Klimatologie, M. Z., Bd. 47, pp. 246-262, 1930.
- BJERKNES, V., The meteorology of the temperate zone and the general atmospheric circulation, M. W. R., Jan., 1921, pp. 1-3; Nature, June 24, 1920, pp. 522-523. (Comments by von Ficker, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 9, 1920, p. 130-1356.)
- BJERKNES, V., Polar front meteorology (Abstr.). QJRMS, v. 51, 1925, pp. 261-268.
- BRITISH Nat. Com. for Polar Year, British Polar Year Expedition, Fort Rae, N. W. Canada, 1932-33, London, (2 vols.) 1937.
- BROOKS, C. E. P., Studies on the mean atmospheric circulation, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 313-322, 1937.
- BROOKS, C. E. P., and H. W. Braby, The clash of the trades in the Pacific, QJRMS, v. 47, pp. 1-14, Jan., 1921.
- BROOKS, C. E. P., The warming Arctic, Met. Mag., v. 73, pp. 29-32, 1938.
- BROWN, R., The Soviet Polar enterprise, some preliminary results, Nature, March 12, 1938, p. 480, BAMS, Nov. 1938, p. 411.
- DALLDORF, H., Troposphärischer Meridionalaustausch in den gemässigten Breiten, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 57, Nr. 10, 1937, 21 pp.
- DEFANT, A., Die Austauschgrösse der atmosphärischen und ozeanischen Zirkulation, Ann. d. Hydrog., Bd. 54, pp. 12 ff., 1926.
- DEFANT, A., Die Schwankungen der atmosphärischen Zirkulation über dem Nordatlantischen Ozean im 25-jährigen Zeitraum, 1881-1905, Geog. Ann., Bd. 6, H. 4, 1924, pp. 13-41.

- DEFANT, A., Die Zirkulation der Atmosphäre in den gemassigten Breiten, Geog. Ann. v. 3, p. 209 ff., 1921.
- DEPPERMANN, C. F., The mean transport of air in the Indian and South Pacific Oceans, U. S. Weather Bureau, Manila Central Obs., 1935, 13 p.
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., Outlines of Philippines frontology, Weather Bur., Manila, 1936, 27 pp.
- DURST, C. S., The doldrums of the Atlantic, London. Met. Office, Geophys. Memoirs, (v. 3,) no. 28, pp. 229-238, 1926.
- EREDIA, F., La meteorologia e l'aerologia degli oceani; (1) L'Oceano Atlantico Sud, Suppl. al fasc. d. "Revista Maritima", Apr. 1932, 176 p., (2) L'Oceano Atlantico Nord, Ministero della Marina (Italy), 1935, 300 p. [Valuable summaries of lit., includ. upperair data.]
- EVJEN, Sigurd, Über statistische Untersuchungen von "Zyklonentätigkeit" mittels Isobarenkarten, MZ, Bd. 49, pp. 180-186, 1932.
- EXNER, F. M., Über die Zirkulationen kalter und warmer Luft zwischen hohen und niedrigen Breiten. Vienna, Akad. Wiss., Sitzb., Bd. 137, IIa, pp. 189-225, 1928.
- EXNER, F. M., The weather situation in Europe in the winter of 1928-29, M. W. R., v. 57, pp. 498-499, [Translated by W. W. Reed from M. Z., April 1929.]
- FERRAZ, J. de S., Hurricanes and South Atlantic circulation, BAMS, v. 20, no. 8, pp. 334-335, 1939.
- FITTON, E. M., The climates of Alaska, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 85-103, 1930.
- W. R., V. 36, pp. 30-105, 1930.
 FORSCHUNGSINSTITUT fur Langfristige
 Witterungsvorhersage des Reichswetterdienstes, Bad Homburg v. d. Hohe, Mitteleuropaischer Witterungsbericht, (Publ. monthly sinse 1930; various maps of the northern hemisphere, mean pressure distribution at various levels, depart. of pressure from 60-year average, pressure change, etc.)
- FROST, R. L., A climatological review of the Alaska-Yukon plateau, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 269-280, 1934.
- FUJIWHARA, S. and N. Yamamoto, Comparison of the general circulation in the Far East and Europe, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 17, no. 9, p. (35).
- HAURWITZ, B., Investigations of atmospheric periodicities at the Geophysical Institute, Leipzig, Germany, M. W. R., v. 61, pp. 219-221, 1938.
- HENRY, A. J., Professor Exner on the circulation of cold and warm air between high and low latitudes, M. W. R., v. 57, pp. 491-498, 1929.

- HESSELBERG, Th., Arbeitsmethoden einer dynamischen Klimatologie, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 19, pp. 291-305, 1932.
- HILDEBRANDSSON, H. H., et L. T. de Bort, Les bases de la météorologie dynamique, historique, état de nos connaissances, Paris, Gauthier-Villars, 1907, 2 vols.
- HILLEBRAND, R., Untersuchungen über den atmosphärischen Grossaustausch und seine bedeutung als Klimafaktor, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 11, pp. 311-392, 1939. (bibliogr.)
- HOWARD. A. G., South African meteorology: Types of atmospheric pressure, their duration and movements, So. African Jn. of Sci., v. 16, pp. 273-284, 1920.
- JENSEN, AD. S., Concerning a change of climate during recent decades in the arctic and subarctic regions, from Greenland in the west to Eurasia in the east, and contemporary biological and geophysical changes, K. Danske Videns. Se'skab., Biol. Medd., v. 14, 8, 75 pp. 1939. (Best review of subject; bibliog.)
- KIDSON, E., British Antarctic Expedition. 1907-09: Reports on the scientific investigations, meteorology, Melbourne, n. d., 188 pp.
- KIDSON,E., The circulation of the atmosphere in the Australia-New Zealand Region, Proc. 5th Pacific Sci. Cong., v. 3, pp. 661-666.
- KIDSON, E., The general circulation on a water hemisphere QJRMS, v. 59, no. 252, pp. 372-373, 1933.
- KIDSON, E., Notes on the general circulation in the New Zealand region, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. 1-8, 1931.
- KIDSON, E., Problems of antarctic meteorology, QJRMS, v. 58, pp. 219-226, 1932.
- KON. NEDERLANDSCH MET. INST., Oceanographische en Meteorologische Waarnemingen in den Atlantischen Oceaan. Atlas of monthly mean charts, in parts, 1926-35.
- gen in den Atlantischen Oceaan. Atlas of monthly mean charts, in parts, 1926-35.
 KÖPPEN, W., and R. Geiger, Handbuch der Klimatologie, Berlin, Gebrüder Borntraeger, 1930-. See the following parts in particular: Teil G, Klimakunde von Südamerika. by K. Knoch; Teil H, Klimakunde von Mittelamerika, by K. Sapper; Teil I, Climatology of the West Indies by R. DeC. Ward and C. F. Brooks; Teil J, Part I, The climates of North America, by R. DeC. Ward, C. F. Brooks, and A. J. Connor; Teil J, Part 2. The climates of North America II, Canada. by A. J. Connor; Teil K. Part I, übersicht über das Klima des Polarmeeres und des Kanadischen Archipels. by H. U. Sverdrup; Teil K. Part 2. Das Klima der Küsten von Grönland, by H. Petersen; Teil K. Part 3, Das Klima des Grönländischen inlandeises, by F. Loewe; Teil L, Klima von Nordwesteuropa und den Inseln von Island bis Franz-Josei-Land, by B. J. Birkeland; Teil S, Part 1, Climatology of Australia, by G. Taylor; Teil S. Part 2, Climatologn of New Zealand, by E. Kidson; Teil T, Klimakunde der Südsee Inseln, by G. Schott; Teil U. Klimakunde der Antarktis, by W. Meinardus.
 KULLMER, C. J., The latitude shift of the
- KULLMER, C. J., The latitude shift of the storm track in the 11-year solar period. Storm frequency mans of the United States, 1883-1930. Washington, Smith. Inst. Misc. Coll., v. 98, no. 2, 34 pp., 1933.
- LEA, C. A., A Preliminary analysis of pressure observations in Malaua, Malayan Met'l. Serv., Memoirs, No. 1, 1932, 8 pp.
- LIR, E., Prinzipien der Klassifikation synoptischer Prozesses, J. of Geonhys., v. 1, no. 1-2, pp. 146-165, 1931. (Also many later papers in id., and in Met. i Hyd., 1936-39; see Lyr, infra.)

- LOEWE,, F., The Greenland ice cap as seen by a meteorologist, QJRMS, v. 62, no. 266, pp. 359-378, 1936.
- LU, A., The monthly pressure distribution and the surface winds in the Far East, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, v. 12, no. 4, 25 pp., 1939.
- LYR, E., The empirical studies of the atmospheric circulation, Met. i Hydrol., v. 1937, no. 2, pp. 26-33.
- MARKUS, E., Der Nordatlantik als Vertiefungsgebiet barometrischer Minima, Ann. d. Hydr., 1934, H. 6, pp. 225-232.
- Hydr., 1934, H. O., pp. 225-25.
 MEINARDUS, W., Deutsche Südpolar-Expedition 1901-1903, Berlin, 1923, 578 p. Bd. III, Meteorologie, I. 1. Teil 1. Meteorologische Ergebnisse der Winterstation des "Gauss" 1902-1903, I. 1. Teil 2. Meteorologische Ergebnisse der Kerguelen-Station 1902-1903, I.
 1. Teil 3. Meteorologische Ergebnisse der Seefahrt des "Gauss" 1901-1903.
- MERRIAM, W. B., Some observations on the climate and the "Northeaster" storms of the Kodiak Archivelago, Alaska, BAMS, v. 17, pp. 351-354, Dec., 1936.
- MDDLETON, W. E. K., The climate of the Gulf of St. Lawrence and surrounding regions in Canada and Newfoundland, as it affects aviation, Canada, Met. Serv., Met. Memoirs, v. 1., no. 1, pp. 1-40, 1935.
- MILLER, E. C., Relative frequency of centers of cyclones and anticyclones in the United States, M. W. R., v. 60, pp. 6-11,1932.
- MIRRLEES, S. T. A., Meteorological results of the British Arctic air-route expedition 1930-31, London, Met. Office, Geophys. Memoirs, no. 61 (v. 7), pp. 3-30, 1934.
- MITCHELL, C. L., Cyclones and anticyclones of the northern hemisphere, January to April, inclusive, 1925, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 1-22, 1930.
- MITCHEILI, C. L., West Indian hurricanes and other tropical cyclones of the North Atlantic ocean, M. W. R., Suppl. no. 24, 1924. 47 pp.
- MOESE O., and G. Schinze. Die beiden Hauptfrontalzonen AF und PF-Bemerkung uber ihre Rolle für Europa, Ann. der Hydrogr., Oct. 1932, pp. 408-14.
- NAVARRETE, J. B., The cold pole of South America, M. W. R., v. 61, p. 302, 1933.
- PETZOW, Georg, Herkunft, Häufigkeit und Schicksal der von 1889 bis 1912 über dem Schwarzen Meer beobachteten Zykkonen, Berlin, E. Ebering, 1931. (Diss. Berlin Univ.)
- POISSON, C. S. Meteorologie de Madagascar. v. 3 of Hist. Phys. Nat. et Polit. de Mad., ed. by Grandidier, Paris, 1930.
- RICHARDSON, R. W., Winter air-mass convergence over the North Pacific, M. W. R., v. 64, June, 1936, pp. 199-202.
- RODEWALD. M., Das Grüne Kap Westafrikas .als Stätte einer quasistationären Strömungssingularität, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 5, pp. 206-211.
- RODEWALD, M., Eine sekundäre subtropische Zyklonenbildungsstätte im mittleren Nord Atlantik, Ann. d. Hydrog., Bd. 64, H. 10, 1936, pp. 433-476.
- ROSSEY, C.-G., Relation between variations in the intensity of the zonal circulation of the atmosphere and the displacements of the semi-permanent centers of action. J. of Marine Research, v. 2, no. 1, pp. 38-55, 1939.
- MAINE RÖM, J. W., Monatliche, jährliche, und zehnjährige Luftversetzungen in Europe, 1901-1910, Kel. Vetenskaps och Vitternets-Samhälles, Handlingar, 4th Ser., 19, 1916, 64, pp.

- SAWYER, L. Doris, Some regions of formation of depressions in the North Atlantic, London. Met. Office, Prof. Notes, no. 50 (v. 4), pp. 2-7, 1928.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Erwärmung des Polargebiets, Ann. d. Hydr., 1939, H. 2, pp. 57-66.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Zunahme der atmosphärischen Zirkulation in den letzten 25 Jahren, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, H. 9, pp. 397-406.
- SCHMAUSS, A., Synoptische Singularitäten, MZ, Bd. 55, pp. 385-403, 1938.
- SCHNEIDER, L. R., Meteorological investigations in Greenland during 1930-31, M. W. R., v. 58, p. 412, 1930.
- SCHOTT, G., Geographie des Atlantischen Ozeans, Hamburg, 1926, xiv, 368 p.
- SCHOTT, G., Geographie des Indischen und Siillen Ozeans, Hamburg, 1935, 413 pp.
- SEILKOPF, H., Grundzüge der Flugmeteorologie des Luftwegs noch Ostasien, Archiv d. Deutschen Seewarte, v. 44, no. 3, 1927.
- SHAW, N., The polar front, QJRMS, v. 58, Oct., 1932, pp. 482-484.
- SINJAGIN, A. A., An essay on circulation in middle latitudes, (In Russian with English summary), U. S. S. R., Central direction of the hydro-meteorological service, Central geophys. Obsy., Transactions, Edition 4, pp. 107-154, Leningrad, 1935.
- SIMPSON, G. C., British Antarctic Expedition 1910-1913: Calcutta, 1919, v. 1—Discussion; v. 2—Weather Maps.
- STREMOUSSOV, N. V., About the synoptic processes in the eastern part of the Asiatic continent and the adjacent seas (abstract), BAMS, v. 17, p. 310, 1936.
- SUTCLIFFE, R. C., Barometer fluctuations at Malta, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes, no. 62 (v. 5), pp. 3-10, 1931.
- ANDRUS, C. G., Ceiling and visibility in the United States, Northeastern states, M. W. R., v 58, pp. 198-199, 1930.
- [ANON], The height of stratosphere over the lower Yangtze Valley, (abstract in Eng.), Met. Mag. (China), v. 12, no. 8, p. 456, Aug., 1936.
- ATMANATHAN, S., On the relation between the weather and the variation of the normal vertical gradient of temperature in N. W. India, India Met. Dept., Scientific Notes, v. 4, no. 32, pp. 7-17, 1931.
- BALLARD, J. C., The diurnal variation of free-air temperature and of the temperature lapse rate, M. W. R., v. 61, pp. 61-80, 1933.
- BALLARD, J. C., Some results of soundingballoon observations during the Second International Polar Year, Aug., 1932 to Aug., 1933, inclusive, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 45-53, 1934.
- BANERJI, S. K., The effect of Indian mountain ranges on air motion, Indian J. Phys., v. 5, pt. 7, 1930.
- BARLOW, E. W., The upper air circulation of the Atlantic Ocean, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes, no. 39 (v. 3), pp. 200-217, 1925.
- BAUR, F. und H. Philipps, Der Warmehaushalt der Lufthulle der Nordhalbkugel im Jan, und Juli. Part 1, Gerlands Beiträge z. Geophys., Bd. 42, pp. 160-207, 1934; Part 2, ibid. Bd. 45, pp. 82-132.
- BEALS, E. A., Free-air winds over Honolulu and Guam, M. W. R., v. 55, pp. 222-226, 1927.

- SVERDRUP, H. V., The North Polar cover of cold air, M. W. R., v. 54, pp. 471-475, 1926.
- TAYLOR, G., Australian Meteorology, Oxford, 1920, 305 pp.
- THORNTHWAITE, C. W., et al., Climatic research in the Soil Conservation Service, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 351-368, 1938.
- TU, C.-W., A preliminary study on the mean air currents and fronts of China, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, v. 11, no. 3, 12 pp., 1937.
- U. S. WEATHER bureau, Atlas of climatic charts of the oceans, Washington, 1938.
- WAGNER, A., Zur Bestimmung der Intensität der allgemeinen Zirkulation, Ann. d. Hydro., 1938, pp. 161-172.
- WEICKMANN, L., P. Zistler, et al., Zum Klima der Turkei, Leipzig, Geophys. Inst. Univ., 1922-28. [In 4 parts; pt. 4, by Koschmeider, on upper winds.]
- WERENSKIOLD, W., Mean monthly air transport over the North Pacific Ocean, Kristiania, Geofys. Komm., Geofys. Pub., v. 2, no. 9, pp. 3-55, 1922.
- WEXLER, H., and J. Namias, Mean monthly isentropic charts and their relation to departures of summer rainfall, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1938, pt. 1, pp. 164-170.
- WHERLÉ, P., and P. Schereschewsky, Sur le front polaire Austral, Pet. Mitt., Erg. Heft, 191, 1927, pp. 77-84.
- WILLETT, H. C., The importance of observations from the upper atmosphere in longrange weather forecasting, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 284-7, 1937.
- WILLETT, H. C., Results obtained from the analysis of northern-hemisphere weather maps for 1936-37, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Un., 1937, Pt. I, pp. 146-8.

b. Aerological Data

- BEALS, E. A., The Northeast Trade Winds of the North Pacific, M. W. R., v. 55, pp. 211-221, 1927.
- BECKER, R. B., Das Flugklima Grönlands (Beiträge zur Meteorologie des Luftweges über Grönland, 1), Aus dem Archiv der deutschen Seewarte, Hamburg, Bd. 52, nr. 4, 32 pp., 1933.
- BEMMELEN, W. V., The Antitrades, MWR, v. 50, 1922, pp. 90-91.
- BEMMELEN, W. van, Der intertropische Teil der allgemeinen Zirkulation nach Beobacktungen im Batavia, M. Z., Bd. 41, pp. 133-141, 1924. Abstr. MWR, Sept. 1924, pp. 441-6.
- BERMUDA Meteorological Office, Summary of Observations, (surface and upper air). Ann. 1936-.
- BIGELOW, F. H., Results of nephoscope observations in the West Indies, M. W. R., v. 32, 1904, pp.
- BOSSOLASCO, M., Genesi e sviluppo del monsone di SW sull'Oceano Indiano, Geofis. Pura e Applicata, v. 1, fasc. 1, 1939, pp. 35-44.
- BOSSOLASCO, M., Das Strömungssystem der Luft über Magadisciu [Somaliland], Zeit. Geophys. v. 10, pp. 360-369, 1934.
- BRAAK. C., Drachen- Freiballon- und Fesselballonbeobachtungen [Java], Batavia, K. Magnetisch en Meteorologisch Obs., Verhandelingen, No. 3, 1915, 58 p.
- BROOKS, C. E. P., Recent studies on the mean atmospheric circulation, Met. Mag., June and September, 1936, pp. 105-110, 177-

Reprinted, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 313-321, 1937.

- BROOKS, C. E. P., and S. T. A. Mirrlees, A study of the atmospheric circulation over tropical Africa, London, Met. Office, Geo-phys. Memoirs, no. 55 (v. 6), pp. 5-15, 1932.
- BROOKS, C. E. P., The climate of Ascension island, QJRMS. v. 57, 1931. Also: Geophys. Mem. no. 33, Met. off. London, 1926.
- CAMM, H. E., and Baufield, Frequency and Velocity of wind at Sydney from Pilot bal-loon obs. 1926-32. Sydney, 1934.
- CANNEGIETER, H. G., Aerologische Beo-bachtungen in Reykjavik wahrend des Int. Polarjahres 1932-33, Kon. Nederlandsch Met. Inst., Ergeb. Aerol. Beob. no. 21A, 35 pp. The Hague, 1933. (Cf. for mean val-ues, Bleeker, Beitr. Phys. Fr. Atmos., v. 35 pp. The Hague, 1933. (Cf. f ues, Bleeker, Beitr. Phys. Fr. 24, p. 117-22, v. 23, p. 39-44).
- CARMICHAEL, H. and Dymond, E. G., Upper air investigations in northwest Greenland, Roy. Soc., Lond., Proc., A, v. 171, pp. 345-359, June 1939.
- CAVE, C., Structure of the atmosphere in clear weather. Cambridge, 1912, 144 p.
- CHAPEL, L. T., The significance of air move-ments across the Equator in relation to the development and early movement of tropical cyclones, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 433-437, Dec., 1934.
- CHATTERJEE, G., and N. K. Sür, Discussion of results of soundings of temperature and humidity at Jhikargacha (Bengal) in April and May 1929, India Meteorological Dept.,
- numinity at Jhukargacha (Bengal) in April and May 1929. India Meteorological Dept., Memoirs. v. 26, Pt. 9, pp. 165-187, 1938. CHIPLONKAR, M. W., The Distribution of temperature in the lower stratosphere, In-dian Academy of Sciences, Proc. v. 11, No. 1. Sci. A. pp. 96-59, 1004. 1, Sec. A., pp. 39-52, 1940.
- CHIPLONKAR, M. W., Further statistical studies of temperature and pressure in the upper atmosphere over India, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 23, H. 3, pp. 238-247, 1936.
- HU, C., Circulation of atmosphere over China, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, no. 4, 55 pp., 1934. CHU.
- CHU, W. Y., The upper air current observa-tions in Nanking, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, No. 9, pp. 25-41, 1937.
- CLAPP, P. F., Mean monthly isentropic charts, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 1938 [abstract.] (Such charts are pubd. in back of MWR each month, 1940-.)
- CLAYTON, H. H., The diurnal and annual periods of temperature, humidity and wind velocity up to 4 km. in the free air and the average vertical gradient of these elements at Blue Hill, Annals of the Astron. Obs. of Harvard College, v. 58, pt. 1, 1904, 62 p.
- COX, C. W., The circulation of the atmosphere over South Africa, So. Africa, Irrig. Dept., Met. Mem., no. 1, 1935, 74 pp. (Prelim. art., So. Afr. J. Sci., v. 23, 1926.)
- DANISH Expedition to Greenland 1912-1913, Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse der Dänischen Expedition nach Dronning Louisesland und Quer über das inlandeis von Nordgrönland 1912-13 unter Leitung von Hauptmann J. P. Koch, by J. P. Koch und A. Wegener, Meddelelser om Gronland. Bind 75, 1930.
- DANISH, Meteorolog, Inst., Résultats des Ra-diosondages faits à Thornshavn (Iles Fa-roes) pendant le mois d'Avril 1939, Copenhagen, 1939, 11 pp.
- DATA from aerological soundings at Fair-banks, Alaska during the winters 1936-37 and 1937-38, M. W. R., Suppl., no. 40, 35 pp., 1940.

- DEPPERMANN, C. E., The upper air at Manila, Manila Obsy., Publ., Vol. 2, no. 5, 1934.
- DEUTSCHE Atlantische Expedition "Meteor" 1925-1927, Wissenschaftliche Ergebnisse der deutschen atlantischen Expedition auf dem Forschungs- und Vermessungsschiff "Meteor", 1927-1927, Hrsg. von A. Defant, Bd. 15. Die aerologischen Methoden und das aerolo-gische Beobachtungs-material. Von E. Kuhl-brodt und J. Reger. Berlin und Leipzig, W. de Gruyter, 1933. 305 pp.
- DEUTSCHE SEEWARTE, Luftfahrtblatt der Monatskarte für den Südatlantischen Ozean, Mondusskarte jar den Sadadumissenen Ozean, Blatt 14. Mittlere Luftdruckver-teilung und Windverhältnisse im Monat August, Süd-Winter, Höhenwinde in den Monaten Mai-Sept. (Folded chart, Hamburg, 1928.)
- INES, L. H. G., Mean values of the relative humidity at different heights in the atmos-phere over England, QJRMS, v. 59, pp. 157-DINES. 162, 1933.
- DOHRMANN, Heinz, Untersuchung über die Ursachen der Hebung und Auflösung der Passatinversion im Begiet der äquatorialen Dissertation, Calmen, Fr.-Wilhelms-Univ. Berlin, 1937, 42 pp.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Further researches into the European upper air data, QJRMS, V. 50, pp. 339-363, 1924. (Cont. from id., v. 47, pp. 23-43, 1921.)
- DURWARD, J., Upper winds at Nicosia, Cy-prus, Met. Off. London, Prof. Notes, no. 87, 18 pp. 1938.
- DURWARD, J., Upper winds measured at M/Y Imperia, Mirabella Bay, Crete, Met. Off. Lond., Prof. Notes, no. 79, 1937, 13 pp.
- EDLUND, O., Meteorologische und aerolo-gische Beobachtungen der Norwegischen gische Beobachtungen der Norwegischen Nowaja Semlia Expedition im Sommer 1921, Report of Scientific Results of the Norwe-gian Expedition to Nowaja Semlja 1921, Oslo, 1928, 39 pp.
- EKHART, E., Zum Klima der freien Atmos-phäre über U. S. A. (2 parts), Beiträge z. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 26, Heft 1 and 2, 1939, pp. 50-66, 77-107.
- EREDIA, F., Le corrienti aeree al suolo e a quote a Tripoli, La Met. Prat., Ann. 17, no. 6, 1936, 255-65; Le corriente aeree al suolo e a quote a Bengasi, id., no. 1, pp. 4-15.
- EREDIA, Ph., Le Osservazioni Aerologiche al Capo Guardafui, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 21, pp. 193-207, 1934.
- REDIA, F. L'esplorazione dell'atmosfera a mezzo di palloni piloti a bordo di novi mer-cantili, Annali dell-Ufficio Presagi, vol. 4, 1932 [Atlantic]. EREDIA,
- EVGENOV, N., Observations hydro-météorolo-giques des expéditions hydrographiques. Matériaux de l'Expédition Hydrographique de l'Océan Glacial du Nord, 1910-15. Les résultats des observations aérologiques reçues par les levers de serfoolant sur le navire hydrographique "Taimyr" faites en 1913-1915. Leningrad, Admin. Hydr., Sec. Hydro-Mét., 1931. [In Russian.]
- ERGUSSON, S. P., ed., Reports of the Greenland Expeditions of the University of Michigan (1926-31)--Part I Aerology: Ex-peditions of 1926 and 1927-29, Ann Arbor, FERGUSSON. 1931, 259 p.
- FICKER, H. von, Die Passatinversion, Veröff. Met. Inst. Univ. Berlin, Bd. 1, h. 4, pp. 33, 1936.

- FICKER, H., v., Bemerkung über den Wär-meumsatz Innerhalb der Passatzirkulation, Berlin, Preuss. Akad. Wiss., Phys. Math. Berlin, Kl., 1936, 11. 14 pp.
- The vertical distribution of tem-FUTI, H., The vertical distribution of tem-perature in the stratosphere and troposphere over the earth, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 15, no. 12, p. (45)-(46), 558-572 (tables, cross-sections, bibliog.)
- FLOWER, W. D., Temperature and relative humidity in the atmosphere over lower Egypt, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes no. 75 (v. 5), pp. 3-12, 1937.
- GEORGI, J., Aerologie der hohen Breiten und grosse Zirkulation, Arktis, Jahrgang 1, H. ¾, pp. 83-96, 1928.
- GEORGI, J. und L. Kuhlbrodt-Rachoer, Hö-henwindmessungen auf Island 1909-1923. Zusammenstellung und statische Bearbei-tung von 574 Pilotwindmessungen aus Island und den Küstengewässern.,"Hamburg, Aus dem Arch. d. Seewarte, Bd. 51, no. 5, pp. 84, 1932.
- HERZI, E., The winds and upper-air cur-rents along the China Coast and in the Yangtse Valley, Shanghai, Zi Ka Wei Obs., 240 pp., 1931. GHERZI.
- GIOVANELLI, J., Les courants acriens et la pression atmosphérique en Océanie Fran-caise, Annal. de Phys. du Globe, No. 36, 1939, pp. 167-191.
- GIOVANELLI, J., Quatre années de sondages aérologiques en Océanie, Annal. de Phys. du Globe, no. 28, pp. 102-125, 1938.
- des sondages aérologiques effectués en Océ-anie Française de 1934 à 1939, Papeete-Tahiti, Obs. du Faiere Met.-Phys. du Globe, 16 pp., 1940. GIOVANNELLI, J. L., Résumé des résultats
- GOLD, E., The international kite and balloon ascents, London, Met. Office, Geophys. Memoirs, no. 5, 1913.
- GRÄFE, H., Über Zusammenhänge zwischen Bodenwind, Luftdruckverteilung und vertikaler Temperaturschichtung in grossen Räu-men der Äquatorzone des Atlantischen Oze-ans, Ann. d. Hydr., 1939, H. 6, pp. 303-309.
- [GREENLAND] Aerologische Beobachtungen Are ENALAND Arongssalik wahrend des Intern. Polarjahres 1932-33, Kon. Nederlandsch Met. Inst., Ergebn. Aerol. Beob., No. 22A, The Hague, 1934, 19 pp. (Means publ. by Bleeker, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos. v. 23, p. 39-44.)
- GREGG, W. R., An aerological survey of the United States. Pt. I, Results of observations by kites, MWR Suppl. 20, 1922: Pt. II, Re-sults of observations by pilot balloons, MWR Suppl. no. 26, 1926.
- GREGG. W. R., Monthly and seasonal mean temperatures and relative humidities for the standard geopotentials for the period of the second International Polar Year 1932-33, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 25, pp. 130-144, 1939. (U. S. data)
- GRIMMINGER, G., and W. C. Haines, Mete-orclogical results of the Byrd Antarctic Ex-peditions 1928-30, 1933-35: Tables, MWR. Suppl. 41, 1939, 377 pp.
- GUTERMAN, I. G., Some peculiarities of the atmosphere in aretic regions, Trans. Arctic Inst., USSR, v. 122, 1938.
- UTERMAN, I. G., Vertical Temperature Gradients above Franz Joseph Land, Met. i. Hydrologia, 1938, no. 6, pp. 56-65 [in Rus-sian]. (Thermal Structure up to 20 Kilo-meters over Franz Joseph Land) in BAMS, v. 19, pp. 433-436, 1938. GUTERMAN,

- HARRISON, L. P., On the water vapor in the atmosphere over the United States east of the Rocky Mountains, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 449-472, 1931.
- HARWOOD, W. A., Upper-air movement in the Indian monsoons and its relation to the general circulation of the Atmosphere, Mem. India_Met. Dept., v. 24, part 8, 1924, pp. 249-72
- HEYWOOD, G. S. P., The upper winds of Hong Kong, from observations made with pilot balloons, 1921-1932, Hong Kong, Royal Obsy., 1933, 13 pp.
- HIGHTMAN, H. M., Ceiling and visibility in the United States: Rocky Mountain states, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 202, 1930.
 HILDEBRANDSON, H. H., Késultats des re-cherches empiriques sur les mouvements gé-néraux de l'atmosphère. Upsala, Soc. Sci., Acte v. 5, 1918, 50, pp. Acta, v. 5, 1918 50 pp.
- HUNT, H. A., Australian upper-air work, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 15, pp. 163-169, 1929 (bibliog.).
- UBERT, H., Les mouvements généraux lair atmosphérique au-dessus des Coloni francaises, Ann. de Phys. du Globe, no. pp. 1-27; cont. in no. 9, pp. 73-83, 1935. HUBERT, Colonies
- JAKL, V., Ceiling and visibility in the United States: Central states, M. W. R., v. 58, no. 5, pp. 201-202, 1930.
- JAKL, V. E., An account and analysis of the Meisinger free-balloon flights, M. W. R., v. 53, pp. 99-107, 1925.
- JAUMOTTE, J., Structure thermique de la stratosphere jusqu'à 30 km. Gerl. Beitr. Geophys. Bd. 50, pp. 403-22, 1937.
- AUMOTTE, J., Transformations thermody-namiques de la stratosphère et nuages na-crés, Belgium, Inst. Roy. Met., Memoires,
- namiques de la stratosphère et nuages na-crés, Belgium, Inst. Roy. Met., Memoires, v. 5, 41 p., 1936.
 KALLIO, N über die Windverhaltnisse der oberen Luftschichten am aerologischen Ob-servatoriums Ilmala nebst ubsersichten fur anderen Gegenden, Soc. Sci. Fenn. Comm. Phys. Math. v. 3, no. 3, 1926, 149 pp.; also as Mitt. Met. Inst. Univ. He'singfors, no 3, 1926 (Contains exhaustive bibliogr. of up-per wind studies down to 1926); later study, Mitt. Met. Inst. Univ. Helsingfors, No. 7.
 KUDSON. F... The eirculation of the atmos-
- KIDSON, E., The eirculation of the atmos-phere above Melbourne, QJRMS, v. 54, no. 225, pp. 27-42, 1928.
- KIDSON, E., Winds in the upper air at Wel-lington, N. Z., London, Met. Off., Note no. 15, 8 pp., 1935.
- KOPP, W., über die potentielle Temperatur der Haupt-inversionen, M. Z., Bd. 43, H. 12, pp. 471-473, 1926.
- KORFF, S. A. and G. Wagner, La meteorolo-gia d'el estratosfera en Peru, Serv. Met. de Peru, Lima 1935. 8 pp.
- KUHLBRODT, E., Boden- und Höhenwinde der Balkanhalbinsel, Aus. d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Jahgang 41, Nr. 3, 37 pp., 1923.
- KUHLBRODT E. Das stromungsystem der Luft über dem tropischen Atlantischen Oze-an nach hohenwindmessung der Mcteor-Expedition, Zeit. f. Geophys., v. 4, 1928, pp. 385 ff.
- KÜTTNER, J., Die atmosphärischen Gleichge-wichts-Verhältnisse über Lappland im Po-larsommer: ein Beitrag zur Aerologie der Arktis. Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 24, pp. 98-114, 1938.
- LANDI, A., Il fronte tropicale sul Mediter-raneo, Rivista di meteorologia aeronautica, Rome, An. 3, pp. 3-25, 1939.

- LARSEN, L. N., Visibility and upper winds at Auckland, Wellington and Christchurch, N. Z., New Zealand, Met. Off., Note no. 20.
- LEE, A. W., The relation of the circulation in the upper air to a circumpolar vortex, QJRMS, v. 50, 1924, p. 69-74.
- LENNAHAN, C. M., Summary of aerological observations obtained by means of kites, air-planes and sounding balloons in the United States, M. W. R., Suppl., no. 38, 65 p., 1938.
- LITTLE, D. M., Ceiling and visibility in the United States: Pacific coast states, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 203-204.
- MALURKAR, S. L., On the extreme dryness observed at Kodaikanal during the winter months, India Met. Dept., Scientific Notes, v. 4, no. 43, pp. 137-144, 1932.
- MöLLER, Fritz, Der Jahresgang der Tempera-tur in der Stratosphäre, MZ, Bd. 55, pp. 161-170, 1938.
- MöLLER, F., Über horizontale Austauschwar-meströme über Mitteleuropa und ihre Verän-derung mit der Höhe, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 22, pp. 46 ff., 1935.
- MOLTCHANOV, P. A., Results of radiomete-orograph soundings during 1930-36 in the U. S. S. R. and the Arctic, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 322-325, 1937.
- MÜLLER, Fritz, Die Strömungen der Atmosphäre über Teneriffa, Veröff. Geophys. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 8, pp. 133-179, 1936. Geophys. Inst.
- NAKAYA, U., Monthly normals of isobars in Japan at 3000 m, Tokyo Univ., Jn. Faculty Sci., Sect. I, no. 1, 1927, pp. 301-312.
- NOHASCHECK, H., Die thermische Schich-tung der Atmosphäre über Batavia, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 20, H. 1, pp. 1-8, 1932.
- OTH, H., Untersuchung über die Zusam-menhänge zwischen stratosphärischer Druck-verteilung, Luftdruckmittelwerten, Höhän-derungen der Hauptisobarenflächen und der Niederschlagsarmut, Deutsch. Flugwetter-dioret Erschumgehesichte Sonderhand ? NOTH. Erfahrungsberichte, Sonderband dienst. 3. pp. 156-160, 1930.
- PATTERSON, J., Upper-air investigation in Canada, Part 1, Observations by registering balloons, 127 pp. Ottawa, Gov't. print. bur., 1915.
- PEPPLER, W., Studie über die aerologischen Verhältnisse im Nordquadranten der Mittelmeerdepressionen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. 223-245, 1931.
- PEPPLER, W., Die thermische Schichtung der Atmcsphäre, Beitr. v. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 11, H. 2, pp. 79-95, 1924.
- PETERS, S. P., Some observations of upper air temperature in Iraq, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes, no. 59 (v. 4), pp. 2-10, 1930.
- PETERS, S. P., Some upper-air observations over lower Egypt, London, Met. Office, Geo-phys. Memoirs, no. 56, (v. 6) pp. 3-44, 1932.
- PETITJEAN, M. L., Dix années de sondages à Alger (1918-1928), La Météorologie, pp. 214-229, avril à juin 1929.
- PIIPO, A. F., Analysis of the Madison, Wis., aerological data, with an application of the Bjerknes Theory, M. W. R., v. 56, pp. 47-53, 1928. (Cf. disc. by Rodewald, Ann. d. Hyd., 1938, pp. 558-60.)
- PROUD, S., Upper winds at Kingston, Ja-maica, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes no. 78, (v. 5), pp. 2-26, 1937.
- [RADIOSONDES] Isoplethes de temperature, La Met., Jan.-Feb. 1938 and later issues (cross sections of isotherms day by day from soundings made at Trappes, to 15-18 km).

- RAMANATHAN, K. R., Discussion of results of sounding balloon ascents at Agra during the period July 1925 to March 1928 and some allied questions, India Met. Dept.,
- some allied questions, India Met. Dept., Memoirs, v. 25, pt. 5, pp. 163-193, 1930. RAMANATHAN, K. R., and K. P. Ramakrish-nan, Discussion of results of sounding bal-loon ascents at Poona and Hyderabad during the period October 1923 to December 1931, India Met. Dept., Memoirs, v. 26, pt. 4, pp. 51-187, 1934.
- RAMANATHAN, K. R., and K. P. Ramakrishnan, The general circulation of the atmosphere over India and its neighbourhood, India Met. Dept., Memoirs, Delhi, v. 26, pt. 10, pp. 189-245, 1939.
 RAY, C. L., Free-air winds at San Juan, P. R., MWR, v. 59, 414-16, 1931.
- REED, T. R., Further observations on the North American high-level anticyclone, M.
 W. R., v. 65, pp. 364-6, 1937; abstract in BAMS, v. 18, pp. 297-8, 1937.
- REED, T. R., The North American high-level anticyclone, M. W. R., v. 61, 1933.
- REED, T. R., Thermal aspects of the high-level anticyclone, M. W. R., v. 67, pp. 201-203. 1939.
- REGER, J., Die Grenze zwischen Troposphäre und Stratosphäre, Arbeiten d. pr. Aeronaut. Obs. Lindenberg, Vol. 16, pp. E2-6, 1930.
- REGER, J., Der mittlere jährliche Tempera-turgnag über Lindenberg, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 23, H. 3, pp. 195-198, 1936.
- REPORT on meteorological observations taken during the Polar Year 1932-33. F (Union So. Africa, upper-air data). Pretoria,
- REUTER. F., Die halbjahrige Luftzirkulation im NO-Passatgebiet des Nordatlantischen Ozeans über Teneriffe, Ann. d. Hyd., v. 67, 1939, p. 57-67.
- ILEY, J. A., Ceiling and visibility in the United States: Southeastern states, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 199-201, 1930. RILEY.
- ROEDIGER, G., Der Europäische Monsun, Leipzig, Univ. Geophys. Inst. Veröff., 2. Serie, Bd. 4, Hft. 3, 1929, pp. 119-177 (see also MZ, v. 56, 1939, p. 149-52.)
- ROLF, B., Lancers de ballons-sondes d'Obisko, de 1921-29, Medd. fr. Stat. Met.-Hydrogr. Anst., Stockholm, v. 5, no. 5, 1932.
- SAMUELS, L. T., Temperature distribution up to 25 kilometers over the Northern Hemisphere, M. W. R., v. 57, p. 382, 1929.
- SEILKOPF, H., Höhenwindmessungen auf deutschen Handelsschiffen. Der Pilote, (Publ. of the Deutsche Seewarte) 1930.
- SEN, S. N., On the distribution of air density over the globe, QJRMS, v. 50, 1924, p. 29-52.
- SERRA, A. B., La circulation générale de l'A-mérique du Sud, Rio de Janeiro, Serv. Nac. de Met., 1939, 17 pp., [Important paper.]
- SERRA, A. B., and L. D., Barbosa. The nor-mal atmosphere above Alegrete, Brasil, Min. da agric., Servicio Nac. de Meteorología, 1939, 20 pp.
- SERRA, A. B., Secondary circulation of south-ern Brasil, Rio de Janeiro, 1938, 29 pp. tables, diagrs.
- SHAW, N., Manual of meteorology: volume 2—Comparative meteorology. University Press, Cambridge 472 pp., 1936. [Contains valuable mean charts and tables and in the appendix a bibliog. of upper air data by countries which is the only guide to such meteorical. material.]

- SIMPSON, G. C., The south west Monsoon, QJRMS, v. 47, pp. 151-172, 1921.
- SINODA, K., Monthly normal isobars at 4000 and 6000 m levels over Japan and its vicin-ity, Tokyo Univ., J. Fac. Sci. Sect., I, no. 1, 1927, pp. 313-317.
- SPILHAUS, A., Results of aerological investi-gations in South Africa, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 24, pp. 228-231, 1937.
- STAPF, Helmut, Der tägliche Luftdruck- und Temperaturgang in der freien Atmosphäre in seiner Abhängigkeit von den Jahreszeiten, Diss. Fr.-Wilhelms-Univ. Berlin, 1934, 41 pp.
- STEVENS, L. A., Upper-air winds over north-crn Alaska during the International Polar Year. August 1932-August 1933, inclusive, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 244-247, 1934.
 STONE, R. G., Analysis of resultant winds aloft at San Juan, P. R., BAMS, v. 21, 1940, 1111122
- p. 111-112.
- SUR, N. K., and J. C. Roy, On some charac-teristics of the tropopausc and upper tropo-sphere over North-west India, India Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 5, no. 48, pp. 19-31, 1931.
- SUTTON, L. J., The upper currents of the atmosphere in Egypt and the Sudan, Egypt, Phys. Dept., Paper no. 17, 136 pp., 1925.
- SVERDRUP, H. U., Discussion of meteorology in "The Norwegian North Polar Expedition with the MAUD, 1918-1925", "Scientific Re-sults", v. 2, Part 1. Bergen, 1933.
- SVERDRUP, H. U., Der nordatlantische Pas-sat, Veroff. Geophys, Inst. Univ. Leipzig, sat, Veroff. Geophys Bd. 2, pp. 1-96, 1917.
- THOMSON, A.: Upper-Air Currents at Apia. N. Z. Dept. Sci. Ind. Res., Wellington, 1929: later data in Annual Rept. Apia Obsy, 1932, 34, '38.
- THOMSON, A., Upper-air currents at Hono-lulu, T. H., M. W. R., v. 56, pp. 496-498, 1928.
- TOMMILA, Niilo R. and Vilho Väisälä, М., Aerologische Beobachtungen mit Radiosonden im Sommer 1937 in Spitzbergen und in Pet-samo, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fennicae, Ser. A, v. 53, no. 5, (Repr. as Mitteil. des Met. Inst. der Univ. Helsinki, no. 41, 1939). 50 pp.
- TRUTNJEWA, W. W. und Keramyschew, Ergebnisse der aerologischen Beobachtungen in der Mongolei in Urga (Ulan-Bator-Choto), Irkutsk, Mag. und Met. Obs. Ver-handlungen, No. 2-3, pp. 173-174, 1928. [upper winds)

Average (Statistical, or Schematic) Structure and Movement of Cyclones 2. and Anticyclones; Models

- ABILD, Bruno, Betrachtungen über meteor-ologische Verhältnisse an Fronten, Diss., ologische ologische Verhältnisse an Fronten, D Chr. Albrechts-Univ., Kiel, 1937. 49 pp.
- NGSTRÖM, A., Die Variation der Nieder-schlagsintensität bei der Passage von Re-gengebieten und einige Folgen betreffs der Struktur der Fronten, MZ, Bd. 47, pp. 177-ÅNGSTRÖM. A.. 181, 1930.
- BALCKE, Erwin, Untersuchung abnorn höher Temperaturen in Norddeutschland. Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 57, Nr. 4, 1937, pp. 1-38.
- BAMFORD, A. J., Notes on the climate of western Ceulon with special reference to the upper winds at Colorbb. Colombo, Ceylon, J. Sc., Sec. E, v. 1, pp. 173-205, 1929.
- BANERJI, S. K., and G. T. Walker, Vortices on the monsoon front, Nature (London), v. 14, pp. 88-93, 1928.

- TRELOAR, et al., Weather conditions affecting aviation over the Tasman Sea, Australia, Comm. Bur. Met., Bulls. 24 and 25, Melbourne, 1938.
- TU, Changwang, Results of aerological inves-tigations in China, Beitr. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 25, pp. 233-240, 1939.
- S. NAVY, Hydrographic Office, Pilot Charts of the Upper Air: North Pacific Ocean; North Atlantic Ocean. (Monthly).
- VALENZUELA, del Rio, J., Le vents à di-verse hauteurs au-dessus de Santiago (Chile), in: Publ. No. 41 de Secret. de L'Organ. Met. Intern., Leyden, 1939, p. 134-9.
- VENKITESHWARAN, S. P., Daily variations of temperature and pressure at different levels over Agra associated with passage of western disturbances, India Met. Dept., Sci-entific Notes, v. 7, no. 73, pp. 59-63, 1937.
- VOGEL, H., Die atmosphärische Zirkulation über Australien Mitteilungen Geogr. Gesell. in München, v. 22, h. 2, pp. 181-238, 1929.
- JAGNER, A., Klimatologie der freien Atmos-phäre, Teil F, Bd. 1, of Handbuch der Kli-matologie, ed. by W. Köppen and R. Geiger, Berlin, Borntraeger, 1931. 70 pp. [Extensive summary of all upper air data for the world down to 1931.] WAGNER.
- WALTER, A., Results of observations on the direction and velocity of the upper air cur-rent over the South Indian Ocean, London, Met. Off., Geoph. Mem., v. 4, no. 39, pp. 1-32, 1927.
- WAGNER, A., Zur aerologie des indischen Monsuns, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 30, pp. 196-238, 1931.
- WANGENHEIM, G. I., Meteorological regime of the region of Franz-Joseph Land during the warm period of the year, Trans. Arctic Inst. of USSR (Leningrad), v. 103, 1987, 64 pp.
- WEI, Y., A study of the upper-vir circulation over central China by means of pilot balloons (abstract in English), Met. Mag. (China), v. 13, no. 3, p. 171, March, 1937.
- WEXLER, H., Observed transverse circula-tions in the atmosphere and their climatolog-ical implications. Mass. Inst. Tech., Ph.D. thesis, 1939 [not yet pub'd.].
- ISTLER, P., Müchener Registrierballonauf-steige über 20 km. Höhe, Deutsches Met. Jahrbuch Bayern, 1934, Anhang C, 11 pp. ZISTLER,
- BAUGHMAN, F. A., Winter cold fronts at Cleveland airport, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 48-49. 1939.
- BAUR, F.. Polarfront und Äquatorialfront, Ann. d. Hydrog., Bd. 51, H. 12, pp. 284-287, 1923.
- BECKER, R., Der Einfluss der Reibung auf die Form der Luftkörnergrenzflächen bei Kältevorstössen und Rückzügen, Ann. d. Hydr., 1932, H. 12, pp. 489-495.
- BILHAM, E. G., Isallobars of moving circular depressions. Geog. Ann., v. 3, pp. 336-357, 1921.
- BERGERON, T. (see refs. under sect. A 2, above.)
- BJERKNES, J., Mildner, P., Palmén, E. und Weickmann, L., Synoptisch-aerologische Un-tersuchung der Wetterlage während der internationalen Tage vom 13. bis 18. De-

zember 1937, Leipzig, Univ. Geophys. Inst., Veröffentlichungen, Zweite Serie, Bd. 12, h. 1, 107, pp. 1939.

- BJERKNES, J., Investigations of selected European cyclones by means of serial as-cents, Geofys. Publ., V. 11, no. 4, 1935, 18 pp.
- pp. BJERKNES, J., and E. Palmén, Investigation of selected European cyclones by means of serial ascents, Case 4: Feb. 15-17, 1935, Geofys. Publ., V. 12, No. 2, 1937, 62, pp. (Disc. by Scherhag, Ann. d. Hyd., 1938, pp. 198-201.) Abstr. by van Mieghem, Ciel et Terre, v. 54, 1938, pp. 337-56.
- BJERKNES, J., On the structure of moving cyclones, Geofys. Publ., v. 1, No. 2, 8 pp., 1918, Repr., M. W. R., Feb., 1919, pp. 90-99.
- BJERKNES, J., and H. Solberg, Life Cycle of cyclones and the polar front theory of at-mospheric circulation, Geofys. Publ., v. 3, No. 1, 18 pp., 1922, Rev'd in M. W. R., Sept., 1922, pp. 468-474. [Cf.: K. Wegener, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 9, 1920, p. 78-90.]
- BJERKNES, J., et H. Solberg, Les Conditions tions météorologiques de formation de la pluie, France, Office Nat. Met., Memorial, no. 6, 81 pp., 1923. (Transl. of Met. con-ditions for the formation of rain, Geofys. Publ., v. 2, no. 3, 1921.)
- BJERKNES, V., Ein prognostisches Prinzip DEFINITES, V., Ein prognostisches Frinzip der dynamischen Meteorologie, Ber. d. math.-phys. Kl. säch. Gesell. Wiss., 1917. (abstr. in M.Z. 1917, p. 345). BROOKS, C. F., The distribution of snowfall in cyclones of the eastern U. S., MWR, v. 42 1914 p. 318-30.
- 42, 1914, p. 318-30.
- BROOKS, C. F., Microbarometric oscillations at Blue Hill: Part 3-Air waves at Blue Hill, Dec. 17-18, 1931, BAMS, v. 16, p. 159-1935.
- BRUNT, D., and C. K. M. Douglas, The modi-fication of the strophic balance for changing pressure distribution, and its effect on rain-fall, Roy. Met. Soc., Memoirs, v. 3, no. 2, fall, Roy. Met. Soc., Me pp. 29-51; 198-201, 1929.
- BUGAIEV, V. A., On the relation of cyclonic trajectores with the position of arctic front in winter, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 8, pp. 11-18.
- YERS, H.R., The ascent of air at wa fronts, QJRMS., v. 63, July, 1937, p. 431. BYERS, H .R warm
- BYERS, H. R., Divergence and deepening of extra-tropical cyclones, QJRMS, v. 66, Supplement, pp. 60-67, 1940.
- CECCHINI, E., Sull'andamento della temparatura equipotenziale nei bassi strati della tro-posfera a Vigna di Valle, Rivista di Met. Aeronautica, Rome, anno. 3, no. 4, pp. 3-8, 1939.
- CHAO, Shu, The Relation between wind direc-tion and weather, Tsing Hua Univ. Met. Obsy., Supplement to Quarterly Met. Bull., pp. 5-12, 1932. (In English)
- CHAPMAN, E. H., The relationship between pressure and temperature at the same level in the free atmosphere. London, Roy. Soc.,
- in the free atmosphere. London, Roy. Soc., Proc., v. 98, A., pp. 235-248, 1920. DINES, L. H. G., An analysis of the changes of temperature with height in the strato-sphere over the British Isles, Mem. Roy. Met. Soc., v. 2, no. 18, pp. 137-151, 1932.
- DINES, L. H. G., A comparison between the geostrophic wind, surface wind and the up-per winds from pilot ballons, at Valentia, Met. Off. Lond., Prof. Notes, no. 83, 1938.
- DINES, W. H., The characteristics of the free atmosphere, Geophys. Memoirs, no. 13,

1919, London, Met. Office. (Abstr. and disc. by W. R. Gregg, MWR, Sept. 1919, pp. 644-649.)

- DINES, W. H., The Connection between pres-sure and temperature in the upper layers of the atmosphere, MWR, v. 50, 1922, pp. 638-642.
- DINIES, E., Der Aufbau von Steig-und Fall-gebieten, Reichsamt für Wetterdienst, Wisgebieten, Reichsamt für Wetterdienst, Wis-senschaftliche Abhandlungen, Bd. 3, Nr. 3, pp. 1-16, 1937.
- DINIES, Erwin, Die Steuerung von Wärme-wellen, MZ, Bd. 53, pp. 81-84, 1936.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Aspects of surfaces of discontinuity, QJRMS, 55, pp. 123-152, 1929.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Deepening of depressions by day and night, Met. Mag., Mar., 1931, pp. 39-41.
- pp. 55-11.
 DOUGLAS, C. K. M., A discussion of temperatures at 4 km at Reykjavik and Duxford during the polar year, Met. Mag., 1933, pp. 253-256; A further discussion of . .: id., Feb., 1935, pp. 7-10.
 DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Divergent isobars and winds, Met. Mag., v. 73, pp. 177-178, 207, 1935.
- 1938.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Fronts and depressions, Met. Mag., v. 71, March, 1936, pp. 34-39.
 DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Movements of Cirrus clouds in relation to fronts, QJRMS, v. 57, 1931, p. 90-2, (also see Met. Mag., May 1932, p. 89-91.)
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., On the relation between temperature and pressure in the tropo-sphere, Royal Met. Soc., Memoirs, v. 3, no. 29, pp. 159-168, 1930.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., On the relation between temperature changes and wind structure in the upper atmosphere, Roy. Met. Soc., Mem-oirs, v. 1, no. 7, pp. 95-104, 1927.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., On the relation between the source of the air and the upper air tem-perature up to the base of the stratosphere, QJRMS, v. 51, July, 1925, pp. 229-238 (diag.).
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Some facts and theories about the upper atmosphere, QJRMS, v. 61, no. 258, pp. 53-70, 1935.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Temperature variations in the lowest four kilometers, QJRMS, v. 47, pp. 23-43, 1921.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Rainfall from above 6000 feet, in relation to upper winds and fronts, QJRMS, v. 62, pp. 207-218, 1936.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Some factors influencing the development and occlusion of warm sectors, QJRMS, v. 65, pp. 525-531, 1939. Disc., id; Jan. 1940, p. 79.)
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Further researches into the European upper air data, QJRMS, v. 50, 1924. p. 339-64.
- DUFOUR, L., étude du vent géostrophique et du vent de gradient à Uccle, Ciel et Terre, v. 53, pp. 1-10; 75-80, 1937.
- URST, C. S., The form of cold fr QJRMS, v. 58, July, 1932, pp. 302-303. DURST. fronts.
- DURST, C. S., The wind structure beneath warm fronts, QJRMS, v. 64, no. 276, pp. 516-522, 1938.
- GERSDöRFER, L., Korrelationen zwischen Luftdruck und Temperatur vom Boden bis
 km Höhe über München, Deutsches Met.
 Jrb. f. Bayern, 1930, Anhang J, 5 pp; Par-tielle Korrelationen . . . , id, 1931, D, 7 pp.
- EKHOLM, N., Wetterkarten der Luftdruck-schwankungen, M. Z., v. 21, pp. 345-357,

1904; further, MZ, 1906, p. 228; 1907, pp. 1, 102, 145.

- EXNER, F. M., Zur Frage, ist der überadiabatischen Gradienten reell? MZ, Bd. 36, pp. 245-253, 1919.
- EXNER, F. M., On the structure of anticyclones and cyclones in the stratosphere over Europe, M. W. R., v. 49, pp. 653-655, 1921.
- EXNER, F. v, Studien über die Ausbreitung kalter Luft auf der Erdoberfläche, Sitzb. Wien. Akad. Wiss., Abt. Ha, v. 127, H. 6, pp. 1-53. 1918; see also id., v. 120, 1911, p. 1411; v. 131, 1922, p. 366; v. 133, 1924.
- EXNER, F. M., Über den Aufbau hoher Antizyklonen und Zyklonen in Europa, M. Z., Bd. 38, pp. 296-299, 1921.
- FERGUSSON, S. P., Exploration of the air by means of kites, Ann. Astron. Obsy. Harvard College, v. 42, pt. 1, Append. B, pp. 41-128, 1896.
- FERGUSSON, S. P., and H. H. Clayton, Exploration of the upper air by means of ballons-sondes at St. Louis in the years 1904-07, Ann. Astron. Obsy. Harvard College, v. 63, pt. 1, pp. 1-92, 1909.
- FICKER, H. von, Bemerkungen über die Äquatorialfront, M. Z., Bd. 41, pp. 202-206, 1924.
- FICKER, H. von, Die Änderungen der Grösse der Luftdruckschwankungen in den untersten Schichten der Atmosphäre, M. Z., Bd. 37, pp. 145-151, 1920.
- FICKER, H. von, Der Transport kalter Luftmassen über die Zentralalpen, Denks. Akad. Wiss. Wien, v. LXXX, 1905. (See also, MZ. 1910, pp. 1-12).
- FICKER, H. von., Bemerkungen über die Konstitution zusammengesetzter Depressionen, M. Z., Bd. 38, pp. 65-70, 1921.
- FICKER, H., Kälteeinbrüche über Lindenberg, MZ., Bd. 39, pp. 65-72, 1922.
- FICKER, H. von, Beziehungen zwischen Änderungen des Luftdruckes und der Temperatur in den unteren Schichten der Troposphäre (Zusammensetzung der Depressionen), Sitz. Ber. d. Akad. Wiss. Wien., Math.-Naturw. kl., Abt. Ha., Bd. 129, pp. 763-810, 1920 (abstr. MWR, 1921, p. 652).
- FICKER, H. von, Maskierte Kälteeinbrüche, M. Z., Bd. 43, pp. 186-188, 1926.
- FICKER, H. von, Polarfront, Aufbau, Entstehung und Lebensgeschichte der Zyklonen, M. Z., Bd. 40, pp. 65-79, 264-267, 1923 [rev. of literature].
- FUJIWHARA, S., Examples of eyclones and depressions of pure thermal and of pure dynamical origin, Jn. Met. Soc., Japan, Ser. 2, v. 3, 1925, pp. 1-5.
- FUJIWHARA, S., Short note on the behavior or two vortices, Proc. Phys. Math. Soc. Japan, Ser. 3, v. 13, no. 3, 1931.
- FUJIWHARA, S., et al., On vorticity in the atmosphere as a weather factor, J. Fac. Sci., Imp. Univ. of Tokyo, Sec. 1, v. 3, pt. 2, pp. 65-106, 1935.
- GEORGII, W., Der Luftaustausch zwischen niederen und höheren Breiten über dem östlichen Mittelmeer, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 15, pp. 61-88, 1929.
- GIBLETT, M. A., Line-squalls, M. W. R., v. 56, pp. 7-11, 1928.
- GOLD, E., Rain in advance of true "warm front" rain, Met. Mag., Nov., 1934, pp. 235-237; further remarks under same title by Ockenden and Read, Id. Aug., 1935, pp. 160-161; Bailey, Dec., 1934, p. 264; Daking, Mar., 1935, pp. 40-42; Dewar and Douglas,

May, 1935, pp. 87-88; Douglas, Sept., 1935, 189-190.

- GOLD, E., Barometric gradient and wind force (Rept. to the Director of the Met. Office on the calculation of wind velocity from pressure distribution and on the variation of meteorological elements with altitude), London, Met. Office, Pub. 190, 1908.
- GOLDIE, A., Depressions as vortices. London, Met. Off., Geophysical Memoirs no. 79, 1939.
- GOLDIE, A. H. R., Circumstances determining the distribution of temperature in the upper air under conditions of high and low barometric pressure, QJRMS, v. 49, no. 205, pp. 6-20, 1923.
- GOLDIE, A. H. R., Kinematical features of Depressions, London, Met. Off., Geophys. Memoirs, No. 72, 43 pp., 1937.
- GOLDIE, A. H. R., Some characteristics of the mean annual circulation over the British Isles, QJRMS, v. 62, pp. 81-103, 1936.
- GÖLLES, F., Untersuchungen über den Luftdruckgang bei Kältewellen im Gebiete des kaspischen Meeres, MZ, Bd. 39, pp. 97-107, 1922.
- GREGG, W. R., The relations between free air temperatures and wind directions, MWR, v. 52, pp. 1-18, 1924.
- 52, pp. 1-16, 12-4. GRIMMINGER, G., The intensity of lateral mixing in the atmosphere as determined from isentropic charts, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1938, pt. 1, p. 163.
- HANZLIK, Stanislav, Die Rüumliche Verteilung der metcorologischen Elemente in den Antizyklonen (ein Beitrag zur Entwicklungsgeschichte der Anticyklonen), Akad. der Wiss., Denkschriften der Math-naturw. Klasse, Bd. 84, 94, pp., 1908.
- HANZLIK, S., Beitrage zur Entwicklungsgeschichte der Zyklonen, Akad. Wiss., Wien, Denkschrift., 1912, pp. 67-128.
- HARIHARAN, A. S., Inversions of lapse rate over Karachi, India Met. Dept. Sci. Notes, v. 5, no. 56, 1934.
- HARTMANN, W., Schichtgrenzen und Wolkenhöhen im nordwestdeutschen Flachland, MZ, Bd. 49, pp. 459-466, 1932.
- HAURWITZ, B., Beziehungen zwischen Luftdruck- und Temperaturänderungen: Ein Beitrag zur Frage des "Sitzes" der Luftdruckschwankungen, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 3, pp. 267-335, 1927.
- HAURWITZ, B., Pressure and temperature variations in the free atmosphere and their effect on the life history of cyclones, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 282-287, 1939.
- HAURWITZ, B., Symmetry-points in the airpressure, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1936, pt. 1, pp. 118-120.
- HAURWITZ, B., and E. Haurwitz, Pressure and temperature variations in the free atmosphere over Boston, Harvard Met. Studies, no. 3, 71 pp., 1939.
- HAURWITZ, B., and W. E. Turnbull, Relations between interdiurnal pressure and temperature variations in tronosphere and stratosphere over North America. Canadian Met. Memoirs, v. 1, no. 3, pp. 67-92, 1938. HESSELBERG.
- HESSELBERG, Th., Die Luftbewegungen im Cirrusniveau. Leipzig, Univ., Geophys. Inst., Veröft, 2. Serie, Spezialarbeiten aus dem Geophs. Inst., Heft. 2, 73 pp., 1913.
- HOFFMEISTER, J., über die Struktur der Niederschlagsintensität bei langandauernden niederschlägen, Preuss. Met. Inst., Bericht über die Tätigkeit, 1932, pp. 111-120.

- HOFFMEISTER, H., über die übergangsschicht zwischen verschieden temperierten Luftmassen, Preuss. Met. Inst., Bericht über die Tatigkeit, 1928, pp. 111-120.
- HOFFSTEDT, H., Korrelationen zwischen Luftdruck, Temperatur und Tropopausen-höhe, Mitt. d. Met. Inst., Univ. Helsingfors, höhe, Mitt. a. no. 27, 1935.
- HOLZMAN, B., Detailed characteristics of surface fronts, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 155-159, 1937
- 11DA, T., and T. Kinka, On the wind rose of meteorological elements on Mt. Tukuba, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 16, no. 10, 1938, p. (36).
- ISHAQUE, M. A comparison of upper and gradient winds at Agra and Bangalore, In-dia Met. Dept. Sci. Notes, v. 1, no. 1, 1928.
- KANITSCHNEIDER, Beiträge zur Mechanik des Föhns, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., v. 18, pp. 27-49, 1982; v. 24, pp. 26-44, 1938; v. 25, pp. 49-58, 1939.
- KHANEWSKY, W., Zur Frage über die Kon-stitution und Entstehung höher Antizyklo-nen, MZ, Bd. 46, pp. 81-86, 1929.
- KOHASI, Y., and K. Takase, On the amal-gamation of cyclones, Jn. Met. Soc., Jap., v. 15, no. 7, 1937, p. (27).
- KöPPEN, W., Entwicklung der Temperatur-Inversionen, M. Z., Bd. 28, pp. 80-81, 1911.
 KöPPEN, W. und F. Wedemeyer, Beziehungen zwischen Temperatur, Luftdruck und Höhe der Troposphäre im Europäischen Flach-lande, MZ, Bd. 31, pp. 1-15, 75-87, 1914.
- KOPPEN, W. Die häufigsten Druckverteilungen und Luftströmungen auf dem Nordatlantischen Ozean und der Luftverkehr, Ann. d. Hyd., Bd. 56, H. 2, 1928, pp. 41-47.
- KUSAKABE, H. and T. Muto, The phenom-enon of the inhibitory effect of strong winds on rainfall, Tokyo, Univ. Faculty of Sci., J., Sect. 1, v. 1, pt. 12, pp. 465-480, 1929.
- LAMMERT, Luise, Der mittlere Zustand der Atmosphäre bei Südföhn, Leipzig, Univ., Geophs. Inst., 2. Serie Spezialarbeiten, Bd. ..2, Heft, 7, pp. 261-322, 1920.
- LEMONS, H., Some meteorological aspects of Nebraska tornadoes, M. W. R., July, 1938, pp. 205-208. (Excerpts in: BAMS, Feb. 1939, p. 51).
- MAL, S., S. Basu and B. N. Desai, Structure and development of temperature inversions in the atmosphere, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. in the atmosphere, Beitr. z. Atm., Bd. 20, pp. 56-77, 1933. Phys. d. fr.
- INDIA, J., Sur la structure thermique de l'atmosphère au-dessus de la Suède mé-ridionale sondages faits par avion en 1924 et 1925, Stockholm, Met.-Hydro. Anstalt, Meddelanden, Bd. 3, no. 10, 1927, 41 pp.
- McADIE. The Winds of Boston and vicinity, Blue Hill Met'l .Obsy., Observations and In-vestigations, 1916, pp. 211-231, 1917, pp. 28-46.
- MAHALANOBIS, P. C., On the seat of ac-tivity in the upper air, Mem. Indid Met. Dept., v. 24, no. 1, 1923 10 pp.
- MIEGHEM, J. Van, Une protection météorolo-gique de la navigation aérienne à haute al-titude est-elle nécessaire, Ciel et Terre, 1940, no. 1, 5 pp.
- ICHEL, W., Über einige aerosynoptische Merkmale der Änderungen barischer Gebiete, Recueille de Geophysique, v. 5, h. 3, 1932. (Abstr. and comment by Köppen, Ann. d. Hyd., 1933, p. 374; Rodewald, id., 1938, p. MICHEL. 557.)
- MOESE, O., and G. Schinze, Zur Analyse von Neubildungen. Annalen d. Hydrogr. u. Marit. Met., Bd. 57, Hf. 3, pp. 76-81, 1929.

- MöLLER, F., Höhenwindmessungen und horizontales Temperaturfeld, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 22, pp. 299-307, 1935.
- MöLLER, F., Über die pseudopotentielle Tem-peratur an Inversionen, MZ, 1929, h. 6.
- MOLTCHANOV, P. A., Concerning the aero-logical scheme of the structure of the at-mosphere, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1937, no. 4-5, pp. 48-66.
- MOLTCHANOFF, P. A., On the aerological scheme of the atmosphere structure during the passage of the warm and cold air masses Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 9, pp. 3-9.
- MOLTCHANOFF, P. A., On the aerological scheme of the atmospheric structure during the passage of the warm and cold air masses Un. Geod. et Geophys. Intern., 6ième Ass. Gén., Edinbourgh, Sept., 1936, Procès ver-baux de L'Assoc. de Mét., part 2, Mém. et Disc. pp. 120, 120 Disc., pp. 120-130.
- NAMIAS, J., Structure and maintenance of dry-type moisture discontinuities not devel-oped by subsidence, M. W. R., pp. 352-358, 1936.
- NAMIAS, J., Subsidence within the atmos-phere, Harvard Meteorological Studies, No. 2, 1934, Cambridge. Abstr. BAMS, v. 17, pp. 20-21, 1936; prelim. art., Trans. Am. Geophys. Un., 1934, pp. 105-114.
- NAMIAS, J., Isentropic Analysis, Art. X in this booklet.
- NEWNHAM, E. V., Classification of synoptic charts for the North Atlantic for 1896-1910, Geophys. Mem. Met. Off., No. 26, London, 1925.
- PALMÉN, E., Die Luftbewegung im Cirrusni-veau über Zyklonen, M. Z., Bd. 48, pp. 281-288, 1931.
- PALMÉN, E., Über die Bewegung der ausser-tropischen Zyklonen, Mitteilungen des Met. Inst. Univ., Helsinfors, no. 4, 102 pp., 1926.
- ALMÉN, E., Versuch zur Analyse der dynam. Druckschwankungen in der Atmosphäre. Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 19, pp. 55-70, 1932. PALMÉN.
- ALMÉN, E., Registrierballonaufsteige im einer teifen Zyklone, Soc. Sc. Fenn., Com-ment. Phys.-math., Vol. 8, No. 3 (Helsing-fors) 1935, 32 pp.; also in Mitt. des Met. Inst. der Univ. Helsingfors, No. 26. Abstr-in M Z, 1935, pp. 17-22. PALMÉN,
- PALMÉN, E., Zur Frage der Temperatur-, Druck- und Windverhältnisse in den höheren teilen einer okkludierten Zyklone, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 17-22, 1936.
- PALMER, Andrew H., Pressure oscillations of short wave-length, Blue Hill Met. Obsy., Observations, 1911, pp. 210-229.
- EPPLER, W., Aerologische Studien über Temperatur und Windrichtung, 1. Mitt.: Die Mitteltemperatur der Windrichtungen, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., v. 14, pp. 278-PEPPLER, 290, 1928.
- PEPPLER, W., Die Aend. ungen der Feuch-tigkeit über dem Bodensee bei Wärme-und Kälteeinbrüchen, Beitr. Phys. d. fr. Atmos., Bd. 14, 1928, pp. 131-137.
- PEPPLER, W., Nördliche Winde und Stauwir-kungen über dem Alpenvorland, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 14, pp. 138-146, 1928.
- PEPPLER, W., Starke Wärmeeinbrüche in der freien Atmosphäre über dem Alpenvorlande, MZ, Bd. 50, pp. 172-175, 1933.
- PEPPLER, W., über das Vorkommen markan-ter Windschichten im unteren Teil der Tro-posphäre, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 17, pp. 235-240, 1931.

- PEPPLER, W., Über die südlichen Luftströ-mungen auf dem Säntis und in der freien Atmosphäre über dem Bodensee, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 22, pp. 1-11, 1935.
- PEPPLER, W., über einige Beziehungen zwischen Temperatur und Wind in den unteren Luftschichten über der flandrischen Küste, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 18, pp. 209-218, 1935.
- PEPPLER, W. Vergleichende Untersuchung BFT LER. We treptenterson and the sounders der Temperatur, an den deutschen aerolo-gischen Stationen, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 21, pp. 105-118, 1934.
- PEPPLER, W., Zur Aeorologie der wandern-den Antizyklonen und Hochdruckrücken. Beitr. Phys. d. fr. Atmos., Bd. 21, pp. 93-104. 1934.
- PEPPLER, W., Zur Aerologie des Föhns, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 12, pp. 198-214, 1926.
- PEPPLER, W., Zur Frage des Temperaturunterschiedes zwischen den Berggipfeln und der freien Atmosphäre, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 17, pp. 247-263, 1931.
- PEPPLER, W., Der Zusammenhang starker Temperatur- und Druckänderungen am Boden mit den höheren Luftschichten über dem Al-penvorland, Beit. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 16, H. 1, pp. 1-8, 1929.
- POGADE, G., Absterbende Warmsektorzyklo-nen, Ann. d. Hydr., 1938, H. 7, pp. 343-346. (abstr. BAMS, 1939, p. 356).
- PORTIG, W. Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Tro-popause, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 23, H. 2, pp. 121-128, 1936.
- PORTIG, W., Gleichzeitige Temperatur- und Luftdruckänderungen in der freien Atmos-phäre, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 23, H. 2, pp. 85-94, 1936.
- QUAYLE, E. T., Relation between cirrus di-rections as observed in Melbourne and the approach of the various storm systems af-fecting Victoria. Australia, Comm. Bur. Met., Bull. no. 10, 1915, 27 pp.
- RAETHJEN, P., Fronten und Grenzflächen in Theorie und Erfahrung, Ann. d. Hydr., 1938, H. 3, pp. 97-103.
- RAO, J. Krishna, Distribution of temperature in the lower stratosphere, India Met. Dept. Sci., Notes, v. 1, no. 10, 1930.
 REED, W. G., The cyclonic distribution of rainfall in the U. S., MWR, v. 39, 1911, p. 1000 14
- 1609-15.
- REHORN, F. K., Kompensation aus Vertikal-bewegung cder aus Advektion? ("Wetter-dynamik" Nr. 4), Beitr. z. Phys. d. Atm., Bd. 25, pp. 189-219, 1939.
- RICHARDSON, L. F., and D. Proctor, Diffu-sion over distances ranging from 3 km to 86 km, Roy. Met. Soc., Memoirs, v. 1, no. 1, pp. 1-8, 1926.
- RODEWALD. M., Frontenstunden und Fron-tenlagen, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, H. 7, pp. 314-316; further, 1936, H. 10, pp. 448-450.
- RODEWALD, M., Zur Frage der Zyklonenver-jüngung am Ostrande der Kontinente, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 1, pp. 41-43.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., Meteorologiska resultat av en sommarseglats rundt de Brittiska Oearna, Medd. fran Statens Met.-Hydr. Anst., v. 3, no. 1, 16 pp., 1925.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., Planetary flow patterns in the atmosphere, QJRMS, v. 66, Supplement. pp. 68-87, 1940.
- RUNGE, H., Zur Frage der Umwandlung einer kalten Antizyklone in eine wurme, M. Z., Bd., 48, pp. 375-382, 1931. (abstr. of:

Stationäre warme und kalte Antizyklonen in Europa, Diss. Leipzig, Wurzburg, 1931).

- SAITO, H., Der Zusammenhang zwischen der fortpflanzen der barometrischen Minima under der Luftbewegung im Cirrusniveau, J... Met. Soc. Jap., v. 15, no. 4, 1937, p. (15).
- SAMUELS, L. T., A Summary of aerological observations made in well-pronounced highs and lows. MWR, v. 54, 1926, pp. 195-213.
- SATO, Z., Correlation between the atmospheric pressure and temperature on the top of Mt. Huzi, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., vol. 10, no. 6, 1932, p. (360).
- p. (360).
 SCHEDLER, A., Die Beziehungen zwischen Druck und Temperatur in der freien At-mosphäre, Beitr. zur Physik. der fr. At-mosph., v. 9, pp. 181-201, 1920. (Earlier study, id., v. 7, 1917, p. 88-102.)
 SCHEDLER, A., Die Zirkulation im Nordat-lantischen Ozean und den anliegenden Teilen der Kontinente, dargestellt durch Häufig-keitswerte der Zyklonen. Ann. d. Hyd., Bd. 52, H. 1, 1924, pp. 1-14.
- SCHERHAG, R., Aufbau, Zerstörung und Auswirkung einer der stärksten über Deut-schland gelegenen Frontalzonen, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, H. 11, pp. 491-492.
- SCHERHAG, R., Bermerkungen zur Diver-genztheorie, M. Z., v. 53, March 1936, pp. 84 ff.
- SCHERHAG, R., Zur Theorie der Hoch- und Tiefdruckgebiete: Die Bedeutung der Diver-genz in Druckfelder, M. Z., Bd. 51, pp. 129-138, 1934.
- SCHERHAG, R., Der Einfluss starker tro-posphärischer Temperaturschwankungen auf den Luftdruck. Nach einer statischen Bear-beitung der holländischen aerologischen Flugzeugaufstiege, Ann. d. Hydr., 1933, H. 10, рр. 290-293.
- SCHERHAG. R., über die atmosphärischen Zustände bei Gewittern. Dissertation, Fr.-Zustände Wilhelms-Univ. Berlin, 1931, 93 pp.
- SCHERHAG, R., Warum gibt es in der Höhe keine Fronten?, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 8, pp. 367-368.
- SCHMAUSS, A., Druckanstiege aus der Äqua-torialfront, Deutsches Met. Jrb. Bayern, 1922, Anhang E, 6 pp.
- SCHMAUSS, A., Lebensdaten der Mitteleuro-paeische Depressionen, Deut. Met. Jahrbuch f. Bayern, 1923, Anh. B and E, 1924, Anh. Α.
- SCHMAUSS, A., Polarfront-Äquatorialfront, M. Z., Bd. 38, pp. 156-57, 1921.
- SCHMAUSS, A., Kohärente und inkohärente Drucksysteme, MZ, Bd. 39, pp. 278-280, 1922.
- Drucksysteme, ML, Bd. 59, pp. 210-200, 1022.
 SCHMAUSS, A., Temperature Wellen an der Grenze von Troposphäre und stratosphere, Munch. Aerol. Stud. no. 1, Beob. an Met. Stat. in Kon. Bayern, v. 34, 1912, Append. G.; further studies, id., Jg. 1913, App. E. 1914; App. E. and G. 1920, App. B. (See abstr. in Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 6, pp. 152,172). 153-172).
- SCHMIEDEL, K., Stratosphärische Steuerung und Wellensteuerungen, Veröff. Geoph. Instit. Univ. Leipzig. Bd. 9, pp. 1-103, 1937.
- SCHMIDT. Wm., Häufigkeitsverteilung des vertikalen Temperaturgradienten. Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 7, pp. 51-76, 1917.
- SCHMITT, W., Föhnerscheinungen und Föhngebicte mit einer Karte 1:80,000,000 29 Dia grammen und Abbildungen, Deutsch. und Oesterreichischen Alpenvereins, Wissens-chaftliche Veröffentlichungen, No. 8, 64 pp., 1930.

- SCHOSTAKOWISTCH, W. B., Die Beziehun-gen der Klimaelemente zueinander, Irkutsk, Mag. und Met. Obs., Verhandlungen, No. 4, pp. 58-62, 1929.
- SCHOSTAKOWITSCH, W. B., über die Ents-tehung der Zyklonen, Irkutsk, Mag. und Met. Obs., Verhandlungen, No. 4, pp. 12-16, 1929.
- SCHOSTAKOWITSCH, W. B., über die Peri-odizität im Verlauf der Klimaelemente, über die Kälte-und Wärmewellen und andere verwandte Erscheinungen, Irkutsk, Mag. und Met. Obs., Verhandlungen, No. 4, pp. 25-06 1000, 28, 1929.
- SEIFERT, G., Die Bedeutung wandernder pri-märer Drucksteiggebiete für Labilisierung und Zykionenbildung, MZ, Bd. 52, pp. 429-433, 1935.
- SEILKOPF. H., Die räumliche und Zeitliche Aufeinanderfolge von Regenschauern, Ann. d. Hydr., 58. H. 1, pp. 1-10, 1930.
- SOLOT, S. B., The nature of orographic Rain, BAMS, Oct., 1938, pp. 348-9.
- SPILHAUS, Oct., 1900, pp. 348-9.
 SPILHAUS, A. F., A detailed study of the surface layers of the occan in the neighbor-hood of the Gulf Stream with the aid of rapid measuring hydrographic instruments, J. of Marine Research, v. 3, no. 1, pp. 51-75, 1940.
- STAUDE, R., Sind Schrumpfungsinversionen an Luftmassen oder Luftmassengrenzen ge-bunden?, Ann. d. Hydrog., 1938, pp. 133-34.
- STONE, R. G., Microbarometric oscillations at Blue Hill: Part 2-H. Helm Clayton's sta-tistical study of wave-like pressure oscilla-tions observed at Blue Hill between 1885 and 1893, BAMS, v. 16, pp. 158-159, 1935.
- STÜVE, G., Zur Frage der Äquatorialfront, M. Z., Ed. 41, pp. 206-207, 1924. Der Zusam-menbang zwischen der oberen und unteren Druckwelle, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 13, no. 1.
- SVERDRUP, H. U., Ausgedehnte Inversions-schichten in der freien Atmosphäre, Leipzig, Univ., Geophs. Inst., 2. Serie, Spezialarbei-ten, Heft 3, pp. 75-100, 1914.
 SWOBODA, G., Grundbegriffe der Wetter-analyse, Prag, 1932, 48 pp.
- THOMAS, H., Zum Mechanismsus stratosphä-risch bedingter Druckänderungen, M. Z., Bd. 52, pp. 41-48. 1935.
- THOMAS, M., [Radiosonde ascents in depressions in St. Paul, Amsterdamm Crozet, and Kerguelen Is.], BAMS, v. 20, 1939, p. 323. and p. 359; C. Rend, Acad. Sci., Paris, v. 208, 1939, pp. 1419-20.
- THORNTHWAITE, C. W., The life history of rainstorms, Geogr. Rev., v. 27, no. 1, 1937.

Air Mass Properties and Correlations 3.

- ALISOV, B. P., Dynamico-climatical analysis as an addition to the problems of local cli-matology, J. Geophys., vol. 6, no. 1, 1936, pp. 33-49.
- ALISOV, P., Geographical types of the cli-mates. Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 6, pp. 16-25.
- ALISOV, B. P., Peculiarities of the meteoro-logical regime of the summer of 1936 in the central wart of the USSR. Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 12, pp. 3-17.
- ARAKAWA, H., The air masses of Japan, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 407-410, 1937.
- ASKNASY, A., The Cloudiness in Kislovodsk and mountain Sedlovana in different tro-pospheric air masses (English summ.), Jn. of Geophysics, v. 4, no. 3, 1934, pp. 311-331.

- TRAVNICEK, F., Zur Kenntnis der Quellge-biete atmosphärischer Unruhe, Ann. d. Hyd., H. 3, 1936, pp. 100-107. (Distrib. of inter-tional der State and St diurnal pressure variability, bibliog.)
- TSUTSUI, T. and C. Tsuboi, On the correla-tion between the weather and the trend of upper isobars, Tokyo, Univ., Faculty of Sci., J., Sect. 1, v. 1, pt. 10, pp. 381-390, 1927.
- UDDEN, A. D., A Statistical study of surface and upper-air conditions in cyclones and anticyclones passing over Davenport, Iowa, MWR, v. 51, 1923, pp. 55-68.
- UYEDA, R. and others, Notes on correlations between the upper wind and the meteorolog-ical elements, Tokyo, Univ., Faculty of Sci., J., Sect. 1, v. 3, pt. 2, pp. 107-147, 1935.
- VANGENHEIM, G. J., To the question of typisation and schematisation of atmospheric processes, Moscow, Met. and Hydrol., 1938, no. 3, pp. 38-58.
- VENTURELLI, L., Contatti di masse d'aria calda e d'aria fredda nell' atmosfera in rela-zione alla situazione barica, Venice, R. Inst. Ven., Atti, v. 93, pt. 2, pp. 731-867, 1934. (Abstr. in MZ, 1934, pp. 397-401.)
- WAGEMANN, H., über Steiggebiete des Luft-druckes bei russischen Kältewellen (Ein Beitrag zur Erklärung der Luftdruck-schwankungen am Boden), Berlin, Preuss. Met. Inst., Abhandlungen, Bd. 9, no. 2, pp. 5-62, 1929. (Abstr; MZ, v. 47, p. 475-81.)
- WAGEMANN, AGEMANN, H., Die Wanderungsgesch-windigkeit einer Depressionen; Über Ener-gieumsatz und Bildung der Sturmdepressio-nen, Veröff. Marineobs. Willemshavn, N. F., Heft 2, 1936, pp. 9-39.
- WEGENER, A., über die Rolle der Inversionen in den Zyklonen, Ergeb. d. Lindenberg. Tagung. Sonderband d. Beitr. z. Phys. fr. At., 1921, pp. 47-51.
- WEXLER, H., Deflections produced in a tropical current by its flow over a polar wedge, BAMS, v. 16, pp. 250-252, 1935.
- WIESE, Bruno, Sind die überadiabatischen Gradienten Reell?, Dissertation, Leipzig Univ., 1915. 40 pp.
- YANG, Chien-chu, The rise and fall of tem-perature and pressure over Mt. Taishan, (Abstract in Eng.), Met. Mag. (China), v. 13, No. 4, p. 255, April, 1937.
- ZIERL, H., Grosse Temperaturschwankungen im bayerischen Alpenvorland, Deutsches Met. Jrb., Bayern, 1923, Anhang G, 22 pp.
- ZISTLER, P., über die Zusammenhänge zwischen troposphärischen und stratosphärischen Druckwellen, M. Z., Bd. 52, pp. 424-429, 1935.

- BANNON, J., Higgs, A. J., Martyn, D. F., and Munro, G. H., The Association of me-teorological changes with variations of ioni-zation in the F region of the ionosphere, Roy. Soc. London, Proc., A, v. 174, pp. 298-309, Feb., 1940.
- BISOV, N. P., About the problem of applying the sounding of temperature for the char-acteristics of weather types. Jn. of Geophys., v. 6. no. 1 (19), pp. 107-108 (summary in v. 6, no. 1 (19 English), 1936.
- BAKALOW, D., Über die Transformation der Luftmassen, Beiträge z. Phys. fr. At., v. 26, h. 1, pp. 1-23, 1939.
- BLAKE, D., Further conclusions from addi-tional observations in the free air over San Diego, Calif., M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 195-199, 1934.

- BLAKE, D., Temperature inversions at San Diego, as deduced from aerographical observations by airplane, M. W. R., v. 56, pp. 221-224, 1928.
- BOTTS, A. K., Time-line cross-sections: Application of a method of analyzing climatic data by air masses, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 290-297, 1937.
- BRAZELL, J. H. The relation between blueness of the sky and (A) the polarity of the air and (B) the gradient wind, Met. Off. Lond., Prof. Notes no. 55, 1938.
- DINES, L. H. G., Lapse rates in polar and equatorial air, Met. Mag., Jan. 1929, p. 285-6.
- CHROMOV, S. P., *über die dynamische Klimatologie der Krim*, J. Geophysics, v. 5, no. 1, pp. 156-159, 1935.
- CHURCH, P. E., Dynamic climatology, BAMS, v. 15, pp. 128, 1934.
- DEJORDJIO, V., and A. Bugaev, On the air mass classification in Middle Asia, Moscow, Met. Hydr., no. 6, pp. 72 ff, 1936.
- DINIES, E., Luftkörper-Klimatologie, Aus dem Archiv der deutschen Seewarte, Bd. 50, nr. 6, 21 pp., 1932. DROZDOV, M. P., Conditions of the summer transformation on the air material the summer
- DROZDOV, M. P., Conditions of the summer transformation on the air masses in the Moscow region, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 5, pp. 36-40.
- EARL, K., and T. A. Turner, A graphical means of identifying air masses, Mass. Inst. Tech. Met. Course, Prof. Notes, No. 4, 1930, out of print.
- EGERSDORFER, H., Fragen der praktischen Aerologie, M. Z., Bd. 54, pp. 483-485, 1937.
- EVSEEV, P. K., The course of meteorological elements with passing of fronts through Moscow during the summer months, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1937, no. 4-5, pp. 28-47.
- FEDEROV, E. E., Weather types at the anticyclones in the steppe track of the European part of USSR in the summer half-year, Bull. Acad. d. Sci. URSS, Cl. Sci. Math. Nat., Ser. Geogr. et Geophys., v. 1937, no. 1, p. 147-8.
- FONTELL, N., Zur Frage der inneren Stabilität der Luftmassen verschiedenen Ursprungs, Mitt. des Met. Inst. der Univ., Helsingfors, no. 22, pp. 1-20, 1932.
- GEIGER, R., über die Entwicklung von Luftkörperwetterlagen und über Luftkörperfolgen in München, Zeit. f. angew. Met., Das Wetter, Jg. 49, pp. 359-370, 1932.
- GERLACH, A. C., Distribution of air-mass types and frequency of change in the western United States during 1937-38, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 376-377, 1938.
- GOLDIE, A. H. R., Characteristics of rainfall distribution in homogeneous air currents and at surfaces of discontinuity, Met. Off., London, Geophys. Mem., No. 53, 1931, 19 pp.
- GOLDIE, A. H. R., Rainfall at fronts of depression, London, Met. Off., Geophysical Memoirs, No. 69, 17 pp., 1936.
- GOLDSCHMIDT, H., und K. BÜRGER, Ein Beitrag zur Abhängigkeit des luftelektrischen Potentialgefälles vom Luftkörper, M. Z., Bd. 51, pp. 286-289, 1984.
- GRITZENKO, M. V., and A. F. Dubuk, Complete energy reserve of air-mass instability over Moskow, Moscow, Mct. Hydr., 1939, no. 5, pp. 29-43.
- HAURWITZ, B., Day time radiation at Blue Hill Observatory in 1933 with application to turbidity in American air masses, Harvard Met. Studies, no. 1, 1934, 31 pp.

- HESSELBERG, Th., and A. Friedmann, Die Grössenordnung der meteorologischen Elemente und ihrer räumlichen und zeitlichen Ableitungen, Veröff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, 2nd Ser., Bd. 1, H. 6, 1914, pp. 148-173.
- IAROSLAVTZEV, I. M., Typhomologen der Hauptluftmassenarten über Zentralrussland, Moscow, Met. Hydr., 1936, no. 7, pp. 26-42.
- JAW, J., Zur Thermodynamik der Passat-Grundströmung, Veröff., Met. Inst. Univ., Berlin, Bd. 2, H. 6, 1937, 24 p.
- JEOU-JANG, J., A preliminary analysis of the air masses over eastern China, Memoir Nat. Res. Inst. Met., China, no. 6, 24 pp., 1935.
- KALININ, N. F., Characteristical curves of Rossby for certain air masses in Minor Asia, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1938, no. 3, pp. 35-39.
- KEIL, K., and W. Kopp, über die Bezeichnung der Luftkörper, Mitt. d. preuss. Aeron. Obs. Lindenberg, 1927, pp. 109-111
- KIMBALL, H. H., Turbidity and water-vapor determinations from solar radiation measurements at Elue Hill and relations to airmcss types, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 330-333, 1934.
- KNOCH, K., Polar- und Tropikluft nach Registrierungen der Temperatur und der retativen Feuchtigkeit auf dem Atlantischen Ozcan, M. Z., Bd. 42, pp. 297-302, 1925.
- LANDSBERG, H., The air mass climate of central Penna., Gerl. Beitr. z. Geophys. Bd. 51, pp. 278-85, 1937. [Abstract in BAMS, v. 19, pp. 30-33, 1937.]
- LAPAYRE, Mesure an avion de l'humidité atmosphérique en altitude à Djibouti, Annal. de Phys. du Globe, No. 33, 1939, p. 92.
- LINKE, F., Achtjahrige Luftkörperbestimmungen in Deutschland, Bioklimat. Beiblätter, Jg. 4, pp. 101-106, 1937.
- LINKE, F., Luftmassen oder Luftkörper? Bioklim. Beiblätter, Bd. 3, pp. 97-103, 1936.
- LOUGHRIDGE, D. H. and Paul Gast, Air mass effect on cosmic-ray intensity, Bull. Am. Phys. Soc., v. 14, no. 6, pp. 7 ff, 1940.
- MOESE, O., and G. Schinze, Die Erkennung der troposparischen Luftmassen aus ihren Einselfeldern, M. Z., Ed. 49, pp. 169-179, 1932.
- Mölller, F., Statistische Untersuchungen über die Konstanz der Luftkörper, Gerl. Beit. Geophys., Bd. 37, pp. 387-435, 1929.
- NISHINA, Y., H. Arakawa, et al., Cosmic rays as a possible meteorological factor, J. Met. Soc., Japan, v. 18, no. 5, p. 160-163, no. 8, pp. 256-60. [Abstr. in Eng. on pp. (17-18)], 1940.
- PICK, W. H. and Davies, Ground horizontal visibility at Valentia and the type of air prevailing, QJRMS, v. 55, 1929, p. 81-2; see also, v. 53, p. 293.
- POLIAKOVA, A. N., The Distribution of cquivalent-potential temperature in tropospheric air masses over Moscow, Jn. of Geophysics, vol. 6. No. 6 (24), pp. 524-525 (summary in English), 1936.
- POULTER, R. M., Configuration, air mass and rainfall, QJRMS, v. 62, pp. 49-80, 1936.
- RODEWALD, M., über die Festlegung von Frontalzonen, Annal. der Hydrog., Bd. 60, h. 5, pp. 180-183, 1932. [Position of polar front in No. America.]
- RODEWALD, M., Zum Artwandel der Luftmassen, Ann. d. Hydrog. Bd. 65, pp. 583-1937.

- SCHELL, I. I., On the diurnal variation of wind, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 47, pp. 60wind, Ge 72, 1936.
- SCHINZE. CHINZE, G., Troposphärische Luftmassen und vertikaler Temperaturgradient, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 19, pp. 79-90, 1932.
- CHULZ, L., Ionenspektrum und Luftkörper nach Messungen an verschiedenen Orten, Frankfurt, Wetterdienststelle, Synoptische Bearbeitungen, Linke Sonderheft, pp. 19-22, SCHULZ, 1933.
- SCHWANDKE, F., Die innere Beibung der Atmosphäre in Abhängigkeit von der Luftmasse, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 396-397, 1936
- SERRA, A., and L. Ratisbonna, Air Masses of southern Brazil, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 6-8, 1938.
- SHOSTAKOWITSCH, W. B., Herkunft der Niederschlag (Zur Klimatologie der Luftkör-per), Mém. Inst. Hydrol., Leningrad, v. 14, 1935, p. 35 ff.
- SHOWALTER, A. K., Further studies of American air-mass properties, M. W. R., v. 67, pp. 203-217, 1939.
- STONE, R. G., On some possibilities and limi-tations of air mass climatology, Annals of the Assoc. Amer. Geographers, March, 1935. (abstr.)
- STONE, R. G., A modern classification of weather types for synoptic purposes, BAMS, v. 16, pp. 324-326, 1935.
- STUMMER, G., Unterschiede in der Luftkör-perhäufigkeit von München und der Zug-spitze, Bioklima. Beiblätter, Jg. 4, pp. 97-100, 1937.
- TAKAHASHI, K., Dynamic climatological con-sideration on the alternation of weather in early winter in the Far East, J. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 18, pp. 177-190, 1940.

- TROEGER, H., Die Aequatoriale Luftmasse, Annal. d. Hydrog., Bd. 65, H. 11, 1937, pp. 525-526.
- TSCHIERSKE, H., Geographische Grenzen der Luitmassen Europas im Jahresgang der Verlagerung, Mitt. Ver. der Geographen Univ. Leipzig, Heft 14/15, 1936.
- TU, Chang-Wang, The air masses of China, Memoir Nat. Res. Inst. Met., China, v. 12, no. 2, 50 pp., 1938.
- U, C.-W., Chinese air mass properties, QJRMS, v. 65, pp. 33-51, 1939. TU
- VOIGTS, Heinrich, Zum Luftkörperklima der Lübecker Bucht, MZ, Bd. 50, pp. 498-503, 1933.
- /EGER N., Luftkörper und Grossenvertei-lung der atmosphärischen Ionen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys, Bd. 42, Hf. 2/3, 1934. (Diss. Frankfort, 1934.) WEGER
- WILLETT, H. C., American air mass prop-erties, Papers in Physical Oceanography and Meteorology, Mass. Inst. of Tech. and Woods Hole Oceanogr. Inst., Vol. II, No. 2, 116 pp., 1933, out of print. Abstr., Jn., Aeron. Sci., Apr., 1934. (Abstr. in Appen-dix to this booklet.) [See ad. by Showalter, MWR, v. 67, p. 203-17, 1939.]
- WEXLER, H., A comparison of the Linke and Angström measures of atmospheric turbidity and their application to North American air masses, Amer. Geophys. Un., Trans., 14th ann. meet., 1933, pp. 91-99.
- WEXLER, H., Cooling in the lower atmos-phere and the structure of polar continental air. M. W. R., v. 64, pp. 122-135, 1936.
- WILLETT, H. C., Ground plan of a dynamic climatology, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 219-223, 1931.

SPECIAL AIDS TO ANALYSIS AND FORECASTING

- Charts, Rules, Techniques, Thermodynamics, Formulae, Nomograms 1.
- ALLEN, C. C., Minimum temperature fore-casting in the Central California citrus dis-trict, M. W. R., v. 67, pp. 286-294, 1939.
 ALVORD, C. M., and R. H. Smith, The tephi-
- gram—its theory and practical use in weather forecasting, M. W. R., v. 57, pp. 361-369, 1929.
- ARAKAWA, H., Energy realisable in the un-stable atmosphere, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 12, no. 1, 2, pp. 8-13, 1938.
- ARAKAWA, H., A new type of Rossby Dia-gram, BAMS, v. 21, p. 111, 1940.
- ARAKAWA, H., Thunderstorm forecasting with the aid of charts representing the to-pography of condensation level, J. Met. Soc. Japan, 1939, pp. 10-1103. (Abstract in English, pp. 10-11).
- AUJESZKY, L., über die Benutzung der Äquiv-alenttemperatur in der wetterdienstlichen Praxis, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. Praxis, Gerl. 131-141, 1931.
- AUJESZKY, L., Zur praktischen Differential-diagnose der hohen und niedrigen Druckten-
- denzerscheinungen auf der Wetterkarte, Ann. der Hydrog., Bd. 43, pp. 430-432, 1935. FUJIWHARA, S., Pressure maps at three kilometers in Japan, M. W. R., v. 49, pp. 571-572, 1921.
- BALLARD, J. C., Table for facilitating com-putation of potential temperature, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 199-200, 1931.
- BANERJI, S. K., Microseisms associated with disturbed weather in the Indian Seas, Roy. Soc. Lond, Philos. Trans., Series A, v. 229, pp. 287-328, 1930.

- BAUER, L. H., Die Beziehungen zwischen po-tentieller Temperatur und Entropie, M. Z., Bd. 25, pp. 79-82, 1908. (In English, Phys. Rev., 1908)
- BAUR, F., Die interdiurne Veränderlichkeit des Luftdrucks als Hilfsmittel der indirek-ten Aerologie, Synoptische Bearbeitungen, Wetterdienststelle Frankfurt, no. 4, pp. 21-28, 1933.
- BAUR, F., The significance of the strato-sphere for the broad-weather situation, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 378-80, 1937.
- BERG, H., Nomogramme zur Ermittlung des Gradientwindes aus Karten der Topographie bestimmter Isobarenflächen, Erfahrungsbe-richte des deutsch. Flugwetterdienstes, 8. Folge, Nr. 18 bis 21, pp. 153-155, März, 1924 1934.
- BERGERON, Tor, Hydrometeorbeschreibungen mit den vom internationalen meteorologis-chen Kommittee in Salzburg 1937 angenom-menen Änderungen, (Text in German, French and English), Sweden, Statens met.-hydro. Anstalt, Communications, Series of papers no. 22, 1939. [The new Int. code for hydro-meters]
- BERGERON, T., On a manual of weather map analysis, Un. Geod. et Geophys. Intern. 6ième Ass. Gén., Edimbourgh, Sept., 1936, Procès verbaux de l'Ass. de Mét., part 2, Mém. et Disc., pp. 266-272.
- BILANCINI, R., Sul metodo delle variazioni, le correnti regolari di perturbazione, Rivista di meteorologia aeronautica, An. 1, no. 2, pp. 1-18, 1937.

BJERKNES, V., *Wettervorhersage*, Zeit. f. Phys., Bd. 23, pp. 481-490, 1922.

- BLEEKER, W., Beitrag zum Definition von Aequivalentund reuchtemperaturen, M. Z., Bd. 57, pp. 111-115, 1940.
- BLEEKER, W., A diagram for obtaining in a simple manner different humidity elements and its use in daily synoptic work, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 325-329, 1939.
- FLEEKER, W. On the conservatism of the equivalent potential and the wet-bulb potential temperatures. QJRMS, v. 65, Oct. 1939, pp. 542-550.
- BOEREMA, J., Daily forecast of windforce on Java, Kon. Mag. en Met. Obs. Batavia, Verhand. no. 27, 1934, 8 p.
- BOWIE, E. H. and R. H. Weightman, Types of Storms of the U. S. and their average movements, MWR Suppl. 1, 1914; Types of Anticyclones....., MWR Suppl. no. 4, 1917.
- BROWN, C. V., A design for a geostrophic wind scale, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 178-181, 1940.
- BRUNT, D., The adiabatic lapse-rate for dry and saturated air, QJRMS, v. 59, 1933, p. 351-60; (see also his "Physical and Dynamical Meteorology.")
- BUREAU, R., Centres of thunderstorms and "centres" or sources of atmospherics, QJRMS, v. 64, pp. 331-335, 1938.
- BYERS, H. R., On the thermodynamic interpretation of isentropic charts, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 63-67, 1938.
- BYERS, H. R., The meteorological phase of flood-forecasting, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1939, Part 2, pp. 205-207.
- BYERS, H. R., The use of free-air soundings in general forecasting, MWR, v. 62, pp. 376-378, 1934.
- BYSOV, N. P., Some remarks to the question of using the baric topographical charts in synoptic practice, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1939, no. 3, p. 28.
- CANNEGIETER, H. G. und Bleeker, W., Tabellen Zur Ermittlung von Druckwerten in geodynamischen Stufen aus denen in geometrischen Höhen und umgekehrt, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 24, pp. 18-25, 1938.
- DAY, J. A., Aviation wind forecasts over the Pacific, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 340-345, 1939.
- DEUTSCHE FLUGWETTERDIENST, Berlin, Erfahrungsberichte. Neudruche (reprint) vols. 1-4; Berlin, 1937-8. [These reports contain many brief articles on details of airways weather analysis and services, instruments, reduction of aerological observations, etc., helpful for students and airway meteorologists even outside of Germany.]
- DIESING, K., Graphische Ermittlung von Äquivalenttemperaturen und spezifischer Feuchte, Ann. der Hydrog., Bd. 39, pp. 381-382, 1931.
- DINIES, E., Untersuchungen des Referats Prognosenbeurteilung in der Synoptischen Abteilung des Reichsamts für Wetterdienst, Deutsch. Flugwetterdienstes, Erfahrungsberichte, Sonderband 5, Teil 1 und 2, pp. 1/1-1/2; and ix/1-x/4 with weather maps, 1936.
- DINIES, E., Zur methodik der Wettervorhersage, Ann. d. Hyd., v. 66, 1938, pp. 548-51.
- DOFORTO. M., Tipos de distribución isobárica y de tiempo en el Golfo de Vizcana. 1. Introducción y generalidades. San Sebastian, Obs. de Igueldo, Trab. Publ. 4.4, 1929, 40 pp.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M.. Bergen daily charts, Met. Mag., v. 62, 1927, pp. 61-63.

- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., A further note on "The application of wet-bulb potential temperature to air mass analysis", QJRMS, v. 64, no. 273, pp. 122-123, 1938.
- DUFOUR, L., Notes sur le problème de la gelée nocturne, Belgium, Inst. Roy. Met., Memoires, v. 9, 24 p., 1938.
- DYKE, R. A., Upper winds as related to the movement of tropical disturbances over the Gulf of Mexico, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 281-282, 1939.
- EKHOLM, N., Wetterkarten der Luftdruckschwankungen, MZ, v. 21, 1904, pp. 345-357; further, MZ, 1906, p. 228, 1907, p. 1, 102, and 145.
- ELLISON. E. S., A critique on the construction and use of minimum-temperature formulas, M. W. R., v. 56, pp. 485-495, 1928.
- FJELDSTAD, J. E., Graphische Methoden zur Ermittelung adiabatischer zustandsänderungen feuchter Luft, Geofys. Pub., v. 3, no. 13, pp. 3-25, 1925.
- FRIEND, A. W., Developments in Meteorological Sounding by Radio Waves, J. Aero. Sci., v. 7, 1940, pp. 347-352. (Abstr., BAMS, v. 20, 1939, p. 202-5.) [troposphere discontinuities]
- FUJIWHARA, S. and Z. Kanagawa, On the barometric oscillation with period more than 10 minutes and its use in weather forecasting, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 1, no. 6, 1928.
- GILKESON, W. R., The use of weather forecasts in electric power system operation, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 338-340, 1939.
- GOLD, E., Aids to forecasting: types of pressure distribution, with notes and tables for the fourteen years 1905-1918. London, Met. Off., Geophys. Mem., no. 16, pp. 179-200, 1925. (Add. by Pick, QJRMS, v. 55, p. 403, 1929.)
- GOLD, E., Maximum day temperatures and the tephigram, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes, no. 63 (v. 5), pp. 3-9, 1933.
- GREGG, W. R., and I. R. Tannehill, International standard projections for meteorological charts, M. W. R., v. 65, pp. 411-414, 1937. (See also: Comm. on Proj. Met. Charts, 1937, Secret. Org. Met. Int., Pub. No. 39, 1939.)
- GROSSMAN, Wie steht es um unsere Wettervorhersage? Ann. d. Hydrog., 1912, pp. 1-23.
- GUILBERT. G., La prévision scientifique du temps. Traité pratique. Paris, Augustin Challamel, 1922, 439 pp. (2nd. ed.)
- HARTMANN, W., Die Ermittelung der Vertikalbewegung aus der Strömung, deutsch. Flugweiterdienstes, Erfahrungsberichte, Folge 9, Nr. 26, pp. 159-163, Mai 1936.
- HARTUNG, K., Die Wiedergabe periodischer Druckschwankungen auf gemittelten Isallobarenkarten, Ann. d. Hydr., 1935, H. 11, pp. 421-429.
- HAURWITZ, B., and J. R. H. Noble, Maps of the pressure distribution in the middle troposphere applied to polar anticyclones, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 107-111, 1938. Corr., id., p. 272.
- HAYNES. B. C., Upper-wind forecasting, M. W. R., v. 64, pp. 4-5, 1938.
- M. W. K., V. O., pp. HEIDKE, P., über periodische und unperiodische Luftdruckschwankungen sowie über tropische synchrone Luftdruckkarten. Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. 186-218, 1931.
- HILAIRE, P., et J.-M. Pruvost, Bases de la prévision à très courte échéance au Cameroun. Annales de Phys. du Globe, no. 31, pp. 8-27, 1939.

- HOLTZMANN, M. J., Zur Frage des Genauig-keitsgrades der Lufttemperatur und Feucntigkeitsbestimmungen in natürlichen Ver-haltnissen, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 327-336, 1936.
- INT. MET. ORGANIZATION and Deutsche Seewarte, Cartes synoptiques de l'hémisphère nord, Aug. 1, 1932 to July 30, 1933. [Issued in parts of 3 months each;-the Polar year results] Hamburg, 1937.
- INTERNATIONALE ORGANIZATION, METEOROLOGISCHE Internationale Aerolo gische Kommission, über Aerologische Dia-grammpapiere, Denkschrift des Praesiden-ten der Internationalen Aerologischen Kom-mission Prof. Dr L. Weickmann, Berlin, 1938, 2 Vols. [Thorough review; bibliog.]
- JACOBS, W. C., Applications of Brunt's ra-diation equation to minimum-temperature diation equation to minimum-temperature forecasting, M. W. R., v. 67, p. 433-439 1939.
- KASTER, H. B., and Counts, R. C., Quantita-tive evaluation of fronts, BAMS, v. 21, 1940, pp. 125-6.
- FINITY IN THE STATE AND ADDRESS AND ADD
- KLENIM, I. A., Synoptical conditions of the flight and meteorological protection of the North Pole Expedition, Moscow Met. Hydrol., no. 6, pp. 23-41, 1937.
- KNOBLOCH, H., Nomogram zur Bestimmung der Aequivalenttemperatur, M. Z., Bd. 49, der Aequivale p. 318, 1932.
- KÖNIG, W., über die Erschliessung hoher Druckwellen durch Änderungskarten, Ber. Tät. d. Preuss. Met. Inst. für d. Jr. 1927, Tät. d. P pp. 56-61.
- KRICK, I. P., Air mass symbols for use on synoptic charts, J. Aeron. Sci., v. 2, p. 55, 1935.
- KRICK, I. P., Forecasting problems in the western United States, BAMS, v. 15, pp. 231-234, 1934.
- LANSING, L., Weather preceding forest fires in New Hampshire, BAMS, Jan. 1939, pp. 10-26 [bibliogr.].
- LARSON, O. T., The relationship between air-line dispatching and meteorology, with ref-erence to the practice of the United Air Lines, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 331-335, 1937.
- LEE, A. W., Microseisms and weather, Met. Mag., v. 73, 1939, pp. 317-324; A world-wide survey of Microseismic Disturbances, Geo. phys. Mem., Met. Off., London, No. 62, phys. Mem., 1934, 33 pp.
- LEJAY, R. P. P., Étude des Atmosphériques 1932-1935, Zi-ka-wei, Obs., Notes de Météoro-logie Physique, Fasc. 4, 16 pp., 1935 (in French). [Tracking storms]
- LETZMANN, J., Zur Darstellung der äquiva-lent-potentiellen Temperatur in Schnitten, Ann. der Hydrogr., Mar. 1938, pp. 109-115.
- LICHTBLAU, S., A design for a geostrophic wind-scale, M. W. R., v. 65, pp. 109-110, 1937.
- LITTLE, D. M., and E. M. Vernon, Reduction of the barometric pressure over the plateau to the 5,000 foot level, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 149-155, 1934.
- LONDON, Met. Office, Computer's handbook, 1916 and 1921.
- MEISINGER, C. L., Concerning the accuracy of free-air pressure maps, MWR, v. 51, 1923, рр. 190-199.

- MEISINGER, C. L., The preparation and sig-nificance of free-air pressure maps for the central and eastern United States, M. W. R., Suppl. no. 21, 77 p., 1922.
- MILLAR, F. G., Rapid methods of calculating the Rossby diagram, BAMS, v. 17, pp. 176-180, 1936.
- MIRRLEES, S. T. A., Climatology and fore-casting, Met. Mag., v. 74, no. 878, pp. 40-44. 1939.
- MITCHELL, C. L., Forecasts for a week in advance based on northern hemisphere weather maps, BAMS, v. 9, pp. 101-102, 1928.
- MONTGOMERY, R. B., Circulation in upper layers of southern North Atlantic deduced with use of isentropic analysis, Mass. Inst. of Tech. and Woods Hole Oceanographic Inst., Papers in Met. and Oceanogr., v. 6, no. 2, 49 pp., 1938.
- MONTGOMERY, R. B., A suggested method of representing gradient flow in isentropic surfaces, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 10-12, 1937.
- MöLLER, F., Pseudopotentielle und äquivalent-potentielle Temperatur, M. Z., v. 56, pp. potentielle 1-12, 1939.
- NAMEKAWA, T., A study of minor fluctua-tions of the atmospheric pressure, Mem.
 Coll. Sci., Kyoto Imp. Univ., A, v. 18, no.
 Q. 1935, pp. 83-127, and no. 4, pp. 173-200.
 NAMIAS, J., The forecasting significance of anticyclonic eddies on the isentropic chart, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1938, pt. 1, pp. 174-176.
- NEWNHAM, E. V., Classification of synoptic charts for the North Atlantic for 1896-1910. London, Met. Off., Geophys. Mem., V. 3, no. 26, pp. 179-200, 1925.
- NICHOLS, E. S., Predicting minimum tem-perature, especially as a function of pre-ceding temperature, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 179-189, 1930.
- NORMAND, C. W. B. On instability from water vapour, QJRMS, v. 64, no. 273, pp. 47-170, 1938. (Reply to crit., id., p. 338-40.)
- NORMAND, C. W. B., Wet bulb temperatures and the thermodynamics of the air, India Met. Dept., Memoirs, v. 23, pt. 1, pp. 1-22, 1921.
- OGASAHARA, K., Frontological studies on the rain belt distributed along the skirt of the continental high in the low latitude West Pacific coasts, Taiwan, Formosa, J. Soc. Trop. Agric., v. 2, no. 3, 1939, pp.
- PAGE AGE, L. F., (ed.), Reports on critical stud-ies of methods of long range weather fore-cassing, M. W. R., Suppl. no. 39, 1940, 130 p.
- PAGLIUCA, S., The problem of forecasting sleet for highway and industrial purposes, Trans. Am. Geophys. Union, 1937, pp. 551-554. (Bibliography of sleet and glaze.)
- PAGLIUCA, S., Some aspects of industrial weather forecasting, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 287-293, 1939.
- PEMBERTON, B. V., Weather forecasting in New Zealand, N. Z. Jn. Sci. Techn., v. 2, no. 2, no. 3, pp. 87-94, 165-179, 1919.
- PEPPLER, W., über Temperatur und Feuch-tigkeit in der freien Atmosphären an Gewit-tertagen, Beiträge z. Phys. der fr. At., Bd. 21, pp. 121-128, 1934
- PETITJEAN, L., Le temps et la prévision du temps en Algérie et en Sahara, Algeria, Service Mét., études Sci., 70 pp., Paris, 1930.

- PIERCE, C. H., On the use of vertical cross sections in studying isentropic flow, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 263-267, 1938.
- POGADE, G., Über die interdiurne Veränder-lichkeit der Höhenschwankungen der einzel-nen Hauptisobarenflächen, Ann. d. Hydr., 1939, H. 5, pp. 277-281.
- PORTIG, W., Numerische Berechnung des stratosphärischen Einflusses auf den Boden-druck, Ann. d. Hydrog., 1936, H. 2, pp. 35-36.
- PRAMANIK, S. K., Upper air data and daily weather forecasts, Proc. Nat. Inst. Sci. of India, v. 5, no. 1, pp. 123-128, 1939.
- RAETHJEN, P., Warum virtuell-feuchtpoten-tielle Temperatur in Vertikalschnitten?, M. Z., v. 56, pp. 263-265, 1939.
- RAETHJEN, P., Zur praktischen Anwendung der Margulesschen Gleichgewichtsbedingung, M. Z., v. 56, pp. 58-62, 1939.
- RAMDAS, L. A., The prediction of minimum tempercture on clear days at selected sta-tions in India, Met. Mag., v. 73, pp. 237-238, 1938.
- RAO, P. R. Krishna, Weather forecasting for aviation with special reference to local fore-casts, Proc. Nat. Inst. Sci. of India, v. 5, no. 1, pp. 129-138, 1939.
- REFSDAL, A., Das Aerogramm, Ein neues che Berech-Diagrammpapier für Aerologische Berech-nungen, M. Z., v. 52, no. 1, Jan., 1935, pp. 1-5. Aerologisches Diagrampapier, Geof. Publ. Vol. 11, No. 13, 1937.
- REICHELDERFER, F. W., Meteorological aspects of airship operation, Daniel Guggen-heim Airship Institute, Pub. No. 3. 1935, pp. 97-103.
- RICHARDSON, L. F., Weather prediction by numerical process, Cambridge, 1922, 236 p.
- ROBITZSCH, M., Die Verwertung der durch aerologische Versuche gewonnenen Feuch-tigkeitsdaten zur Diagnose der jeweiligen atmosphärischen Zustände, Arbeiten d. pr. Aeronaut. Obs. Lindenberg, Bd. 16, 1930, pp. C 1-28.
- ODEWALD, M. Die Entstehungsbedingun-gen der tropischen Orkane, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 197-211, 1936. ODEWALD RODEWALD, M.
- RODEWALD, M., Hohenwetterkarte und Wet-tervorhersage, Ann. d. Hydrogr., Jan. 1938, pp. 42-48.
- Zur Weltwetterkarte, Annal. RODEWALD, M., Zur Weltwetter, d. Hydrog., v. 59, p. 304, 1931.
- ROME, Ministero dell'Aeronautica, Ufficio Pre-sagi, Principali tipi isobarici interessanti l'Italia (quinquennio 1926-1930). Rome, 1931. 12 pp.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., Thermodynamics applied to air mass analysis, Mass. Inst. of Tech. Me-teorological Papers, Vol. I, No. 3, 41 pp., 1932.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., and Collaborators: Isentropic Analysis, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 201-209, 1937.
- OY, A. K., On the forecasting of rain over South Bengal during the nor²wester season, mid-March to mid-May, India Met. Dept., Scientific Notes, v. 8, No. 83, 8 pp., 1939. ROY,
- RUDLOFF, W., Berechnung der Höhe einer Fläche gleichen Druckes mit Hilfe des Sen-krechten Temperalurgefälles, Ann. d. Hydr., 1938, H. 6, pp. 302-304.
- SCHELL, I. I., Chromov's rules for forecast-ing synoptic situations BAMS, v. 16, pp. 21-22, 71-73, 108-110, 1935.
- SCHERESCHEWSKY, Ph., and Ph. Wherlé, Sur la prévision barometrique par compa-

- raison synoptique des ondes de pression et de variation de pression, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atmos., v. 14, pp. 111-118, 1928. SCHERHAG, R., Die Entstehung der im "Täglichen Wetterberich" der Deutschen Seewarte veröfjentlichten Höhenwetterkarten und deren Verwendung im Wetterdienst, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 1-6, 1936. SCHEPHAC B. Verbersten der Wett
- SCHERHAG, R., Verbesserung der Wettervor-hersage durch Berechnung der Druckwertei-lung des Folgetages mit Hilfe der Höhen-wetterkarte, Ann. d. Hydr., 1939, H. 9, pp. 462-465.
- SCHINZE, G., and R. Siegel. A large-scale upper-air stream chart, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 258-260, 1939 (Aus dem Archiv der d. See-warte, v. 58, no. 2, 1938). Criticism by R. SCHERHAG, Bull. Amer. Met. Soc., June 1939, pp. 260-262. (Ann. d. Hydrog., June, 1939). 1939).
- SCHMIDT. G., Die Druckänderungsgebiete der 500 Mb-Fläche und ihre prognostische wertung, MZ, Bd. 57, pp. 26-32, 1940. Ver-
- SEILKOPF, H., Eindrücke und meteorolo-gische Erfahrungen auf der Weltfahrt des Luftschiffs "Graf Zeppelin", Hamburg, Mitt. Geog. Ges., v. 41, pp. 228-259, 1930.
- SEILKOPF, H., Meteorologische Arbeiten zur Vorbereitung und Sicherung des Ozeanluft-verkehrs. Probleme und Ergebnisse, M. Z., Bd. 51, pp. 1-9, 1934.
- SEILKOPF. H., Die Mcteorologischen Pro-bleme des Transatlantischen Luftverkehrs, Pro-Jarhbuch d. Wissenschaftlichen Gesellschaft für Luftfahrt, E. V., 5, pp., 1935-36.
- SEILKOFF, H., Ozean-flug und Hohenwetterdienst, Ann. der Hydrogr., Jan., 1938, pp. 35-42.
- SEKIGUCHI, R., High-level isobars as used in everyday weather service, MWR, v. 50, 1922, pp. 242-243.
- SELLICK, N P., Weather maps and the short-period forecast in Southern Rhodesia, Rhod. Rhod.
- Sci. Assoc., Proc., v. 33, pp. 15 ff., 1934. SEN, S. N., and H. R. Puri, Air-mass analysis and short period weather forecasting in India, Proc. Nat. Inst. of Sci. of India, v. 5, no. 1, pp. 75-92, 1939.
- SENGUPTA, S., Zur Verwendung von Pilot-balloonen im Wetterdienst, Berlin, Univ. Met. Inst., Veröffentl., Bd. 3, H. 5, 18 pp., 1939.
- SMOLIAKOW, P., Über die theoretischen Grundlagen der Exner und Defantschen Regeln, Moscow, J. Geophys., v. 3, no. 1, pp. 64-76, 1933
- SOHONI, V. V., and M. M. Paranjpe, Latent instability in the atmosphere revealed by some Indian tephigrams. India Met. Dept., Memoirs, v. 26, pt. 7, pp. 131-149, 1937.
- PILHAUS, A. F., Comment on Refsdal's "Aerogram", and the "Tephigram", BAMS, v. 21, pp.1-3, 1940. SPILHAUS,
- SPILHAUS, A. F., Contribution to the tech-nique of isentropic analysis, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 239-248, 1940.
- SPILHAUS, A. F., Hyperbolic dividers for geostrophic wind computations, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 351-353, 1938.
- SPILHAUS, A. F., Isentropic airplane flights —a suggestion, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 279-280, 1938.
- STARR, V., The construction of isentropic relative motion charts, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 236-248, 1940.

- STEVENS, W. R., Meteorological conditions preceding thunderstorms on the national forests. 1. Western and central Oregon, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 366-375, 1934.
- STÜVE, G., Die Darstellung meteorologischer Elemente in Vertikalschnitten, Deutsch. Flugwetterdienstes, Erfahrungsberichte, Folge 9, Nr. 1, pp. 1-7, Juli, 1934.
- STÜVE, G., Potentiell und pseudo-Pot. Temp., Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 13, p. 218, 1927.
- SUR, N. K., Latent instability in the atmos-phere and its consequences, Proc. Nat. Inst. of Sci. of India, v. 5, no. 1, pp. 107-116, 1939
- TAKAHASI, K., On the prediction of air tem-perature, Jn. Met. Soc. Ja., v. 17, no. 3, 1939, p. (9).
- TERASIMA, M., R Uyeda, and Y. Oka, The upper winds in Japan at a height of five kilometers and attempts to weather fore-casting therefrom, J. Met. Soc. of Japan, v. 13, no. 6, pp. 277-288, 1935 [Abstract in English].
- THOMAS, H., über fünftägig geglättete Luft-druck- und deren vierundzwanzigstündige Differenzenkarten als Hilfsmittel zur Wettervorhersage, MZ, Bd. 45, pp. 381-385, 1928.
- THOMAS, H., Wetterkartenkatalog?, MZ, Bd. 50, pp. 229-231, 1933.
- THORN, W. A., Recent developments in the British Columbia Meteorological Division, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 10-12, 1940.
- TROEGER, H., Eine Wetterkarte mit Aequiva-lenttemperatur Lindenberg, Mitt. Aeron.

2.

- ANGERVO, J., Beispiele zur numerischen Voransberechnung retrograde Tiefdruckbah-nen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 37, pp. 1-7, 1932.
- ANGERVO, J. M., Einige aus der Luftdruck-verteilung herleitbare Gesätzmässigkeiten bei
- verteilung herleitbare Gesatzmassigkeiten bei der Bewegung der Hoch- und Tiefdruckzen-tren, M. Z., Bd. 47, pp. 354-364, 1930. ANGERVO, J. M., Einige Formeln für die numerische Vorausbestimmung der Lage und Tiefe der Hoch und Teifdruckzentren, Met. Zeit., Bd. 47, pp. 314-315, 1930.
- ANGERVO, J. M., Wann Ensteht aus einer V-Depression ein selfständiges Teilminimum oder aus einem Keil höhen Druckes ein Hoch-druckszentrum? Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 35, pp. 265-290, 1932.
- ANGERVO, J. M., Zur Theorie der Zyklonen-und Antizyklonenbahn. Gerl. Beitr. Geophys. Bd. 34, pp. 45-59, 1931.
- RAKAWA, H., On the kinematical analysis of the field of pressure, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 14, no. 3, 1936, p. (11); Proc. Phys. Math. Soc. Jap., v. 18, 1936, no. 9. ARAKAWA,
- BLATON. J., Zur Kinematik nichtstationärer Luftströmungen, Bulletin of the Geophys. Luftströmungen, Bu Soc., Warsaw, 1938.
- DÉDÉBANT, G., La géometrie isobarique, Pro-cès-verbaux des Séances de l'Assoc. de Met., 5th Assemblée Générale, U. G. G. I., Lisbonne, 1935.
- DINKELACKER, O., Graphische Methode zur Bestimmung der Verlagerungsgeschwindig-keit, und -richtung eines Tief- oder Hochdruckgebiets, MZ, Bd. 50, pp. 166-171, 1933.
- DÜBÜCK, A. F., To the question about fronto-genesis and gradient wind, Met. i Hidrol., 1938, no. 8, pp. 31-63.

Obs., pp. 165-168, 1928, [surface maps of equivalent, equiv.-pot., and pot. temp. compared].

- U.S. WEATHER BUREAU, Numeral Weather Code, 1939.
- U. S. WEATHER BUREAU, Distribution weather information by radio, WB Radio Circ. No. 1, Rev. annually, 54 pp. mimeo.
- U. S. WEATHER BUREAU, Instructions for airways meteorological service. WB Circ. N., Aerolog. Div., 4th ed., 1939.
- U. S. WEATHER BUREAU, Normal pressure change in three hours preceding the observa-tion, 4 pp. [maps, for U. S.]
- U. S. WEATHER BUREAU, The preparation of manuscript maps, W B Circular, 6 pp., 1939
- WILLETT, H. C., Problems in weather map analysis and forecasting in connection with transatlantic flying, Jn. Aero. Sci., v. 7, 1940, pp. 248-251.
- VERNON, E. M., and E. V. Ashburn, A prac-tical method for computing winds aloft from pressure and temperature fields, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 267-274, 1938.
- AGEMANN, H., Die Begründung und Brauchbarkeit der Guilbertschen Regeln, M. WAGEMANN.
- WENSTROM, W. H., and W. O. J. Roberts, Regional weather maps, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 41-46, 1937.
- ZISTLER, P., STLER, P., Aerologische Aufstiege und Wetterdiagnose, Deutsch. Flugwetterdienst, Erfahrungsberichte, Sonderband 2, pp. 119-126, 1930.

Kinematic Methods

- DÜBÜCK, A. F., Über Methoden zur Voraus-berechnung von Wetterkarten, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1937, no. 3, pp. 32-38.
- IAO, A., La mécanique differentielle des fronts et du champ isallobarique, France, Office Nat. Met., Mémorial, no. 20, 127 pp., GIAO. 1929.
- HARNEY, P. J., Note on H. C. Huang's in-vestigation of frontogenesis in the North Pacific, M. W. R., v. 65, Sept. 1937, pp. 335-6.
- KOBAYASI, T., On the mechanism of cyclones and anticyclones, QJRMS, v. 49, no. 207, pp. 177-189, 1923.
- It(100, 1920;
 KOBAYASI, T., über die Mechanismen der Zyklonen und Antizyklonen, Report of Aeron. Research Inst., Tokyo Imperial Univ., v. 1, no. 7, pp. 189-212, 1924.
 KOUZNETZOV, E. S., To the question about mathematical basis for methods of extra-polation of barical field, Moscow, Met. Hy-drol, v. 1937, no. 9, p. 26.
 IAMATSCH Reupo, Zur Vorausberechnung
- LAMATSCH, Bruno, Zur Vorausberechnung der Bewegung von Hoch- und Tiefdruckzen-tren nach der Methode von J. M. Angervo, MZ, Bd. 50, pp. 137-140, 1933.
- PETTERSSEN, S., Contribution to the theory of frontogenesis, Geofys. Publ., v. 11, No. 6, 1936.
- PETTERSSEN, S., Frontogenesis and fronts in the Atlantic Area, Un. Geod. et Georbys. Intern. 6ième Ass. Gén., Edimbourgh, Sept., 1936, Procès verbaux de l'Assoc. de Mét., part 2, Mém. et disc., pp. 83-105.
- PETTERSSEN, S., Kinematical and dynamical properties of the field of pressure with appli-cations to forecasting, Geofys. Publ. V. 10, No. 2, 1933.

- PETTERSSEN, S., On the distribution of horizontal divergence in moving pressure systems, QJRMS, v. 66, Supplement, pp. 102-111, 1940.
- PETTERSSEN, S., Practical rules for Prog-nosticating the movement and the develop-ment of pressure centers, Procès-Verbaux d. s. de l'Assoc. de Mét., Pt. 2, Un. Géod. et Géophys. Int., 5th Assemb., 1933, Lisbon. Paris, 1935, pp. 35-70.
- SEN, S. N., Mechanism of cyclones in the Bay of Bengal, Sci. and Culture (Calcutta), v. 3, pp.458-461, 1938.
 - STEVENS, W. R., Relation of pressure changes to cyclones and fronts. M. W. R., v. 66, March, 1938, pp. 68-70.
 - STÜVE, G., Über lineare Deformationsfelder, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 19, pp. 250-271, 1932.

HISTORICAL FORERUNNERS OF FRONTAL ANALYSIS F.

- BIGELOW, F H., Studies on the statistics and kinematics of the atmosphere in the United States, Pt. 5: Relations between the gen-eral circulation and the cyclones and anti-cyclones, M. W. R., v. 30, pp. 250-257, May, 1902.
- BJERKNES, V. F., Synoptical representation of atmospheric motions QJRMS, v. 36, no. 155, pp. 267-286, 1910. (Note also: Synop-tischeDarstellung atmos. Zustande, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Ser. I, 1911-1900. 13.)
- BLASIUS, Wm., Storms, their nature, clas-sification and laws, Phila., 1875, 342 p.
- BRILLOUIN, M., Vents contigus et nuages, Annales du Bureau Central Meteorologique, 1938, Paris.
- CLAYTON, H. H., Studies of cyclonic and an-ticyclonic phenomena with kites, Elue Hill Obsy., Bulletin no. 1, 1899, 15 pp., and Bull. no. 1, 1900, 29 pp. (2 memoirs).
- no. 1, 1900, 29 pp. (2 memory).
 CLAYTON. H. H., Weather forecasting, MWR, v. 48, 1920, pp. 83-84.
 DIECKMANN, A., Fitz-Roy: Ein Beitrag zur Geschichte der Polarfronttheorie, Die Naturwissenschaften, no. 36, 1931.
 DOVE, H. W., The law of storms, 2nd ed., London (trans. from German by R. H. Sorth 1869
- London (tr Scott), 1862.
- DURAND-GRÉVILLE, M. E., Les grains et les orages, France, Bur. Centr. Mét., Ann., tome 1, Part B. pp. 250-272, 1892.
- DURAND-GREVILLE, E., La théorie du grain et de l'orage. Paris, Bull. Soc. Astr. France, 1906, pp. 326-336.
- DEFANT, A., Ueber die Bezichung des Niederschlags zu den Temperatur-und Luft-druckverhältnissen der Atmosphäre, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 4, pp. 129-146; Die Windverhältnisse in kalten und warmen Windverhällnisse in kalten und warmen Luftsäulen und weitere Folgerungen über das Wesen dieser Gebilde, id. v. 5, pp. 161-178. (See also Sitz. Wien. Akad. Wiss., 2a, v. 119, 1910, p. 739).
- FESSLER, A., Die Kälteeinbrüche in Mittel-Europa im Winter 1908/09, M. Z., Bd. 27, pp. 1-12, 1910.
- FICKER, H. v., Das meteorologische System von Wilhelm Blasius, Die Naturwissenschaf-ten, Jg. 16, Heft 33, 1928.
- FITZROY, H., London, 1863. The weather book, 2nd ed.,
- HANN, J., and C. Jelinik, über das Luftdruck-ANN, J., and C. Jehnik, ober dus Land dur-Maximum vom 23. Jänner bis 3. Februar 1876 nebst Bemerkungen über die Luftdruck-Maxima im allgemeinen, Zeit. d. Oest. Ge-sell, f. Met., Bd. 11, Nr. 9, pp. 129,135, 1876.
- HAZEN, H. A., On the retardation of the maxima and minima of air pressure at high stations, Amer. J. of Sci., v. 24, pp. 105-113, 1882
- HUNT, H. A., Essay on southerly bursters, Sydney, 1894.

- KÖPPEN, W., Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Böen und Gewitterstürme, Ann. d. Hydrog., Bd. 7, pp. 324-335, 1879.
- KöPPEN, W., Der Gewittersturm vom 9 Au-gust, 1881, Ann. d. Hydrog., 1882, H. 10, pp. 595-619, H. 12, pp. 714-737.
- KöPPEN, W., H. W. Dove und wir, M. Z., Bd. 38, pp. 288-292, 1921.
- KÖPPEN, W., Über Böen, insbesondere die Böe vom 9. September 1913, Ann. d. Hydr., Bd. 32, pp. 303-320, 1914.
 KÖPPEN, W., Über die mechanischen Ursachen
- der Ortsveränderung atmosphärischer Wir-bel, Zeit. d. Oest. Gesell. f. Met., Bd. 15, (Hann Band), 1880, pp. 41-53.
- LEMPFERT, R. G. K., and R. Corless, Line-squalls and associated phenomena, QJRMS, v. 36, pp. 135-170, 1910.
- EY, C., The Eurydice squall, S Met. Mag., v. 13, pp. 3-39, 1878. LEY, Symons' Mo.
- EY, C., On the inclination of the axes of cyclones, QJRMS, v. 5, pp. 167-177, 1879. LEY,
- LOOMIS, E., On the storms which were ex-perienced throughout the U. S. in the month of February, 1842, Trans. Am. Philos. Soc., n. s., v. 9, 1846.
- MEINARDUS, W., über die absolute Bewegun-gen der Luft in fortschreitenden Zyklonen,
 M. Z., v. 20, pp. 529-544, 1903. (See also Kiewel, Abhand. Preuss. Met .Inst., v. 4,
 no. 2, 1911; and Exner, Ann. d. Hyd., Nov. 1920.)
- PEPPLER, A., Die Temperaturverhaeltnisse der freien Atmosphaere am 5-7. Dez. 1906. Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 4, pp. 116-127; Zur Kenntnis der Luftstroemungen in gros sen Hochen ueber Zyklonen und Antizyklo-nen, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 6, pp. 73-99.
- PEPPLER, W., Zur Kenntnis der Tempera-tur-Inversion, Arb. d. preuss. Aeronaut. Obs. Lindenberg, Bd. 8, pp. 255-262, 1913.
- POULTER, R. M. and E. L. Hawke, Cycles in meteorological knowledge, QJRMS, v. 60, pp. 341-344, 1934.
- RAETHJEN, P., 50 Jahre Zykonentheorie und die gegenwartige Entwicklung, M. Z., v. 54, pp. 393-405, 1937.
- SCHMIDT, W.. Zur Mechanik der Böen, M. Z., Bd. 28, pp. 355-362, 1911; id., 1912, p. 103; disc. by Defant. Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 9, 1920, pp. 98-113.
- SHAW, W. N., The meteorological aspects of the storm of Feb. 26, 1903, QJRMS, v. 29, pp. 233-258, 1903.
- SHAW, W. N., and R. G. K. Lempfert, Life history of surface air currents, London, Met. Off., no. 174, 1906, 107 pp.
- SIMPSON. G., The development of weather forecasting, XIXth Cen., London, v. 101, pp. 557-573, 1927.
- VINCENT, J., Sur l'origine et la constitution des cyclones, Brussels, Acad. roy. de Belgique, 1928, 43 pp.
WEICKMANN, L., Die Gewitter vom 11 März 1910, Ein Beitrag zum Studien der Böen, Deut. Met. Jahrbuch, Bayern, Bd. 33, 1911, Anhang, pp. J 1-8.

WUNDT, W., Barometrische Teildepressionen und ihre wellenförmige Aufeinanderfolge, und ihre wellenförmige Aufeinanderfol, Preuss. Met. Inst., Abhandlungen, Bd. no. 5, pp. 1-25, 1904.

DETAILED ANALYSIS OF SYNOPTIC SITUATIONS G.

1. North America

1927 and earlier

- ANDRUS, C. G., The application of Bjerknes lines to the development of secondary lows, M. W. R., v. 49, pp. 11-12, 1921. ANDRUS, C. G., Meteorological aspects of the International Balloon Race of 1920, M.
- W. R., v. 49, pp. 8-10, 1921.
- BJERKNES, J., and M. A. Giblett, Retro-grade Depression in the Eastern United States, M. W. R., v. 52, pp. 521-527, 1924.
- BLAIR. W. R., Free balloon ascensions at Marki, W. M. Informatic Sept. Oct. 1909,
 Bull. Mt. Wea. Obsy., v. 3, 1910, pp. 127-135; Sounding balloon ascensions at Indian-apolis, Omaha, and Huron, Bull. Mt. Wea. apolis, Omaha, and Huron, I Obsy.. v. 4, 1911, pp. 183-304.
- BROOKS, Charles F., The Ice storms of New England, Blue Hill Meteorological Observatory, Observations and Investigations, 1914, pp. 77-84.
- BROOKS, C. F., The nature of sleet and how it is formed, M. W. R., v. 48, pp. 69-73, 1920.
- BROOKS, C. F., Origin of some secondary cy-clones in the Middle Atlantic coast, MWR, v. 49, 1921, pp. 12-13.
- BROOKS, C. F., Winds and weather of cen-tral Greenland: Meteorological results of the Swiss Greenland expedition, MWR, v. 51, 1923, pp. 256-260.
- DAVIS, W. M., Schultz, L. G. and Ward, R. DeC., An investigation of the sea-breeze, New England Met'l. Soc., Observations, v. 21, Part 1, pp. 214-264, 1888.
- REGG, W. R., International aerological soundings at Royal Center, Ind., May, 1926, MWR, v. 55, pp. 293-297, 1927. GREGG.
- GROGAN, S. A., Northers on the east coast of Mexico, MWR, v. 47, 1919, p. 469-71; Heavy rains at Tampico, id., p. 468-9; Hot winds at Tampico, id., 1919, p. 234.
- HALLENBECK, C., The Topographic thunder-storms, MWR, v. 50, 1922, pp. 284-287.
- HAYDEN, Everett, The great storm off the Atlantic Coast of the United States, March 11-14, 1888. Nautical Mon. no. 5, U. S. Hydrogr. Off., 1888. (See also Upton, Amer. Met. Jn., v. 5, 1888-9, p. 19-37).
- HENRY, A. J., Temperature inversions at the Mt. Weather Observatory, Bull. of the Mt. Weather Obsy., v. 1, pp. 143-175, 1908.
- HENRY, A. J., Variations of temperature and pressure at summit and base stations in the Rocky Mountain region. Bull. Mount Weather Obsy., v. 3, pp. 201-225, 1910.
- HENRY, A. J., Daily changes in temperature up to 4000 meters, Bull. Mt. Wea. Obsy., v. 5, 1912, pp. 1-18.
- JAKL, V. E., An analysis of some free-air observations in the relation to precipitation, MWR, Aug., 1925, pp. 337-343.
- JAKL, V. E., Some observations on temperatures and winds at moderate elevations above the ground, MWR, v. 47, 1919, pp. 367-373.
- MEISINGER, C. L., The Great cyclone of mid-February, 1919, MWR, v. 48, 1920, pp. 582-586.

- MEISINGER, C. L., The precipitation of sleet and the formation of glaze in the eastern United States, January 20 to 25, 1920, with remarks on forecasting, M. W. R., v. 48, pp. 73-80, 1920.
- MEISINGER, C. L., The Pressure distribution at various levels during the passage of a cyclone across the plateau region of the United States, MWR, v. 50, 1922, pp. 347-356.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., and R. H. Weightman, Appli-cation of the polar front theory to a series of American weather maps, M. W. R., v. 54, pp. 485-496, 1926.
- SAMUELS, L. T., Note on deep easterly winds over the Middle West on January 24, 25, and 26, 1921, M. W. R., v. 49, pp. 13-15, 1921.
- SHIPMAN, T. G., The East wind and its lift-ing effects at Fort Smith, Arkansas, MWR, v. 53, 1925, pp. 536-537.
- WEIGHTMAN, R. H., Some observations on cyclonic precipitation of Feb. 22-23, 1925, in central and eastern U. S., MWR, Sept., 1925, pp. 379-384.

1928 to 1936

- ANDRUS, C. G., Notes on line squalls, M. W. R., v. 57, pp. 94-96, 1929.
- BAUMANN, G. H., Grönland-Flug von Gro-nau 1931 (Beiträge zur Meteorologie des Luftweges über Grönland, II), Aus dem Ar-chiv der deutschen Seewarte, Hamburg, Bd. 52, nr. 4, pp. 33-42, 1933.
- BLAKE, D., Mexican West Coast Cyclones, M.
 W. R., v. 63, pp. 344-347, 1935.
- BLAKE, D., Storm types and resultant preci-pitation in the San Diego area, M. W. R., v. 61, pp. 223-225, 1933.
- BOWIE, E. H., A remarkable occurrence of cyclones in series, M. W. R., v. 61, pp. 266-267, 1933.
- BROOKS, C. F., A period of thunderstorms originating in the upper air, BAMS, v. 17, pp. 315-317, 1936.
- BYERS, H. R., Characteristic weather phe-nomena of California, Mass. Inst. of Tech. Met. Papers, v. 1, no. 2, 54 pp., 1931.
- BYERS, H. R., On the meteorological history of the hurricane of November, 1935, M. W. R., v. 63, pp. 318-322, 1935. W.
- CAMERON, D. C., Easterly gales in the Co-lumbia River Gorge during the winter of 1930-31-some of their causes and effects, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 411-416, 1931.
- CAMERON, D. C., Great dust storm in Wash-ington and Oregon, April 21-24, 1931, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 195-197, 1931.
- CAMERON, D. C., and A. B., Carpenter, De-tructive easterly gales in the Columbia River Gorge, December, 1935, M. W. R., v. 64, pp. 264-266, 1936.
- CARPENTER, A. B., Behavior of a warm front on the Oregon-Washington Coast, front on the Oregon-Washing BAMS, v. 17, pp. 319-320, 1936. Coast,
- CARPENTER, A. B., Subsidence in maritime air over the Columbia and Snake River ba-sins and associated weather, BAMS, Oct., 1935, p. 224 (also MWR, 1936.)

- CHAPEL, L. T., Note on the probable intru-sion of southern hemisphere air to the re-gion of Panama, M. W. R., v. 61, pp. 243-249, 1933.
- COOK, A. W., Marked summer air-mass dis-placements in California and their effects on weather, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 39-45, 1934.
- FRENCH, G. M., Windstorm in the Los An-geles area November 22, 1930, and some effects of wind flow in a mountainous re-gion, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 223-225, 1931.
- HALLENBECK, C., Squall lines in New Mex-ico, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 402-405, 1930.
- HOLZMAN, B., Synoptic determination and forecasting significance of cold fronts aloft, M. W. R., v. 64, pp. 400-413, 1936; Sum-mary in BAMS, v. 18, pp. 1-5, 1937.
- HUMPHREYS, W. J., On the occasions, or incidental causes, of extratropical cyclones,
- M. W. R., v. 61, p. 112, 1933. JOHNSON, H. N., *The dry c* BAMS, v. 17, pp. 23-27, 1936. chinook wind,
- KRICK, I. P., Foehn winds of southern Cali-fornia, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 39, pp. 399-407, 1933.
- KRICK, I., Brooks, C. F., and Willett, Foehn wind cyclogenesis, BAMS, June-July, 1935, pp. 162-164.
- LOEWE, F., Pilotballonaufstiege im Umanagfjord (Westgrönland) im Sommer 1932, MZ, Bd. 52, pp. 155-158, 1935.
- LOPEZ, R., Ciclones tropicales cruzando el altiplano de Mexico, Rev. de Met. y. Aero-log., v. 1, no. 6, 1930, pp. 114-28; MWR, 1930, p. 210.
- LOPEZ, E., Estudio sobre Nortes, Mem. y Rev. Soc. Cient. "Antonio Alzate", v. 41, 1932, p. 91-108.
- LINK, O., Die Kältewellen in Nordamerika und ihr Einbruch in das amerikanische Mit-telmeergebiet, Diss., Würzburg, 1934, 146 p.
- LITTLE, D. M., Some effects of California mountain barriers on upper air winds and sea-level isobars, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 376-383, 1931.
- MCAULIFFE, J. P., Morning showers over the Gulf, and afternoon showers in the in-terior near Corpus Christi, Tex., M. W. R., v. 61, pp. 229, 1933.
- MASON, W. A., The Santa Ana or desert storm of Southern California, Proc. U. S. Naval Inst., Jan. 1935, pp. 56-66.
- MINSER, E. J., *Icing of aircraft*, Air Com-merce Bull., Dec. 15, 1934, and reprinted in BAMS, v. 16, pp. 129-133, 1935.
- NAMIAS, J., Structure of a wedge of conti-nental polar aid determined from aerological observations, Mass Inst. of Tech., Meteorological Course, Prof. Notes, No. 6, 39 pp., 1934.
- ON Synoptic Conditions for tornadoes, BAMS.,
 v. 20, pp. 50-51, 1939 (Excerpt from: U. S. Met. Yearbook, 1936, pp. 29-30, D. C., 1938.)
- Met. Fearbook, 1936, pp. 25-30, D. C., 1363.)
 PAGLIUCA, S., The January 1934 cold wave on Mount Washington, N. H., M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 57-58, 1934.
 PARKINSON, G. R., Dust storms over the Great Plains: their causes and forecasting, BAMS, v. 17, pp. 127-135, 1936. (See also Samuels, J. Aero. Sci., v. 3, no. 1, p. 52, 1935) 1935.)

- PIERCE, C. H., The cold winter of 1933-34, BAMS, v. 15, pp. 61-78, 1934.
- PIERCE, C. H., The dust storm of November 12 and 13, 1933, BAMS, v. 15, pp. 31-35, 1934.
- REED, T. R., Gap winds of the Strait of Juan de Fuca, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 373-376, 1931.
- AMUELS, L. T., Sounding-balloon observa-tions made at Broken Arrow, Oklahoma, during the International Month, December, 1929, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 297-309, 1931. SAMUELS,
- SAMUELS, L. T., Sounding-balloon observa-tions at Royal Center, Ind., during the In-ternational Month, September, 1930, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 417-426, 1931.
- SAMUELS, L. T., Sounding-balloon observa-tions made at Groesbeck, Tex., during the International Month, October, 1927, M. W. R., v. 57, pp. 231-246, 1929.
- R., V. 54, pp. 231-240, 1929.
 SAMUELS, L. T., Sounding-balloon observa-tions made at Royal Center, Ind., during the International Month, February, 1931, M. W. R., v. 60, pp. 12-22, 1932.
 SAMUELS, L. T., Special series of sounding-balloon observations made during the winter of 1929-30, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 121-128, 1934
- 1934.
- SCHNEIDER, L. R., Greenland West-coast foehns: A discussion based on the foehns of January, 1929, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 135-138, 1930.
- SHOWALTER, A. K., Fronts and depressions in the Plateau Region of the United States, BAMS, v. 13, pp. 206-208, 1932.
- SMITH, W. L., Weather problems peculiar to the New-York-Chicago Airway, M. W. R., v. 57, pp. 503-506, 1929.
- TANNEHILL, I. R., Severe cold waves on the Texas Coast, M. W. R., v. 56, pp. 41-46, 1928.
- TANNEHILL, I. R., Wet and dry northers, M. W. R., v. 57, pp. 136-142, 1929.
- WAIBEL, Leo, Norder und Föhn in der Sierra Madre de Chiapas, MZ, Bd. 49, pp. 254-258, 1932.
- A., Some notes on the squall of WARD. R. August 8th, 1936, in the Los Angeles area, BAMS, v. 17, pp. 329-331, 1936.
- BAMS, V. 17, pp. descor, root WEBER, J. H. and Brooks, C. F., The weath-er-map story of the flooding rainstorm of New England and adjoining regions, Novem-ber 3-4, 1927, Jn. New Eng. Water Works Meter 3-4, 1927, Jn. New Eng. Water Works Assoc., v. 42, no. 1, March, 1928, pp. 91-103; reprinted, id., v. 44, no. 1, March, 1930, pp. 106-118.
- WEXLER, H., Analysis of a warm-front-type occlusion, M. W. R., v. 63. pp. 213-221, 1935.
- WILLETT, H. C., Discussion and illustration of problems suggested by the analysis of atmospheric cross-sections, Papers in Phys. Oceanogr. and Met., Mass. Inst. Techn., v. Oceanogr. and Met., I 4, no. 2, 1935, 41 pp.
- YOUNG, F. D., Desert winds in southern Cali-fornia, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 380-383, 1931.

1937 and later

- BLAKE, D., Movement and effects of an un-stable tropical air mass aloft over the far west, August 7-13th, 1936, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 360-364, 1937.
- BLAKE, D., Note on the hurricane of Aug. 5 to 8, 1936, in Mexican West-Coast waters, M. W. R., v. 65, pp. 59, 1937.
- BLAKE, D., On the origin of tropical air near the western American mainlands, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 385-389, 1939

- BLAKE, D., Unusual fluctuations in the dew-point along the southern California coast, M. W. R., v. 67, pp. 39-41, 1939.
- BROOKS, C. F., The southerly gale of Jan. 24-25, 1938, in the N. E. U. S., BAMS, Jan. 1938, p. 46-7.
- BROOKS, C. F., and I. I. SCHELL, Certain synoptic antecedents of severe cold waves in southern New England, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 439-444, 1939.
- BROOKS, C. F., and A. H. Thiessen, Mete-orology of the great floods in eastern U. S., Geogr. Rev., April, 1937, pp. 269-290. Re-Geogr. Rev., April, 1937, pp. 269-290. Re-vised, Smithsonian Inst. Ann. Rept. for 1938, pp. 325-348.
- BYERS, H. R., Meteorological conditions dur-ing the March 1936 and other great flood storms of the Atlantic seaboard, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 132-136, 1937.
- DORSEY, H. G., Jr., Local forecasting heavy winter precipitation at Blue H BAMS, v. 19, pp. 281-296; 335-338, 1938. Hill.
- DORSEY, H. G., Jr., Some local reversals of pressure gradient at Blue Hill, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 453-454, 1938.
- GEORGE, J. J., and R. D. Elliott, A new temperature chart, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 105-117, 1939.
- ARRISON, H. T., Terminal weather on the Chicago-New York Airway, typecript, 20 pp., charts, United Air Lines, 1939. HARRISON.
- HEWSON, E. W., The application of wet-bulb potential temperature to air mass analysis, Part I, QJRMS, v. 62, pp. 387-420; Part II, v. 63, pp. 7-30; Part III, v. 63, pp. 323-338; Part IV, v. 64, pp. 407-422, 1936-1938.
- HOLZMAN, B., Sources of moisture for pre-cipitation in the U. S., U. S. Dept. of Agric. Techn. Bull. No. 589, Oct. 1937.
- HOLZMAN, B., Use of aerological soundings in determining sources of moisture for pre-cipitation, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Un., 1937, Pt. II, pp. 488-90.
- IVES, R. C., Weather phenomena of the Colo-rado Rockies, J. Franklin Inst., v. 226, no. 6, pp. 691-755, 1938.
- LICHTBLAU, S., Upper-air cold fronts in North America, M. W. R., v. 65, pp. 414-425, 1937.
- LICHTBLAU, S., Weather associated with the floods of March 1936, in U. S. Geol. Survey Water-Supply Paper No. 800, pp. 12-31, 1937.
- MANLEY, G., Meteorological Observations of the British East Greenland Expedition, 1935-6, at Kanderdlugssuak, QJRMS, v. 64, 1938, p. 253-76.
- MINSER, E. J., Studies of synoptic free-air conditions for icing of aircraft, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 111-122, 1938.
- MINSER, E. J., and G. Hathaway, Synoptic analysis of some excessive rainfalls in the Mississipvi Basin due to squeezing of trop-ical air between anticyclones, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 34-42, 1938.

- NAMIAS, J., Thunderstorm forecasting with the aid of isentropic charts, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 1-14, 1938.
- NAMIAS, J., Two important factors controlling winter-time precipitation in the south-eastern United States, Trans., Amer. Geo-phys. Union, 1939, pt. 3, pp. 341-348.
- OSMUN, J. W. W., Flow patterns in selected sunoptic situations. Mass. Inst. Tech., M. synoptic situations. Mass. Inst. Tech., M. A. Thesis, 1937. (also mimeographed by U. S. W. B., 1937, in revised form).
- S. W. B., 1997, M. An introductory discus-sion of the isentropic chart, Mimeo. U. S. Weather Bureau, Wash., Oct., 1937, 18 pp.
- PIERCE, C. H., The meteorological history of the New England hurricane, M. W. R., v. 67, pp. 237-286, 1939.
- PIERCE, C. H., Synoptic analysis of the southern California flood of March 2, 1938,
 M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 135-138, 1938.
- M. W. R., V. 66, pp. 135-135, 1935.
 POGADE, G., Zyklolyse und Zyklogenese an nordamerikanischen Kaltfronten, Ann. der. Hydrographie, Jan. 1938, pp. 32-5.
 REED, T. R., The unusual windstorm of February 9, 1938, at San Francisco, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 235-237, 1938.
- RILEY, J. A., Aircraft icing zones on the Oakland-Cheyenne airway, M. W. R., v. 65, pp. 104-108, 1937.
- PD. 104-106, 1931. ROSSBY, C.-G., J. Namias and R. G. Simmers, Fluid mechanics applied to the study of at-mospheric circulations, Part I, A study of flow patterns with the aid of isentropic analysis, M. I. T. and Woods Hole Oceanogr. Inst., Papers in Physical Oceanogr. and Met., v. 7, 1938.
- SHOWALTER, A. K., Frontal movements contrary to the indicated gradient flow pro-duced by minor waves, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 165-174, 1938.
- SHOWALTER, A. K., Relationship of low temperatures aloft to precipitation, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1939, pt. 3, pp. 352-353.
- WENSON, B., The Ohio and Mississippi River floods of January-February, 1937, M. W. R., Suppl. No. 37, pp. 26-37, 1938. SWENSON,
- WARD, R. de C., Climates of the United States. Boston, 1925, 518 pp. (descriptive met., bi-bliog.) and (with C. F. Brooks and A. J. Connor) The Climates of North America, Band 2, Part J of the Köppen-Geiger "Handbuch der Klimatologie", Berlin, 1936-38. (Valuable description, statistics and biblior) bibliogr.)
- WAIBEL AIBEL L., Zum Naturgeschichte der Norther, Geograph. Zeit., 1938.
- WEIGHTMAN, R. H., Progress in applying new synoptic aids to day-to-day forecasting, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 169-177, 1939.
- WENSTROM. W. H., Papagayo of March 7, 1939, BAMS. v. 20, pp. 119-121, 1939.
 WEXLER, R., The filling of the New England hurricane of Sentember, 1938, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 277-281, 1939.

2. North Atlantic and Caribbean

1927 and earlier

- DANISCHEN Meteorologischen Institut Deutsche Seewarte, Tagliche synopt and synoptische Wetterkarten fur den nordatlantischen Ozean und die anliegenden Teile der Kontinente, 30 vols., 1880-1911, in quarterly parts, Coppenhagen and Hamburg.
- FASSIG. O. L., Pilot-balloon observations at San Juan, Porto Rico, MWR, v. 52, 1924, pp. 22-26.
- GEORGII, W., und H. Seilkoff, Ergebnisse einer flugwissenschaftlichen Forschungsreise nach Columbia (S. A.), Aus dem Archiv der deutschen Seewarte, Hamburg, Bd. 43, nr. 3, 56 pp., 1926.

- HURD, W. E., Northers of Mexican and Central American waters, U. S. Hydrog. Off., Pilot Charts of Central American Waters, Off., published on backs of various issues, 1927.
- KNOCH, K., über die unperiodischen Schwan-kungen der Temperatur im allantischen Stil-lengürtel, Preuss. Met. Inst., Bericht über die Tätigkeit, 1926, pp. 69-84.
- Pilotballonaufstiege auf einer Fahrt MEY, A., Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Jahr-gang 41, Nr. 4, 33 pp., 1923.
- SEILKOPF H. und Stüve, G., Ergebnisse von Höhenwindmessungen auf dem Nordatlantischen Ozean und im Golf von Mexico, Febru-ary bis Mai 1923, Aus. d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Jahrgang 42, Nr. 2, 38 pp., 1923.
- WAGEMANN, M., über die Erwärmung kalter Luft zwischen dem amerikanischen Festlande und den Bermudas-Inseln, Preuss. Met. Inst., Penicht über die Tätisleit Bericht über die Tätigkeit, 1926, pp. 134-142.
- WEGENER, A. und Kuhlbrodt, E., Pilotbal-Ionaufstiege auf einer Fahrt nach Mexiko Marz bis Juni 1922, Aus d. Arch. d. Deuts-chen Seewarte, Jahrgang 40, Nr. 4, 46 pp., 1922.

1928 to 1934

- BAUMANN, G. H., Gronauflüge 1930/31 auf der Nordroute, Deutsch. Flugwetterdienst, Erfahrungsberichte, Sonderband 2, pp. 99-109, 1930.
- ECKARDT, B. und Lühe, P., Ergebnisse von Höhenwindmessungen auf dem Ostatlantis-chen Ozean längs der westafrikanischen Küste im Januar und February 1929: Aus d. Arch. d. deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 51, Nr. 1, 20 pr. 1929 39 pp., 1932.
- ERICKSON, B. E., Climatology and Meteor-ology, Pt. VI, Sci. Results of the Swedish-Norwegian Arctic Exped. in 1931, Geogr. Ann., 1933, pp. 113-145. (Spitzbergen)
- BRNST, W. und Seilkopf, H., Meteorologische Beobachtungen auf dem Las Palmaz-Flug der Deutschen Luft Hansa Juni und Juli 1928, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 48, Nr. 4, 24 pp., 1930.
- FASSIG, O. L., The Trade-winds of the east-ern Caribbean, Am. Geophys. Un., Trans., Fourteenth Ann. Meeting, pp. 69-78, 1933.
- GEIGER, R. und Wagner, F., Höhenwinde vor der westafrikanischen Küste im Herbst, Aus d. Arch. d. deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 51, Nr. 2, 63 pp., 1932.
- GEORGI, J., Meteorologische Beobachtungen auf einer Forschungsreise mit "Meteor" nach Island und Grönland im Sommer 1928, Aus dem Archiv der deutschen Seewarte, Hamburg, Bd. 49, nr. 3, 74 pp., 1930.
- KAYE, W. C., and C. S. Durst, Some examples of development of depressions which affect the Atlantic, QJRMS, v. 58, pp. 151-164, 1932.
- NOCH, K., und A. Lohr, Ergebnisse von Höhenwindmessungen auf dem Nordatlan-tischen Ozean und dem Karibischen Meer im April und Mai, 1927, Aus dem Archiv der Deutschen Seewarte, Hamburg, Bd. 46, nr. 2, 44 pp., 1928. KNOCH, K.,
- PERLEWITZ. P., Höhenwindmessungen und andere Beobachtungen zwischen dem Kanal und dem La Plata Mürz bis Juni 1924, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 45, h. 3, 54 pp., 1928.

- PORTIG, W., Die Entstehung einer Golfstromzyklone, Ann. d. Hydr., 1931, H. 4, pp. 197-199
- PUMMERER, Paul M. und Steiner, R. O., Höhenwindmessungen und andere Beobach-tungen auf einer flugwissenschaftlichen Forschungsreise nach Rio de Janeiro und dem La Plata, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Scewarte, Bd. 49, Nr. 4, 92 pp., 1930.
- RODEWALD, M., Der Bermuda-Orkan vom 26 April 1933, Der Seewart, Hamburg, 1934, pp. 119-124.
- pp. 119-124.
 RODEWALD. M., Meteorologische beobachtun-gen auf einer Studienfahrt nach Island—mit bes. Berucksichtigung der Flugmeteorologie, Ann. d. Hyd., v. 57, no. 11, 1929, pp. 41-53.
 SEMMELHACK, W., Die Staubfälle im nord-west-ajrikanischen Gebiet des Atlantischen Ozeans, Ann. d. Hydr., 1934, H. 7, pp. 273-276.
- 276.
- SOLTAU, K. H., Höhenwindmessungen und sonstige meteorologische Beobachtungen zwischen Hamburg und dem La Plata auf der Finweisungsfahrt von April bis Juni 1928, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 49, Nr. 1, 37 pp., 1930.
- TINGLEY, F. G., The genesis of a tropical cyclone, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 340-347, 1931. tropical
- WAGNER, F., Die meteorologischen Beobach-tungen während der Einweisungsfahrt für die Höhenwindmessstelle F nach dem La Plata im Frihjahr 1931, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 52, Nr. 3, 52 pp., 1933.
- WHERLE, Ph. et A. Viaut, Les traversées et tentatives de traversées aériennes de l'At-lantique Nord en 1927 au point de vue Mé-téorologique, France, Office Nat. Met., Mem-orial No. 19, 235 pp., 1928.

1935 and later

- BRANDTNER, G., Seeverkehrsweg: Nord-westafrikanische Region des Atlantischen Ozeans, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, H. 11, p. 493.
- CRICHTON, J., Iberian peninsula swept by severe gales, Met. Mag., vol. 72, 1937, p. 62-4.
- EFANT, A. und Helland-Hansen, Bj., Be-richt über die ozeanographischen Unter-suchungen im zentralen und östlichen Teil des Nordatlantischen Ozeans im Frühsom-DEFANT, ner 1938 (Internationale Golfstrom-Expedi-tion), Akademie der Wissenschaften, Ab-handlungen, Jahrgang 1939, Phys.-math. Klasse, Nr. 5, 64 pp. [Radiosonde observationsl
- DUNN, UNN, G. E., Cyclogenesis in the tropical Atlantic, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 216-229, 1940.
- Actuance, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 216-229, 1940. DURANDIN, P., V. Mironovitch, et A. Viaut, Structure verticale de l'atmosphère en au-tomne entre les Azores et les Bermudes. France, Office Nat. Met., Memorial, no. 29, S1 pp., 1938. (Rev. in BAMS, v. 20, pp. 315-18, 1939.) Also art. by Mironovitch and Viaut in L. Mitt Mearth Acril 1920. 600 Viaut in La Mét., March-April 1939, p. 99-112.
- DURST. C. S., The revolving storm of trop-ical origin which travelled across the Atlan-tic in Sept., 1936, QJRMS, v. 63, pp. 355-364, 1937.
- ENTWISTLE, F., Atlantic flight and its bear-ings on meteorology, QJRMS, v. 64, pp. 355-391, 1938.
- ENTWISTLE, F., The meteorological problem of the North Atlantic, J. Roy. Aero. Soc., v. 43, no. 338, pp. 69-104, 1939. [valuable paper.]

- EXTERNBRINK, H., Ein Beitrag zum Wet-tergeschehen im Golf von Mexiko, im Kari-bischen Meer und auf den Westindischen Inseln, M. Z., v. 54, pp. 354-359, 413-417.
- EXTERNBRINK, H., Kaltlufteinbrüche in die Tropen, Aus dem Archiv der Deutschen See-warte, Bd., 57, nr. 7, Hamburg, 28 pp., 1937.
- ROLOV, S., Les cyclones des Antilles en 1935, Annal. de Phys. du Globe, no. 18, pp. FROLOV, 163-168, 1936.
- FROLOV, S., La frontologie aux Antilles, Ann. de Phys. du Globe de la France d'outre-mer, An. 5, no. 28, pp. 114-124, 1938.
- FROLOV, S., Observations météorologique en avion à Martinique, Ann. de Phys. du Globe, no. 20, April, 1937, pp. 41-53.
 FROLOV, S., [on weather analysis in the Caribbean], Annal. de Phys. du Globe, no. 15, pp. 68-69, 77-80, 1935.
- LAMB, H. H., A visit to Iceland, QJRMS, v. 65, no. 280, pp. 244-48, 1939.
- LOHR, A., Orkanartiger Sturm auf den Azo-ren am 9. Februar 1936, Ann. d. Hydr., ren am 9. Februar 19 1937, H. 9, pp. 401-406.
- LOHR, A., Beiträge zur Flugmeteorologie der Azoren, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 58, Nr. 5, 1938, 45 p., plates.
- LI, S., Untersuchungen über Taifune. Veröff. Met. Inst. Univ. Berlin, Bd. 1, h. 5, pp. 34, 1936.
- LOCKHART, W. M., Some upper-air observa-tions made in the Pacific, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1939, pt. 3, pp. 348-352.
- MILDNER P. und Markgraf. H., Meteorologischer Reisebericht u. Höhenwindmessungen auf der Fahrt nach Kamerun Mai bis Juni 1933, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 54, Nr. 3, 49 pp., 1935.
- MOORHEAD, H. B. F., Remarks on upper-air results obtained during the approach of hurrieane to Bermudr. August 20-23, 19 20-23, 1935, QJRMS, v. 62, pp. 123-124, 1936.
- PIERSIG, Walter, Die Gewitterhäufigkeit im Meeresgebiet vor der nordwestafrikanischen Küste: ihr jahreszeitlicher Gang und ihre Verteilung zur Lage der Tropikfront, Ann. der Hydrog., 1935, pp. 461-466.
- PIERSIG, W., Schwankungen von Luftdruck Marking, W., Schwinkenger von Dagenach und Luftbewegungen sowie ein Beitrag zum Wettergeschehen im Passatgebiet des östli-chen Nordatlantischen Ozeans, Aus dem Ar-chiv der deutschen Seewarte, Hamburg, Bd. 54, Nr. 6, 1936, 41 pp.

3. North Pacific (and Japan)

1927 and earlier

- DAINGERFIELD. L. H., Kona storms, M. W. R., v. 49, pp. 327-329, 1921.
- DAIHO, T., On the evolution of secondary depressions off the coast of Tosa in winter, Jn. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 2, no. 7, 1924, pp. 206-10.
- HAN'I, K., Southerly wind at Nase as an in-dication of coming rain in Japan. Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 3, no. 4, p. 96-102, (15), 1925.
- HORIGUTI, H., Life history of the typhoon on the end of March, 1923, Mem. Imp. Ma-rine Obs., Kobe, vol. 2, pp. 9-25.
- KOBAYASHI, T., On a cyclone which crossed the Korean Peninsula and the variations of its polar front. QJRMS, v. 48, July, 1922, pp. 169-184 (Abstr. in MWR, 1922, p. 356).
- MISAWA, K., On the glaze storm of the 22nd-23rd Jan. 1923, in Nagano Prefecture,

- PORTIG, W., Die Entstehung einer Golfstrom-zyklone, Ann. der Hydr., Apr. 1939, pp. 197-200.
- PORTIG, W., Die Mächtigkeit der Kältewellen auf dem Atlantischen Özean, Ann. der Hy-drogr., Jun. 1938, pp. 314-316.
- RODEWALD, M., Die Bedeutung des Drei-massenecks fur die subtropischen Sturmtief-bildungen, Ann. der Hydrogr., Zweites Kop-pen-Heft, Sept. 1936, pp. 41-54.
- RODEWALD, M., Die Bildungsweise einer nordatlantischen September-Sturmzyklone, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, H. 9, pp. 411-414.
- RODEWAL' M., Die nordatlantsche Lufttemperaturverteilung vor Entstehung einer lan-glebigen Oktober-Sturmzyklone auf dem 50. Breitenkreis, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, h. 6, pp. 264-266
- RODEWALD, M., Der "Deutschland"-Orkam vom 13 Januar 1938, Ann. der Hydrogr., 1938, pp. 243 ff.; Der Orkan sudlich Neus-chottland vom 13-14 Jan. 1938, Der Seewart, Jahrg. 7, 1938, hf. 8, pp. 221-7.
- RODEWALD, M., Wetterskizzen. Nr. 8: Die Entstehungsbedingungen einer Labrador-strom-Sturmzyklone, Ann. der Hydrog., Bd. 44, h. 8, pp. 371-373, 1936. (Cf., Scherhag, id., 1937, p. 90.)
- RUDLOFF, W., Golfstromzyklonen. Eine syn-optisch-dynamische Untersuchung über die Entstchung nordatlantischer Sturmzyklonen, in ausgewählten Beispielen, Ann. der Hy-drogr., May, 1936, pp. 185-198. (Comments by Scherhag, id., 1936, p. 256.)
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Mächtigkeit der Kalte-wellen auf dem Atlantischen Ozean, Ann. der Hydrogr., Jan. 1938, pp. 49-50.
- SCHERHAG, R., Synoptische Untersuchun-gen über die Entstehung der atlantischen Sturmwirbel, M. Z., v. 54, pp. 466-469, 1937.
- SCHNAPAUFF, W., Untersuchungen über die Kalmenzone des Atlantischen Ozeans, Veröff. Met. Inst., Univ. Berlin, Bd. 2, h. 4, pp. 34, 1937.
- SCOFIELD, E., On the origin of tropical cy-clones, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 225 ff., 1938.
- U. S. NAVY, Hydrographic Off., Naval air pilot, Central America, Washington, 1937, 262 pp.
- ZISTLER, P. und F. MöLLER, Meteorologis-cher Reisebericht und Ergebnisseder Höhen-windmessungen von der Fahrt nach Kame-run Juli-August 1933, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 54, Nr. 2, 41 pp., 1997. 1935.

Jn. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 1, no. 3, p. 48-9, no. 4, 61-71; (K. Okubo, id., p. 72-76.); no. 5, p. 137-44, 1923.

- NAKIZIMA, H., Upper air currents over Tokorozawa correlated with the general isobaric weather types in the vicinity, Jn. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 3, no. 8, 1925, p. 226-231, 1925.
- TAMAMURA, M., Evolution of traveling cy-clones in the Far East, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 3, 1925, p. (81), 294-9, no. 11. (note also Tokuyama, id, v. 2, no. 6, 1924, p. 195.)
 Also Tamura, Cold front of Oct. 15-6, 1924, id., v. 2, no. 8, 1924, p. 234-7.

1928 to 1934

BYERS, H. R., The air masses of the North Pacific, Scripps Inst. of Oceanography Bul-letin, Technical Series, Vol. 3, No. 14, pp. 311-354.

- FUJIWHARA, S., Decay of a cyclone by seg-mentation, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 4, no. 3, pp. 167-169, 1931.
- FUJIWHARA, S., On the behavior of lines of discontinuity, cyclones and typhoons in the vicinity of Japan, Geophys. Mag., v. 2, 1929, pp. 120-131, Tokyo.
- REED, T. R., Weather types of the northeast Pacific Ocean as related to the weather of the north Pacific coast, M. W. R., v. 60, pp. 246-252, 1932.
- ELGA, M., Pilot balloons and southwesterly winds at Manila, Philippine Weather Bureau, Meteorological Note No. 27 (pp. 241-244 of Met. Bull., for Nov., 1933). SELGA, M.

1935 and later

- AOKI, S., Two examples of typhoon consisting of main and secondary typhoons, Kyoto Imp. Univ., Met'l. Research Inst., Met'l. Notes, No. 2, Sept., 1936, 5 pp. (Abstract in English).
- ARAKAWA, H., Heavy rainfall in Central Japan June 28-July 5, 1938, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 17, no. 1, p. (1). ARAKAWA, H., Die Luftmassen in den japanischen Gebieten, MZ, Bd. 54, pp. 169-174 1057
- 174, 1937.
- ARAKAWA, H., The vertical structure of ty-phoons, J. Met. Soc. Japan. v. 14, no. 8, 1936, pp. 405-413, 1936. (Abstract in En-glish on p. 36; repr. in BAMS, v. 17, 1936, pp. 313-314). In full, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 44, 156 64. v. 24, p. 156-61.
- ARAKAWA, H., The effect of topography on the winds and cyclone paths, J. Met. Soc., Japan, v. 18, pp. 67-68 [summary in Eng. p. (5)], 1940.
- EPPERMANN, C. E., Are thunderstorms around isolated island stations in the Phi-lippines frontal?, Philippine Weather Bu-reau. Meteorological Note No. 9, (pp. 13-18, DEPPERMANN, of Met. Bull. for Jan. 1936).
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., Are there warm sec-tors in Philippine Typhoons? .Wea. Bur. Manila, 1937, 19 pp.
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., The Weather and clouds of Manila, Manila Central Observa-tory, Philippines Weather Bureau, 37 pp., many plates of clouds, 1937. [Important contrib. to trop. met.]
- DEPPERMANN, C. E. Typhoons and depres-sions originating to the Near East of the Philippines, Philippine Wea. Bur., Manila, 21 pp., maps, 1940.
- DEPPERMANN. C. E., Typhoons Originating in the China Sea, Phil. Wea. Bur., 1938.
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., Typhoons originating in the China Sea (Abstract), BAMS, v. 19, pp. 375-377, 1938.
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., Wind and rainfall distribution in selected Philippine typhoons, Phil. Wea. Bur., Manila, 1987. Wind and rainfall

4. Southern Hemisphere

- BARNETT, M. A., The cyclonic storms in northern New Zealand on Feb. 2 and 26 of March 1936, New Zealand, Met. Off. Note, no. 22, 34 pp., 1938.
- BERICHT über den deutschen Atlantischen Expedition auf dem Vermessungs und For-schunsschiff "Meteor", Zeit. d. Gesell. f. Erd-kunde zu Berlin, 1926, No. 1, 5-6; 1927, no. 5-6. (upper winds and kite ascents in south Atlantic, cross-sections); (see also Ann. d. Hyd., v. 54, 1926, pp. 57-64; and Archiv d.

- FUJIWHARA, S., On the evolution of the Muroto Typhoon, Kobe, Imp. Marine Obsy., Memoirs, v. 7, pp. 141-159, 1939.
- FUJIWHARA, S., On the quick development of cyclones by amalgamation, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 11, No. 1, pp. 41-50, 1937.
- FUTI, H., Relation of the movement of ty-phoon to the distribution of temperature at the earth's surface, J. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 13, pp. 555-564, 1935.
- HORIGUTI, Y., The passage on land of the Muroto Typhoon, Kobe, Imperial Marine Obsy., v. 7, pp. 159-192, 1939.
- KIZIMA, M., and S. Ooma, On the warm front on 24-25 Sept., 1935, in Kwanto Dis-trict, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 14, no. 5, p. (21), 1936.
- KOBE, Imperial Marine Obsy., Daily Weather charts of the North Pacific: issued in monthly volumes, 1923-.
- OGASAHARA, Prof., Introduction to Formo-san frontology. Misc. Paper Inst. Met. and Geophys., Taihoku Imp. Univ., Japan, 1940.
- OOMA, S. and M. Utugi, On the development of cyclones in the detail. On the detector inchest of cyclones in the neighborhood of Japan, 2nd paper: On the relation between the direction of a line of discontinuity and the development of cyclones, J. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 18, pp. 243-256, 1940.
- OTANI, T. and S. Yamada, On the depres-sion of China Eastern Sea, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 16, no. 7, p. (23), 1938.
- OUTANI, T., and K. Sone, Heavy rainfall in the Kwanto district in Sept. 1935, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 14, no. 5, p. (19)-(20), 1936. OTUBO, K., Thunderstorm activity and ty-phoon in western Japan, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 17, p. 5, 1000 p. (19)
- v. 17, no. 5, 1939, p. (18).
- RODEWALD, M. Das fcrnöstliche Dreimasse-neck, Ann. d. Hydrog., 1938, pp. 516-519.
- TAKAHASI, K., Distribution of pressure and wind in a typhoon. Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 17, 1939. pp. 422-33, (42).
- TAKAHASI, K., On the local rain in Kwanto district due to northeasterly wind, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 18, 1940, p. 175; see also v. 17, no. 7, p. 261 (27), 1939.
- TAKAHASI, T., Sudden rise of air-tempera-ture near ground during the night at the basin of Kyoto, Kyoto Imp. Univ., Met'l. Research Inst., Met'l. Notes, No. 1, July, 1936, 4 pp. (Abstract in English).
- TERADA, K., The thunderstorm as a forerun-ner of the typhoon, BAMS, v. 17, p. 44, 1936.
- TODYO, S., General circulation of the atmos-phere and two types of mechanism of falling rain, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 18, no. 4, 1940, p. (14).
- VISSER, S. W., The Snellius Exvedition in the eastern part of the Neth. East Indies, v. 3, Met. Observations, Leyden, 1936, 113 pp.

deutschen Seewarte, 1922, no. 4, 1923, no. 4, 1924, no. 2, 1925, no. 3).

- BUREAU, R., et al, Radiosondages dans les mer australes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, v. 208, 1939, pp. 1419-1420.
- COMMISSION REGIONALE No. III, (Améri-que du Sud), Procès verbaux de la première session, Lima, 1937, Publ. no. 41 Secret. de L'Organ. Met. Intern., Leyden, 1939, pp. 160.

- ESCOBAR, J. S., Notes on the meteorology of Patagonia and Tierra del Fuego, BAMS, v. 21, No. 2, pp. 71-75, 1940.
- GEORGI, J., Pannpero secco vom 17 Juli 1935, Der Seewart, Hamburg, v. 5, pp. 199-205, 1936; (see also L y-Ed, Pannpero sudostlich vom Rio Grande do Sul, 1927, Ann. d. Hyd., v. 56, p. 3-5.)
- HEPWORTH, M. W. C., The Relation between pressure, temperature, and air circulation over the South Atlantic Ocean, London, Met'l. Comm., M. O. No. 177, 1917, 14 p. (2nd ed.)
- HESSLING, N. A. Ciclones y Anticiclones en la Rerublica Argentina, Oficina Met. Nac. Bol. Men., 1926.
- HOWARD, A. C., South African Meteorology: Types of atmospheric pressure, their duration and movements, So. African Jn. Sci., v. 16, pp. 273-284, 1920.
- KIDSON, E., The Canterbury "Northwester" New Zealand Meteorological Office Note No. 12, pp. 65175, 1932; (from N. Z. Jn. of Sci. and Techn. v. 14, no. 2, pp. 65-75, 1932.)
- KIDSON, E., The Wairarapa Floods of August, 1932, New Zealand Meteorological Office Note No. 13, pp. 220-227, 1933.
- KIDSON, E., Meteorological conditions during the first flight across the Tasman Sea, QJRMS, v. 55, 1929, pp. 53-4.
- KIDSON. E., The analysis of weather charts, Australian Geographer, v. 1, no. 5, 14 pp., Jan., 1935.
- KIDSON, E., Flood rains of 11th March 1924, in Hawkes' Bay, N. Z., N. Z. J. Sci. Techn., v. 12, no. 1, pp. 53-60, 1930.
- KIDSON, E., and J. Holmboe. Frontal methods of weather analysis applied to the Australia-New Zealand area. N. Z., Dept. Sci. & Ind. Res., Met'l. Branch, 1935, Pt. I, Disc. 20 pp., Pt. II, Weather Charts.
- KINZL, H. and G. Wagner, Pilotaufsteigen in den peruanischen Anden, Gerl. Beitr. Geoph., v. 54, 1938, pp. 29-55.
- LAMMERT, I., Frontologische Untersuchungen in Australien, Beitr. z. Phys, d. Atm., Bd. 19, pp. 203-219, 1932.
- LEIGHLY, J. Marguesan meteorology, Univ. Calif. Pub. in Geogr., v. 6, no. 4, pp. 147-72, 1933.
- LOCKYER. Wm. J. S., Southern Hemisphere Surface-Air Circulation Solar Physics Committee, London, 1910, 109 p.
- LOEWE, F., The cold spell of mid-march in Victoria, QJRMS, v. 65, 1939, p. 61-4.
- LOEWE. F., Pressure waves in Adelie Land, QJRMS, v. 61, no. 262, pp. 441-444, 1935.

1927 and earlier

- BILHAM, E.G., Pressure type in relation to fog frequency at Scilly during the summer months, Met. Off. London, Prof. Notes no. 37, 1924, 5 pp.
- BILHAM, E. G., Structure of the atmosphere over Benson on 3rd March 1920, Met. Off. Lond., Prof. Notes, no. 21, 1921, 9 pp.
- BERGERON, T., Rotes, Ho. 21, 1921, 9 pp. BERGERON, T., and G. Swoboda, Wellen und Wirbel an einer quasistationären Grenzfläche über Europa, Veröff. Geophys. Inst. der Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 3, Hf. 2, Leipzig, 1924, out of print. Rev'd. in M. W. R., v. 54, pp. 458-459, 1926.
- BJERKNES, J., Diagnostic and prognostic application of mountain observations, Geofys. Pub., v. 3, no. 6, pp. 3-35, 1924.

- MÄDE, A., Der Passat im Rossbyschen Diagramm. Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 20, H. 1, pp. 51-55, 1932. (S. E. trades)
- METEOROLOGICAL CONFERENCE FOR THE SOUTHWEST PACIFIC, Minutes of meetings at Wellington, 1937, Publ. no. 42, Secret. Organ. Met. Intern., Leyden, 1939, 92 pp.
- MONTS, De, Le front polaire dans l'Ocean Indien, Annal. de Phys. du Globe, no. 9, pp. 93-5.
- MONTS, De, La Météorologie des Mascareignes. Ann. de Phys. du Globe, no. 14, pp. 51-52 and 58-62, 1936.
- MONTS. De, Rôle catalyseur de l'air polairc dans la genèse d'un cyclone tropical, Ann. de Phys. du Globe, no. 12, pp. 178-181, 183-7, 1935.
- NAVARETTE, J. Bustos, A meteorological study of the antarctic region and the atmospheric circulation over the extreme southern Pacific Ocean, MWR, v. 56, pp. 174-176, 1928.
- NAVARRETE, J. B., Meteorological conditions on the Santiago (Chile)-Buenos Aires (Argentina) Airway, M. W. R., v. 58, pp. 444-446, 1930.
- PUMMERER, P., Aerologische Fluazeugaufstiege an der Mittel- und Südbrasilianischen Küste im Januar-Februar 1928. Deutsch. Flugwetterdienst, Erfahrungsberichte, Sonderband 2, pp. 88-97, 1930: (see also Ann. d. Hyd., June 1929, pp. 186-92).
- ROOY, M. P. van, Influence of berg winds on the temperatures along the West Coast of South Africa, QJRMS, v. 62, no. 267, pp. 528-537, Oct., 1936. (with comments by Durst, following.)
- SCHONLAND, B. F. J. and D. Hodges, Direction finding of sources of atmospherics and South African meteorology, QJRMS, v. 66, 1940, p. 23-46.
- SERRA, A. B., Trovoadas locais no Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, Divisao de Meteorologia, Boletim Mensal, Sept. 1934.
- SPENCER, H. A., Subtropical Meteorology in the Transvaal, Discovery, vol. 7, pp. 100-104, 1926.
- SUCKSDORFF, G., Die Ergebnisse der Untersuchungen an tropischen Gewittern und einigen anderen tropischen Wettererscheinungen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 55, H. 1, 1939, pp. 138-185. (Africa and Atlantic).
- WADSWORTH, J., Speed of depressions near the Falkland Islands, Met. Mag., v. 61, p. 195,1926.
- WEBSTER, H. C. et al, Thunderstorms in the Tasman Sea and Coral Sea, March 1934, Met. Mag., v. 71, 1936, pp. 59-62.

Europe

5.

- BJERKNES, J., Practical examples of polar front analysis over the British Isles in 1915-1920, Geophys. Mem., No. 50, Met. Off., London. (Out of print.) Prelim. abstr., Met. Mag., March, 1926, pp. 32-33.
- BJERKNES, J., The structure of fronts, Met. Mag., v. 61, Mar., 1926, pp. 32-33.
- BJERKNES, J., and H. Solberg, Meteorological conditions for the formation of rain, Geofys. Publ., Vol. 2, No. 3, 60 pp., 1921. In french, Mém. off. Fr. Nat. Met., No. 6, 1923)
- BJERKNES, V., The structure of the atmosphere when rain is falling, QJRMS, v. 46, pp. 119-140, 1920.

- CALWAGEN, E. G., Zur Diagnose und prognose lokaler Sommerschauer: Aerologische Flugzeugaufstiege in Ostnorwegen, Geofys. Pub., v. 3, no. 10, pp. 3-124, 1926.
- CAVE, C. J. P., Winter thunderstorms in the British Isles, QJRMS, v. 49, 1923, p. 43-53.
- DIESING, K., Der Warmeeinbruch (Warmfront) vom 12. bis 13. Januar 1920 in Mitteleuropa, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 3, pp. 1-62, 1924.
- DINES, L. H. G., Remarkably low base of the stratosphere during passage of a depression, Met. Mag., April, 1926. p. 68-70.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., On some summer depressions, Met. Mag., 1926, Aug., p. 152-6.
- DURWARD, J., A discontinuity of the channel, on March 24, 1926, QJRMS, v. 52, 1926, p. 198-9.
- FICKER, H. von, Die Ausbreitung kalter Luft in Russland and Nordasien, Sitzber, K. K. Akad, Wiss, Wien, Math.-Nat, Kl., Abt. 2a, v. 119, 1910, pp. 1769-1837.
- FICKER, H. von, Das Fortschreiten der Wärmewellen in Russland und Nordasien, Sitz-ber. Wien. Akad. Wiss., Math.-Naturw. K1., v. 120, Sec. IIa, June, 1911, 92 pp. [Cf.: Henry, Bull. Mt. Wea. Obsy., v. 5, 1912, pp. 1-18, for comp. with U. S. data.]
- FONTSERÉ, E., Sobre els vents estivals de convecció a la costa Catalana, Barcelona, Inst. de Ciéncies, 1918. 63 pp.
- GOLD, E., The travel of depressions, Met. Mag., April, 1926, p. 53-6.
- GOLDIE, A. H. R. Gustiness of wind in particular cases, QJRMS, v. 51, pp. 357-362, 1925.
- INTERNATIONAL commission for the exploration of the upper air, Comptes rendus des jours internationaux 1923, 1924. (Obtainable from Roy. Met. Soc., London). [Elaborate display of soundings].
- KOPP, W. Wie Gestallet sich aus der Frühkarte vom 20 Juni 1925 eine Diagnose der Wetterlage? Lindenberg Mitt. Aeron. Obs., pp. 29-35, June 1925 [with cross sections].
- KUNZ, C., Ueber tryische Niederschlagsverteilungen in der Schweiz. insbesondere bei Föhn, Ann. d. Schweiz. Met. Anstalt, Anhang No. 7, 1912, 48 p.
- MOESE. O., and G. SCHINZE. Die Schleifzone vom 15 und 16 Oct., 1926, Das Wetter, Bd. 44, pp. 1-7, 1927.
- MÜGGE, R., Über warme Hochdruckgebiete und ihre Rolle im atmosphärischen Wärmehaushalt, Veroff, Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 3, pp. 239-266, 1927.
- NEWNHAM. E. V., The formation of thunderstorms over the British Isles in winter, Met. Off. Lond., Prof. Notes, no. 29, 1922, 6 pp. (trajectories of air across the Atlantic).
- READ. R. S.. Cold Fronts Sept. 1, 1925, QJRMS, v. 51, 1925, pp. 416-421.
- READ. R. S., The depression of Feb. 5-7, 1926, QJRMS, v. 52, 1926, p. 342-4.
- SCHUBERT, O. von. Ein typisches Beisniel für den Zusammenhang hoher und niedriger Luftdruckschwankungen, M. Z., Bd. 44, pp. 310-311, 1927.
- SPINNANGR. F., Nedborst oslenfjelds, Naturen, pp. 38-57, 1926.
- SPINNANGR, F., Nedborstudien pa Vestlandet. Naturen, pp. 221-238, 1925.
- STÜVE, G., Aerol. Untersuchungen zum Zwecke d. Wetterdiagnose. Arb. d. Preuss. Aeron. Obs. Lindenberg, Bd. 14, pp. 104-16, 1922.

1928 to 1934

- ABSALOM, H. W. L., Storm of Nov. 11-12, 1929, Met. Mag., Dec. 1929, p. 249-252.
- [ANON], Structure of depressions, Met. Mag., March, 1929, p. 34-37.
- [ANON], Great snowstorm of Feb. 1933, Met. Mag., March 1933, p. 29-34.
- BARTNICKI, L., and St. Kolodziejczyk, Conditions synoptique de la formation des chasse neige en Pologne, Mém. de l'Inst. Nat. Mét. de Pologne, No. 6, 1931.
- BERG, H., Aerologische Diagnose einer Aufgleitfläche, deutsch. Flugwetterdienstes. Erfahrungsberichte, Folge 9, Nr. 4, pp. 25-30, Juli 1934.
- BERG, H., Anomale Niederschlag in Süddeutschland und ihre Bedingungen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 37, pp. 148-166, 1931
- BERG. H., Beitrag zur Struktur eines Warmlufteinbruckes, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 30, pp. 1-39, 1931.
- BERG, H., Der Zustand der freien Atmosphäre am 27. Oktober 1933, Erfahrungsberichte des Deutschen Flugwetterdienstes, 8. Folge, Nr. 14, pp. 121-125, Jan., 1934.
- BERSON, F. A., Kaltfronten und präfrontale Vorgänge über Lindenberg in der unteren Troposphäre, M. Z., Bd. 51, pp. 281-286, 1984.
- BJERKNES, J., and E. Palmén, Aerologische Analuse einer Zyklone, Beitr. Phys. d. fr. Bd. 21, pp. 58-62, 1933.
- BJERKNES, J., and E. Palmén, Synontischeaerologische Untersuchungen eines Kälteinbrückes, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys. Bd. 32 (Köppen-Band I), pp. 158-172, 1931.
- BUILL, G. A., Weather conditions over the central and western Meditterranean during the period February 10-14, 1929, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes, no. 60 (v. 4), pp. 2-8, 1930.
- CHMIELSKI, K., (Etudes sur le temps). Mém. de l'Inst. Nat. Mét. de Pologne, No. 5, part 1, 1931.
- CHRISTIANS. H., Die stratosphärische Steuerung in dem kalten February, 1932. Ein Beispiel eines sehbststindigen stratosnhärischen Systems. Synoptische Bearbeitungen Wetterdienststelle, Frankfurt, no. 3, pp. 14-20, 1933.
- CROSSLEY, A. F. and C. W. G. Daking, A double occluded front at Cardington, QJRMS, v. 57, no. 238, pp. 94-96, 1931.
- DIGHT. F. H., Conditions in the upper air on Oct. 2, 1928, QJRMS, v. 55, 1929, p. 82-6.
- DIGHT. F. H., Thunderstorm of Nov. 2, 1930, Met. Mag., Dec., 1930, pp. 249-253.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., The cold spells of Dec., 1927, Met. Mag., Jan., 1928, pp. 279-283.
- DOUGLAS. C. K. M., The cyclonic devressions of November 16 to 23, 1928, QJRMS, v. 56, no. 234, pp. 121-130, 1930.
- DOUGLAS. C. K. M., The secondary depression on the night of January 28-29, 1927, QJRMS, v. 54, Jan., 1928, pp. 19-26.
- DURST, C. S., Note on a remarkable temperature record at Aberdeen, Met. Mag., Sept. 1928, p. 177-81.
- EREDIA, F., Lo Scirocco in Italia, Rome, Ufficio Presagi, Ann., 5, pp. 155-172, 1932.
- FALCKENBERG. G., Aerologische Studienreise des Drachenbootes der Rostocket Luftwarte, MZ, Bd. 45, pp. 55-60, 1928.

- FICKER, H. von, über die Entstehung lokaler Wärmegewitter, Sitz. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., Phys.-Math. K1., 1931, h. 3, 1932, h. 16, 1933, h. 14, 1934, h. 29.
- FONTSERÉ, E., Die "Ilevants" der katalanis-chen Küste, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 15, pp. 55-60, 1929.
- GARNETT, H. and Heywood, G. S. P., Notes on a cold front on the 23rd of May, 1929, QJRMS, v. 56, April, 1930, pp. 186-191.
- GIBLETT, M. A., Line squalls, J. Roy. Aeron. Soc., V. 41, 1927, pp. 509-549; abstr. on backs of some of the *Pilot Charts* of the Hydrographic Office, U. S. N., since 1929, and reviewed in Mo. Wea. Rev., Jan., 1928, p. 7-11.
- GOLD, E., Diffusion on a cold front, Me Mag., 1932, p. 37-38; comments, pp. 65-66. Met.
- GOLDBERG, J. und M. Kovacevie, Der Schlammregen in Jugoslavien am 3. und 4. Mai 1933 (Fin Beitrag zur Kenntnis des Seirocco und der Mittelmeerzykkonen). Kro-atische Geog. Zeitschrift, Zagreb, 1934, Nr. 5.
- HARTENSTEIN, G., über Vertikalbewegungen an der Vorderseite eines Hochdruckge-bietes, Synoptische Bearbeitungen, Wetterdienststelle Frankfurt, no. 6, pp. 1-27, 1934.
- GERRMANN, M., Scirocco-Einbrüche in Mit-teleuropa (Ein Beitrag zur Analyse der 5-b-Depressionen vom 25. April und 16, Mai 1926). Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 4, pp. 181-252. 1929. (Comment by Petitjean, La Mét., 1931, p. 459-462.) HERRMANN.
- HERSTRöM, E., Zur atmosphärischen Steuc-rung, Synoptische Bearbeitungen, Wetterdi-enststelle Frankfurt, no. 5, pp. 1-29, 1934.
- HEYWOOD. G. S. P., Analysis of cold fronts over Leafield, QJRMS, v. 58, no. 244, pp. 202-206, 1932.
- MARKGRAF. H., Druckfall im Warmsektor, Beitr. z. Phys. d. Atm., Bd. 19, pp. 71-78, 1932.
- MARSHALL, A. L., The thunderstorms of June 1933, QJRMS, v. 59, 1933, p. 416-21.
- MOLTCHANOFF. F., Die Methode der Radio-sonde und ein Versuch ihrer Anwendung bei der Erforschung der höheren Atmosphären-schichten in dem Polarregionen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. 36-56, 1931.
- MÜGGE, R.. Die stratosphärische Steuerung während der Kälteperiode im February 1929, Synoptische Bearbeitungen Wetterdienststelle, Frankfurt, no. 1, 8 pp., 1932.
- NEWNHAM. E. V., Observations of temperature and humidity in certain occluded cy-clones (rev. of Jaumotte, Ciel et Terre, 1927), Met. Mag., Feb. 1928, pp. 6-8.
- NOHASCHECK, H., Der Zustand der freien Atmosphäre bei Nebelfrost-und Glatteiswet-terlagen. Aus dem Archiv der deutschen See-warte, Hamburg, Bd. 50, nr. 3, 19 pp., 1931.
- PALMÉN, E., Aerologische Unterschungen der atmosnhärischen Störungen mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Stratosnhärischen Vor-ginge. Mitt. d. Inst. d. Univ. Helsingfors, No. 25, 1933.
- PALMÉN. E., Die Beziehung zwischen tropos-phärischen und stratosphärischen Tempera-Boiterischen pusitischen und stratosphärischen Tempera-tur und Luftdruckschwankungen. Beiträge z. physik d. fr. Atmosphäre, Bd. 17, Hf. 2, pp. 102-116, 1931.
- PALMÉN. E., Ein Fall der Regeneration einer sterbenden Depression, M. Z., Bd. 46, pp. 66-69, 1929.
- ALMÉN. E., Die vertikale Mächtigkeit der Kälteinbrücke über mittel Europa, Gerl. PALMÉN, E.

Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 26, pp. 63-78, 1930. (Nachtrag, id., v. 28, p. 235, 1930.)

- READ, R. S., Warm front fog, Met. Mag., v. 66, 1931, p. 68-9.
- REIDAT, R., Gewitterbildung durch Kaltluf-teinbruch in der Höhe, Beitr. z. Phys. d. Atm., Bd. 16, pp. 291-297, 1930.
- REINHARDT, H., Aerologie der Warmfront vom 22. Februar 1934. Erfahrungsberichte-des deutsch. Flugwetterdienstes, 8. Folge, Nr. 22 bis 26, pp. 183-186, April, 1934.
- ROSSBY, C.-G., Studies in the dynamics of the stratosphere, Beitr. z. Phys. d. Atm., Bd. 14, pp. 240-265, 1928.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Entstehung der Ostge-witter, M. Z., Bd. 48, pp. 245-254, 1931.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Bedeutung der Divergenz Architek, Die Betearting der Vb- Depressionen. Aerologische Analyse der Wetterentwicklung vom 17 bis 26 Juli 1930. Ann. d. Hydr., Bd. 62, pp. 397-406, 1934.
- SCHREIBER, K., Analyse der Wetterlage vom 4. bix 8. Januar 1912: Ein Beitrag zur Bjerknes'schen Methode, Aus dem Archiv der deutschen Seewarte, Hamburg, Bd. 50, nr. 4, 58 pp., 1931.
- nr. 4, 58 pp., 1931. SCHRöDER, R., Die Regeneration einer Zyk-lone über Nord-und Ostsee (Analyse der Wetterepoche 29, Sentember bis 3. Oktober 1912). Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leip-ziz. Bd. 4, pp. 49-116. 1929. SCHWERDTFEGER. W., Temperaturverhält-nisse in einem Polarluftausbruch. Erf. Ber. d. deutschen Flugwetterdienstes III. Sonder-band, pp. 35 ff., 1932. STENY E über den groesen Staubiall 26-30
- STENZ, E., über den grossen Staubfall 26.-30. April 1923 in Südosteuropa. Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. 313-337, 1931.
- STÜVE, G.. Die Umgestaltung der stratosphä-Fischen Steuerung vom 1.-8. Oktober 1932, Synoptische Bearbeitungen Wetterdienststelle, Frankfurt, no. 2, pp. 10-12, 1933.
- SUTCLIFFE, R. C. Barometer fluctuations at Malta, Met. Off. Lond., Prof. Notes no. 62, 1931, 10 pp.
- SUTCLIFFE, R. C., The importance of Atlantic ship observations for Mediterranean casting, Met. Mag., Feb., 1930, pp. 18-20.
- casting, Mct. Mag., Feb., 1950, pp. 15-20. THOMAS, H., Das Zustandekommen eines Druckanstiegs von 35 mm durch einen stratosphärischen Kaltluiteinbruch ohne Mit-wirkung troposphärischer Vorgänge, Sitz-Ber. d. preuss. Akad. Wiss., Berlin, Phys.-Math. Kl., 1934, pp. 222-236. WALTERS, A., Periodic pressure oscillations at Malta, Met. Mag., Feb. 1933, p. 1-5.
- WEICKMANN, L., und Moltchanoff, Kurzer Bericht über die meteorolonisch-aerologi-schen Beobachtungen auf der Polarfahrt des "Graf Zeppelin", M. Z., Bd. 48, pp. 409-414, 1931.
- ZIERL, Hermann, Die Ausbreitung der Warm-luft am 19. November 1930 und ihre Ablö-sung durch eine polare Wellc am 23. Novem-ber 1930, Deutsches Met. Jrb. f. Bayern, 1930 Anhang H, 7 pp.

1935 and later

- ANDREWS, R. T., Wave motion in the upper air, Met. Mag., v. 72, 1937, p. 156-160.
- BATTY, R, P., Thunderstorms associated with a warm front, Met. Mag., Nov., 1935, pp. 233-234.
- BENDER. Kurt, Die Frühjarhsfröste an der Unterelbe und ihre Bekämpfung, Zeit. für angew. Met., Jg. 56, pp. 273-289, 1939.

- BERG, H., Zur Aerologie der Okklusion, Beitr., z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 22, pp. 12-24, 1935.
- BEST, A. C. and L. Dods, Heavy rainfall at Malta, Feb. 19-20, 1938, Met. Mag., v. 73, 1938, p. 150-4.
- BöHMS, G., Analyse der Schwergewitter vom 9. September 1934 in der Schweiz, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 58-63, 1936.
- BRAZELL, J., The blizzard of Feb. 27-March 1, 1937, Met. Mag., v. 72, 1937, p. 36-38.
- BULL, G. A., Wave motion in the upper air, Met. Mag., v. 73, pp. 231-235, 1938.
- CHEKHOVICH, S. N., Synoptical conditions of the snowstorms on the railways of the Soviet Union during southern cyclonic in-vasion, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 9, рр. 10-32.
- DAMMANN, W., Ursachen und Verbreitung der Niederschläge vom 4. zum 5. August 1934 im studlichen und südöstlichen Bayern, M. Z., Bd. 52, pp. 140-182, 1935.
- DEUTSCHE Seewarte, Tagliche Wetterber-icht. Hamburg. [Issued daily, 8 pp., con-tains fullest tables of daily reports and upper air data for Europe and North Atlantic, with maps.]
- DIGHT, F., The gale of Jan. 12, 1930, Met. Mag., Feb. 1930, p. 1-6; Gale of Jan. 14-15, 1938, id., v. 73, 1938, p. 4-8.
- DINIES, E., Die Steuerung bei dem winter-lichen Wärmeeinbruch vom 24. bis 26. De-zember 1929, Ann. d. Hydrog., 1938, pp. 86-89.
- DINKELACKER, O., Beiträge zur Luftmas-senanalyse, M. Z., v. 55, pp. 12-18, 1938.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., Frost and snow in De-cember and January, Met. Mag., v. 74, no. 877, pp. 12-18, 1939.
- bollGLAS, C. K. M., Some notes on the April Anticyclone, Met. Mag., v. 73, 1938, p. 84-6.
 bOUGLAS, C. K. M., Thunderstorms . . . [various articles], Met. Mag., Oct. 1929, p. 213; Aug. 1929, p. 156; Oct. 1932, p. 210; April 1933, p. 53-60, 85-6; Sept. 1932, p. 186-190 (with E. L. Hawke); v. 73, 1938, p. 195-202 p. 195-202.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., The thunderstorms of August, 1938, Met. Mag., v. 73, pp. 195-202, 1938.
- DOUGLAS, OUGLAS, C. K. M., A thundery spell in July, 1939, and some previous thundery periods. Met. Mag., v. 74, pp. 193-199, 1939.
- DROZDOV, M. P., Conditions of the summer transformation on the air masses in the Moscow region, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 5, pp. 36-40.
- DUHM, Hans, über die Niederschläge während der Vb-Wetterlage vom 21-23. Oktober der Vb-Wetterlage vom 21-23. Oktobe 1935, Diss. Fr.-Wilhelms-Univ. Berlin, 1938.
- EKHART. E., Die grosse Külteeinbruch Ende Nov., 1930, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 53, pp. 161-202, 1938. [Very detailed analysis of cold wave crossing the Alps.]
- VJEN, S., über die Vertiefung von nen, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 165-172, 1936. EVJEN, von Zuklo-
- FABRIS, C., Contatti di masse d'aria e preci-pitazioni sulla regione Veneta, Atti del 13 Congr. Geogr. Italiano, 22 pp.
- FIRESAH, A. M., The distribution of wet-bulb potential temperature in four selected cupotential temperature in four selected cy-clones, QJRMS, v. 65, pp. 397-410, 1939.
- FOITZIK. L.. Die Untersuchung einesKaltlufteinbruches durch Serien-Aufstiege, M. Z., Bd. 57, pp. 115-120, 1940.

- GAIGEROV, S. S., Six tornadoes in Central Provinces of European part of USSR and their synoptical conditions, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1939, no. 5, pp. 44-54.
- HARTMANN, W. Kantzenbach, 'E. und Hänsch, F., Zur Aerologie des Kalthuftvors-tosses vom 14. bis 16 Oktober 1934, deutsch, Flugwetterdienstes, Erfahrungsberichte, Folge 9, Nr. 15, pp. 81-84, Feb., 1935.
- JONES, T. W., Gale of Oct. 18-20, 1935, Met. Mag., Nov. 1935, p. 225-8.
- KOCH, H.-G., Einfachanschnitte bei verschi-cdenen Wetterlagen, Beitr., z., Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 25, pp. 171-188, 1939.
- KOSCHMIEDER, H., Die Energic des Sturmes vom 27 Jan. 1932, Forschungsarbeiten des staatl. Obs., Danzig, 1935, Heft 5.
- KÜNNER, J., Vertikalschnitte durch F fronten, M. Z., v. 56, pp. 249-263, 1939. Kalt-
- KUPFER, E., Frontbildung durch ein "hohes" Steiggebiet, Ann. d. Hydrog., 1938, pp. 251-254.
- KUPFER, Egon, Die Zyklonenfamilie vom 12. bis 20. Mai 1935, MZ, Bd. 52, pp. 313-317, 1935.
- KURSANOVA ERVIE, A., Synoptical condi-tions of Föhns in Crimea, Moscow, Met. Hydro., 1939, no. 9, pp. 34-51 [in Russian].
- Le GALL, Les types de temps du sud ouest de la France, La Météorologie, v. 10, 1937, pp. 307-408.
- MACHT, H. G., Skaggerrak-Zyklonen, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 9, pp. 103-217, 1937.
- MÄRZ, Erhard. Das Aprilwetter und seine Schauerserien, Dissertation, Leipzig Univ., 1936, 68 pp.
- MIEGHEM, J. van., Analyse aérologique du Cyclone du 17-19 décembre 1936 sur l'Europe Occidentale, Belgium, Inst. Roy. Met., Occidentale, Belgium, Inst. Memoires, v. 10, 42 p., 1939.
- MEIGHEM, J. Van, Andlyse aerologique d'un front froid remarquable. Mém. Inst. Roy. Mét. de Belgique, v. 7, 1987. Crit. by Scher-hag, Ann. d. Hyd., 1939, pp. 130-1.
- MIEGHEM, J. Van, Sur PExistence de l'air tropical froid et de l'effet de foehn dans l'atmosphère libre, Mem. Inst. Royal Met. de Belgique, v. 12, 32 pp., 1939. MIRONOVITCH, V., and A. Viaut. Sur l'air tropical maritime instable, La Met., 1938,
- pp. 217-42.
- ONTANARI, D., Invasione di aria fredda sull'Italia settentrionale nei giorni 24 e 25 luglio 1939, Rivista di Met. aeronautica, anno 3, no. 3, pp. 14-25, 1939. MONTANARI,
- MEUMANN, E., Die Rolle der Zirkulations-leistung und der horizontalen Strömungsdi-vergenz bei der Westwetterlage vom. 14.-16. Februar 1935, Berlin, Reichsamt für Wetter-dienst, Wissensch. Abh., Bd. 4, Nr. 6, pp. 191, 192 1-21, 1938.
- POGOSJAN, K. P., The inversion of the subsidence in the conditions of the north-west of the Soviet Union, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 10, pp. 41-51.
- RODEWALD, M., Ein bemerkenswerter Föh-neinbruch in der freien Atmosphäre, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, h. 6, pp. 267-268.
- RODEWALD, M., Der Hamburger Dauerregen vom 7. November 1934, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 9, pp. 407-412.
- ODEWALD, M., Das norddeutsche Hoch-druck-Gewitter vom 19. August 1932, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, H. 4, pp. 143-152. RODEWALD,

- SCHERHAG, R., Die aerologischen Entwicklungsbedingungen zyklonaler Bora, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 6, pp. 286-289.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Entstehung der Vb-De-pressionen. Ann. der Hydrogr., Zweites Koppen-Heft, Sepr. 1936, pp. 66-74.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Entstehung des Kanal-Starmtiefs vom 23. Oktober 1937, Ann. d. Hydr., 1938, H. 2, pp. 83-85.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Entstehung des Nordsee-Orkantiefs vom 19. Oktober 1935, Ann. d. Hydr., 1936, h. 4, pp. 153-159.
- SCHERHAG, R., Ein Grenzfall atmosphäris-cher Steuerung: Die Bodenisobaren Steuern ein Höhentief, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 1, pp. 27-37.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die Kreis- und Schleifensteurung des europäischen Regengebiets vom 18. bis 22. Juni 1937 und die Entwicklungsbedingungen des dabei entstandenen Nord-seesturms, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 8, pp. 388-390.
- SCHERHAG, R., über due Niederschlagsbil-dung an Fronten: Der Frontalregen im Warmlufgebiet vom 3./4.. Januar 1932, Ann. der Hydrog., Bd. 43, h. 1, pp. 30-37, 1935
- SCHERHAG, R., Untersuchungen ausgewählter europäischer Zyklonen durch Serien-auf-stiege, Ann. der Hydrog., Apr. 1938, pp. 198-201.
- SCHERHAG, R., Die unvermittelte Entwick-lung der Vb-Depression vom 6./8. Juli 1929 im Gebiet starker Isothermenund Strömungsdivergenz, Beitr. z. Phys. d. Atm., Bd. 22, pp. 76-87, 1935.

6.

1934 and previous

- ASHBEL, D., Das Klima Palaestinas. A: Die Niederschlagsverhaltnisse im sudiche Liba-non, in Palaestina und in nordlichen Sinai. Berlin, 1930, 77 pp. (Bibliog; weather types, synoptic studies, cold waves into central Africa.)
- BANERJI. ANERJI, B. N., Meteorology of the Persian Gulf and Mekran, Calcutta, 1930.
- BASU, S. and Desai, E. N., A Discussion on the structure of the inner zone of some In-dian cyclones, Gerl. Beiträge z. Geophysik, Bd. 42, 1934, pp. 353-364.
- BASU, S., and S. K. Pramanik, A note on the rapid fluctuation of atmospheric pressure and the atmospheric instability at Peshawar during 1928-1929. India Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 5, no. 53, pp. 69-88, 1931.
- CHAO, Shu, Squalls and Gales observed at Tsing Hua Yuan, Peiping for the year 1932, Tsing Hua Univ. Met. Obsy., Quart. Met. Bull., Supplement, pp. 17-28, 1932. (In English)
- DEJORGIO, V., La tempête du 30 Mars, 1929, dans le bassin du Tések et de la Sounja, J. of Geophys., Moscow, v. 3, no. 3, pp. 326-338, 1933.
- DEJORGIO, V., Le verglas qui a lieu le 13-15 Dec. 1930 dans la région du chemin de fer à Krasnodar, J. of Geophys., Moscow, v. 3, no. 3, pp. 310-325, 1933.
- DESAI, B. and S. Mal, Vertical structure of the surface of discontinuity between conti-nental and monsoon air masses in the pre-monsoon period, Ger. Beitr. Geophys. v. 40, pp. 12 ff., 1933.
- HAUDE, W., Die Ausbreitung und Auswirkung von Kältewellen in den zentralen Wüsten-gebieten Asiens im Winterhalbjahr, Preuss.

SCHERHAG, R., Vereisung durch Luftmasse-numwandlung, (Wetterkizzen, Nr. 38), Ann. der Hydrogr., May 1938, pp. 257-259.

•

- SCHNEIDER, Adelin, Untersuchung der Käl-tewellen vom 12. bis 20. Mai 1935, Disserta-tion, Fr.-Wilhelms-Univ., Berlin, 1936, 31 pp.
- SCHRöDER, B., Untersuchungen über die Bil-dung einiger Mittelmeerdepressionen, Veröff. Marineobs. Willemshavn, N. F., Heft 6, 1936, 62 pp.
- SCHWERDTFEGER, W. und R. Schütze.
- SCHWERDTFEGER, W. und R. Schütze, Wetterflug in einem Wärmegewitter, Zeit. für angw. Met., Jg. 55, pp. 137-142, 1938.
 SEIFERT, G., Instabile Schichtungen der Atmosphäre und ihre Bedeutung für die Wetterentwicklung im Königsberger Gebiet, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 6 pp. 2922 270, 1925 Veroff. Geophys. Ins 6, pp. 223-379, 1935.
- SELLENSCHLO, H., Der Nordseeorkan vom 27. Oktober 1936, Ann. d. Hydr., 1939, H. 9, pp. 443-451.
- STURM, H., Kaltluftzirkulation auf der Rück-seite einer Zyklone, Ann. der Hydrogr., Aug. 1937, pp. 354-367.
- THOMAS, H., Lassen sich die grossen Nicderschlagsintensitäten an quasistationären Fron-ten im Sommer zahlenmässig durch ein-faches Aufgleiten erklären? M. Z., v. 54, pp. 164-169, 1937.
- TORBINA, N. V., Synoptical conditions of thunderstorms on the European territory of USSR, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1937, no. 2, pp. 3-25.
- TESE, W. J., The Novaya Zemlya bora, BAMS, v. 19, no. 9, 1938, p. 410. WIESE.

Asia

Met. Inst., Bericht über die Tätigkeit, 1930, pp. 67-81.

- HAUDE, W., Monsunbeobachtungen am Südos-trande der mongolischen Steppe im Juni und Juli 1927, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 17 pp. 22-39, 1931.
- LEE, J., A preliminary study on the appli-cation of polar front theory to the winter cyclones along the lower Yangtse Volley, China Nat Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, no. 2, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, no. 51 pp., 1930.
- LI, Sjan-zsi, Bemerkungen über den Einfluss der Wüste Taklamakan auf die Witterung in Tjarchlik, MZ, Bd. 51, pp. 296-301, 1934.
- LOEWE, F., Ergebnisse von Studienflügen nach und in Persien 1928. Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., v. 17, pp. 126-175, 1931.
- MAL, S., and B. N. Desai, A study of the structure of the Bay storm of November, 1926, India Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 4, no. 89. pp. 87-100, 1931.
- PETERS, S. P., Note on a cold front at Che-foo, N. China, May 15, 1928, QJRMS, v. 55, no. 229, pp. 86-88, 1929.
- PETERS, P., Some observations of upper air temperature in Iraq, Lond., Met. Off., Prof. Notes no. 59, 1930, 11 pp.
- RAMANATHAN, K. R., and H. C. Banerjee, A study of two pre-monsoon storms in the Bay of Bengal and a comparison of their structure with that of the Bay storms in the winter months, India Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 4, no., 34, pp. 35-47, 1931.
- RAMANATHAN, K. R., and K. P. Ramakrishnan, The Indian southwest monsoon and the structure of depressions associated with it, India Met. Dept., Memoirs, v. 26, pt. 2, pp. 13-36, 1933.

- ROY, S. C., and Mr. A. K. Roy, Structure and movement of cyclones in the Indian seas, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 16, pp. 224-234, 1930.
- SCHOSTAKOWITSCH, W. B., Die Bedeutung des Windes f
 ür das Klima Ost-Sibiriens, M. Z., Bd. 44, pp. 101-105, 1927.
- SEN, S. and G. Chatterjee, Himalayan mete-orology. In: H. Ruttledge, Everest, 1933.
- SOHONI, V. V., Temperature changes in Cal-cutta thunderstorms, India Met. Dept. Sci. Notes, v. 4, no. 33, 1931.
- SOHONI, V. V., Weather types associated with Nor'westers in Bengal, J. and Proc., Asiatic Society of Bengal, n. s., v. 28, no. 1, pp. 349-357, 1932.
- SUNG, S. W., The extratropical cyclones of eastern China and their characteristics, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, no. 3, 60 pp., 1931.
- SUR, N. K., On the physical characteristics of fronts during the Indian southwest monsoon, India Met. Dept., Memoirs, v. 26, pt. 3, pp. 37-50, 1933.
- VERYARD, R. G., A preliminary study of a tornado at Peshawar, India Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 5, no. 56, pp. 109-116, 1933.
 WALKER, G. T. and K. Rav, Rainfall types in India in the cold weather period Dec. 1 to March 15. Mem. India Met. Dept., v. 24, no. 11, p. 347-55, 1925.

1935 and later

- ASHBEL, D., Conditions of winds on western and southern shores of the Sea Galilee, Met. Mag., v. 71, 1936, p. 153-5. theSea of
- ASHBEL, D., Great floods in Sinai Peninsula, Palestine, Syria and the Syrian Desert, and the influence of the Red Sea on their forma-tion, OJRMS, v. 64, no. 277, pp. 635-639, tion, OJR Oct., 1938.
- BLEEKER, W., Meteorologisches zu den 3. hollandischen Karakoram- Exped. Proc. Kon. Akad. Wet., Amsterdam, v. 39, 1936, nos. 6-8, 27 pp. (Rev'd., Met. Mag., v. 72, pp. 109-112).
- BRUZON, E., La période du crachin sur les régions du golfe du Tankin. Ann. de Phys. du Globe, no. 17, pp. 129-133, 1936.
- DEJORGIO. W. A., and others, Weather types of Central Asia. J. Geophys., Moscow, v. 5, no. 2, pp. 200-220, 1935.
- DESAI, B. N., and S. Mal, A discussion of some aeroplane ascents at Drigh Road (Ka-rachi) on days of duststorms. thunderstorms and dust raising winds, India Met. Dept., S'i. Notes. v. 8, no. 87, pp. 31-45, 1940.
- FOCHLER-HAUKE, G., Monsune. Depressio-nen und Taifune Sudchinas. Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 61, 1935, pp. 233-244.
- DESAI, B. N., and S. Mal, Thundersqualls of Bengal, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 53, pp. 285-304, 1938.
- FUTI. H., On dust-storms in China and Man-choukuo, J. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 17. no. 12, pp. 473-486, 1939. [Abst. in English, pp. 45-46.]
- FUTI, H., and others, On the structure of an extratropical cyclone in the Far East. J. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 17, pp. 343-355 (Sum-mary in Eng. p. (33)), 1939.
- GOLMAN, S., Synoptical conditions of south cyclone inrush into the territory of Kazakh-stan and West Siberia during the summer half year. Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1939, no. 1, pp. 36-46.

- HAUDE. W., Neue Forschungen in Mittelasien und Tibet: Die meteorologische Arbeiten, Pet. Mitteil., v. 81, pp. 288-289, 1935.
- HSU, G., The drought and flood of Lhasa, (abstract in English), Met. Mag. (China), v. 13, No. 1, p. 24, Jan., 1937. [monsoon crossing Tibet] (See also Lu, QJRMS, v. 65, 1939, p. 297).
- JAROSLOVTZEV, J. M., Some peculiarities of synoptical analysis in Middle Asia, Mos-cow, Met. Hydrol., 1939, No. 6, p. 26. KURGANSKAJA, Y. M., Synoptic conditions of snow storms on the railroad of Western Siberia. Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1936, no. 1, no. 4150 pp. 41-50.
- LI, S. Z., Die Typen ostasiatische Kältenwel-len, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 48, pp. 188-192, 1936. (Die Kalteeinbruche in Ostasien, Diss. Berlin, Ohlau, 79, pp. 1935).
- LU, A., The cold waves of China, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, no. 10, pp. 6-33, 1937.
- U. A., The spring thunderstorms of the Szechwan Basin, (Abstract in Eng.), Met, Mag. (China), v. 14, no. 5, pp. 219-220, Dec., 1938. LU. A.,
- LU. A. and Hsu, C. M., The rainfall distribution of the summer cyclones of eastern China (Abstract in English). Met. Mag. (China), v. 12, no. 8, p. 397, Aug., 1936.
- MAL, S., and B. N. Desai, The mechanism of thundery conditions at Karachi, QJRMS, v. 64. pp. 525-537, 1938.
- MALIK, S. A., Masking of fronts in Cauca-sus, Moscow, Met. Hydrol., 1939, No. 6, p. 34.
- OCKENDEN, C. V.. High altitude rilot bal-loon ascents at Habbaniya, Iraq, QJRMS, v. 65, 1939. p. 551-3.
- PRAMANIK, S. K., Forecasting of nor westers in Bengal, Proc. Nat. Inst. of Sci. of India, v. 5, no. 1, pp. 93-100, 1939.
- OMA. S. On the development of cyclones in the neighborhood of Janon. J. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 17. np. 356-366 [Summary in Eng. p. (33)], 1939. OOMA, S.,
- KRISHNA RAO, P. R., Squalls at Karachi. India Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 7, no. 75, pp. 75-101, 1938.
- RODEWALD, M., Batumer Starkregen, Ann. d. Hydr., 1937, H. 9, p. 433.
- RODEWALD, M., Benerkungen zu: Karl Wien, Die Wetterverh"Itnisse am Nanga Parbat während der Katrstrophe auf der deutschen Himalian-Ermedition 1934, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 182-186, 1986.
- SEENIVASAIAH, B. N., and N. K. Sur. study of the duststorms of Agra. India Met. Dept., Memoirs. v. 27. pt. 1, 29 pp., 1939. Comment by Veryard, Met. Mag., June, 1938, p. 112-6.
- SUR, N. K., The distribution of temperature in the upper levels of a depression origin-ating in the Bay of Bengrd during the In-dirn southwest monsoon, India Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 6, no. 62, pp. 53 56, 1985.
- N. K., The thermal structure SUR. unper air over a denression during the In-dian south-west monsoon. India Met. Dent., Sci. Notes, v. 6, no. 65, pp. 113-120, 1935.
- TAKAHASI, K., and H. Sakata, On some methods predicting the path and velocity of a turboon. J. Met. Soc. Japan. v 17, pp. np. 422-425 [summary in Eng. p. (42)], 1939.
- TU. C.-W.. A note on the constitution of ty-phoons, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 117-119, 1939.

VENKITESHWARAN, S. P., Rainfall due to winter disturbances and the associated upper air temperatures over Agra, Proc. Nat. Inst. of Sci. of India, v. 5, no. 1, pp. 117-122, 1939.

7. Africa (North of the Equator)

- BROOKS, C. E. P. and Durst, C. S., The Cir-culation of air by day and night during the south-west monsoon near Berbera, Soma-liland, QJRMS, v. 61, no. 259, pp. 167-177, April, 1935. (see also: Prof. Notes, Met. Off. Lond., No. 65, 1934).
- DAKING, C. W. G., The Meteorology of Ka-maran Island (Red Sea), QJRMS, v. 58, no. 247, pp. 441-447, 1932.
- DURWARD, J., Microbarograph oscillations, Met. Mag., May 1934, p. 45-8.
- DURWARD, J., Pressure, temperature and wind variations at Heliopolis, Egypt, asso-ciated with the warm and cold sectors of a depression, Met. Mag., v. 63, April, 1928, 57-61.
- DURWARD, J., Upper winds at Wadi Halja (Sudan), Met. Off. Lond. Prof. Notes, no. 72, 1936, 12 pp.
- DURWARD, J., Weather changes on the West African air route, Met. Mag., Nov., 1936, pp. 227-229.
- ELFANDY, M. G., The formation of depres-sions of the Khamsin type. QJRMS, v. 66, pp. 323-335, 1940.
- FAILLETTAZ, R., La radiation solaire et le trouble atmosphérique à Tamanrasset (Hog-gar), Thèse, Univ. Paris, 1937.; also Mém. Off. Nat. Mét. de France, no. 26, 1938, 75 pp. (radiosoundings and upper winds).
- FARQUHARSON, J. S., The diurnal variation of wind over tropical Africa, QJRMS, v. 65, no. 280, pp. 165-184, 1939.
- FLOWER, W. D., An analysis of the cold front over Egypt on March 7, 1929, QJRMS, v. 57, no. 240, pp. 275-287, 1931.
- FLOWER, W. D., A note on the influx of cold air into Egypt and N. Sudan 18-23 April 1930, QJRMS, v. 66, 1940, p. 216-222.
- FLOWER, LOWER, W. D., Minor haboob at Ismaila, Egypt, Met. Mag., v. 71, 1936, pp. 111-114.
- FLOWER, W. D., Temperature and relative humidity in the atmosphere over lower Egypt, Met. Off. Lond. Prof. Notes, no. 75, 11 pp. (bibliog.)
- FOISSY, A., and others, *Études Mét. sur l'A-frique Occidental Francaise*, Pub. du comité d'études historiques et scientifiques de l'Afri-

METEOROLOGY OF THE FRICTION LAYER H.

1.

- AKERBLOM, F., Sur les courants plus bas dans l'atmosphere, Nova Acta Reg. Soc. Sc. Upsal, Serie 4. v. 2, No. 2, 1998. (See also Exner, Ann. d. Hyd., 1912, p. 226-239.)
- LI, B., The wind at Agra and its structu Mem. India Met. Dept., v. 25, pt. 6, 1930. The wind at Agra and its structure, ALI,
- BAMFORD, A. J., Vertical air currents as measured by pilot balloons, QJRMS, v. 55, no. 232, pp. 363-384, 1929.
- BECKER, R., Untersuchungen über die Fein-struktur des Windes, M. Z., Bd. 47, 1930, pp. 183-184.
- EST, A. C., Transfer of heat and momentum in the lowest layers of the atmosphere, Lon-don, Met. Office, Geophys, Memoirs, no. 65 (v. 7), pp. 5-66, 1935. BEST.

YAO, C.-S., The stationary cold fronts of central China and the wave-disturbances developed over the lake-basin, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoir, v. 13, no. 1, 17 pp., maps, 1939. In German: Das Wetter 1939, p. 213-8.

rue Occidental Française, Serie B, no. 3 1937, 93 p.

- FROLOV, S., Les variations de la pression en A. O. F. en mai 1934, Annal. du Phys. du Globe, no. 14, pp. 45-50 and pp. 57-58, 1936.
- HUBERT, H., Les Masses d'Air Ouest Afri-caine, Annal. de Phys. du Globe, no. 26, pp. 33-64 [valuable paper.]
- HYS, [on west African meteorology], Annal. de Phys. du Globe, no. 15, pp. 65-68. de
- HUBERT, H., Nouvelles Études de la Météoro-logie de l'Afrique Occidentale Francaise. Paris, 1926, 198 pp.; Nouvelles Récherches sur les Grains Orageux et les Pliues en Afrique Occidentale, Paris, 1922, 42 pp.
- HUBERT, H., Origine africaine d'un cyclone tropical atlantique [New England Hurri-cane], Annales de Physique du Globe de France d'Outre-Mer, no. 34, pp. 97-116, 1939.
- UBERT, H., Sur l'allure des surfaces de dis-continuité dans le cas de fronts froids en afrique occidentale francais, Procès Ver-baux des Séances de la Sect. de Mét., 4th Assembly Int. Union Geod. and Geophys., Stockholm, Fasc. 2, p. 152, Paris, 1933. HUBERT.
- INT. MET. ORGANIZATION, Secretariat, Regional Commission No. I Africa, Minutes of the first meeting Lusaka, Aug. 1936. Publ. No. 32, Secret. IMO, Utrecht, 1937, 126 pp.
- JURY, A., et G. Dédébant, Les types de temps au Maroc, France, Office Nat. Met., Mem-orial, no. 13, 44 pp., 1925.
- MORSELLINO, N. A., L'evoluzione del tem-po nell'Africa Orientale Italiana, Rivista di Meteorologia aeronautica, An. 3, pp. 12-28, 1939.
- PETITJEAN, L., La frontologie en Afrique du Nord. Beitr. z. Phys. d. Atm., Bd. 19, pp. 163-172, 1932.
- PICQ, [On upper air at Djibouti] Annal. de Phys. du Globe, no. 16, pp. 100-101, 109-111.
- REGULA, H., Druckschwankungen und Torna-does an der Westkuste von Afrika, Ann. d. Hydrog., v. 64, pp. 107-111, 1936.
- WALTER, A., Annual Report, British East Africa Met. Service, 1938, 40 p.

Turbulence

- BOSSOLASCO, M., Sulla struttura del vento al suolo nella regione di Mogadiscio, Publ. no. 14, Particip. Ital. all'Anno Polare In-tern. 1932-3, Staz. Geofis. di Mogadiscio. Torino, 1936, 17 pp. (bibliog.) (also see Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 23, 1935, pp. 16-23.)
- BÜTTNER, K., Die Wärmeübertragung durch Leitung und Konvektion, Verdunstung und Strahlung in Bioklimatologie und Meteorolo-gie, Veröff. Pr. Meteor. Inst., Abh. v. 10, No. 5, Berlin, 1934.
- CORWIN, E. F., The tail method of obtaining data on winds aloft, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 184-189, 1940.

- DURST, C. S., Notes on the variations in the structure of wind over different surfaces, QJRMS, v. 59, no. 252, p. 361, Oct., 1933.
- DURWARD, J., Bumpiness on the Cairo-Basra air route, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes, no. 52 (v. 4), pp. 2-6, 1929.
- ERDERÜGGER, W., et al. Untersuchung ther-mischer Vertikalbegungen über der Ebene mittels Segelfugzeug, Beitr. z. Phys. der fr. At., Bd. 21, pp. 169-192, 1934.
- FÉRIET, J. K. de: La turbulence du vent dans les couches inférieurs de l'atmosphère, Lou-vain, Rév. de Quest. Sci., v. 27, 1935, pp. vain, Rév. 18-58, bibliog.
- GEIGER, R., Miroklimatologische Beschreibung der Wärmeschichtung am Boden, M. Z., Oct. 1936, pp. 357-360; ibid. Apr. 1937, pp. 133-1936, pp. 357-360; ibid. Apr. 1937, 138; ibid. Aug. 1937, pp. 278-284.
- GIBLETT, M. A., The structure of wind over level country, London, Met. Office, Geophys. Memoirs, no. 54 (v. 6), pp. 7-119, 1932.
- HAUDE, W., Temperatur und Austausch der bodennahen Luft über einer Wüste, Beitrage z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 21, pp. 129-142, 1934.
- HAURWITZ, B., Rossby on turbulent motion in the atmosphere, BAMS, v. 18, pp. 142-4, 1937
- HELLMANN, G., Uber die Bewegung der Luft in den untersten Schichten der Atmosphare, (4 papers), Sitz. Ber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss., 1915, 1917, 1919; MZ, v. 32, 1915, p. 1.
- HEYWOOD, G. S. P., Wind structure near the ground and its relation to temperature gra-dient, QJRMS, v. 57, no. 242, pp. 433-455, 1931.
- HöHNDORF, F., Die Luftströmung in der oberrheinischen Tiefebene bei westlichen Winden, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 14, pp. 198-214, 1928. (other similar papers by Höhndorf appear in later volumes of this icoverel) journal.)
- HöHNDORF, F., und R. Marquardt, Ther-mische Vertikalbewegungen nach Schwebelmische Vertikalbewegungen nach Schwebel-balloon-Vermessungen, Beiträge z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 21, pp. 147-168, 1934.
- IDRAC, P., Étude sur les conditions d'ascen-dance du vent favorable au vol à voile, France, Office Nat. Mét., Mémorial no. 7, France, Offic 33 pp., 1923.
- KIDSON, C. I., Model experiments on the site of Rongotai Aerodrome, Roy. Aero. Soc., J., v. 42, pp. 165-172, 1938.
- KIDSON, E., and Treloar, The rate of ascent of pilot balloons at Melbourne, QJRMS, 1929, pp. 153-168.
- KUETHE, A. M., Some features of atmos-pheric turbulence and the passage of fronts, Daniel Guggenheim Airship Institute, Pub.
- Daniel Guggenheim Airship Institute, Pub.
 No. 2, 1935, pp. 71-79; further report, id.
 Publ. No. 3, 1935, pp. 117-124.
 ETTAU, H., Weiterführung der Freiballon-Untersuchungen über effektiven Vertikal-austausch und Luftmassen- Alterung mit Anwendung auf die Frage der Land-Verdun-stung, M. Z., Nov. 1937, pp. 406-412.
 ASS. W. Nersen Unterstanden 2014. LETTAU,
- MAAS, W., Neuere Untersuchungen über die gleitende Reibung an der Erdoberfläche, Dis-sertation, Leipzig, Univ., 1935, 33 pp.
- MORGANS, W. R., Relation between ground contours, atmospheric turbulence, wind sneed and direction, Research Mem., no. 1456, Aeron. Res. Comm., London, 1932. wind
- MÜLLER, F., Störung der Windströmung und
- ULLER, F., Storing der Windstromung und des Austausches über einem Gebaüde, Zeit-schr. Geophys., Bd. 12, pp. 173 ff., 1936.
 AESCHKE, W., Experimentelle Untersuchun-gen zum Rauhigkeits-und Stabilitätsproblem in der bodennahen Luftschicht, Beitr. z. PAESCHKE. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 24, pp. 163-189, 1938.

- REGULA, H., Geschwindigkeitsverteilung in Warm- und Kaltluftströmungen über See, Ann. d. Hydr., 1939, H. 6, pp. 310-314. THE RELATION of bumpiness to lapse of temperature at El Khanta, near Cairo from July 27th to Avenust 2nd 1930 Lorder Met
- July 27th to August 3rd, 1920, London, Met. Office, Prof. Notes no. 20, pp. 118-121, 1921.
- RICHARDSON, L. F., Atmopheric diffusion shown on a distance-neighbor graph, Roy. Soc., Proc., v. 110, pp. 709-737, 1926.
- RICHARDSON, L. F., Some measurements of atmospheric turbulence, Phil. Trans. of the Roy. Soc., London, Ser. A, v. 221, 1920.
- Roy. Soc., London, Ser. A, v. 221, 1920.
 ROSSBY, C.-G., A generalization of the theory of the mixing length with applications to atmospheric and oceanic turbulence, Mass. Inst. of Tech., and Woods Hole Oceanographic Inst., Papers in Met. and Phys. Oceanogr., v. 1, no. 4, 36 p., 1932.
 ROSSBY, C.-G., The vertical distribution of atmospheric eddy energy M. W. R., v. 54, no. 8, 1926, pp. 321-332.
 ROSSEV, C. & P. B. Montgoman. The Society of the section of the secti
- ROSSBY, C.-G., & R. R. Montgomery, The layer of frictional influence in wind and ocean currents, N. I. T., & Woods Hole Oceanogr. Inst., Papers in Meteorology and Phys. Oceanogr., V. 3, No. 3, 1935.
- SCHELL, I. I., On the vertical distribution of wind velocity over mountain BAMS, v. 17, pp. 295-300, 1936. inountain summits,
- SCHMIDT, W., Der Massenaustausch in freier Luft und verwandte Erscheinungen, Ham-burg, 1925.
- SCHMIDT, W., Die Struktur des Windes, Sitz.-Ber. d. Akad. d. Wiss. Wien, Bd. 138, pp. 85 ff., 1929.
- SCHMIDT, W., Strömungsforschung in freier Luft, M. Z., Bd. 46, 1929, pp. 495-504.
- SCHMIDT, W., Turbulence near the ground, London. R. Aero. Soc., J., v. 39, pp. 355-368, 1935.
- SEILKOPF, H., Mittelräumige atmosphärische Strömungstypen, Ann. d. Hydr., Zweites Köppen-Heft, Beiheft zur September-Num-mer 1936, pp. 79-87.
- SHERLOCK, R. H., and M. B. Stout, Wind structure in winter storms, J. Aero. Sci., v. 5, pp. 53-61, 1937.
- SUTCLIFFE, R. C., Surface resistance in at-mospheric flow, QJRMS, v. 62, no. 263, pp. 3-14, 1936.
- SVERDRUP, H. U., The eddy conductivity of the air over a smooth snow field, Geofys, Pub., v. 11, no. 7, pp. 5-69, 1936. (See also "Sverdrup," ref. under Sect. C, above.)
- TAIT, G. W. C., Diurnal pressure differences in regions of high pressure, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 39-43, 1940.
- TAYLOR, G. I., Meteorological section in: Ice observation, meteorology, and oceanography, Report on the work carried out by the "S. S. Scotia" 1913, London, 1914, pp. 48-68.
- TAYLOR, G. I., Skin friction of the wind on the earth's surface, Proc. Roy. Soc., A, v. 92, no. A637, 1916.
- THOMPSON, F. L., and others, Air condi-tions close to the ground and the effect on airplane landings, U. S. National Advisory Com. for Aero., 20th Ann. Rep., No. 489, pp. 271-283, 1934.
- ULANOV. H., The change of the velocity of wind with height above the sea. Bull. Acad. Sci. URSS, Cl. Math. Nat., Ser. Geogr.-Geophys., v. 1939, no. 3, p. 313-4.
- WAGNER. A., Über die Tageswinde in der freien Atmosphäre, Beitr. zur Phys. fr. At., v. 25, pp. 145-170, 1938. [Data from U. S.]

2. Surface Temperature Influences

- ALBRECHT, F., Über den Zusamenhang zwi-schen taglichen Temperaturgang und Strah-lungshaushalt, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 25, pp. 1-12.
- ANGSTROM, A., The albedo of various sur-faces of ground, Geog. Ann., 1925, h. 4, p. 323 ff.
- BLANC, LANC, M. et al, Papers on Fruit-frost studies in Florida, BAMS, v. 21, 1940, pp. 65-70.
- BROOKS, C. F., Oceanography and Meteor-ology, Ch. 14, pp. 457-519, with bibl., in Physics of the Earth-V. Oceanography. Nat. Res. Counc., Washington, 1932.
- FALCKENBERG, G. und E. Stoecker, Boden-inversion und atmosphärische Energieleitung durch Strahlung, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 13, p. 246 ff., 1927.
- FITTON, E. M., and C. F. Brooks, Soil tem-peratures in the United States, M. W. R.,
- y. 59, pp. 6-16, 1931. GEORGE, J. J., On the distortion of stream fields by small heat sources, M. W. R., v. 68, pp. 63-66, 1940.
- HERR. L., Bodentemperaturen unter besonderer Berückichtigung der äusseren meteorologischen Faktoren, Berlin, 1936, 63 pp. (Diss. Leipzig, 1936.)
- JOHNSON, N. K., and E. L. Davies, Some measurements of temperatures near the sur-face in various kinds of soils, QJRMS, v. 53, no. 221, pp. 45-58, 1927.
- KERÄNEN, J., Wärme und Temperaturverhalt-RERANER, J., Warme and Temperature ender nisse d. Obersten Bodenschichtung, in Nip-poldt et al, Einfuhrung in die Geophysik, Bd. 2, Berlin, 1929, 388 pp.
 KRüGLER, J. Nächtliche Wärmehaushaltsmes-sungen an der Oberfläche einer grasbewach-

3. Mountain Meteorology

- ARAKAWA, H., The effect of topography on the direction and velocity of wind, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 5, no. 1, pp. 63-68; v. 7, no. 1, pp. 9-18, 1932, 1933; v. 11, p. 488-91; also Futi, v. 11, No. 11, p. 492-5.
- ARAKAWA, H., On the influence of topo-graphy on the microbarometric oscillations, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 5, no. 3, pp. 223-236, 1932.
- BALDIT, A., Meteorologie du Relief Terrestre, Paris, Gauthier-V., 1929.
- BALDIT, A., Les perturbations dues au relief terrestre et l'aviation, La Météorologie, terrestre et l'aviation, La M juin, 1935, no. 123, pp. 267-312. Météorologie,
- BAUMANN, G., Strömungseinfluss des mittel-deutschen Gebirgsrandes und seine Bedeu-tung für die Flugmeteorologie dieses Geb-ietes, Aus d. Arch. d. Deutsch. Seewarte, Bd. 49, Nr. 9, 48 pp., 1931.
- BRUECKMANN, W. Beispiele der Gestalt des Stromfeldes der Luft in der Schweiz, Ann. d. Schweiz. Met. Anstalt, Anhang No. 1b, 1928, 5 p.
- BÜDEL, A., Zugspitze bahn Versuche, Pt. 1 in Deut. Met. Jahrbuch Bayern, 1929, Pt. 2, 1930, Pt. 3, 1931. [remarkable study of aerology of a large-mountain slope].
- BURGER, A., and E. Ekhart, über die Tagliche Zirkulation der Atmosphäre in Bereiche der Alpen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 49, pp. 341-367, 1937.
- CHURCH, P. E., A zone of stagnation be-tween gorge and gradient wind in British Columbia fjords, BAMS, Oct. 1938, pp. 344-5.

- senen Ebene, Wiss. Abh. d. RfW, Bd. 3, p. 10, Berlin, 1937.
- NIEDERDORFER, Messungen des Wärmeumsatzes über schneebedecktem Boden, MZ, Bd. 50, pp. 201, ff, 1933.
- RAMAN, P. K., The measurement of the transmission of heat by convection from insolated ground to the atmosphere, Proc. Indian Acad. Sci., v. 3, no. 2, pp. 98-106, 1936.
- 1936.
 ROBITZSCH, M., Ground surface temperature as dependent on insolation and as control-ling diurnal temperature unrest and gusti-ness, M. W. R., v. 51, pp. 406-407, 1923.
 'SCHUBERT, J., Grundlagen der allgemeinen und forstlichen Klimakunde. I., Die Son-nenstrahlung und der Wörmeumsatz an der Bedenoberfläche. II. Die Bodenwarme, Zeit. Forst.--und Jagdw., Berlin, Bd. 62, pp. 689-705, 1930; Bd. 64, pp. 715-734, 1932.
 SCHUBERT, J. Das Verhalten des Bodens
- SCHUBERT, J., Das Verhalten des Bodens gegen Wärme, in Blanck, Handbuch der Bo-denlehre, Bd. 6, pp. 342-375, Berlin, 1930.
- SLOCUM, G., The nomal temperature distribu-tion of the surface water of the western North Atlantic Ocean, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 39-43, 1938.
- TAKAHASI, Y., Sea currents and weather in Japan, J. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 18, no. 5, pp. 149 [Eng. Abstract on page (17)], 1940.
- THORNTHWAITE, C. W., and B. Holzman, The determination of evaporation from land and water surfaces, M. W. R., v. 67, pp. 4-10, 1939.
- WEIGHTMAN, R. H., Snow cover in southern Canada as related to temperatures in the North Atlantic States and the Lake Region, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 383-386, 1931.
- COULTER, J. W., Meteorological reports of the Mauna Kea Expedition, 1935 (Part 1): The mean temperature on Mauna Kea and in the free air, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 349-351, 1938.
- CROSSLEY, A. F., Note on the variation of pressure accompanying a distortion of air flow, QJRMS, v. 64, no. 276, pp. 477-481, July, 1938.
- Dúby, 1985.
 DéDÉBANT, G., A. Baldit, J. Gilbert. La campagne aerologique 1935 à Banne d'Ordanche, La Météorologie, v. 12, pp. 111-144, 1986.
 DEFANT, A., Die Windverhältnisse im Gebiete der ehemaligen öesterr.-Ungar. Monarchie, Jahrb. Zentr.-Aust. Met. Geodyn., Anhang 1920. Vienna, 1924.
 WUADT F. Neurose Unterschungen ein
- EKHART, E., Neuere Untersuchungen zur Aerologie der Talwinde: Die periodischen Tageswinde in einem Quertale der Alpen, Beiträge z. Phys. d. fr. Atmos., Ed. 21, pp.
- Tageswinde in einem Gueriale der Acpen, Beiträge z. Phys. d. fr. Atmos., Ed. 21, pp. 245-268, 1934.
 EREDIA, F., Di una singolarita aerologica della costa tirrenica della Calabria, La Met. Prat., Ann. 17, no. 2, pp. 49-57.
- ERTEL, H., Turbulenz und Druckerniedrigung auf Bergstationen, MZ, Bd. 49, pp. 199 ff, 306 ff., 1932.
- FERGUSSON, S. P., The value of high-level data in forecasting changes of temperature— A contribution to the meteorology of Mount Rose, Nevada, Nevada Univ, Tech. Bull. Rose, Nevada, 83, 1915, 30 pp.
- FERGUSSON. S. P., Aerological Mount Washington, Trans. Am Union, 1934, pt. 1, pp. 114-117. Aerological studies on Amer. Geophys.

- FÉRIET, J. de, Atmosphärische Strömungen; Wolkenstudien nach Kinoaufnahmen im Hochgebirge (Jungfrau und Matterhorn), MZ, Bd. 53, pp. 277-ff, 1936.
- FICKER, H. von, Bermerkungen über den Verlauf von Stromlinien im Gebirge, Veröff. d. Preuss. Met. Inst., Berlin, no. 327, pp. 31-46, 1925.
- FICKER, H. von, Der Einfluss der Alpen auf Fallgebiete des Luftdruckes, M. Z., Bd. 37, pp. 350-363, 1920. (Abstr. MWR, 1921, p. 510.)
- FICKER, H. von, Der Vorstoss kalter Luftmassen nach Teneriffa, Berlin, Preuss. Met. Inst., Abhandlungen, Bd. 8, no. 5, pp. 3-34, 1926.
- FIELD, J. H., and R. Warden, A survey of the air currents in the Bay of Gibraltar, 1929-30, London, Met. Office, Geophys. Mem., no. 59 (v. 7), pp. 3-30, 1933.
- GEORGII, W., Die Luftströmung über Gebirgen, M. Z., Bd. 40, pp. 108-112, 1923.
- gen, M. Z., Bu. 49, pp. rooten, respectively, and the second seco
- HESSELBERG, Th., anf H. V. Sverdrup, über den Einfluss der Gebirge auf die Laftbewegung längs der Erdoberfläche, Veröff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, 2nd Ser., Bd. 1, H. 4, pp. 101-116, 1914.
- HOFFROGGE. Chr., Experimentelle Untersuchungen der bodennahen Luftströmungen am Hang und in ebenen Gelünde, Zeit. f. Geophysik., Jg. 15, h. 3-4, pp. 184-213, 1939.
- JELINEK, A., Untersuchung periodischer Tageswinde in Südtirol, Beiträge z. Phys. d. fr. Atmos., Bd. 21, pp. 223-244, 1934.
- KOCHANSKI, A., Notice concernant les courants accendants observés sur le terrain du vol à voile de Bezmiechowa, Lwów, Geophys. Inst. Univ., Komunikaty, Tom 6, nr. 69, pp. 81-119, 1933.
- KOCHANSKI, A., Vols à voile nocturnes à Bezmiechowa, Lwów, Geophys. Inst. Univ., Komunikaty, Tom S, nr. 97, pp. 77-113, 1936.
- KÜTTNER, J., Moazagotl und Föhnwelle, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 25, H. 2, pp. 79-115, 1938.
- KÜTTNER, Joachim, Zur Entsteheung der Föhnwelle: Untersuchung auf Grund von

4. Micro-Aerological Analysis and Microclimatology

- BROOKS, F. A., Engineering factors involved in orchard heating, Mech. Eng., Sept., 1938, pp. 677-681. [inversions and radiation.]
- CHURCH, P. E., Surface details of a warm front in the Strait of Juan de Fuca, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 400-402, 1938.
- CORNFORD, C. E., Katabatic winds and the prevention of frost damage, QJRMS, v. 64, no. 277, pp. 553-592, Oct., 1938.
- DYKE, R. A., Nocturnal temperature inversions near the Gulf Coast, M. W. R., v. 57, pp. 500-502, 1929.
- FLOWER, W. D., An investigation into the variation of the lapse rate of temperature in the atmosphere near the ground at Ismaiika, Egypt, London, Met. Office, Geophys. Memoirs, no. 71 (v. 8), pp. 5-87, 1937.
- FRANSSILA, M., Mikroklimatische Untersuchungen des Wärmehaushaltes, Helsinki, Mitt. d. Met. Zentralanstalt, No. 20, 1936.

Wellensegelflügen und Beobachtungen an der Moazagotl-Wolke, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 25, pp. 251-299, 1939.

- LANGE, K. O., Über Windströmungen an Hügelhindernissen, Rhön-Rossitten-Gesellschaft e. V., Forschungs-Inst., Veröff., no. 4, C. Abh., 1931, 29 pp.
- LEE, J., Dynamical effect of eastern Chinese coastal winds and its influence upon the temperature, China, Nat. Res. Inst. Met., Memoirs, v. 12, no. 1, 45 pp., 1938.
- RAINER, C. T., Meteorological reports of the Mauna Kea Expedition, 1935 (Part 2): Meteorological observations at Lake Waiau, Aug. 8-19, 1935, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 97-103, 1939
- REINHARDT, H., Ein Beitrag zum Problem der hohen Hinderniswolken, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. At., Bd. 26, H. 1, pp. 23-37, 1939.
- ROSCHKOTT, A., Der Wind auf Berggipfeln und in der freien Atmosphäre: Verallgemeinerte Windrosen für die freie Atmosphäre, M. Z., Bd. 51, pp. 374-377, 1934.
- SCHELL, I. I., Differences between temperatures, humidities, and winds on the White Mountains and in the free air, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1934, pt. 1, pp. 118-124.
- SCHELL, I. I., Free-air temperatures from observations on mountain peaks with application to Mt. Washington, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1935, pt. 1, pp. 126-141.
- SCHMAUSS, A., Verhalten der relativen Feuchtigkeit auf der Zugspitze, Deut. Met. Jahrbuch Bayern Appd. C, pp. 5-19, 1933.
- SEILKOPF, H., Meteorologische Flugerfahrungen im nordwestlichen Deutschland, Ann. d. Hyd., 1926, pp. 75-84, 1927, April no. (cont.).
- STONE, R. G., The history of mountain meteorology in the United States and the Mount Washington Observatory, Trans. Amer. Geophys. Union, 1934, pp. 124-133. [with extensive bibliography.]
- TAYLOR, G. F., The influence of topography on weather forecasting at Salt Lake City, Utah, J. Aero. Sci. Nov., 1939, pp. 18-21.
- WAGNER, A., Neue Theorie des Berg- und Talwindes, MZ, Bd. 49, pp. 329-341, 1932. (bibliog.)
- WAGNER, A., Der tögliche Luftdruck- und Temperaturgang in der freien Atmosphäre und in Gebirgstüllern, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys, Bd. 37, pp. 315-344, 1932.
- FRITZCHE, G., und R. Stange, Vertikaler Temperaturverlauf über einer Grosstadt, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Ed. 23, pp. 95-110, 1936.
- GEIGER, R., Beispiel eines Luftkörperkampfes in seiner Abhängigkeit von der Geländegestaltung. Beit. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 16, H. 1, pp. 57-75, 1929.
- GEIGER, R., Das Klima der bodennahen Luftschicht. Braunschweig, 1927. [bibliog.]
 (Later treatise in Köppen-Geiger "Handbuch der Klimatologie," v. I, Teil D, 1930, 47 pp.)
- GEIGER, R., über einen lokalen Kälteeinbruch in München und seine Ursachen, Deut. Met. Jahrbuch Bayern. App. B, 4 p., 1933.
- GEIGER, R., M. Woelfle, and L. Ph. Seip, Höhenlage und Spätfrostgefährdung, (I-VII Mitt.), Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt, H. 17, 1933, pp. 579-592, H. 21, 1933, pp. 737-746, H. 5, 1934, pp. 141-151, H. 7, 1934,

pp. 221-230, H. 8, 1934, pp. 253-260, H. 11, 1934, pp. 357-364, H. 14, 1934, pp. 465-484.

GRUNOW, J., Der Luftaustausch in der Grosstadt, Zeit. d. Ver. deut. Ingenieure, Bd. 80, pp. 70-72, 1936.

- HALES, W. B., Canyon winds of the Wasatch Mtns., BAMS, v. 14, pp. 194-5.
- HAURWITZ, B., Microbarometric oscillations at Blue Hill: Fart 1—Waves of pressure and wind at the top of a ground inversion, BAMS, v. 16, pp. 153-157, 1935.
- JOHNSON, N. K., A study of the vertical gradient of temperature in the atmosphere near the ground, London, Met. Office, Geo-phys. Memoirs, (v. 5.) no. 46, pp. 3-30, 1929.
- KOCH, H. G., über Temperatur und Austausch innerhalb der Bodeninversion, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 49, pp. 407-26, 1937. Gerl. Beitr.
- KOCH, H. G., Zur Mikroaerologie eines grös-seren Waldsees Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 44, pp. 112-126, 1935.
- KOROTKEWITSCH, V. N., Eine übersich der das Mikroklima umfassenden Arbeiten, U. S. bas Matriomina and assenter Hydro-Met. Serv-ice, Central Office of the Hydro-Met. Serv-ice, Central Geophys. Obsy., Trans. Fasc. 6, pp. 3-46, Leningrad, 1936. (In Russian, with summary in German). (An exhaustive review; bibliog.)
- KOSCHMIEDER, H., Nachweis und Beschrei-bung sowie Beiträge zur Kinematik und Dy-namik des Seewindes, Forschungsarb. d. met. Inst. Danzig, H. 8, 1936, 44 p.
- KUHNERT, W., Eine Beobachtung des Tem-peraturgradienten beim Auftreten von Strahlungsnebel; die Entwicklung der Bodenin-version, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 18, pp. 219-224, 1932.
- MADE, A., Messungen mit Widerstandsther-mometern an Funktürmen Beiträge z. Phys.
- Mometer A. R. P. A. Market and M. B. Berlinge Z. 1935.
 d. fr. Atmos., Bd. 21, pp. 309-312, 1934.
 MATH, F. A., Battle of the Chinook Wind at Havre, Mont., M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 54-57,
- ATUI, H., Atmospheric impurities in the central part of Tokyo. J. Met. Soc. Japan, v. 17, pp. 367-372 [Summary in Eng. p. (34)], 1939. MATUI.
- MINAMI, T. and Y. Hukumoto. On the distribution of the mixing ratio of aqueous

vapour near the earth's surface, Tokyo, Univ., J. Fac. Sci., v. 1, Sec. 1, pp. 339-347, 1927.

- MONTGOMERY, R. B., Observations of verti-cal humidity distribution above the ocean surface and their relation to evaporation, Mass. Inst. of Tech. and Woods Hole Ocean-ographic Inst., Papers in Phys. Ocean-ography and Met., v. 7, no. 4, 30 pp., Feb., 1940 1940.
- NITZE, F. W., Nächtliche Austauschströmun-gen in der bodennahen Luftschicht, herge-leitet durch Stereophotogrammetrischvermessene Bahnen von Schwebeballonen, Zeit. Geoph., Bd. 11, pp. 247-271, 1935. (abstr. Biokl. Beibl., 3, 125-128, 1936)
- PAESCHKE, W., Mikoklimatische Unter-suchungen innerhalb und dicht über ver-schiedenartigem Bestand, Bioklim. Beiblätter, Jg. 4, pp. 155-163, 1937.
- PHEIFFER, H., Kleinaerologische Untersuch-ungen am Collmberg, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 11, No. 5, pp. 265-306., 1938
- PIERCE, L. T., Temperature variations along a forested slope in the Bent Creek Experi-mental Forest, N. C., M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 8-13, 1934.
- RAMDAS, L. A., The variation with height of the water vapor content of the air layers near the ground at Poona, Bioklimatische Beiblätter, Jg. 5, pp. 30-34, 1938.
- ROOT, C. J., Airport and city temperature at Detroit, Mich., M. W. R., v. 67, pp. 99, 1939 [with bibliog. of the subject].
- RöTSCHKE, M., Untersuchungen über die Meteorologie der Staubatmosphäre, Veroff. Geophys. Inst. Univ. Leipzig, Bd. 11, no. 1, 1997 78 pp., 1937.
- SELTZER, P., Études micrométéorologiques en Alsace, Ann. de l'Inst. de Phys. du Globe, Strasbourg, 1934, Annexe. 57 pp. (Also sep. as Thèses, Univ. Strasbourg, 1935.)
- STEINHAUSER, F., Neue Untersuchungen der Temperatur-verhältvisse von Grossstäd-ten: Methode und Ergebnisse, Bioklim. Beibl., Bd. 1, pp. 105-111, 1934.
- WüST, G., Temperatur- und Dampfdruckge-fälle in den untersten Metern über der Meer-esoberfläche. MZ, Bd. 54, pp. 4-9, 1937.

PRECIPITATION AND CONDENSATION; CONVECTION; CLOUDS; I. STRATUS AND FOG

- ABE, C., Distribution and movement of clouds around Mt. Fuji, Tokyo, Central Met. Obsy., 466 pp., 1937.
- ANDERSON, J. B., Observations from air-planes of cloud and fog conditions along southern California coast, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 264-270, 1931.
- pp. 264-270, 1931.
 ARAKAWA, H.. Zur bildung der Cunb Wolken in der Kaltluftmassen und zur Bildung und inbesondere Erhaltung des Nebels in der Warmluftmasse. Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 18, no. 3, 1940, p. (7) (also Takahasi, Transfor-mation of cold and dry air by traveling over warm sea, id., p. (7))
 BENNETT. M. G., Some problems of modern meteorology. no. 13—The condensation of water in the atmosphere, QJRMS, v. 60, no. 253, pp. 3-14, 1934.
 BEERG. H. Macmatushidanagen M. Z., v. 55.
- BERG. H.. Mammat pp. 283-287, 1938. Mammatusbildungen, M. Z., v. 55,
- BERG, H., Strömung und Zustandsverteilung eines Instabilitätsschauers, Ann. d. Hydrog. 1938, pp. 565-569.

- BERG, H., Über nächtliche Hochnebeleinbrüche vor dem mitteldeutschen Bergland bei Nord-westströmung, Erfahrungsberichte des Deut-schen Flugwetterdienstes, 8. Folge, Nummer 7, pp. 61-78, 1933.
- BERG, H., Wolkenschichtung und Wolkenstruk-tur. Berlin. Reichsamt für Wetterdienst, Wissenschaftliche Abhandlungen, Bd. 3, Nr. 8, pp. 1-33, 1937.
- BERGERON, T., (Lectures on clouds). Moscow Centr. Hydro-Met. Comm., 1934. [In Russian only.]
- BERGERON, T., On the physics of cloud and precimitation, Prorès Verbaux de la Séance de l'U. G. G. I. à Lisbonne 1933, Paris 1935.
- BJERKNES, J., Saturated adiabatic ascent or air through dru-adiabatically descending environment, QJRMS, v. 64, pp. 325-330, 1938.
- BOWIE, E. H., The summer nighttime clouds of the Santa Clara Valley, Calif., M. W. R., v. 61, pp. 40-41, 1933.

- BROCKAMP, B., Beobachtungen von Aufgleitwolken in Grönland, MZ, Bd. 53, pp. 427-430, 1936.
- BROOKS, C. F., A Cloud cross-section of a winter cyclone, MWR, v. 48, 1920, pp. 26-28.
- BROOKS, C: F., Types of mammato-cumulus clouds, MWR, 4, 47, 1919, pp. 398-400.
- BYERS, H. R., Summer sea fogs of the central California coast, Univ. Calif. Pub. Geogr., v. 3, no. 5, 1930.
- CADEZ, M., Spielt die Verdampfungswärme eine Rolle bei der Zyklogenese? MZ, Bd. 56, pp. 271-272, 1939.
- CADEZ, M., Über den Einfluss des Schmelzens des fallenden Schnees auf die Temperatur der Atmosphäre, MZ, Bd. 56, pp. 272-273, 1939.
- CHAMPION, D. L., Night radiation and fog associated with different types of pressure distribution, Met. Mag., v. 71, 1937, pp. 286-7; p. 129.
- CLAPP, P. F., The causes and forecasting of fogs at Cheyenne, Wyo., BAMS, v. 19, pp. 66-73, 1938. (With note by R. G. Stone, p. 73.)
- CLAYTON, H. H., Discussion of the cloud observations [at Blue Hill Obsy.], Ann. Astron. Obsy., Harvard College, v. 30, pt. 4, pp. 271-500, 1896.
- CLAYTON, H. H., A study of clouds with data from kites, Ann. Astron. Obsy. Harvard College, v. 63, pt. 2, pp. 170-187, 1911.
- COUNTS, R. C., Jr., Winter fogs in the great Valley of California, M. W. R., v. 62, pp. 407-410, 1934.
- CRAWFORD, M. E., A statistical study of summer stratus over South Texas, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 131-133, 1938.
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., Relative humidity gradient and the form of cloud bases, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 43-45, 1940.
- DEPPERMANN, C. E., Some interesting types of Manila clouds, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 45-46, 1940.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., The physical process of cloud formation, QJRMS, v. 60, pp. 333-334, 1934.
- DOUGLAS, C. K. M., *The problem of rainfall*, QJRMS, v. 60, pp. 143-152, 1934.
- DUBUK, A. F., About the calculation of the hozizontally stratified wet air full energy of instability, J. of Geophys., Moscow, v. 5, no. 4, pp. 486-496, 1935.
- EISENLOHR, R., Systematic observations of local cumuli, NACA Techn. Mem. 709, 1933.
- ERTEL, H., Die vertikale Luftbewegung bei Starkregen, MZ, Bd. 50, pp. 149-152, 1933.
- FICKER, H. v., über die Entstabilisierung eines geschichteten aufsteigenden Luftmassensystems, M. Z., Bd. 53, pp. 472-474, 1936.
- FINDEISEN, W., Die kolloidmeteorologischen Vorgänge bei der Niederschlagsbildung, M. Z., v. 55, pp. 121-133, 1938. (Engl. transl., mimeo. U. S. Wea. Bur., 1939).
- FINDEISEN, W., von, Der Aufbau der Regenwolken, Zeit. für angw. Met., Jg. 55, pp. 208-225, 1938. [Valuable paper].
- FINDEISEN, W., Dic Kondensationskerne: Entstehung, chemische Natur, Grösse und Anzahl, Beitr., z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 25, pp. 220-232, 1939.
- FINDEISEN, W., Über Wasserdampfübersättigung in Wolken, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 20, pp. 157-173, 1933.

- FINDEISEN, W., Das Verdampfen der Wolken- und Regentropfen, MZ, Bd. 56, pp. 453-460, 1939.
- FINDEISEN, W., Zur Frage der Regentropfenbüldung in reinen Wasserwolken, MZ, Bd. 56, pp. 365-368, 1939.
- FINDEISEN, W., W. Peppler, and T. Bergeron, Outline of physics of the clouds, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 235-247, 1939.
- FUCHS, O., Bodenwasser und thermische Konvektion, Beitr. Phys. fr. Atmos., v. 29, 1933, pp. 175 ff.
- FULKS, J. R., Rates of precipitation from adiabatically ascending air, M. W. R., v. 63, pp. 291-294, 1935.
- GEORGE, J. J., Fog, its causes and forecasting with special reference to Eastern and Southern United States (I), BAMS, v. 21, pp. 135-148, II, pp. 261-269, III, ibid, no. 7, 1940.
- GEORGE, J. J., and W. M. Bradley, A semiquantilative method of forecasting summer stratus in N. American tropical maritime air, M. W. R., v. 65, pp. 43-46, 1937.
- GEORGH, W., Gliding in convection currents, Nat. Adv. Commn. Aeron., Techn. Mem. no. 761, 13 pp., 1935. Also: Eleventh Rhön Soaring Flight Contest, NACA Techn. Mem. no. 623, 1931; and Future Problems of Soaring Flight, NACA Techn. Mem., no. 709, 1933.
- GEORGII, W., Die meteorologischen Grundlagen des Leistungs-Segelfluges, in: Handbuch des Segelfluges, Stuttgart, 1938.
- GEORGII, W., Das Segelflugzeug als aerologisches Forschungsmittel, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 17, pp. 294-306, 1931.
- HARTMANN, W., Schichtgrenzen- und Wolkenbildung in der freien Atmosphäre, Veröff. d. Badischen Landeswetterwarte, Nr. 3, Abhandlungen Nr. 2, 1922, 20 p.
- HAURWITZ, B., Über die Wellenlänge von Luftwogen, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., Bd. 34, pp. 213-232, 1931.
- HEBNER, E., Die Nebelperiode vom 19. bis 25. Januar 1932. Deutsch. Flugwetterdienst, Erfahrungsberichte, Sonderband 3, pp. 145-150, 1930.
- HELLMANN, G., System der Hydrometeore, Berlin, Preuss. Met. Inst., Abhandlungen, Bd. 5, nr. 2, pp. 5-27, 1915. (Engl. transl., M. W. R., 1916, pp. 385-392; 1917, 13-19).
- HOLZMAN, B., A note on Bergeron's icenuclei hypothesis for the formation of rain, BAMS, v. 17, pp. 331-333, 1936.
- HOUGHTON, H. G., Problems connected with the condensation and precipitation processes in the atmosphere, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 152-159, 1938.
- HOUGHTON, H. G., and W. H. Radford, On the measurement of drop size and liquid water content in fors and clouds, Mass. Inst. of Tech. and Woods Hole Oceanographic Inst., Papers in Met. and Phys. Oceanog., v. 6, no. 4, 31 pp., 1938.
- HUBER, G., Les brumes de printemps et d'été sur les eaux froides des parages de Terre-Neuve, La Météorologie, pp. 202-213, Avril à Juin, 1929.
- HURD, W. E., Fog at sea, U. S. Hydrographic office, Pilot Chart of the No. Atlantic Ocean, on backs of issues from Nov. 1927 and later.
- HUTCHINSON, H. B., A jog situation in the United States during the winter of 1923-29, Mass. Inst. Tech. Met. Course, Prof. Notes. No. 3, 1930, out of print.

- HUTCHISON, H. E., and K. C. Kink, On the structure of marine air over the San Fernando Valley, Calij., in relation to fore-casting summertime stratus, M. W. R., v. 68, p. 16, 1940.
- INT. MET. COMMISSION, COMMITTEE FOR THE STUDY OF CLOUDS, International atlas of clouds and of states of the sky, Pt. I, General Atlas, Paris, 1932, 113 p; Pt. 2, Nuages Tropicaux, Paris, 1932, 26 p.
- JACOBS, W. C., Atmospheric waves on isen-tropic surfaces as evidenced by interfrontal ceiling oscillations, M. W. R., v. 65, pp. 9-11, 1937.
- KOCHANSKI, A., Sur les courants thermiques ..lors des Cumulus, Lwów, Geophys. Inst. Univ., Komunikaty, Tom. 8, nr. 109, pp.
- 311-427, 1936. KOCHANSKI, A., Le régions de la thermique atmosphérique en Silésie, Lwów, Geophys. Inst. Univ., Komunikaty, tom 9, nr. 115, pp. 138-184, 1937.
- KOPP, W., Aerologie einiger Wolkenformen und Wellensysteme in der Atmosphäre, Beitr. z. Phys. fr. At., v. 13, pp. '198-217, 1927.
- OPP, W., Auslösung von Fallstreifen in ACu-Niveau durch einfallende Ci-Fallstrei-jen, Mitt. d. preuss Aeron. Obs. Lindenberg, pp. 148-153, 1928. KOPP,
- KOPP, W., Über Angaben von Wolkenschich-ten und Schichtdicken durch Aerologische Stationen für die Zwecke des Luitverkehrs, Lindenberg, Mitt. Aeron. Obs., pp. 135-139, plates.
- KOPP, W., Merkwürdige dynamische Vor-gänge bei benachbarten stationären Cumuli, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 20, pp. 281-288, 1933.
- KOPP, W., Studien über den Einfluss von Dunst und Wolkenschichten auf die ther-mische Struktur der Atmosphäre, Beitr. z., Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 15, pp. 264-270, 1929.
- KOPP, W., Über Wolkenmessungen im Zusam-menhang mit der Wetterlage. Lindenberg Obs., Arbeit, Bd. 15, pp. 271-291, 1926.
- KOSCHMEIDER, H., Aufwind und Segelflug, Die Naturwiss., v. 27, 1939, pp. 645-54 (bibling.
- KRICK, I. P., Forecasting the dissipation of fog and stratus clouds, J. of the Aeronaut. Sci., N. Y., July, 1937, pp. 366-71.
- LANGE, K. O., Die aerologischen Verhältnisse in Cumulus-und Cumulo-Nimbus Wolken, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 16, pp. 131-137, 1930.
- LAY, R. B., Berechenbarkeit von Wolkenhöhen, Deutsch. Flugwetterdienst, Erfahrungsbe-richte, Sonderband 1, pp. 81-84, 1930. [Nom-ogram for dew-point formula for cloud heights.]
- LITTWIN. TTWIN. W., Die Energi feuchtlabiler Schichtungen, Energie trocken- und ntungen, Forschungsarbeiten des stattl. Obs., Danzig, Heft 4, 1935.
- LITTWIN, W.. Energy of conditional instab-ility, M. W. R., v. 64, pp. 397-400, 1936. LOCKHART, W. M., A winter jog of the in-terior (of Calif.), in: Mass. Inst. Tech. Met. terior (of Calif.), in: Mass. Inst. Te Papers, v. 1, no. 2, pp. 11-20., 1931.
- LOHR, A., Cloud flights, M. W. R., v. 59, pp. 430-431, 1931.
- LOTHMAN, A. A., Fog forecasting for fire control in southern California, M. W. R., v. 66, pp. 134-135, 1938.
- LU, A. A preliminary study on the fogs of the China coast, (Abstract in Eng.), Met. Mag. (China), v. 13, No. 9, pp. 581-585, Sept., 1937.

- MAL, S., Forms of stratified clouds, Beitr. z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 17, pp. 40-68, 1931. Abstr. QJRMS, 1931, p. 413-22)
 MUGGE, R., Wolken in Bewegung, M. Z., v. 54, pp. 81-90, 1937.
- MüLLER, H., Beschleunigungsmessungen im Fluge zur Erforschung der atmosphärischen Luftunruhe, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 21, pp. 283-308, 1934.
- NORMAND, C. W. B., Energy realizable in the atmosphere, QJRMS, v. 64, no. 276, pp. 420-422, 1938.
- NORMAND, C. W. B., Kinetic energy liber-ated in an unstable layer, QJRMS, v. 64, no. 273, pp. 71-74, 1938. Also id. v. 63, p. 321-2. (See comments and improvement by Arakawa, MZ, v. 55, 1938, p. 262-4.)
- PEPPLER, W., Beitrage zur Kenntnis des Cirrusniveaus, Gerl. Beitr. Geophys., v. 50, pp. 156-170, 1937.
- PEPPLER, W., Studie über die Aerologie des Nebels und Hochnebels, Ann. d. Hydr., 1934, H. 2, pp. 49-58.
- PEPPLER, W., Der tägliche Gang der Tempe-ratur und Feuchtigkeit an Wolkenoberflä-chen, Lindenberg Obs., Arbeit., Bd. 15, pp. 185-193, 1926.
- PEPPLER, W., Über die Dunstschichten in der freien Atmosphäre nach Beobachtungen der Wetterflugstellen, Beitr, z. Phys. d. fr. Atm., Bd. 24, pp. 260-269, 1938.
- PEPPLER, W., über die Temperaturabnahme in Nimbuswolken, MZ, 1928, h. 5, pp. 161-166.
- PEPPLER, W., Zur Aerologie der Wolken, besonders des Nimbus, Beitr. Phys. fr. At., Bd. 23, h. 4, pp. 275-228, 1936, (Crit. by Brooks, BAMS, Jan. 1937, p. 24).
- PETTERSSEN, S., Contribution to the theory of convection, Geofys. Pub., v. 12, no. 9, 23 pp., 1939.
- PETTERSSEN, S., On the causes and the forecasting of the California fog, J. Aeron-aut. Sci., Vol. 3, No. 9, pp. 305-309, 1936. Reprinted, BAMS, v. 19, pp. 49 55, 1938.
- POULTER, R. M., Cloud forecasting: the daily use of the tephigram, QJRMS. v. 64, pp. 277-292, 1938. (Comment, p. 541.); v. 66, p. 153, 1940; reply, v. 66, p. 84.
- RAMDAS, L. A., and S. Atmanathan, A note on fog and haze at Poona during the cold season, India Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 5, no. 54, pp. 89-96, 1932.
- REFSDAL, A., Der feuchtlabile Niederschlag, Geofys. Publ., v. 5, No. 12, 1928. (See crit. by J. Bjerknes, Geofys. Publ., v. 12, no. 2, p. 14); rev., MWR, v. 58, p. 467.
- REFSDAL, A., Precipitation from air in moist-labile equilibrium, M. W. R., v. 58, p. 467, 1930.
- RENNER, R., Zur Frage der Temperatur in entwicklungsfähigen Quellwolken, Ann. der Hydr., Jan. 1939, pp. 38-42.
- RICHTER, J., Was sagt die Wolkenformen dem Seeman über Zustande und Vorgange der Atmosphäre, Der Seewart, v. 8, 1989, p. 97-112, 145-50.
- RODEWALD, M., Arktischer Seerauch in sub-tropischen Breiten, Der Seewart, 1937, pp. 86 ff
- ROSSBY, C. G., On the effect of vertical con-vection on lapse rates, Jn. Wash. Acad. Sci., v. 20, no. 3, 1930.
- ROSSMAN, F., Beobachtungen über Schnee-rauchen und Seerauchen, Das Wetter, Bd. 51, pp. 309 ff., 1934.

- SAITO, H., On the theory of cloud formation in the winter monsoon field, Jn. Met. Soc. Jap., v. 16, no. 1, p. (2).
 SCHERESCHEWSKY, Ph., et Ph. Wehrlé, La semaine internationale des nuages: A. Étude de la journée du 25 septembre 1923 sur l'Europe occidentale, France, Office Nat. Mét., Mémorial no. 16, 37 plates [cloud pic-tures] 1926. tures], 1926.
- SCHERESCHEWSKY, Ph., et Ph. Wehrlé, Les systèmes nuageux, France, Office Nat. Mét., Mémorial no. 1, 77 pp., 1923.
- SCHMIDT, W., Wird die Atmosphare durch Konvektion von Erdoberflache her erwarmt, MZ, v. 38, 1921, pp. 262-8.
- SCHNEIDER, K., Wolkenbeobachtungen bei Flugzeugaufstiegen. Lindenberg Obs., Arbeit., bd. 15, pp. 261-270, 1926.
- SCHWERDTFEGER, W., Über die hohen Wolken, Berlin, Reichsamt für Wetterdienst Wissenschaftliche Abhandlungen, Bd., V die hohen Nr. 1, pp. 1-33, 1938.
- SOARING Society of America, Gliding and Soaring manual, 69 pp., 1938.
- STONE, R. G., Fog in the United States and adjacent regions, Geograph. Rev., N. Y., Jan. 1936, pp. 110-136.
- STÜVE, G., Wolken und Gleitflächen, Arbeiten der Preuss. Aeronaut. Obs., Lindenberg, Bd. 15, pp. 214-224, 1926.
- SUCKSDORFF, G. A., Die Strömungsvorgänge in Instabilitätsschauern, M. Z., Bd. 52, pp. 449-452, 1935.
- SUCKSDORFF, G. A., Kaltlufterzeugung durch Niederschlag, M. Z., v. 55, pp. 287-292, 1938.
- Niederschlag, M. Z., v. 55, pp. 287-292, 1938.
 SüRING, R., Die Wolken, Leipzig, 1936, 122
 pp. [Best and only modern treatise, bibliog. Rev. in BAMS, v. 20, p. 63-6, 1939.]
 THRAN, Peter, Untersuchungen über das Wesen statisch steigender, trockener Luft-massen in der Atmosphäre und über die Grösse und Wirkungsweise der dabei auftre-tenden Scheinreibung, Dissertation, Albertus-Univ., Königsberg, 1937, 46 pp.
- TSUKUDA, K., On the sea fog in the No. Pacific Ocean, Geophys. Mag., Tokyo, v. 6, p. 147 ff, 1932.

- U. S. WEATHER BUREAU, Definitions of hydrometeors and other atmospheric phe-nomena, 34 pp., 1938, Mimeo.
- VERNON, E. M., The diurnal variation in ceiling height beneath stratus clouds, M. W. R., v. 64, pp. 14-16, 1936.
- ERYARD, R. G., Some observations on the thermal structure of cumuliform cloud, In-dia Met. Dept., Sci. Notes, v. 6, no. 64, pp. VERYARD. 87-112, 1935.
- WADSWORTH, J., A study of visibility and fog at Malta, London, Met. Office, Geophys. Memoirs, no. 51 (v. 6), pp. 3-23, 1930.
- ALKER, G. T., Clouds and cells, QJRMS, v. 59, no. 252, pp. 389-396, 1933. WALKER, G.
- WALKER, G. T., Some recent work on cloud forms, QJRMS, v. 65, no. 278, pp. 28-30, forms, 1939.
- WEGENER, K., und K. Schneider, Ergebnisse 1922-1923 an der Flugstelle des Observato-riums Lindenberg: part 3, sect. 13-18, Lin-denberg Obs., Arbeit, Bd. 15, pp. 244-250, 1926
- WEGENER, K., und K. Schneider, Flug und Wind, Lindenberg Obs., Arbeit., Bd. 15, pp. Flug und 251-260, 1926.
- WILLETT, H. C., Fog and haze, M. W. R., v. 56, pp. 435-468, 1928. [The most valuable treatise; bibliog.]
- WILLETT, ILLETT, H. C., Synoptic studies in fog, Mass. Inst. Tech. Met. Papers, v. 1, No. 1, 1932.
- WOOD, F. B., The formation and dissipation of stratus clouds beneath turbulence inver-sions, Mass. Inst. Tech. Met. course. Prof. Notes, no. 10. Dec. 1937, 27 pp. BAMS, v. 19, pp. 97-103, 1938.
- ZACK, E. G., Characteristic of frontal cloudi-ness by the aeroplane ascent records, Mos-cow Met. and Hydrol., no. 8, 1937, pp. 15-29.
- ZACK, E. G., Characteristic of intramassive inverse cloudiness by the data of airplanes ascents. Moscow, Met. and Hydrol., 1938, no. 5, pp. 33-50.

J. INSTRUMENTAL PROBLEMS AND DEVICES

- DIAMOND, H., and others; An Improved radiosonde and its performance, Jn. Res. Nat. Bur. Standards, v. 25, no. 3, 1940, pp. 827-869 (see also no. 2, for Automatic weather station), bibliog.
- DINKELACKER, Otto, Darstellung einer Inversion und eines Kaltlufteinbruchs in der Höhe, MZ. Bd. 54, pp. 477-479, 1937. [Dens-ity channel exper.]
- DRAPER, C. S., Aircraft instruments in me-teorological flying, Mass Inst. Tech., and Woods Hole Oceanographic Inst., Papers in Met. and Phys. Oceanogr., v. 3, no. 2, pp. 53-60, 1934.
- DUNMORE, F. W., An improved electrical hygrometer and its applications, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 249-256, 1940.
- HAYNES, B. C., A density channel for illus-trating fronts and occlusions, BAMS, v. 20, pp. 37-38, 1939.
- KLEINSCHMIDT, E., et al, Handbuch der meteorologischen Instrumente und ihrer Auswertung, Berlin, 1985, [Standard work, but emphasizes European practice], 783 pp.

- LANGE, K. O., On the technique of mete-orological airplane ascents, Mass. Inst. of Tech., and Woods Hole Oceanographic Inst., Papers in Met. and Phys. Oceanogr., v. 3, no. 2, 52 pp., 1984.
- MARKS, A. M., Jr., Reminiscences on A P O B flights and fliers, BAMS, v. 21, pp. 18-22, 1940.
- SPILHAUS, A. F., An air mass indicator, BAMS, v. 16, pp. 31-33, 1935.
- SPILHAUS. A. F., A new design of a dew-point and temperature recorder, BAMS, v. 16, pp. 119-122, 1935.
- SPILHAUS, A. F., The transient condition of the human hair hygrometric element, Mass. Inst. of Tech., Met. Course Prof. Notes, no. 8, 1935, 18 pp.
- WEICKMANN, L., Über Radiosonde-Kon-strucktionen, Denkschrift, Int. Met. Org., Int. Aero. Kom., Berlin, 1937, 85 pp.; Nach-trag, 1939. (Bibliog.) [Review of all work done on radiosondes]
- ZISTLER, Peregrin, Höhe Registrierballon-aufstiege in München und der Einfluss der Sonnenstrahlung, Deutsches Met. Jrb. Bay-ern, 1934, Anhang C, 14 pp.

BIBLIOGRAPHY ADDENDA

These additions should read alphabetically in Sections with corresponding headings

Section B

WEXLER, H., Comparison of observed and computed outgoing radiation intensities, Trans Amer. Geophys. Un., 1940, pt. 2, p. 264-5.

Section C

RADAKOVIC, M., Zum Einfluss der Erdrotation auf die Bewegung auf der Erdoberflache, MZ, 1914, p. 384-392; also Schubert, id., 1919, p. 8; 1920, p. 259; Schmidt, id., 1920, p. 100; 1921, p. 212; Thorkelsson, id., 1925, p. 407.

Section D1

MEINARDUS, W., Die interdiurne Veranderlichkeit der Temperatur auf der sudliche Halbkugel, MZ, v. 57, H. 5, 1940, p. 165-76.

Section E1

ALLEN, R. A., et al. Report on investigations into forecasting for five-day periods, Papers in Phys. Ocean. and Met., MIT and WHOI, vol. 7. no. 3, 1940. (abstr. of part, by Willett, Trans. Am. Geophys. Un., 1940, pt. 2, p. 258-61.)

Section H4

PFEIFFER, C. A., Uber Feinregistrierung des Luftdruckes, MZ, v. 57, H. 5, 1940, pp. 177-84.

Section I

- EXTERNBRINK, H., Lenticularis Wolken und lokale Diskontinuitatsflachen, MZ, v. 57, H. 2, 1940, p. 55-61.
- FINDEISEN, W., Die Entstehung der O° -Isothermie und die Fracticumulus-Bildung unter Nimbostratus, MZ, v. 57, 1940, H. 2, p. 49-54.
- LOHLE, F., Uber die prognostische Bedeutung der Schichtung des Dunstes, MZ, v. 57, H. 2, 1940, p. 73-9.

Section D3

SCHAMP, H., Luftkorperklimatologie des griechischen Mittelmeergebietes, Frankfurter Geogr. Hefte, 13, 1939, 75 pp.

Section G5, 1935 to date

SCHNEBEL, L., Beitrag zur Zyklogenese. Archiv d. deutsch. Seewarte, v. 59, no. 6, 1939, 28 pp.

Glossary of Elementary Terms Used in Articles I to IX

- absolute humidity (II)¹—the mass of water vapor present in a unit volume of air, or the density of the water vapor.
- absolutely stable (I)—a vertical distribution of temperature such that, whether the air be dry or saturated, particles will tend to remain at their original level. In this case the lapse rate must be less than the saturation adiabat at the prevailing temperatures.
- absolutely unstable (I)—a lapse rate greater than the dry adiabatic; both dry and saturated air are unstable. Also called a super-adiabatic lapse rate.
- adiabat (I)-a curve along which a thermodynamic change takes place without the addition or subtraction of heat. In the case of the atmosphere a dry adiabat is generally considered a temperature-height or temperature-pressure curve along which a rising or sinking air particle will fall providing no saturation occurs and providing, of course, that no heat is given to or taken from the particle in its path. Similarly a wet adiabat (saturation adiabat, condensation adiabat, or pseudo-adiabat) is a temperatureheight or temperature-pressure curve along which the saturated rising particle will fall.
- adiabatic chart (III)—a thermodynamic diagram in which temperature is plotted against pressure (either on a logarithmic scale, or pressure to the 0.288 power) and in which dry adiabats are constructed. The chief use of this chart is for evaluation of aerological soundings.
- adiabatic process (I)—a thermodynamic process in which no heat is transferred from the working substance to the exterior or vice versa; a thermally insulated process.
- adiabatic rate of cooling with ascent for dry air (I)—very nearly constant in the troposphere at 1 degree Centigrade per 100 meters (see adiabat).

- adiabatic rate of cooling with ascent for saturated air (I)—a rate which varies chiefly with the temperature and hence has no fixed value.
- *air mass* (II)—an extensive body of air which approximates horizontal homogeneity.
- characteristic curve (IV)—the curve joining the significant points of an aerological sounding when plotted on the Rossby diagram.
- cold front (V and VII)—the discontinuity in front of a wedge of cold air which is displacing warmer air in its path.
- conditional equilibrium (I)—a vertical distribution of temperature such that the layer is stable for dry air but unstable for saturated air. In this case the lapse rate lies between the dry and the saturated adiabat. Also called conditional instability, or conditional stability, and moist labile equilibrium. (See latent instability.)
- conservatism (II)—the degree of constancy of a meteorological element when the given air mass is subject to modifying factors.
- convective instability (IV)—a vertical distribution of temperature and moisture such that lifting of the entire layer will eventually lead to instability with respect to dry air. In convective instability the equivalent-potential temperature decreases with elevation. Also called "potential instability". "Convective equilibrium," however, merely means an unstable (adiabatic) lapse rate.
- depegram (VIII)—a curve representing the behavior of the dewpoint with pressure changes for a given sounding, drawn on the tephigram.
- discontinuity (I)—a zone of comparatively rapid transition of the meteorological elements. These discontinuities are not mathematically abrupt, but are rapid transitions

¹Roman numerals following each term refer to the article in which the topic is discussed in some detail.

compared with the ordinary transitions in one and the same air mass. (Practically synonymous with *front*.)

- dry air (I)—air which is not saturated.
- emagram (VIII, IX)—any adiabatic diagram with coordinates T, log p. Areas are proportional to energy as on the tephigram.
- energy diagram (III, VIII, IX)—any thermodynamic diagram on which area is proportional to energy; such as the *tephigram* or *emagram* (which see).
- equivalent-potential temperature (II) —the temperature a given air particle would have if it were brought adiabatically to the top of the atmosphere (i.e., to zero pressure) so that along its route all the moisture were condensed (and precipitated), the latent heat of condensation being given to the air, and then the remaining dry sample of air compressed adiabatically to a pressure of 1000 millibars.
- equivalent-potential temperature diagram—see Rossby diagram.
- equivalent temperature (II)—the temperature a particle of air would have if it were made to rise adiabatically to the top of the atmosphere (i. e., to zero pressure) in such a manner that all the heat of condensation of the water vapor were added to the air and the sample of dry air were then brought back adiabatically to its original pressure.
- estegram (VIII)—the characteristic curve of wet bulb temperatures of a sounding plotted on a tephigram or pseudo-adiabatic chart.
- front (V, VI and VII)—the discontinuity between two juxtaposed currents of air possessing different densities. Most frequently fronts represent the boundary between different air masses. The so-called "wind-shift line" is usually a wellmarked front.
- frontogenesis (VII)—the creation of fronts generally brought about

through the horizontal convergence of air currents possessing widely different properties.

- frontolysis (VII)—the destruction of fronts generally brought about by horizontal divergence at the discontinuity zone.
- instability (I)—the opposite of stability; a lapse rate in which particles will be readily displaced vertically upon small impulse. (Also called lability.) See: conditional, latent, pseudo-, mechanical and absolute instability.
- instability showers (V)—showers caused by steepening of the lapserate in any way, such as the rapid warming of the lower layers of a cold current as it moves over a relatively warm surface. In most cases there is an appreciable addition of moisture to the lower layers, as for example, when a polar continental current moves over a body of warm water.
- *lapse rate* (I)—the existing rate of change of an element, commonly temperature, with height in a given layer of the atmosphere.
- latent instability (VIII) on the tephigram, when the area of positive energy is greater than the negative energy area (this is more properly called *real latent instability*). In general *latent instability*). In general *latent instability* refers to the energy that can be released after the convection reaches the condensation level. It is the case of *conditional instability* where the air is moist enough for convection to form clouds. (See also *pseudo-instability*.)
- loop (or bent) back occlusion (VII) an occluded front which has bent back in the rear of the cyclone so that it appears in the meteorological field as another front behind the cold front. In most cases these occlusions are of the cold front type. That is, the air behind is colder than that preceding them.
- mechanical instability (I)—a lapse rate such that the air density decreases with elevation; for this condition the lapse rate must be greater

than 3.42 degrees C. per 100 m; also called "auto-convection", since no initial impulse is needed to set it off; "self-starting".

- mixing ratio (III)—the mass of water vapor per unit mass of perfectly dry (absence of water vapor) air. $w = 622 \ e/(p-e)$ grams per kilogram (see symbols)
- modification of air mass properties (II)—the change in the values of the meteorological elements within an air mass due to such influences as radiation, turbulence, subsidence, convergence, and so on. These modifying influences tend to destroy the original horizontal homogeneity of the air mass.
- negative area (VIII)—the area on a tephigram enclosed between the path of the rising particle and the surrounding air when the rising particle is at every stage in its ascent colder than the environment.
- neutral equilibrium (I)-a vertical distribution of temperature such that a particle of air displaced from its level neither assists nor resists the displacement; that is, at every level the density of the displaced particle is equal to that of the surrounding air. In the case of dry air the corresponding lapse rate is that of the dry adiabat; in the case of saturated air, the saturation adiabat.
- occluded front (VII) or occlusionthe front formed when and where the cold front overtakes the warm This front front of a cyclone. marks the position of an upper trough of warm air, originally from the warm sector, which has been forced aloft by the action of the converging cold and warm fronts. Occlusions may be of the warm front type in which the air in advance of the front is colder than that behind, or of the cold front type, in which the air in advance is the warmer.
- Occlusion is also the term used to denote the process whereby the warm air of the cyclone is forced from the surface to higher levels.

partial potential temperature (III)the temperature a given air par-ticle would have if it were reduced adiabatically from the pressure exerted solely by the dry air to a pressure of 1000 mb. $\Theta_d = T [1000/(p-e)]^{0.288}$

(see symbols)

- penetrative convection (IV)-small convective up-currents locally penetrating an overlying more stable layer without generally or greatly altering the existing atmospheric stratification.
- Poisson's equation (I)-the relation between temperature and pressure in dry air which is undergoing adiabatic transformation. $T_1/T_2 = (p_1/p_2)^{0.288}$
- polar front (VII)-the frontal zone between air masses of polar and those of tropical origin.
- positive area (VIII)—the area on a tephigram enclosed between $_{\rm the}$ path of the rising particle and the surrounding air when the rising particle is at every stage in its ascent warmer than the environment.
- potential temperature (II)—the temperature a given particle of air would have if it were reduced adiabatically to a pressure of 1000 mb. $\Theta = T (1000/p)^{0.288}$
- pseudo-adiabatic (IV)-the process wherein a saturated air particle undergoes adiabatic transformations, the liquid water being as-sumed to fall out as it is condensed.
- pseudo-adiabatic chart (III, VIII)an adiabatic chart on which wet adiabats are also drawn; lines of saturation specific humidity are usually added too. Used for analyzing stability conditions in a sounding (see emagram).
- pseudo-(latent) instability (VIII)-on the tephigram, when the area of positive energy is less than the area of negative energy.
- relative humidity (II)-the ratio of the actual vapor pressure and the maximum vapor pressure possible at the same temperature.
 - $f = e/e_m$ (see symbols)

- representative observations (II) those which give the true or typical conditions of the air mass; hence they must be relatively uninfluenced by local conditions and taken from outside the transition zones and fronts.
- Rossby diagram (III)—a thermodynamic diagram making use of the highly conservative air mass properties: partial potential temperature, equivalent-potential temperature and mixing ratio.
- secondary fronts (VI)—fronts which develop at some distance from the principal fronts of the cyclone. These fronts are often the result of dynamic effects behind the cold front, or are merely loop back occlusions.
- slope of a front (V)—the tangent of the angle formed by the discontinuity surface and a horizontal plane.
- source region (II)—an extensive area of the earth's surface characterized by sufficiently uniform surface conditions and which is so placed in respect to general circulation that masses of air may remain over them sufficiently long to take on fairly definite properties.
- specific humidity (II)—the mass of water vapor in a unit mass of moist air. $q=622 \ e/p$ grams per kilogram.
- squall head (VI)—the piled up cold air at the cold front, sometimes taking the form of an overhanging tongue. Also "line squall".
- stability (I)—a vertical distribution of temperature such that particles will resist displacement from their level. In the case of dry air the lapse rate for stability will be less than the dry adiabat; in that of saturated air, less than the saturation adiabat.
- stratification (V)—a layering of the atmosphere, so that each layer is characterized by a particular temperature distribution and moisture content. Instability tends to wipe out stratification as it brings about mixing.

- subsidence (IV)—an extensive sinking process most frequently observed in polar anticyclones. The subsiding air is dynamically warmed and made more stable.
- superadiabatic (I, VIII, IX)—a lapserate greater than the dry adiabatic; absolute instability. Mechanical instability may be implied also.
- surface of discontinuity (V)—the sloping boundary zone between air masses of different properties (see discontinuity).
- symbols—used throughout the series and in the formulas given herein:
 - e = vapor pressuree = saturation vapor pressure f = relative humidityp = total pressureq = specific humidity t, t' = dry, and wet, bulb tempera-ture, resp., in °F or in °C T = absolute temperatureT' = wet-bulb temperature (°A) w = mixing ratio Θ = potential temperature $T_{E} = equivalent temperature$ $\Theta = equivalent-potential$ tem-Eperature $\Theta = \text{partial potential temperature}$ Θ' =wet-bulb potential temperature.
 - $\phi = entropy$
- tephigram (VIII)—a thermodynamic diagram for estimating the quantity of available convective energy in the overlying air column; also applied to the graph of an individual sounding plotted with coördinates temperature and entropy.
- transition zone (V)—the zone at a discontinuity wherein the properties are characteristic neither of one air mass nor the other, but lie somewhere between the two. It is now customary to assume that all the air in the transition zone belongs to the colder air mass, the air in warm sectors being considered more nearly homogeneous.

- unstable (I)—a vertical distribution of temperature such that particles of air, because of their lesser or greater density than the surrounding air, will rise or sink of their own accord once given an initial impetus up or down. For dry air the unstable lapse rate is greater than the dry adiabat; in the case of saturated air, greater than the saturation adiabat.
- upper front (VII)—a front whose principal development and evidence is in the upper air, usually the active upper cold front of a warm front type occlusion.
- vapor pressure (II)—the partial pressure of the air exerted solely by the water vapor molecules.
- warm front (V)—the discontinuity at the front of a warmer air mass which is displacing a retreating colder air mass.

- warm sector (VII)—the air enclosed between the cold and warm fronts of a cyclone.
- wave disturbance (VII)—a deformation produced along a front. These waves travel along the discontinuity surface often producing new cyclones.
- wet-bulb temperature (III, VIII)—the lowest temperature to which a wetted ventilated thermometer (as of a psychrometer, e.g.) can be cooled, i.e., by evaporation. while not strictly a temperature of the air, it is a function of dry bulb, relative humidity and barometric pressure. On the adiabatic chart or tephigram: find the intersection of the dry adiabat and specific humidity line and then follow down the wet adiabat to the original pressure level of the point in question. (See: estegram; latent instability; pseudo-instability.) The wet adiabats are isotherms of equal wet-bulb potential temperature (also equivalent-potential temperature).

	analysis. 5th	_Returned	• • • •		****	
					БЕМСО	

AMERICAN METEOROLOGICAL SOCIETY

The American Meteorological Society is an organization for "the advancement and diffusion of knowledge of meteorology, including climatology, and the development of its application to public health, agriculture, engineering, transportation by land and inland waterways, navigation of the air and oceans, and other forms of industry and commerce." It is a cor pration of some 1200 members, most of them in the United States but with about 200 in foreign countries, mostly in the Western Hemisphere. The main activities of the Society are (1) the publishing of a Bulletin of approxime 'v 450 pages in 10 issues per year. (2) the holding of several national and onal meetings each year for the presentation and discussion of scientific, pers and the conduct of business, (3) the sponsoring of numerous local branches or seminars in various cities, which hold meetings regularly, usually weekly or monthly, where more or less informal instruction or discussion of meteorological science and activities lends to social intercourse in the meteorological community.

Membership and subscriptions. Application forms and sample copies of the BULLETIN may be had on request to the Secretary, A. M. S., Blue Hill Observatory, Milton, Mass. Minimum dues \$3 a year.

The Bulletin. Besides publishing papers representing the results of various researches on meteorological problems, the BULLETIN contains announcements and miscellaneous short articles, notes, reviews, abstracts and bibliography of current literature of interest to weather men and to others concerned with weather and its causes. The BULLETIN aims to keep its readers abreast of the latest developments in weather science and organizational activities. All back issues of the BULLETIN from volume 1 in 1920 are still available from the Secretary's office, at \$1 per volume for volumes 1-10, \$2 per volume for volumes 11-18, and \$3 per volume for volumes 19 and 20.

Meetings are held in various cities in different parts of the U. S. and Canada sponsored both by the Society as a whole and by the local branches. Papers presented at meetings often represent the outcome of the best work in the local seminars and are generally published in the BULLETIN either in full or in abstract.

Consultation. The Secretary's office is at the service of members for various miscellaneous information, such as institutions giving courses, correspondence courses, degrees, etc., in meteorology, ways and means of getting hold of certain data, books, etc.

Library. In cooperation with the Library of the Blue Hill Observatory of Harvard University, the Society is able to loan to members by mail many books and publications, including theses and rare meteorological papers and data from all parts of the world. The Society is also able to give comprehensive bibliographies of selected subjects.